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Accounting Principles for Non-Executive Directors

Good quality non-executive directors are essential to good corporate gov-
ernance. They bring a wealth of experience to the boardroom, and together
with their fellow board members they are responsible for the company’s
annual report and accounts. However, few are trained accountants.

This volume explains the key elements of a listed company’s annual
report and accounts. Part | explains the difference between profit and
cash flows, the accounting profession, the international harmonisation
of accounting rules, the origins of the rules governing the preparation
of accounts, the regulation of financial reporting and the overarching
principles behind accounting rules. Part Il discusses issues relevant to
listed companies: mergers and acquisitions; earnings per share; realised
and distributable profits; financial instruments; and other key topics.
An appendix sets out 50 questions, linked to the chapters, which non-
executive directors might like to ask at meetings of the board and audit
committee.
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Glossary of terms

Introductory note on terminology

Until 2005 the terminology used in the UK was largely unchanged from that
used when accounting standards were originally introduced in the early 1970s.
Thus, companies referred to profit and loss accounts and balance sheets,
turnover, stock and debtors, to name some of the key terms. The thinking
behind what was included in the profit and loss account developed and changed
over the years, but the basic statement, the profit and loss account, kept the
same name and, in the main, looked much the same. In 1992 a number of
changes were introduced which led to the presentation within the profit and
loss account changing. At the same time the statement of total recognised gains
and losses (STRGL) was introduced along with a different way of viewing
performance, until then seen as stopping at the calculation of profit (after tax).
This is discussed further in chapter 1 on page 9.

With the adoption of IFRSs in 2005 and the gradual aligning of UK GAAP
with IFRS, much of the terminology has changed. Some of the calculations
have also changed, but here we are concerned with explaining the different
terminology, in particular, where it can be used interchangeably.

I ncome statement/Profit and loss account — this sets out how the company’s
profit (after tax) for the period (year, half-year or quarter) has been
calculated.

Statement of comprehensive income — this statement was introduced by the
2007 version of IAS 1 and may take one of two forms: (1) where a separate
income statement is presented (which is the route we expect most British com-
panies will take) the statement of comprehensive income is an extension of
the income statement, like the statement of total recognised gains and losses
(STRGL) and the statement of recognised income and expense (SORIE) (see
below); and (2) where a separate income statement is not presented, the state-
ment of comprehensive income is the entire statement, the first part being
the same as an income statement and the second being like the STRGL or
SORIE.
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Statement of recognised income and expense/Statement of total recogni-
sed gains and losses — these are both extensions of the income statement. The
opening line is usually profit/loss after tax, taken from the income statement.
Other gains and losses are included, such that the final total in these statements
is the total change in net assets other than as a result of transactions with owners
in their capacity as owners, e.g. dividends to shareholders.

Statement of financial position/Balance sheet — this is where a company’s
assets and liabilities are listed.

Revenue/Sales/Turnover — generally this is the first line in the income state-
ment/profit and loss account. It represents the value of goods and services sold
by the company during the period. Businesses operating in some industries
may use other, more relevant, descriptions, such as rental income or finance
income. Whatever the label in the income statement/profit and loss account,
this is sometimes colloquially called the ‘top line’.

Inventory/Stock — these are the unsold goods or (for a manufacturer) compo-
nents that are held by the company at any point in time.

Receivables/Debtor s — this is the amount of money due to the company from
its customers or others at any point in time.

Payables/Creditors— this is the amount of money payable by the company to
its suppliers or others at any point in time.

Primary statements— for IFRS, under the 2007 version of IAS 1, these are
the balance sheet, income statement (although this can be subsumed within
the statement of comprehensive income), statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement. Under the previous
version of IAS 1, these are the balance sheet, income statement, either the
statement of recognised income and expense or the statement of changes in
equity, and cash flow statement. Under UK GAAP, these are the balance sheet,
profit and loss account, statement of total recognised gains and losses and cash
flow statement.

Accounts/financial statements— generally these two terms are interchange-
able. 1AS 1 stipulates that a complete set of financial statements comprises the
primary statements together with the notes. The Companies Act does not use
the term “financial statements’ and instead refers to accounts. There is a view
(which stems from the terminology in the Companies Act) that accounts refers
only to the primary statements and does not include the notes, and that financial
statements refers to the primary statements together with the notes. However,
use of these terms in practice is mixed and either term could be used when
referring to the package of primary statements plus notes.

Annual report/Report and accounts — this refers to the total package, includ-
ing financial statements, that is required to be produced by companies each
year — see chapter 1 for a list of what is included.

Xiii
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AADB. Accountancy and Actuarial Discipline Board. Part of the FRC.
ACCA. The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Accruals accounting. The method of accounting that underpins the income
statement and balance sheet, namely recognising transactions in the period to
which they relate, rather than in the period in which the cash is received or paid.
Hence: (1) the charge in arriving at profit/loss for an expense is not (except by
chance) the same as the amount of cash paid; and (2) the amount recognised as
revenue (or turnover or sales) for the year is not (except by chance) the same
as the cash received from customers.

Act (or ‘the Act’). Unless specified to the contrary, ‘Act’ or ‘the Act’ refers to
the Companies Act 2006.

AIM. Alternative Investment Market.

Annual report. Financial statements together with the directors’ report and,
for quoted companies, the directors’ remuneration report, and various other
information and reports to shareholders — see chapter 1.

APB. The UK Auditing Practices Board. Part of the FRC.

APM. Alternative Performance Measure. Sometimes called adjusted earnings
number or non-GAAP measure.

ARC. Accounting Regulatory Committee (of the EU).
ASB. The UK Accounting Standards Board. Part of the FRC.

ASC. The UK Accounting Standards Committee, which set standards from
1970 to 1990, after which the ASB took over the activity.

Asset. In a formal sense, the IASB’s Framework for the Preparation and Pres-
entation of Financial Statements defines an asset as: ‘a resource controlled by
the entity as a result of past events and from which future economic benefits
are expected to flow to the entity’. Less formally, an asset is something of value
that a company controls; it is recognised as an asset on the balance sheet if it
meets certain recognition criteria, such as whether it can be measured reliably.

Associate. An entity, including an unincorporated entity such as a partnership,
over which the investor has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor an interest in a joint venture (IAS 28, para. 2).

BERR. The department for Business Enterprise & Regulatory Reform. For-
merly called the DTI (the Department of Trade & Industry).

Business review. Narrative reporting required to be within the directors’ report.
It must contain a fair review of the group’s business (being, a balanced and
comprehensive analysis of the development and performance of the group’s
business during the financial year and the position at the end of the year, con-
sistent with the size and complexity of the business and containing, where
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relevant, analysis using KPIs) and a description of principal risks and uncer-
tainties facing the group.

CA 1985. The Companies Act 1985.
CA 2006. The Companies Act 2006.

CCAB. The Consultative Committee of Accountancy Bodies in the UK and
Ireland, which comprises:

* The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW);
e The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland (ICAS);

* The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland (ICAI);

* The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA);

* The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA); and

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).

CESR. The Committee of European Securities Regulators.
CIMA. The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants.
CIPFA. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.

Combined Code. The UK code of corporate governance, the latest version of
which (2008) is published by the Financial Reporting Council.

DB. Defined benefit (pension scheme).
DC. Defined contribution (pension scheme).

Debit/credit. These are bookkeeping terms. A debit entry represents either an
expense or an asset (or a reduction of a liability). A credit entry represents
either income or a liability (or a reduction of an asset). The application of
accounting principles in drawing up financial statements involves determining
which debits are to be treated as assets and which are to be treated as expenses;
and determining which credits are to be treated as liabilities and which are to
be treated as equity or income. As an example, a payment of cash of £100 to
acquire inventory (stock) is represented as: Dr Inventory £100 (an increase in
the asset ‘inventory’); Cr Cash £100 (a decrease in the asset ‘cash’).

Deferred tax. A way of accounting that, generally, results in the tax conse-
quences of a transaction or event being recognised in the same period and same
place (part of profit/loss, other comprehensive income or directly in equity) as
the transaction or event itself.

DTR. Disclosure and Transparency Rules issued by the FSA.

Earnings. An undefined term. Generally refers to profit after tax and minority
interest. More accurately, it refers to profit after tax, minority interest and
preference dividend, this being the definition of earnings used in the calculation
of EPS (see below).

EBITDA. Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. This is
a measure of earnings favoured by some analysts and companies. Deprecia-
tion and amortisation are added back because they are non-cash items. Hence

XV
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EBITDA is sometimes called ‘cash earnings’, although this is something of a
misnomer, as it still includes many items calculated on an accruals basis.

EFRAG. The European Financial Reporting Advisory Group, part of the mech-
anism used by Brussels to help it to consider endorsement of International
Financial Reporting Standards for use in the EU.

Entity accounts. The accounts of an entity itself — for example, the accounts
of a single company — as opposed to consolidated accounts. Also sometimes
called solus accounts. See chapter 8.

EPS. Earnings per share. Broadly, earnings (profit after tax, minority interest
and preference dividend) divided by the number of equity shares in issue during
the year. The details are set out in 1AS 33.

Equity. (1) The IASB’s term for share capital and reserves and what is called
shareholders’ funds in UK GAAP. (2) An equity share, defined in s. 548 of the
Act as ‘in relation to a company, its issued share capital excluding any part of
that capital that, neither as respects dividends nor as respects capital, carries
any right to participate beyond a specified amount in a distribution’. Note that
accounting standards (international and UK) define equity shares in a different
way from the Act.

Equity accounting. This is also known as “‘the equity method”’. It is the method
of accounting adopted for associates and in certain cases for joint ventures, as
explained in chapter 8.

ESOP. Employee Share Ownership Plan.

Expense. A reduction in assets, charged in arriving at profit or loss. This
includes non-cash items such as depreciation of non-current assets.

FASB. The US Financial Accounting Standards Board.

Financial statements. A company’s annual financial statements (or
‘accounts’), which comprise the income statement, statement of comprehensive
income, the balance sheet, the cash flow statement, the statement of changes
in equity and various supplementary notes. They form the major part of the
company’s annual report; this is sent to shareholders (for quoted companies),
made available on a website (for public companies), laid before the company in
general meeting and (all companies) placed on the public record at Companies
House. Can also refer to other contexts, such as interim financial statements.

FLA. Finance and Leasing Association.

FRC. The UK Financial Reporting Council, the body that oversees the regula-
tion of corporate reporting and audit, including the UK ASB and the FRRP.

FRRP. The UK Financial Reporting Review Panel. Part of the FRC.

FRS. A UK Financial Reporting Standard, an accounting standard developed
by the ASB. See also SSAP.
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FRSSE. Financial Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities.
FSA. The UK Financial Services Authority.
GAAP. Generally accepted accounting principles, discussed in chapter 1.

Gearing. The relationship between debt and equity. Gearing can be calculated
in a number of ways. See chapter 14 for details.

Gross profit. This is profit measured as revenue less cost of sales, that is, profit
before deducting overhead expenses, interest and tax.

Half-yearly report. Financial information about the first half of the financial
year published by listed companies as required by the FSA as Listing Authority.
In the past these have frequently been referred to as the ‘interims’, although
now there is also a requirement for interim management statements (see chapter
6), so it is preferable to use the term ‘half-yearly report’.

HMRC. HM Revenue & Customs.
IAS. An international accounting standard issued by the IASC.

IASB. The International Accounting Standards Board, the global standard-
setter from 2001.

IASC. The International Accounting Standards Committee, the global
standard-setter until 2001.

ICAEW, ICAS, ICAI. See CCAB.

IFRIC. The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, a
subsidiary of the IASB.

IFRS. An international financial reporting standard issued by the IASB.

Income. An undefined term, used rather loosely. Can be used as a synonym
for profit (e.g. in US parlance ‘net income’ means profit after tax). Sometimes
also, confusingly, used to mean revenue.

Income statement. See above section ‘Introductory note on terminology’.

Interest cover. The ratio of interest cost to profit before interest. So if profit
before interest is one hundred and interest cost is twenty-five, interest cover is
four. That is, interest is covered four times by profits.

Interims. See ‘Half-yearly report’ above.

Joint venture. A contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties under-
take an economic activity that is subject to joint control (1AS 31, para. 3).

JV. Joint venture.
KPI. Key performance indicator.

Liability. In a formal sense, the IASB’s Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Lia-
bilities and Contingent Assets’ defines a liability as ‘a present obligation of the
entity arising from past events, the settlement of which is expected to result in

XVii
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an outflow from the entity of resources embodying economic benefits’. Less
formally, a liability is something that a company owes to a third party; it is
recognised as a liability on the balance sheet if it meets certain recognition
criteria, such as whether it can be measured reliably.

Listed company. A company whose securities are listed on the London Stock
Exchange.

Listing Rules. The rules issued by the Financial Services Authority that apply
to companies listed on the London Stock Exchange.

LTIP. Long-term incentive plan.

Minority interest. The interest of an outside shareholder in a partially-held
subsidiary. Also called ‘non-controlling interest’.

NASDAQ. National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation
system.

NBYV. Net book value. (1) This term applies to non-current (or fixed) assets and
refers to the cost or value less accumulated depreciation. (2) It also refers to the
carrying value of an asset or liability as it is the amount at which it is stated, or
carried, in the balance sheet.

Non-controlling interest. See minority interest.
NRV. Net realisable value.

OFR. The Operating and Financial Review. This was to have become a statu-
tory requirement for quoted companies, but has remained a voluntary report
recommended by the ASB. It is a narrative account supplementing the financial
statements.

Operating profit. A measure of profit after deducting all operating expenses
before deducting interest and tax and, generally, before adding share of
results of associates. In UK GAAP, certain exceptional items (non-operating
exceptionals or ‘super-exceptionals’) are also added/deducted after operating
profit.

P & L. Profit and loss.
POB. The UK Professional Oversight Board. Part of the FRC.

Prelims. Preliminary announcements of results by listed companies. Previously
required by the Listing Rules but now optional, although where produced must
adhere to FSA requirements in the Listing Rules.

PPE. Property, plant and equipment.

Profit. A measure of the results of a business on the basis of accruals accounting
(see above). (See also gross profit, operating profit, profit before tax, profit after
tax.)
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Profit after tax. A measure of profit after deducting all expenses, including
tax.

Profit before tax. A measure of profit after deducting all expenses apart from
tax.

Public company. A company that can offer shares to the public and having an
allotted share capital with a nominal value of at least £50,000.

Quoted company. A company whose equity share capital is officially listed in
an EEA state or is admitted to dealing on either the New York Stock Exchange
or Nasdag.

Revenue. The amount earned by an entity from selling goods and services. The
terms ‘sales’ and ‘turnover’ are broadly synonymous with revenue.

Sales. See revenue.
SAS. Statement of Auditing Standards.
SEC. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Shareholders equity. The aggregate of a company’s share capital and its
reserves. Called *shareholders’ funds’ in UK GAAP.

SIC. Standing Interpretations Committee of the IASC.

SOCIE. See above section ‘Introductory note on terminology’.

SoP. Statement of principles.

SORP. Statement of Recommended Practice.

SORIE. See above section ‘Introductory note on terminology’.

Sorry. Pronunciation of SORIE (see above section ‘Introductory note on ter-
minology”).

SPE. Special purpose entity.

SSAP. A UK Statement of Standard Accounting Practice, an accounting stan-
dard developed by the ASC. See also FRS.

Statement of comprehensiveincome. See above section ‘Introductory note
on terminology’.

STRGL. See above section ‘Introductory note on terminology’.

Struggle. Pronunciation of STRGL. See above section ‘Introductory note on
terminology’.

Subsidiary/subsidiary undertaking. Under IFRS, a subsidiary is ‘an entity,
including an unincorporated entity such as a partnership, that is controlled by
another entity (known as the parent)’. For UK GAAP and UK law purposes,
there is a distinction between ‘subsidiary” and ‘subsidiary undertaking’. Section
1159(1) of the Act defines a ‘subsidiary’ for the general purposes of the Act,
but not for accounting purposes. Section 1162 of the Act defines a ‘subsidiary
undertaking’ for accounting purposes, chiefly in connection with consolidation.

Xix
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Summary Financial Statements. A summarised version of the financial state-
ments, directors’ report and directors’ remuneration report that can be sent to
members in place of the full annual report — see chapter 6.

Turnover. See revenue.
UITF. The UK Urgent Issues Task Force. This is a subsidiary of the ASB.
XBRL. Extensible Business Reporting Language.
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1
Introduction

Aim of this book

Collectively, a board of directors is responsible for the company’s annual report
and financial statements, yet most directors are not accountants. The primary
aim of this book is to explain accounting to those non-executive directors who
are not accountants. The book may also be useful to executive directors who are
not accountants, and even to directors who are accountants but who have not
worked actively in their profession for some time. To some extent this means
explaining accounting as one would to any group of intelligent non-accountants.
However, we emphasise those aspects that are particularly relevant to the direc-
tors of listed companies. For example, in chapter 4 we emphasise the work
of the Financial Reporting Review Panel, a body that monitors financial state-
ments and enforces compliance with accounting standards, because while its
remit remains public and large private companies, a large focus of its attention
is listed companies. Similarly, the specific subjects covered in Part Il reflect
the likely interest of directors of listed companies: mergers and acquisitions,
financial instruments, earnings per share, share-based payment and realised
and distributable profits are all discussed. However, the reader will find little
on inventory valuation and methods of depreciation, as these are less contro-
versial areas. Similarly, this book does not deal with accounting for special
industries and sectors such as banks, insurance companies and charities. As
the group financial statements of listed companies must now be prepared using
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), rather than UK GAAP,
the emphasis in each chapter is on IFRS. How IFRS is applied in the UK,
where there are choices, is often influenced by previous UK practice and we
discuss this previous UK practice where relevant. In Appendix 1, we set out
50 questions, linked to the chapters, that non-executive directors might find
appropriate to ask at meetings of the board or audit committee.

What is accounting?

Accounting is a broad term. It is used to cover the initial recording of transac-
tions in a company’s accounting records, although this is better termed *book-
keeping’. Given the almost universal use of computers for record keeping,
even this term is itself only literally accurate either historically, when entries
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were made in books of account or (originally leather bound) ledgers, or in the
smallest of businesses.

The term ‘accounting’ more properly refers either to the processes that
accountants carry out, namely of aggregating and shaping information into
reports that are useful to users of those reports; or to the outputs of those pro-
cesses, namely accounting reports that can be used internally within a business
(‘management accounting’) or externally (“financial accounting’ or ‘financial
reporting’). External reporting can be seen in terms of compliance with legal
requirements, for example the requirement under the Companies Act 2006
(CA 2006) to prepare accounts (also called “financial statements”), circulate
them to members, lay them before a general meeting of shareholders (public
companies, which includes listed companies, only), and then to file them at
Companies House (although small and medium-sized companies can choose to
file abbreviated accounts). Other regulatory purposes arise, such as the role of
the Financial Services Authority in connection with the supervision of various
financial institutions.

Whilst this compliance aspect is important, accounting — both internal and
external — is perhaps better seen as a process that serves the decision-making
needs of business people and various classes of users of financial statements.
Thus, within a company, the board and various other unit and divisional man-
agers need accounting information to enable them to understand and control
the business on a regular basis. In most medium-sized and larger businesses,
budgets and, subsequently, monthly management accounts are prepared for
this purpose. Managers want to know about various financial indicators, such
as sales growth, margins, level of costs, amount of funds tied up in inventory
(stock) and receivables (debtors) and so on. All of this has the overall objective
of seeking to ensure that the company achieves its profit objectives. If the man-
agement accounting information shows that budgets are not being achieved,
decisions are taken relating to matters such as pricing, level of overheads such
as marketing expenditure and staff numbers, or levels of capital expenditure, to
try to steer the company back on course to achieving, over the year as a whole,
the sales, profit and other measures set out in the budget.

External reporting has an important decision-making focus, as well as a
compliance focus. In a narrow, traditional sense, a board of directors presents
to shareholders an annual report that gives an account of its stewardship of the
company’s assets during the year. But even implicit in that is an assumption
that the shareholders will consider whether they find the performance to be
acceptable. If they do not, that might lead to their refusing to reappoint some
directors. So even here there is a notion of decision making.

However, in a modern context, the decision-making role is more explicit.
Certainly for companies listed on a stock exchange, the board is reporting to
‘the market’: the analyst and fund manager community in general and not just
to those who happen to be shareholders at present. The market has expectations
about earnings, and if the earnings reported disappoint the market, the share
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price, and sometimes the directors’ careers, will suffer. The fundamental deci-
sions taking place here, of course, are concerned with whether to hold, buy or
sell the company’s shares.

The components of a company’s annual report

An annual report, especially of a listed company, is now a very substantial
document. The following are currently its main components:

* Chairman’s report. This is voluntarily given by listed and traded compa-
nies and some other public interest entities, but not generally otherwise.

e Operating and financial review (OFR). This is recommended for quoted
companies (officially listed in an EEA state or admitted to dealing on
either the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ) by an Account-
ing Standards Board (ASB) statement of the same name. It was to
have become a statutory requirement for quoted companies, but Gordon
Brown, as Chancellor, stepped in at the last minute and announced the
withdrawal of the requirements. The original intention was for a statu-
tory OFR to have been required by quoted companies and a similar, but
lighter-touch, business review to have been included by all other com-
panies (other than small companies) in their directors’ reports. A similar
effect has still been achieved; the business review is now required to be
included in the directors’ report by all companies (other than small com-
panies), but the specified content is greater for quoted companies and,
for them, is similar to what would have been required in the statutory
OFR.!

 Directors’ remuneration report. Certain disclosures relating to directors’
remuneration are required by all companies, but in the case of quoted
companies these are more extensive and are presented as a separate
report.?

* Report on corporate governance. This is required for listed companies
and, like the OFR and remuneration report, has been a growth area in
recent years.®

e Auditors’ report. This is an opinion from the auditor as required by the
Companies Act.*

 Directors’ report. This is a legal requirement, although the contents are
somewhat arbitrary and not always interesting; hence, historically, the
growth of the chairman’s statement and OFR as channels of communi-
cation. Since 2005, companies (other than small companies) have been
required to include a business review within the directors’ report. The
business review is a narrative report, supplemented with analysis using
key performance indicators (KPIs), and is much like an OFR. Indeed, the

1 Seech.20. 2 Seech.20. 3 Seech.20. 4 Seech.4.
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required content for quoted companies was increased with the enactment
of the 2006 Act by adding in some of what would otherwise have been
included in the statutory OFR had it not been withdrawn at the eleventh
hour. Many companies fulfil the requirement for a business review by
including an OFR (however named) in the annual report and simply
including a cross-reference to it in the directors’ report.

¢ Performance statements. Traditionally, the profit and loss account was the
principal statement and the way in which a company or group communi-
cated its performance in the year; the ‘bottom line’ being profit (or loss)
for the year. The equivalent statement in IFRS is called the income state-
ment. In the 1990s, the UK GAAP view of performance was extended to
incorporate all the other gains and losses made by a company that were
reported in the accounts, e.g. gains on revaluing the company’s properties,
although excluding items arising from transactions with shareholders in
their capacity as shareholders, e.g. dividends. Hereafter performance was
reported in two statements: the profit and loss account arriving at profit
or loss, and the statement of total recognised gains and losses (STRGL),
starting with the profit or loss and then listing the other gains and losses.
A similar idea was adopted in IFRS. Until 2007, the second performance
statement under IFRS could take one of two forms, the more common of
which in the UK was the statement of recognised income and expense
(SORIE) and this statement was broadly equivalent to the STRGL. Fol-
lowing the 2007 amendment of IAS 1, performance is reported in IFRS
accounts either in one statement, the statement of comprehensive income
(which combines the income statement and SORIE into one statement),
or in two statements, the income statement and the statement of com-
prehensive income (which in this case would look like the SORIE).
See below for a brief explanation and see chapter 9 for a detailed
discussion.

» Balance sheet or statement of financial position. This sets out the com-
pany’s assets and liabilities and its shareholders’ funds. The balance sheet
was traditionally seen as merely a collection of the assets and liabilities
that were, so to speak, left over at the end of the year following the match-
ing of costs and revenues in the profit and loss account. More recently,
the balance sheet has come to be seen as a more important statement in
its own right. For example, stricter definitions of what should be treated
as assets and liabilities and the introduction of more fair valuing® have
increased the importance of the balance sheet.

e Cash flow statement. This is, almost literally, a statement of the cash
receipts (inflows) and payments (outflows) during the year, categorised
under various headings. It may thus correspond more closely to a

5 Seech. 7.
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non-accountant’s view of performance than profit. See the next section
for a comparison of the two.

 Statement of accounting policies. Even though much of accounting is
specified, there is nonetheless scope in some areas for a company to
selectaccounting policies. In this section of the annual report the company
describes the significant accounting policies it has used in preparing its
financial statements.

 Notes to the financial statements. Many pages of notes are presented in
accordance with accounting standards and, for UK GAAP, company law.
In general, the notes amplify what is in the income statement, statement of
comprehensive income, the balance sheet and the cash flow statement. In
addition, there are notes dealing with other matters such as related-party
transactions, commitments entered into and key events that occurred
after the end of the accounting period. For listed companies, the Listing
Rules and Disclosure and Transparency Rules require some disclosures,
although these can be outside the financial statements so long as they are
within the annual report.

The difference between profit and cash flow

A question frequently asked by non-accountants is what exactly profit means
and how it differs from cash flow. Both are measures of what has happened to a
business during a year, but they shed different light on its activities. Cash flow is
a natural idea, familiar to us all as individuals. By contrast, profit is an artificial
construct. Profit arises from the use of accruals accounting, that is, recognising
transactions in the period in which they occur, rather than in the period in which
the cash is received or paid; it thereby measures the performance of a business.
A simple example will illustrate the point.
P Limited:

* Sells goods to customers during 2007 of invoiced value £100. Of this, P
receives £50 in cash during the year (the remaining £50 is received in the
following year).

* Buys goods from suppliers during 2007 of invoiced value £52. P buys on
extended credit and pays nothing in 2007.

¢ Spends £40 cash on buying office equipment.

 Pays £8 rent for premises to operate from during 2007.

P Limited’s cash flow statement will show the figures indicated in Box 1.1.

The company’s income statement shows an entirely different picture (see
box 1.2).

The two results happen to be quite different in amount (although in other
examples they might be similar) and are quite different in principle. The income
statement focuses on the transactions that relate to the year in question. So, it
focuses on the sales that have been made in the year (£100) and on the cost
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Box 1.1 P Limited
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2007

Operating inflows

Receipts from customers 50
Payment of rent (8)
Net operating inflow 42
Capital expenditure (40)
Increase in cash during the year 2

Box 1.2 P Limited
Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2007

Revenue (or Sales) 100

Cost of sales (52)
Depreciation of equipment 4
Rental of premises (8)
Profit before tax* E

* Tax is ignored in this simple example

Box 1.3 P Limited
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2007

Non-current assets (cost £40 less depreciation £4) 36
Receivables (sales made, cash not yet collected) 50
Cash 102
Less: payables (amounts owing to suppliers) (52)
Net assets 136

of those sales (£52), without reference to whether these amounts have been
collected or paid for in cash. Also, the purchase of office equipment is for
use in the business over an extended period; it is not held for resale. Hence it
is described as capital expenditure and the cost is spread in accounting terms
over its useful economic life, in this case assumed to be ten years. The rent is
assumed to have been paid in full for the year.

If we assume that P Limited is a new business that started the year by issuing
100 £1 shares at par for cash, we can see that at the end of the year it will have
cash of £102 (opening cash of £100 plus increase in cash during the year of
£2). However, as shown in Box 1.3, its closing balance sheet will reflect all the
assets and liabilities of the business.
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Box 1.4 P Limited
Shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2007

Opening shareholders’ equity 100
Profit for the year (retained) 36
Closing shareholders’ equity 136

These net assets are equivalent to shareholders’ equity, as shown in Box 1.4.
This simple example illustrates a number of points. First, it shows that:

Assets less liabilities = shareholders’ equity

This simple equation demonstrates that shareholders’ equity (136 in this
example) is the residual interest after all liabilities (52) are deducted from all
assets (36 + 50 + 102 = 188).

The second point is that the income statement and the balance sheet artic-
ulate with each other. They are both prepared on an accruals basis. Third, the
income statement and balance sheet show a much richer set of information than
the cash flow statement. This is not to say that the cash flow statement is of little
or no value. Indeed, it is important that a business generates cash, otherwise it
will run into difficulty; hence cash flow information is useful in its own right.
It is also useful as a cross check on the quality of profits.

The example also allows us to view profit in an economic way. Profit can
be viewed as the amount that a proprietor can withdraw from a business at the
end of a year, such that the business can continue in the following year. We can
see from the examples in Boxes 1.2 and 1.4 that the shareholders could have
withdrawn the £36 profit and the business would (leaving aside complications
such as inflation) have maintained its capital and been able to continue. The £2
increase in cash in the year is not a helpful indicator in these respects.

Of course, merely to speak of ‘profit’ is an oversimplification. A typical
company’s income statement may include the figures shown in Box 1.5.

The relatively simple income statement in Box 1.5 uses four variants of
the term “profit’. Whilst they are self-explanatory, it demonstrates the need for
clarity in terminology.

Performance statements

In the past, reporting of performance stopped at profit (after tax). However, the
notion of performance was extended in the UK in the 1990s. It was recognised
that a number of other changes are made to a company’s net assets, for example,
changes in the value of its assets, and that these should be reflected in the
performance statements.

Let us consider further the example of P Limited above. On the first day of
2008, its second year, assume that it issued a further 100 £1 shares at par for
cash, took out a bank loan of £100 and used the £200 cash to buy a property
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Box 1.5 lllustrative income statement

Revenue 100
Cost of sales (52)
Gross profit 48
Administrative expenses (23)
Operating profit 25
Interest payable )
Profit before tax 18
Tax (5)
Profit for the year 13

Box 1.6 P Limited
Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2008

Revenue (or Sales) 100

Cost of sales (52)
Depreciation of equipment 4)
Depreciation of premises 4
Interest payable (5)
Profit before tax* 35

* Tax is ignored in this simple example

from which to operate. Hence rent is no longer payable. If the interest for 2008
on its loan is £5 and the property is depreciated over 50 years, P’s income state-
ment, assuming that sales and cost of sales are as for 2007, will be as in Box 1.6.

Profit is lower than in the previous year. The company now owns its own
premises though and on the last day of 2008 these may be valued at £203. If the
gain in value of £3 is added to the profit of £35, the ‘comprehensive income’
made by P Limited in 2008 totals £38, higher than the £36 in the previous year.

An additional performance statement, the statement of total recognised
gains and losses (STRGL), was thus introduced into UK GAAP. It started with
the profit figure and then listed all other gains and losses, but only if they had
been incorporated into the financial statements (rather than simply disclosed in
a note). Thus, in the example of P Limited, the gain in value of the business
premises would only be included in the STRGL if the property were revalued
in the financial statements and the property included in the balance sheet at
the end of 2008 at £203. If instead P chose not to revalue its property, the £3
gain would not be included in the STRGL. It is important to note, therefore,
that not all changes in value within a business are reported in the performance
statements.
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When the STRGL was introduced in the UK as a second performance
statement, an accompanying rule was introduced, namely that once a gain had
been reported in one of the two statements, it could not be reported again (this
is called ‘recycling’ of the gain). Thus, if P Limited sold the property for £203
on the first day of 2009, no gain or loss would be reported on the sale; the gain
of £3 having already been reported (assuming that the property was included
in the 2008 balance sheet at its value of £203). Although this is the same for
some gains in IFRS, for example, for gains in revaluation of properties, it is
not so for other gains. For example, when an overseas subsidiary is sold, the
cumulative exchange differences that were reported in the second performance
statement (e.g. SORIE) are reversed out of the second performance statement
and included in the income statement as part of the overall gain or loss on sale
of subsidiary. Accordingly, UK GAAP in this respect has been changed to align
it with IFRS.

In IFRS prior to the 2007 amendment to IAS 1, the first statement was
the income statement, which arrives at profit or loss, and the second statement
could be either:

(1) statement of recognised income and expense (SORIE) — this is the state-
ment that most British companies have given. It is equivalent to the
STRGL and shows net profit or loss and each of the other changes in net
assets (shareholders’ equity) other than as a result of transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners; or

(2) statement of changes in equity (SOCIE) — this is similar to the SORIE, but
additionally has to show transactions with shareholders in their capacity
as shareholders and the opening and closing balance of share capital and
each reserve.

Why have two performance statements rather than one? Broadly, the original
split between the two statements was that value changes, such as gains in
property values and actuarial variances on pension liabilities, were included in
the second statement, with transactions being recorded in the first statement
(income statement or profit and loss account). However, a humber of value
changes are now included in the income statement in IFRS. These are the value
changes that are seen as part of the business’s operations. For example, if a
business holds investment properties, these are defined as held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or both and the relevant standard now requires not only
the rental income to be included in the income statement, but also the changes
in capital value of the property. Similarly, if a business holds investments for
trading, the changes in value are required to be recognised in the income
statement.

With the 2007 change to IAS 1, performance can now be presented in one
statement, a statement of comprehensive income, which combines the income
statement and SORIE. Alternatively, companies may continue to present two
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statements, an income statement and what is called a statement of comprehen-
sive income. In the two-statement approach the statement of comprehensive
income is like the SORIE, starting with net profit or loss and listing each item
of other comprehensive income, i.e. all other changes in net assets other than
as a result of transactions with shareholders in their capacity as shareholders.
We expect most British companies to go down the two-statement approach,
which means continuing to present an income statement and a SORIE, albeit
probably renaming the SORIE as a statement of comprehensive income.

The use of accounting terms in agreements

The earlier example of four variants of profit (Box 1.5) illustrates an important
point for directors in entering into an agreement such as a contract to buy
another business. A legal agreement that refers to profit should be as specific
as possible as to which profit figure is envisaged. This is not just a matter of
being clear as to which of the above four figures is being used. It also needs to
be clear:

* which year’s profits are intended;

¢ which GAAP is intended (UK GAAP, IFRS, etc. — see chapter 2);

¢ whether the profit is as per the statutory financial statements or whether
it is adjusted in some way;

e according to which accounting policies the profit is calculated — for
example, in an acquisition agreement is it the bidder’s policies or the
target’s policies?

Hence a reference to ‘profit calculated according to GAAP’ is not helpful
and can be the source of difficulty, not to say expensive and time-consuming
litigation.

Similarly, other terms may be used in various legal agreements, and the
same general principle applies. Further examples of imprecision are the terms
‘gearing’ and ‘interest cover’, which are often used in loan covenants. This is
discussed in chapter 6.

What is GAAP?

GAAP refers to generally accepted accounting principles. There are different
GAAPs in different jurisdictions, e.g. UK GAAP, US GAAP, French GAAP and
so on. In addition, there are international financial reporting standards (IFRSSs),
also sometimes called international GAAP. These aspects are discussed in
chapter 2.

Although it has no precise meaning, UK GAAP is generally taken to refer
to:

¢ parts of company law, namely, the Companies Act 2006 and the various
statutory instruments made under it, primarily SI 2008/410;
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e accounting standards (Statements of Standard Accounting Practice
(SSAPs) and Financial Reporting Standards (FRSS));

abstracts from the Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF);

for listed companies, the Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Trans-
parency Rules; and

* reporting statements issued by the ASB.

These are the core components of GAAP.
International GAAP, or IFRS GAAP, for a British company is generally
taken to refer to:

e parts of company law, namely, the Companies Act 2006 and the various
statutory instruments made under it, primarily SI 2008/410;

* accounting standards (International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) and International Accounting Standards (IASs) as endorsed by
the EV);

* interpretations from the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) as endorsed by the EU;

e for listed companies, the Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Trans-
parency Rules; and

* reporting statements issued by the ASB.

Each of these components is now discussed in turn.

Company law. This is the foundation of financial statement preparation
for a British company, whether under IFRS or UK GAAP. The CA 2006
sets out the basic requirement for a company to prepare accounts, circulate
them to members, lay them (public companies only) before the members,
file them at Companies House and make them available (quoted companies
only) on a website. The Act also sets out some of the details regarding their
preparation, for example, requirements as to what is a subsidiary undertaking
and when consolidated accounts should be prepared. The extent of the detailed
requirements applying depends upon whether the accounts are being prepared
under IFRS or under UK GAAP. Chapter 3 contains a fuller discussion.

Accounting standards. The current accounting standards under international
GAAP are IFRSs and these are produced by the IASB. The predecessor body
until 2001 was the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC),
which produced IASs, some of which are extant. Unfortunately, it is not these
standards directly that are to be applied by British companies, such as listed
companies, but these standards as adopted by the EU; this has given rise to an
additional layer of complexity, and frustration, for those companies applying
international GAAP, many of which (such as the group financial statements of
listed companies) are compelled to apply international GAAP. As IFRSs and
IASs are intended to be applied throughout the world, they have not been devel-
oped in conjunction with any specific companies legislation. They nevertheless
cover much the same topics as UK standards. A full list of extant accounting
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standards, for international GAAP and for UK GAAP, may be found in appen-
dices 2 and 3 respectively. Throughout the rest of this book we refer to ‘IFRS’
to mean international accounting standards, namely IFRSs and 1ASs together.

IFRIC Interpretations/UITF Abstracts. These are produced by the IFRIC
and UITF respectively. Both committees have a similar role: to assist the
standard-setter (IASB or ASB) in areas where an accounting standard (or,
for the UITF, a Companies Act provision) exists, but where unsatisfactory or
conflicting interpretations have developed or seem likely to develop and to give
timely guidance on issues that have not yet been addressed by standards. Hence
they deal with relatively narrow issues. Examples are IFRIC 3 ‘Emission rights’
and IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of embedded derivatives’.

The Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR). These
rules, insofar as they deal with accounting matters, are part of GAAP only for
listed companies. In terms of regular reporting (as opposed, for example, to
new listings) there are continuing obligations relating to disclosures that are
additional to those in the law and accounting standards; examples are directors’
interests and corporate governance issues. The Listing Rules and DTR also set
out the basic requirement for interim reports. IAS 34 contains guidance on
half-yearly reports for IFRS preparers. Its status is complicated, but, broadly,
it now needs to be applied by UK listed companies.

Reporting Statements issued by the ASB. These are non-mandatory guidance
aimed at improving best practice. Two statements have, to date, been issued in
this series: the first is on the Operating and Financial Review; and the second
on disclosures in respect of retirement benefit schemes (in employers’, not
pension schemes’, accounts). Despite being issued by the ASB, both statements
are intended to apply to IFRS reporters in the UK as well as to UK GAAP
reporters.

In addition to the above, the term ‘GAAP’ in the UK for those applying
IFRS encompasses the following, which are authoritative in varying degrees:

¢ the IASB’s Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial
statements (‘the Framework’);

« statements and recommendations from the professional bodies, such as
the guidance from the Institutes of Chartered Accountants on matters
such as realised profits — these are now more likely to have influence on
company law issues rather than on interpretation of accounting standards;

e quite literally, principles that are generally accepted in practice, say in a
particular industry;

* manuals and similar guidance from firms of accountants; and

¢ recent pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies that use a similar
conceptual framework to develop accounting standards; this encompasses
not just recent standards and guidance from the ASB and UITF, but also
from other standard-setters around the world, for example, the FASB and
EITF in the US.
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Accounting in the UK and the effects
of international harmonisation

The UK’s Accounting Standards Board

For the first one hundred years or more of the accountancy profession in the
UK, there was a basic company law framework, and a body of practice, but
no codification or standardisation of accounting rules. Until the middle of the
twentieth century business was relatively simple and accountants used their
judgement. Increasingly, however, business became more complex and then
the lack of astandardised approach led to different profit figures being reported
for what were essentially the same economic events. Although the US had
pioneered standard-setting from 1939, the first development in this areain the
UK was soon after, in 1942, when the Ingtitute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales (ICAEW) developed ‘ Recommendations' to members as
to suitable accounting principles. These had no binding force. Eventualy, it
became clear that these were inadequate. Hence in 1970 the Accounting Stan-
dards Committee (ASC) was formed, subsequently becoming a joint activity
of the six professional accounting bodiesin the UK and Ireland.

The ASC developed Statements of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAPs)
in the period 1970 to 1990. Some of these are till in force today. They did not
have theforce of law, although the Institutes said that they expected their mem-
bers to comply with them. This system worked for some years as regards the
majority of standards that were uncontroversial, although its weakness started
to be seen from the early 1980sin rel ation to the attempted imposition upon the
profession and companies of various systems of adjusting financial statements
for the effects of inflation, including SSAP 16 ‘ Current cost accounting’. This
standard eventually had to be withdrawn.

The inflation accounting debacle showed that a reform of standard-setting
was needed. Following thereport of the Dearing Committee, anew UK structure
was put in place from 1990. Figure 2.1 shows this structure (see bel ow for how
it subsequently changed).

The Financia Reporting Council (FRC) oversees the structure and adds
support from business, the profession, other regulators and government. The
Accounting Standards Board (ASB) is the standard-setter. The Urgent |ssues
Task Force (UITF) isacommittee of the ASB, which develops Abstracts; these
are rulings that form part of UK GAAP, but which deal with narrower issues
than those that are the subject of accounting standards. The Financial Reporting
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ASB FRRP I
UITF I

Figure 2.1 The UK accounting standard-setting structure as in 1990

Review Pandl (FRRP) enforces compliance with standards and rel evant parts of
company law; thisisdiscussed morefully in chapter 4. All of these bodieswere
newly created in 1990; the ASB took over the work of the ASC, but the other
three bodies were completely new. In 2004, the FRC took over responsibility
for the Auditing Practices Board and various other bodies concerned with the
supervision of the accountancy profession. Subsequently, the FRC took on
responsibility for actuarial regulation. The new structure that covers thiswider
range of activitiesis discussed in chapter 4.

A number of features distinguished the ASB from its predecessor, the ASC.
One is more resources, including a full-time chairman and technical director,
and a larger technical staff. Another was the new wider structure of which
the ASB was a part, including for the first time an enforcement arm. Perhaps
less obvious, but equally important, was the fact that the ASB developed an
underlying framework of accounting. The ASB callsitsframework a* Statement
of principles'.

The ASB established itself during the 1990s as a successful standard-setter
and made many important reforms to UK accounting in that period. These
included: better information about cash flows; better presentation of perfor-
mance; more rigorous treatment of acquisitions and goodwill; stricter rules on
provisions; reform of off-balance-sheet finance; and disclosures about financial
instruments. The ASB’s standards are called financial reporting standards (i.e.
FRSs), to contrast them with the SSAPs developed by its predecessor. These
various reforms did much to re-establish the reputation of UK GAAP during
the 1990s. A full listing of UK standards may be found in appendix 3.

During the period 1990 to 2000, the ASB issued nineteen FRSs. In 2001,
2002 and 2003, no further FRSs were issued. In 2004 and 2005, ten FRSs
were issued, eight of which reproduce IFRSs, or parts of them, and the other
two reflect domestic issues: a change in the Companies Act; and concerns
expressed in the Penrose Report on the Equitable Life inquiry. Pivotal changes
in the dynamics of standard-setting occurred in 2001 and 2002 and as a result
there has been a mgjor shift in the centre of gravity to the newly formed
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IASB (see under the heading ‘ The International Accounting Standards Board'’,
below).

An EU Regulation was adopted in 2002 requiring EU companies whose
securities are traded on a regulated market in the EU to use IFRS for their
consolidated financial statementsfor 2005 onwards, so thepreviously * flagship’
UK GAAP accounts (group accounts prepared by listed companies) are now
prepared directly using IFRS without reference to UK standards. UK GAAP
still exists and, for most other accounts, companies can choose whether to
prepare them using UK GAAP or IFRS. In practice, UK standards are still used
in the preparation of the accounts of each individual company in the UK part
of many groups, even where the group is listed and has to adopt IFRS in its
consolidated accounts.

The ASB’sroleisnow oneof liaising with the |ASB, contributing UK ideas
tothedebate about international harmonisation, and converging UK GAAPwith
IFRS. The ASB is still, nationally and internationally, an important body, but
its function has changed considerably. By the end of this decade, there may be
little or no difference between UK standards and IFRS.

The ASB has also been, and continues to be, involved in the development
of SORPs. These do not have the same status as accounting standards, and are
generaly prepared by specific industry groups in conjunction with the ASB.
The principal industries for which SORPs have been developed are: banking,
insurance, oil and gas, investment trusts, leasing, charities, pension schemesand
various other public sector bodies. The SORPs, however, have less relevance
to financial statements prepared directly in accordance with IFRS.

In this section we have seen that the role of the UK’s ASB has changed
dramatically in the past few years. In the rest of this chapter we will
explore further the reasons for this and why international harmonisation is so
important.

International harmonisation

Just as accounting standards were devel oped in the UK and Ireland by the ASC
and subsequently the ASB, committees were also set up in other countries
for exactly the same purpose: to develop accounting standards for use in their
home territory. Different systems of generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) therefore developed over the years in various countries. While they
were similar, in that they were based around the use of accruals accounting, the
income statement and the balance sheet, they were in many respects different
from each other. There were various reasons for these differences. In some
countries, the stock market was relatively important as a source of finance;
hence the emphasis was on performance measurement in an economic sense.
In other countries, more finance came from the banking system, and so there
was more emphasis on prudence. In yet other countriestheinfluence camefrom
the tax system.
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The existence of different national GAAPs mattered relatively little until
gradually business started to become more internationa in its nature. In the
late 1960s and the early 1970s, the need for harmonisation was increasingly
seen and, in 1973, the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC)
wasformed. The | ASC was founded and controlled by the accountancy bodies,
including the same six who controlled the UK’s ASC, as discussed above.
It started to develop International Accounting Standards (IAS) and over the
twenty-seven years of its existence it became more and more important and
influential.

Initialy, the IASC’s role was seen in relation to devel oping economies; for
example, the World Bank often required the use of IAS by any organisation to
which it was lending. Also, it made sense for smaller, emerging economies to
use IAS rather than invest in the devel opment of their own system.

Increasingly, however, therole and use of IAS changed so that, certainly by
the 1990s, the principal use of IAS was in relation to the international capital
markets. That is, if acompany based in, say, Switzerland or Germany wanted to
raise debt or equity capital outsideits own country, it would be to its advantage
to use |ASrather than local GAAP, asthere was more chance that investors and
lenders would understand the information. As business became more global,
and as the capital markets opened their doors to foreign companies, the need
for international harmonisation strengthened. The fact that, say, US GAAP, UK
GAAP and French GAAP reported different figures for profits and net assets
became to be seen as a serious impediment to business and finance. Further, it
was a source of some embarrassment to accountants that they could not agree
on aglobal basiswhether —given the same set of economic facts—acompany’s
profitsare £X or £Y, or, as sometimes happened, whether acompany had made
profits of £X or losses of £Y.

The International Accounting Standards Board

By the late 1990s it was becoming clear that the IASC, successful though it
had been, was not up to the future task of leading the globa harmonisation of
accounting. A structural change was needed. A new International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) was formed and, with effect from 1 April 2001, took
over the responsibility of accounting standard-setting. This is an atogether
more professional organisation, with a mostly full-time board, chaired by Sir
David Tweedie, who had chaired the UK ASB during the 1990s, its most
dynamic period. The IASB is both a heavyweight body in its own right and
is seen as a counterweight to the US Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB). The current structure is shown in figure 2.2.

ThelASB isoverseen and funded by theInternational Accounting Standards
Committee Foundation (IASCF), whose trustees appoint the board members,
raise funds, set overall strategy (but do not interfere in the board’s resolution
of technical matters) and generally add their weight to the board’s work. The
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Figure 2.2 The international accounting standard-setting structure as at June 2008

trustees are assisted with appointments by the Trustee Appointments Advisory
Group. There are also plansto establish a monitoring group above the trustees.
The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) is
similar to the UK’s UITF (see above): it deals with relatively narrow issues,
developing a position where unsatisfactory or conflicting interpretations of an
accounting standard have devel oped or seem likely to devel op and onissuesthat
have not yet been addressed by standards. There is also a Standards Advisory
Council (SAC), which is drawn from a wide constituency and which advises
the |ASB on its agenda and gives feedback on its proposals. The |ASB has sole
responsibility for setting accounting standards.

On being established in 2001, the new board first adopted all the old IASs
and then debated its agenda and work programme. A considerable amount of
its work comprises continuing the projects of its predecessor, the IASC. This
included improving many of the existing standards, for example, to eliminate
options; and improving and revising the standards on financial instruments
(IASs 32 and 39). However, a key change from the previous regime involves
the | ASB leading the devel opment of new accounting rules, rather than seeking
to harmonise the rules of the national standard-setters. Examples of this new
approach are the work on share-based payments and on insurance contracts.
These and other examples serve to characterise the IASB as a leader, or co-
leader with the FASB, rather than a follower in the international accounting
scene.

Many of the IASs remain in force despite the new regime, although over
time some will be replaced, and already a number have been revised. It is
noticeable that the |ASB works in much more detail than the IASC. Thisisfor
a number of reasons. Partly, there is a bigger staff and a full-time board, and
longer documents will automatically result. Also, the IASB needs, politicaly,
to be seen as a valid counterweight to the FASB. This means that, whether or
not the eventual standard islong, the underlying debate needs to be exhaustive.

As mentioned above, the IASC developed standards called international
accounting standards (IASs) and the IASB develops standards known as
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international financial reporting standards (IFRSs). Although the Companies
Act refersto ‘international accounting standards' and ‘1AS’, most accountants
use ‘IFRS or ‘IFRSs' in referring to the total package of international stan-
dards. We use ‘IFRS' in the remainder of this book to refer to international
standards generally.

The EU Regulation for harmonisation within Europe

International accounting standards have no authority of their own. The IASB
isaglobal, but private-sector, body that has no power to require its accounting
standards to be followed. Nevertheless, various companies around the world
decided to adopt |FRS voluntarily, and various countries decided to base their
accounting on IFRS, in one of a number of ways. In some countries, such as
Australia, the standard-setters have decided to base their national standards
on IFRS — either literally, or with an element of local adaptation. In a few
other countries, the governments have brought in, or are bringing in, lega
requirements that |FRS should be used by companies, thereby giving them the
status of local law. By far the most important example of this is the 2002 EU
Regulation requiring EU companies whose securities are traded on aregulated
market in the EU to use IFRS for their group accounts for 2005 and onwards,
although, unfortunately, the Regulation requires companies to use IFRS as
adopted by the EU (see below), rather than pure IFRS.

The context of thisis that the EU wishes, from a political and commercial
perspective, its capital markets to be a serious rival to that of the US. The
US capital market is successful for a number of reasons, one of the most
important being that it is subject to strong regulation by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) and other bodies. In contrast, the EU capital
markets are fragmented, not generally asliquid and not uniformly regulated. In
order to improve their position, the EU has a Financial Services Action Plan,
which seeks to harmonise and strengthen the EU capital marketsin avariety of
respects. One of these is the introduction of uniform financial reporting by EU
listed companies. Therule may be found in Council Regulation 1606/2002/EC
on the application of international accounting standards, OJ 2002 L243/1. As
a Regulation, thisis directly effective in Member State law, without the need
for national legislation.

Needless complexity has been introduced, as the Regulation is structured
so asto avoid handing over sovereignty to the IASB and thus requires EU com-
panies to comply with IFRSs only to the extent that they have been adopted (or
‘endorsed’) by the EU. To assist the Commission in thisregard, an Accounting
Regulatory Committee (ARC) has been set up, made up of political appointees
from Member States. Because of the technical nature of the work, it is assisted
by the European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG), one of whose
objectivesisto influence the IASB during its development of a standard, so as
to ensure that the end product will be acceptable within Europe. Since early
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2007, an additional layer has been introduced between EFRAG and ARC:
the Standards Advice Review Group (SARG) now advises the Commission on
EFRAG'sreview beforeaproposal isput to ARC. Theintention of thisendorse-
ment mechanism was seen as a safeguard for the EU, but it was expected that
standards devel oped by the | ASB woul d be adopted. Thefirst batch of standards
wasindeed adopted in 2003, but thetwo standardson financial instruments(IAS
32 and IAS 39) were not considered. Much of 2004 was taken up with pro-
tracted and difficult discussions among the IASB, the banks, the European
Central Bank and the EU. The outcome was that the EU did finally adopt IAS
32 and aversion of IAS 39 in which certain paragraphs and sentencesthat were
problematical to some banks or regulators had been deleted. Thisis known as
the ‘carve-out’ version of IAS 39.

Thisis avery unsatisfactory outcome, asit resultsin ‘IFRS as adopted by
the EU’ being, in some respects, different from full IFRS, as set out by the
IASB, and asfollowed elsewherein the world. Despite the carve-out version of
IAS 39, most UK listed companies have been able to follow full IFRS, whilst
also being in compliance with ‘IFRS as adopted by the EU’, because of the
limited nature of the difference between the two versions.

Even where the EU finally endorses an IFRS exactly asissued by the IASB,
thereisatimelag between the | ASB issuing the standard and it being endorsed;
generally about ten months. Thus, additional problems could be encountered
when a company is preparing financia statementsin this gap period.

Sincethe carve-out version of IAS 39, anumber of new or revised standards
have been adopted by the EU without incident. However, significant delay was
encountered over the adoption of IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’ and indeed
considerable uncertainty asto whether it would be adopted at all existed for a
while. Objections were lodged directly with the European Parliament and the
delay occurred after both EFRAG and ARC had considered the standard and
proposed that it be adopted. Eventually, IFRS 8 was adopted, but only after an
impact study had been carried out.

The Regulation requires all companies with securities traded on aregulated
market in the EU (estimated to be about 7,000 companies, of which about 1,200
are UK companies) to prepare and publish their consolidated financial state-
ments under IFRS (as adopted by the EU) from calendar year 2005 onwards.
For other financial statements—that is, financial statementsfor individual enti-
tiesand unlisted groups—the Regulation gives Member Statesachoiceto allow
or require adoption of IFRS. Inthe UK, the Department for Business Enterprise
& Regulatory Reform (BERR), formerly the DTI, decided to make the move to
IFRS optional for these other entities, which includesthe single-entity accounts
of the top-listed company in a group (see the next section). Companies traded
on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) are not required by the regulation
to adopt IFRS (as adopted by the EU). However, following a rule issued by
the London Stock Exchange, AIM companies have had to use IFRS in their
consolidated financial statements since 2007.
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The move to IFRS was a very considerable upheaval for most of the com-
panies involved. There are some countries, such as Germany (but not the
UK), where it was already permissible for companiesto prepare their consoli-
dated financial statements under IFRS, and alimited number of companies did
s0. However, for al other companies, a large-scale conversion exercise was
required. Some of the differences between UK GAAP and IFRS are referred
toin Part I of thisbook, but, for a comprehensive treatment of the similarities
and differences, reference should be made to the detailed publications of the
large accounting firms.

Examples of the kinds of difference encountered in the 2005 conversion
exercises were the accounting treatment of: pensions, share-based payments
(although the accounting standards are now the same), deferred tax, financial
instruments, foreign currency and devel opment costs. The conversion process,
including the reconciliations from UK GAAPto IFRSrequired inthefirst year,
isset out by the IASB in IFRS 1 First time adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards'.

Convergence with US GAAP

The US standard-setter, the FASB, has been in operation since 1973 and,
together with the SEC and other bodies such asthe Emerging | ssues Task Force,
is a very active regulator of accounting in the US. The FASB has had a full-
time board and large staff sinceitsformation and haswritten standards on many
subjects, and has written them in great detail. In many areas, US GAAP iswell
researched and effective. However, in recent years, events such as the collapse
of Enronin 2001 have shown that US GAAP hasitsdrawbacks, in particular in
the area on consolidations. Also, the fact that US standards are written in great
detail, taken together with the legalistic US business environment, hasled to an
unfortunate approach of some companiesand their advisers seeking to get round
the small print —a‘where does it say | can’'t do that? attitude — rather than an
acceptance that one should follow the spirit and intention of the standards. On
the other hand, some accountants like US GAAP because it is comprehensive
and clearly states what should be done in specific circumstances.

The US authorities, especially the FASB, were involved with the IASC for
many years, but, at the same time, continued to develop US GAAP with little
referenceto | AS devel opments. Once the new 1A SB was formed, it became all
the more important to involve the FASB in a more active way. Put simply: the
US is the world's largest capital market, and if international standards are in
due course accepted and used everywhere except in the US, that will be only a
limited success story.

It was therefore an important event when in September 2002 the IASB
and the FASB signed the ‘Norwalk agreement’ under which they ‘each
acknowledged their commitment to the development of high-quality, compati-
ble accounting standards that could be used for both domestic and cross-border
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financial reporting’. Both the FASB and IASB pledged to use their best efforts
to: (1) make their existing financial reporting standards fully compatible as
soon as is practicable; and (2) coordinate their future work programmes to
ensure that once achieved, compatibility is maintained.

At subsequent meetings the IASB and the FASB reaffirmed their commit-
ment to the convergence of US GAAP and IFRSs and on 27 February 2006
published a‘Memorandum of Understanding’. In this, the two standard-setters
set out a‘roadmap’ for working between 2006 and 2008 towards convergence.
The intention was not that there would be full convergence by 2008, as there
was too much work to be done. Instead, the programme was divided into two:
for projectsin the ‘ short-term convergence’ category, the objective wasto reach
a conclusion on whether major differences could be eliminated through short-
term standard-setting projects and, if so, to complete or substantially complete
those projects; and for the ‘other joint projects’, the objective was to make
‘significant progress'.

In 2007, the SEC made and proposed two further important reforms. One
concerns the US GAAP reconciliation. For many years, foreign companies
listed in the US markets had to either prepare US GAAP accounts or (more
commonly) prepare a reconciliation between their home country GAAP (now
mostly IFRS) and US GAAP. However, this requirement for a reconciliation
was withdrawn in late 2007, subject to certain provisos. The main condition
was that the company prepared its accounts under IFRS as published by the
IASB, and not aregional or other variant of IFRS such as IFRS as adopted by
the EU. Although, as atransitional provision, for companies that have already
adopted the EU carve-out version of 1AS 39 (see above) the SEC is allowing
no reconciliation to US GAAP in the first two years, but only if this is the
only difference from IFRS as issued by the IASB and the company provides a
reconciliation to IFRS asissued by the IASB.

The second of the SEC’'s 2007 reformsisonly at the stage of aproposal, but
ishighly significant. The SEC has proposed that it might be possiblefor all SEC
registrants — not just foreign companies — to use IFRS in their filings with the
SEC. If the SEC does adopt thisreform, and if US companies avail themselves
of the facility to use IFRS rather than US GAAP, this would represent the end
of US GAAP for all practical purposes, something that could scarcely have
been envisaged as recently as 2006.

Implications for the UK
Growing convergence

International standards are clearly important to the UK in that, since 2005, UK
listed companies have had to publish their consolidated financial statements
under |FRS. However, in many respects, the importance of IFRSisgreater than
that. First, a number of companies have also adopted |FRS at the entity level.
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Second, evenif UK companiesthat are subsidiaries do not decideto opt into
IFRS for their entity accounts, they will typically have to provide information
(oftencalled‘ groupreturns’ or ‘ consolidation packs’) totheir parent companies.
Where these parent companies are listed in the EU, the group returns will need
to be prepared under IFRS.

Third, even where companies remain under UK GAAP at the entity level,
the differences between UK GAAP and IFRS are gradually dwindling, as a
result of the policy of the UK ASB of converging its standards with those of
the IASB.

By early 2008, the ASB had not converged al of its standards with IFRS,
although it had considered a number of possible approaches. At the time of
writing, alikely approach isto base UK GAAP on the work being done by the
IASB inrelationtoaform of IFRSfor small and medium-sized entities (SMES).
The IASB isdeveloping an IFRS for SMEsin response to requests from those
who regard full IFRS astoo complex for smaller companiesor, as othersregard
it, unnecessarily complex for companies that are not publicly accountable. An
approach for the UK that is gaining momentum is for listed companies, and
perhapsother large or important entities, to apply full IFRS; unlisted companies
other than the smallest ones would apply the IFRS for SMEs; and the smallest
layer would continue to apply the ASB’s existing Financial Reporting Standard
for Smaller Entities (FRSSE), but in time the FRSSE would be aligned with
IFRS.

BERR and entity accounts

Under the Companies Act, as noted above, IFRS is optional at the entity level
although, withinagroup, itisnot possibleto ‘ cherry-pick’ —that isto have some
UK subsidiariesmoveto IFRS and others stay with UK GAAP. Rather, a parent
preparing consolidated financial statements and al its British subsidiaries have
either to move to IFRS or stay with UK GAAP at the entity level (unlessthere
are ‘good reasons’ for doing otherwise). It is, however, expressly permitted for
a parent to move to IFRS for its entity financial statements—to bein line with
itsown group financial statements—yet for its UK subsidiariesto stay with UK
GAAP (without the need to demonstrate ‘ good reasons’).

Tax and distributable profits

Whilst there remains a choice between IFRS and UK GAAP at the individual
entity level, there are two further important considerations for companies: tax
and calculating which profits are distributable.

HM Revenue & Customsnow accepts, for tax purposes, financial statements
prepared under |FRS as a starting point. Thisis helpful: if it were not the case,
companieswould haveto prepare UK GAAPfinancial statementsasthestarting
point for tax assessment even if they adopted IFRSfor Companies Act purposes.
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However, there are special rules in certain areas, and it is important for each
company to consider in detail the effect of IFRS on its tax position.*

Similarly, it isimportant for each company, in deciding whether to move to
IFRS, to consider what effect the move may have on its distributable profits.
Guidanceto assist companiesin thisregard has been developed by the Institutes
of Chartered Accountants.?

In a nutshell where are we now?

For listed and AIM-traded groups, consolidated financia statements must be
prepared using IFRS as adopted by the EU. If the company is also listed
inthe US, areconciliationto US GAAP no longer hasto be presented providing
there are no departures from IFRS as issued by the |ASB. For such companies,
the accounting policy choices must ensure compliance with both IFRS as
adopted by the EU and IFRS as issued by the IASB. For those companies
whose only departure from IFRS as issued by the IASB is using the carve-
out of IAS 39, areconciliation to US GAAP is not required for the first two
accounting periods ending after 15 November 2007 providing a reconciliation
to IFRS asissued by the IASB is provided.

At the single-entity level thefinancial statements of those companies can be
prepared using | FRS as adopted by the EU or UK GAAP, although thefinancial
statements of companies within a group should generally be prepared on the
same basis.

For groups whose shares are neither listed nor traded on AIM, the position
regarding their consolidated accounts is the same as for single-entity financial
statements, namely, choose between IFRS or UK GAAP.

Current thinking isthat ‘UK GAAP will become:

(8 small companies—apply the ASB’s FRSSE;

(b) listed companiesand other large/important/public interest entities—apply
full IFRS; and

(c) dl other entities— apply the IFRS for SMEs.

1 Seech.12. 2 Seech. 19.
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The legal framework for accounting

Introduction: the Companies Act 1985 and the Companies Act 2006

For more than two decades the Companies Act 1985 (‘CA 1985’) has been
the main piece of primary legislation directly governing British companies. It
has been added to and had bits removed, but the CA 1985 has remained the
ruling force. All that changed on 8 November 2006, when the Companies Act
2006 (“CA 2006’) received Royal Assent. Consisting of approximately 1,300
sections and 16 schedules, the CA 2006, the largest piece of legislation ever to
be passed by Parliament, is a thorough modernisation and a substantial, but not
complete, consolidation of the then existing company legislation, following an
extensive review and consultation process.

The CA 2006 has redrafted company law to meet better the needs of small
business by adopting a ‘think small first’ approach. The Act also extends GB
company law to Northern Ireland, where previously it had required separate
Northern Ireland legislation. In addition to reproducing much of the content of
the CA 1985, the 2006 Act contains a number of new provisions, some of the
key ones of which we highlight in appropriate chapters. Some of the content
of the CA 1985 has been reproduced in statutory instruments supporting the
CA 2006, rather than being included in the Act itself where it is harder to
change subsequently; this is particularly important where detailed accounting
provisions are prescribed.

Very little of the CA 2006 came into force immediately and, indeed,
although full implementation was originally scheduled for October 2008, this
has now been postponed until October 2009. Nevertheless, the CA 2006 has
been gradually coming into force.

In the main, the accounting provisions both in the CA 2006 and in its
supporting statutory instruments apply to accounting periods beginning on or
after 6 April 2008. Accordingly, this chapter, and all the other chapters in
the book, deals with the provisions of the CA 2006. Many of the accounting
provisions in the CA 2006 are the same as those in the CA 1985 and appendix
4 lists the equivalent references to CA 1985.

Like the CA 1985 before it, the CA 2006 deals with a wide range of matters.
The purpose of this chapter is restricted to highlighting the aspects that relate
to accounting.
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The Companies Act 2006: accounts and reports

Part 15 of the CA 2006 deals with ‘accounts and reports’ and further detail is
found in various schedules to a number of statutory instruments, in particular:
S12008/410 “The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) Regulations 2008’; and SI 2008/409 “The Small Companies and
Groups (Accounts and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2008°.

The Sls are part of a suite of regulations that support Part 15 of the CA 2006
and set out, with some amendments, the accounting and reporting requirements
contained in Schedules 4, 4A, 5, 6, 7, 7A, 8, 8A, 9 and 9A to the CA 1985. Of
most concern to us here are Schedule 1 ‘Companies Act Individual Accounts:
Companies which are not banking or insurance companies’ and Schedule 6
‘Companies Act Group Accounts’ to SI 2008/410.

In essence, Part 15 of the Act deals with procedural matters, e.g., requiring
accounting records to be kept; accounts, which give a true and fair view, to
be prepared for each financial year; and requiring the reports and accounts to
be circulated to members; whereas Schedules 1 and 6 to SI 2008/410 stipulate
rules on how the financial statements are prepared, e.g., requiring property,
plant and equipment to be stated at cost or valuation, less depreciation. While
Part 15 applies to all companies regardless of whether they use IFRS or UK
GAAP to prepare their financial statements, Schedules 1 and 6 to SI 2008/410
apply only to those companies whose financial statements are prepared using
UK GAAP. Although these two schedules apply only to UK GAAP financial
statements, parts of the SI and some of the other schedules thereto apply to
both IFRS and UK GAAP financial statements.

Box 3.1 shows the matters with which Part 15 of the Act deals.

Box 3.1 Companies Act 2006, Part 15 - Accounts and reports

Chapter 1 — Introduction (ss. 380-5)

Chapter 2 — Accounting records (ss. 386-9)

Chapter 3 — A company’s financial year (ss. 390-2)

Chapter 4 — Annual accounts (ss. 393-414)

Chapter 5 — Directors’ report (ss. 415-19)

Chapter 6 — Quoted companies: directors’ remuneration report (ss. 420-2)

Chapter 7 — Publication of accounts and reports (ss. 423-36)

Chapter 8 — Public companies: laying of accounts and reports before
general meeting (ss. 437-8)

Chapter 9 — Quoted companies: members’ approval of directors’
remuneration report (ss. 439-40)

Chapter 10 — Filing of accounts and reports (ss. 441-53)

Chapter 11 — Revision of defective accounts and reports (ss. 454-462)

Chapter 12 — Supplementary provisions (ss. 463—74)
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The bulk of this chapter concentrates on a limited number of the above
provisions, selected according to their importance in practice.

Application of the Companies Act to IFRS and UK GAAP companies

It is important to note that the Act applies in a different way according to
whether a company has remained with UK GAAP or has moved to IFRS.
Although the consolidated financial statements of listed groups must now be
prepared using IFRS, many listed companies have chosen to retain UK GAAP
for the preparation of their individual company financial statements (e.g. the
parent entity and the UK subsidiaries), thus the Act might apply to differing
extents to the different parts of a group or indeed to different parts of the same
published accounts (i.e. if IFRS is applied to the group financial statements and
UK GAAP to the parent company’s own single entity financial statements).
A company’s accounting might have moved to IFRS either as a mandatory
change for the consolidated financial statements of a listed company,® or as a
voluntary move in the case of an unlisted group or an entity’s own financial
statements. In both of those cases, the company becomes subject to the EU
Council Regulation 1606/2002/EC (OJ 2002 243/1). As a consequence, the
detailed accounting rules in Schedules 1 and 6 to SI 2008/410 do not apply
even though the basic requirements of the sections in Part 15 of the Act (as set
out in Box 3.1) continue to apply.

Accounting provisions of the Act applying to IFRS and UK GAAP companies
The requirement for individual accounts

Sections 394 to 397 and 407 set out the fundamental requirement for directors
to prepare what the Act terms ‘individual accounts’, that is, financial statements
for a company showing the results, assets and liabilities of the company only.
These are also sometimes called “entity accounts’ or ‘solus accounts’. In each
case the contrast is with group accounts (dealt with in ss. 398 to 406 and 408).

Section 394 requires the directors of a company to prepare individual
accounts for each financial year and s. 395 requires that they are either IFRS
accounts or UK GAAP accounts (the terminology in the Act is ‘IAS individual
accounts’ and ‘Companies Act individual accounts’ respectively). Apart from
charities, which must prepare UK GAAP accounts, directors have a free choice
as to whether to prepare IFRS or UK GAAP accounts until the first time that
IFRS accounts are prepared. Once IFRS accounts have been prepared, they
must continue to be prepared in subsequent years unless the company meets
one of the exceptions, such as it is sold outside the group to another group
that uses UK GAAP. Section 407 also constrains the choice; for a listed group,

1 See ch. 2, p. 20.
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unless there are ‘good reasons’ for doing something else, either the individ-
ual accounts of all British companies within the group are prepared using UK
GAARP, or they are all prepared using IFRS, or the parent company (whose
group accounts are prepared using IFRS) can prepare its individual accounts
using IFRS whilst all its British subsidiaries prepare their individual accounts
using UK GAAP.

For companies applying IFRS, s. 397 requires that the directors must state in
the notes to those accounts that the accounts have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS. Under the Act there are no further requirements with respect to
IFRS accounts preparation; the directors apply IFRS and that is that! This is
very different from the position for companies staying with UK GAAP.

Section 396 deals with the detail for those companies that are staying with
UK GAAP. While it mandates adherence to Schedule 1 to SI 2008/410, where
further detailed requirements are added (see below for details), it requires
two primary financial statements — the balance sheet and the profit and loss
account. That is, the law does not require a cash flow statement or a statement
of total recognised gains and losses. These, although they are also primary
statements, are required only by UK accounting standards. For IFRS accounts,
the requirement for a balance sheet and statement of comprehensive income
(equivalent to profit and loss account and STRGL) is found, not in the Act, but
in an accounting standard (IAS 1).

The requirement for group accounts

Sections 398 to 408 set out equivalent requirements relating to group accounts.
Directors shall prepare consolidated accounts (the Act uses the term ‘group
accounts’) if, at the end of the year, the company is a parent company unless one
of the Act’s exemptions applies. The terms ‘group accounts’ and ‘consolidated
accounts’ are sometimes used interchangeably. Strictly, ‘group accounts’ is a
looser term, and can mean any form of aggregation of information relating
to a group of companies. Consolidated accounts, which is the form required
by accounting standards (IFRS and UK GAAP) and law (UK GAAP), means
a specific technique of preparing a set of financial statements for the group
as if it were a single entity, by aggregating all subsidiaries and, for example,
eliminating intra-group transactions.?

Section 403 requires the consolidated accounts to be either IFRS accounts
or UK GAAP accounts (the terminology in the Act is “lAS group accounts’” and
‘Companies Act group accounts’ respectively). As with the individual company
accounts, unless there is a relevant change of circumstance, once consolidated
accounts have been prepared using IFRS they must continue to be prepared
using IFRS.

2 Seech. 8.
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Section 404, which applies to group accounts prepared in accordance with
UK GAAP, is equivalent to s. 396 except that the detailed requirements are
found via Schedule 6 to SI 2008/410.

In relation to group accounts prepared in accordance with IFRS, s. 406
mirrors s. 397, in other words, it simply requires the directors to state in the
notes to those accounts that the accounts have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS.

Annual accounts and the true and fair view

For UK GAAP accounts, ss. 396 (individual company accounts), 404 (group
accounts) and 393 (both individual company and group accounts) set out the
requirement that they shall give ‘a true and fair view’. Note that the law requires
a true and fair view — not the true and fair view. This is taken to mean that there
is potentially more than one way in which a true and fair view may be given.
For example, a company might choose to keep its assets at cost, or to revalue
them.

This true and fair view requirement is overriding — it is the key objective
of annual accounts. Compliance with the detailed rules is important, and in
nearly all cases it will result in a true and fair view being given. However, in
that rare case, where this does not hold, the law is clear: if there is insufficient
information, give more; and if despite that, the accounts do not give a true and
fair view, depart from the detailed rules to the extent necessary. It is a very
powerful concept. Typically, the override has been used in practice to override
a part of the Act in order to allow compliance with an accounting standard.

The ASB’s Foreword to accounting standards contains a similar override
in the context of accounting standards; the above override being in the context
of the Act’s requirements. The override of accounting standards is hardly ever
used in practice.

Section 393’s requirement that accounts give a true and fair view applies
to IFRS accounts as well as to UK GAAP accounts. IFRSs themselves use the
expression ‘present fairly” rather than ‘true and fair’. For example, para. 15 of
IAS 1(2007) states that:

‘Financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity. Fair presentation requires the
faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events and con-
ditions inaccordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets,
liabilities, income and expenses set out in the Framework. The application
of IFRSs, with additional disclosure when necessary, is presumed to result
in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation.’

The two expressions, ‘present fairly’ and “true and fair’ have the same meaning;
this is confirmed by the IASB’s Framework® and by Martin Moore QC, in an

3 The ‘Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements, para. 46.
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opinion to the Financial Reporting Council. In his opinion, Mr Moore stated
that the two phrases are a different articulation of the same concept. In addition,
that this is paramount is evidenced by para. 19 of IAS 1(2007), which sets out
an equivalent override.

Approval, distribution and filing of accounts

Financial statements, once prepared, should be approved by the Board, signed,
on the balance sheet, on behalf of the Board by a director,* be audited and
the audit report signed by the auditors.> The directors’ report and directors’
remuneration report must also be approved by the board; they have to be signed
on behalf of the board by a director or the company secretary.®

The annual accounts and reports should then be sent to members’ (for
quoted companies), made available on a website maintained by or on behalf
of the company?® (for public companies), laid before the company in general
meeting® and (all companies) delivered to the Registrar of Companies.'® Further
details are set out in the indicated sections of the Act, and further comments
about the role of auditors may be found in chapter 4 at p. 40.

There are provisions in the Act for the revision of defective accounts and
reports.'* These provisions are discussed in chapter 4 at p. 39 under the heading,
“The Financial Reporting Review Panel’.

Exemptions and special provisions

Various exemptions are contained within the Act. These are not discussed in
detail in this book. However, the principal categories of exemptions are:

* relief from sending the full Annual Accounts and Reports to shareholders,
allowing instead a ‘summary financial statement’ to be sent;

* relief from certain disclosures for medium-sized companies, and greater
relief for small companies;

« relief from the need to prepare group accounts for certain groups; and

« relief from the need for an audit for companies below a certain size.

Brief details relating to summary financial statements, which are likely to be
of most interest to directors of listed companies, are discussed in chapter 6.
We may note also that, in UK GAAP, certain accounting standards give
exemptions for companies below a certain size. In addition, the ASB has devel-
oped a Financial Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities (FRSSE). This is
designed to provide small companies with a single reporting standard that is
focused on their circumstances. That is, companies using the FRSSE need not
generally comply with other accounting standards and UITF Abstracts. The
FRSSE, however, contains essentially the same requirements as accounting

4 s.414. 5 ss.434,475-84,495-7 and 503-6. 6 ss. 419 and 422. 7 s.423.
8 5.430. 9 s.437. 10 s.441. 11 ss.454-7.
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standards as regards recognition and measurement, although they are expressed
in simpler terms. As to disclosure matters, some of those set out in the other
accounting standards are omitted. The 1ASB is developing an IFRS for small
and medium-sized entities, and has issued an exposure draft, although its pro-
posed scope is wider than that of the UK FRSSE as it may be applied to
privately held companies generally, including wholly owned subsidiaries, irre-
spective of size. As discussed in chapter 2, current thinking in the UK is that
the IFRS for small and medium-sized entities may be adopted by the ASB as
a UK standard to be applied by UK companies above the FRSSE level and
not meeting some other criteria (not yet determined, but may be listed/large/
public-interest/important) which would require the adoption of full IFRS if
met.

Special provisions relating to banking and insurance companies and groups
are contained in SI 2008/410 and apply only to UK GAAP accounts. The
accounts of companies and groups in these categories are required to give a
true and fair view, just as with the accounts of other companies. However, the
detailed requirements are different. The detailed rules for individual accounts
are set out in Schedules 2 (banking) and 3 (insurance) and for group accounts
are set out in Parts 2 and 3 of Schedule 6.

Accounting provisions of SI 2008/410 applying to UK GAAP companies only
Introduction

This section covers the main schedules to SI1 2008/410 that prescribe accounting
requirements. For non-specialised companies, these are Schedules 1 and 6.

As mentioned above, the detailed rules for the accounts of banks and those
for insurance companies are set out separately. In particular, the formats for the
profit and loss account and balance sheet of banks and insurance companies
are different from each other and from the formats of other companies. There
are differences also in the measurement rules and the required disclosures.

The remainder of this section will look briefly at the requirements of Sched-
ules 1 and 6.

Schedule 1

Schedule 1 contains detailed rules that must be applied in preparing a set of
UK GAAP accounts. It does not apply to those that follow IFRS. The rules can
be broadly summarised as follows:

* Formats and general rules — companies must choose one of two different
balance sheet formats and one of four possible formats for the profit and
loss account. There are also a number of rules relating to the formats, for
example, assets may not be set against liabilities, but instead each should
be shown separately. A relatively recent, and important, addition to the
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rules is the requirement that items shall be included in the profit and
loss account and balance sheet in accordance with their substance; this
was introduced to accommodate certain rules on financial instruments
accounting in FRS 25 which are from IAS 32.12

* Accounting principles —five basic accounting principles are set out which
must be followed, or details given of any departure, in calculating profits,
assets and liabilities. An example is para. 14, which requires that all
income and expenses that relate to a year shall be taken into account
regardless of when the cash is received or paid; in other words, it requires
the use of accruals accounting.

* Historical cost accounting rules — the rules in this section deal with
the determination of the carrying value of fixed and current assets, in
particular, setting out how cost is determined and how depreciation and
impairment should be reflected.

¢ Alternative accounting rules — these rules permit companies to carry
fixed assets, stocks and current asset investments at valuation, rather than
historical cost, if they wish. The rules are not an “all or nothing” and
companies can choose to use the alternative accounting rules for just one
asset if they wish. Accounting standards have imposed tighter restrictions,
for example, requiring that if an asset is to be stated at valuation, as
a minimum, the whole class of assets to which it belongs must also
be carried at valuation. Where assets are revalued under the alternative
accounting rules, the amount of the increase in carrying value must be
included in a revaluation reserve; this has implications for distributable
profits.

« Fair value accounting — the purpose of these rules is to permit companies
to state certain financial instruments, investment property and living ani-
mals and plants to be included at fair value, to facilitate harmonising UK
GAAP with IFRS. The amount of the increase or decrease in carrying
value is recognised in the profit and loss account or fair value reserve
(according to the rules), but not the revaluation reserve; this has important
implications for distributable profits.

* Notes to the accounts — this part of the Schedule requires various note
disclosuresto be included in the accounts, for example, details about share
capital and financial commitments. In many cases, accounting standards
now duplicate, and generally add to, these requirements.

 Provisions applying to investment companies — this part contains rules
on how investment companies should adapt the rest of the Schedule.

Importantly, companies can omit immaterial information when complying with
Schedule 1 (and Schedules 2 and 3).

12 See ch. 17.
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Schedule 6

Fora UK GAAP company required by the Act to produce consolidated financial
statements, compliance with the detailed requirements in Schedule 6 to SI
2008/410 is mandated. Part 2 deals with banking groups, Part 3 with insurance
groups and Part 1 with all other groups.

Schedule 6 Part 1 is additional to Schedule 1. So, for example, the formats
for the balance sheet and profit and loss account apply to consolidated accounts,
just as they apply to individual accounts. However, Schedule 6 supplements
them, for example, by specifying where in the formats minority interests are to
be included.

Other areas dealt with by Schedule 6 Part 1 are:

* Basic rules of consolidation — the basic rule of consolidation is that
the accounts should be prepared as if the group were one single entity
and a number of specific rules that put this into practice are laid down,
for example, requiring that any profits made when transferring goods
between one group company and another are eliminated from the con-
solidated accounts if the goods are still held within the group.

¢ Which method of accounting should be used — the rules set out: what the
acquisition method is; the conditions for using merger accounting; and
what the merger method is.

¢ Joint ventures and associates — this deals with the way in which joint
ventures and associates are included in consolidated financial statements.

In each of these areas, accounting standards lay down additional rules, often,
reflecting the fact that thinking changes over time, taking away the choice
permitted by the Schedule.

Further details of acquisition accounting and merger accounting are set out
in chapter 11 at pp. 100-114 and accounting for associates is further elaborated
in chapter 8 at pp. 77-79.
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The accountancy profession and the regulatory
framework for accounting and auditing

The accountancy profession

There are currently six major accountancy bodiesin the UK and Ireland:

The Institute of Chartered Accountantsin England and Wales (ICAEW);
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland (ICAS);

The Institute of Chartered Accountantsin Ireland (ICAI);

The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA);

The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA); and

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).

o0k wNPE

Thevast majority of practising members of the profession arein one of thefirst
three Institutes. The ICAEW is the largest body, although ICAS is proud to
be the oldest. ACCA includes some practitioners and many members overseas.
Many of the members of these four bodies, having trained in the profession,
work in industry and commerce, and members of CIMA do so almost exclu-
sively. CIPFA members work almost entirely in the public sector.

These bodiesto some extent compete with each other —not least for students
and, therefore, for members. They a so cooperate on some matters through the
Consultative Committee of Accountancy Bodies (CCAB). Setting accounting
standards and auditing standards used to be in the domain of the CCAB — the
Accounting Standards Committee and the Auditing Practices Committee were
CCAB bhodies from the 1970s for about twenty years. However, as explained
in chapter 2, the accounting standards activity was moved away from the
profession in 1990 when the new Accounting Standards Board (see below) was
formed. Similarly, a new Auditing Practices Board was formed in April 2002,
thus removing a second important role from the professional bodies.

The accountancy bodies have a number of important roles. One is educa-
tion and training — training students, admitting new members and overseeing
their continuing professional development. The Institutes also set professional
and ethical rules. Furthermore, despite losing the important roles of setting
accounting and auditing standards, the Institutes have a number of technical
committees that are active in both generating and debating new ideas and in
producing guidance for the profession. A recent example of guidanceis TECH
01/08 ‘Guidance on the determination of realised profits and losses in the
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Figure 4.1 The Financial Reporting Council and its operating bodies as at June 2008

context of distributions under the Companies Act 1985, which is discussed in
detail in chapter 19 at pp. 184-193.

The Financial Reporting Council

The Financial Reporting Council, which is separate from the profession, was
formed in 1990, following the Dearing Report.t Thiswas primarily concerned
with the decreasing reputation and effectiveness of the former Accounting
Standards Committee, and proposed a new structure primarily with accounting
standard setting in mind. The structure initialy involved a standard-setting
arm —the ASB and, under it, the UITF — and alongside an enforcement arm,
the FRRP. In 2004 and 2006, various additional functions were created or
transferred to the FRC structure, so that it is now as shownin figure 4.1.

The Board

The Board of FRC Ltd oversees the six operating bodies (all apart from the
committee on corporate governance) shown under itinthediagraminfigure4.1.
It is assisted in its work monitoring the Combined Code on corporate gover-
nance by the committee on corporate governance whose members are drawn
from the Board. The Board is responsible for raising finance, making appoint-
ments and setting overall strategy. It does not become involved in the detail of,
for example, setting accounting standards: the ASB issues them under its own
authority, having undertaken appropriate public consultation.

1 ‘The making of accounting standards’, Report of the Review Committee (London: Institute of
Chartered Accountantsin England and Wales, 1988).
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The Board has a wide membership and, following a restructuring in
late 2007, is composed of the chair, a non-executive deputy chair, the chief
executive, seven non-executive directors and the chairs of the FRC's six oper-
ating bodies.

The Accounting Standards Board

Asits name might suggest, the ASB is responsible for developing and issuing
accounting standards. The ASB has afull-time chairman and technical director
plus, currently, another eight part-time board members. It also has a technical
staff. It was very active in the 1990s in setting UK standards, but since the
IASB wasformed in 2001, the ASB has moved into adifferent phase, in which
itismostly concerned with influencing the IASB and harmonising UK practice
with the international standards.

Under the ASB are a number of committees of which the best known isthe
UITF, described below. Of the others, CA SE, the Committee on Accounting for
Smaller Entities, which, asits name suggests, is concerned with the application
of accounting standards to smaller entities, is perhaps the most well known.

The Urgent Issues Task Force

The UITF is a committee of the ASB, formed of seventeen members from
industry and professional accounting firms. The UITF' s role is ‘to assist the
ASB with important or significant accounting issues where there exists an
accounting standard or a provision of companies legislation (including the
requirement to give atrue and fair view) and where unsatisfactory or conflicting
interpretations have developed or seem likely to develop’.? In practice, this
means that it is concerned with producing ‘Abstracts’, as its output is known,
in a shorter timescale than a full accounting standard, on narrower issues than
would be dealt with in an accounting standard.

The Abstracts are developed entirely by the UITF, but are approved, and
formally issued, by the ASB. They are part of GAAP, in the same way as
accounting standards themselves, and, like accounting standards, are subject to
enforcement by the FRRP.

Aswith UK accounting standards, the Abstracts areincreasingly becoming
the adoption into UK GAAP of the equivalent international rule; in the case of
the UITF the adoption of IFRIC interpretations.

The Financial Reporting Review Panel

See below.

2 Foreword to UITF Abstracts, para. 2.

37



Accounting Principles for Non-Executive Directors

38

Professional Oversight Board

Formed in 2003, the Professional Oversight Board (POB) hasthree main roles,
all of which are audit related. One of the threerolesisto establish and oversee
an independent Audit Inspection Unit to monitor the audits of magjor listed
companies and other public-interest entities, including both the audit process
and the decisions taken by auditors. The other two roles involve regulating the
professional accountancy bodies.

The Audit Inspection Unit took over a monitoring role previously carried
out by the Joint Monitoring Unit, which was part of the Institutes. The 2004
restructuring took away from the Ingtitutes the role insofar asit relatesto listed
companies and other public interest entities. However, the role in relation to
other companies remains with the Institutes.

The Auditing Practices Board

The Auditing Practices Board (APB) was moved to be part of the FRC structure
in 2004. Prior to this, it came under the Accountancy Foundation and, prior
to that, it was part of the profession through the CCAB. The APB issues
auditing standards and guidelines for the profession. Its responsibilities have
recently been extended to the development of ethical standards relating to
the independence, objectivity and integrity of auditors. Many of the standards
and guidelines are concerned with methodology and are not discussed here.
However, later in this chapter there is a section dealing with the law, auditing
standards and practice in the area of standard, modified and qualified audit
reports.

Board for Actuarial Standards

The Board for Actuaria Standards (BAS) is a new body, having only been
established in April 2006. HM Treasury, following the publication of theMorris
Review of the actuarial profession, asked the Financial Reporting Council to
take on responsibility for the oversight of the UK actuarial profession and the
independent setting of actuarial technical standards. BAS is to be responsible
for the setting of actuarial standards.

Accountancy and Actuarial Discipline Board

Originally, the role of this board was in relation to accountants only; the role
being to investigate public-interest cases involving accountants and to disci-
pline as appropriate. While this role in relation to accountants continues, a
similar role in relation to actuaries was added to the board's remit in summer
2007.
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The Financial Reporting Review Panel

The Panel aims to ensure that annual financia statements of public compa-
nies and large private companies comply with the requirements of applica-
ble accounting standards and of the Companies Act 2006. The Panel’s work
includes IFRS accounts as well as UK GAAP accounts. In practice, nearly all
of the Panel’s investigations have been concerned with listed companies.

While the accounting standards produced by the ASB during the 1990s
did much to improve accounting in that period, the formation and operation
of the FRRP was an important second leg. Prior to 1990, there had been no
effective enforcement of accounting standards (or indeed of the accounting
requirements of the Companies Act 1985), and the appearance of the Panel did
much to change attitudes towards compliance.

Until 2004, the Panel wasreactive. That is, it would enter adialogue with a
company where there was adverse press comment, or an allegation from, say,
a shareholder or other interested party, that the financial statements did not
comply with the Act or accounting standards. The Panel would then discussthe
matter with the company, through correspondence and/or formal meetings. In
some cases, the directors persuaded the Panel that the treatment adopted was
in fact appropriate; the case was then dropped. In other cases, the Panel was
not so persuaded. In these circumstances, the Panel does not have the power
to force the company to change its financial statements. However, it does have
the power to refer the matter to the court. In the eighteen years since the Panel
was formed, no cases have goneto court. In al of these cases, the directors of
the companies in question have seen the merit of acceding to the Panel’s view
and changing their financial statements ‘voluntarily’.

From 2004, as part of awider picture of post-Enron reforms, the Panel has
moved on to being proactive in its work. That is, it continues to respond to
complaints, but it also reviews financia statements as a matter of routine. The
Panel initially focused its attention on larger listed companies (the top 350),
but from 2008 it is focusing more on smaller listed companies, those traded
on AIM and larger private companies. It will nevertheless continue to select
financial statements from the full range of companies within its remit.

Recently, the Panel has been announcing in advance the sectors on which
it will focus its monitoring activity. For the year to 31 March 2009, it has
announced that it isto focus its activities on:

* banking;

retail;

travel and leisure;
commercial property; and
housebuilders.

The Panel’s focus on banking, commercia property and housebuilders reflects
its interest in those companies likely to be affected by the 2007/08 ‘ credit
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crunch’. The Panel has added that it will pay particular attention to disclosures
relating to financing arrangements and risks and uncertainties in the light of
credit market conditions at the time of approval of financial statements.

To help it select other financia statements to review (i.e., other than from
the sectors announced), the Panel is developing arisk model to identify where
it considers accounting problems may be more likely. It cites poor corporate
governance as an example. Topical accounting issues also help it to identify
companies to review.

In the first year of targeting particular sectors, the year to 31 March 2006,
the Panel looked at 66 sets of accounts from the five sectors and, as a con-
sequence, ten companies agreed to make changes going forward. By contrast,
in the year to 31 March 2007, the Panel reviewed 311 sets of accounts and
94 companies undertook to reflect the Panel’s comments in future accounts.
The higher proportion of amendments to future financial statements, in part,
reflects the fact that this period of review activity included financial statements
that were prepared for the first time under EU-adopted IFRS.

The move to proactive enforcement is part of a wider European initiative.
The Committee of European Securities Regulators (CESR) is encouraging an
enforcement mechanism to be put in placein al EU countries.

From 2005, the Panel’s scope was extended to include, inter alia, interim
reports of listed companies and the accounts of overseas companies with a
primary listing in the UK. For financial years beginning on or after 1 April
2006, the Panel’s scope was further extended to encompass directors’ reports,
including business reviews.

Audit reporting

Perhaps the most visible part of auditors work is the audit report that is
published as part of a company’s annual report. The Act sets out the basic
requirements. With respect to the annual accounts, the auditors are required
to state whether, in their opinion, the annual accounts. give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs at the end of the financia year and of the profit or
loss for the financial year; have been properly prepared in accordance with the
relevant financial reporting framework (IFRS or UK GAAP); and have been
prepared in accordance with the Act and, where applicable, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation. Quoted companies must prepare a directors remuneration
report® and the auditors are required to audit part of that report, stating in the
audit report whether, in their opinion, that part of the directors' remuneration
report has been properly prepared in accordance with the Act. Certain more
limited responsibilities of the auditors exist in relation to the directors' report
and other information presented with the audited financial statements, although

3 Seech. 20.
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Box 4.1 Qualified audit opinions

Qualified opinion Disagreement with management or limitation of
(‘except for’) scope of audit is not so material or pervasive as
to require an adverse opinion or disclaimer
of opinion

Disclaimer of opinion  Possible effect of limitation of scopeisso
material and pervasive that the auditors are
unable to express an opinion.

Adverse opinion Effect of disagreement is so material and
pervasive that the auditors conclude that a
qualification is not adequate to disclose the
misleading or incomplete nature of the financial
statements.

the auditors are required to report whether, in their opinion, the information
given in the directors’ report is consistent with the accounts.

International Standard on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (1SA (UK and Ireland))
700 deals with audit report requirements and APB Bulletins provide example
wording. Thereisareasonably standardised wording for audit reports, although
giventhechoiceof accounting framework (IFRSor UK GAAP) for single-entity
financial statements, there are anumber of aternatives even for alisted group.
It should be noted that the requirement of the Act and auditing standardsisfor
the auditorsto express an opinion. The auditors do not prepare the accountsand
do not give a certificate. References are sometimes made to * audit certificates',
but these represent an incorrect understanding of the role of the auditors.

Where auditors are satisfied that the accounts give atrue and fair view and
have been properly prepared, the form of audit report wording is known as
an unqualified audit report (sometimes informally called a ‘clean opinion’).
Where auditors are not so satisfied, they should modify their report and give
aquaified opinion. There are a number of possible ways in which this can be
done, as shown in Box 4.1.

There are other types of non-standard wording that do not count as ‘ quali-
fied’ opinions, but are still called ‘modified’ audit reports. The most common
situation where these are used is in circumstances where the going concern
status of the company isin doubt. They equally apply to any other situation
where there is a significant uncertainty the resolution of which is dependent
upon future events and which may affect the financial statements, for exam-
ple, litigation. In these circumstances, the directors need to give disclosures
about the uncertainty. If the auditors regard the uncertainty as significant, even
though they believe the directors' disclosures are adequate they should include
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an ‘emphasis of matter’ paragraph in their report, with an appropriate heading,
drawing attention to the significant uncertainty. Uncertainties are regarded as
significant when they involve asignificant level of concern about the validity of
the going-concern basis or other matters whose potential effect on the financial
statements is unusually great.

In the ‘emphasis of matter’ paragraph the auditors explain that in forming
their opinion they have considered the adequacy of the disclosures in the
financial statements concerning the possible outcome of the uncertainty, and
they describe the uncertainty, the possible outcome and its effect, including
guantification. In addition to the comments about the significant uncertainty,
the auditors may explicitly clarify that their opinion is not qualified in this
respect.

For audit reports in respect of financial statements for accounting periods
beginning on or after 6 April 2008 (which for a calendar-year-end company
will bethe 2009 financial statements), the name of the audit partner who signed
the audit report on behalf of the audit firm, as well as the name of the audit
firm, will have to be shown on the audit report.

Limitation of liability for auditors

From 6 April 2008, the Act removes the UK’s eighty-year prohibition on
auditors and their clients reaching contractual limitations for the auditor’'s
liability. However, when companies and their auditorsreach such an agreement,
the board will still need to secure shareholder approval at the next AGM for the
agreement to take effect. The court can override agreementsthat it considersto
be unfair or unreasonable and can substitute its own limit with the limitation
of liability agreement still being valid. Where a company entersinto alimited
liability agreement with its auditors in respect of afinancial year, disclosureis
required in the notes to the accounts.

The role of accountants in capital markets transactions

Although thisbook is concerned with accounting rather than with the full range
of what accountants do, the role of accountants in transactions still merits brief
mention.

Theword ‘transaction’ isoften used rather loosely to mean acapital markets
transaction such as:

* the raising of share capital, which could be a new listing of shares (an
Initial Public Offering — 1PO) or a further issue of shares by a company
that is already listed;

e asecondary listing of shares, for example when acompany already listed
in London seeks a listing on another exchange;
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* theraising of capital in the form of adebt issue; and
e amerger or acquisition involving alisted company.

Accountants carry out much behind-the-scenes advisory work in relation to
transactions such asthese. For example, they carry out investigations of varying
degrees of depth in connection with potential acquisitions; these are often called
due-diligence exercises.
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Substance over form

Form v. substance

When business life was somewhat simpler than it is today, accounting for a
transaction in accordance with its legal form generally gave an appropriate
result. However, over the last twenty years or so, as business transactions have
become more complex, there have been increasing numbers of transactions in
which the legal form and economic substance have diverged from each other;
gradually it became clear, in UK GAAP at least, that following the legal form
did not properly reflect the commercial transaction.

To accountants, the basic legal requirement that accounts must give a ‘true
and fair view’! means that they must reflect the economic substance of a
transaction and not just its legal form.

In this chapter we will discuss the UK GAAP experience regarding sub-
stance over form before concluding with a look at the position under IFRS
because the UK perspective on this topic is relevant to applying IFRS in the
UK.

Early examples

For some years, there were examples of substance over form being applied
to common transactions, almost as second nature, rather than by applying a
specific rule or even consciously applying the substance over form principle.
One example is accounting for an asset being ‘bought’ under hire purchase.
The legal analysis is that the asset is being hired (or leased) for the term of
the agreement. There is then an option for the lessee to purchase the asset,
generally for a nominal sum such as £1. In almost all circumstances, the option
to purchase is exercised, and the commercial effect of the transaction is that,
from the start, the asset is being purchased on deferred payment terms. Hire
purchase transactions were accounted for in this way, that is, the asset being
hired/bought was treated as capital expenditure at the outset and the obligation
to pay instalments was shown on the balance sheet as a liability. No accounting
standard was needed in order to require this treatment; it was done as a matter
of professional practice.

1 Discussed in ch. 3 at pp. 30-31.
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Subsequently, the principle of substance over form and the practice estab-
lished for hire purchase were extended to accounting for leases? in both UK
GAAP and IFRS.

Another early example of substance over form is goods sold subject to
reservation of title. In these transactions, goods are sold, but title stays with
the vendor until the purchaser settles the amount due. The substance of these
transactions is that a sale is being made on credit. The reservation of legal title
is merely a technique to give the vendor more security so as to reduce any
losses that might occur as a result of insolvency of the customer. Following the
Romalpa case in 1976, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales published guidance which advised members on the accounting treatment
to be adopted in the specific case of goods sold subject to reservation of title:
‘the commercial substance of the transaction should take precedence over its
legal form where they conflict’.

Emergence of the off-balance-sheet industry in the UK

Throughout the 1980s, more and more transactions were developed in which the
legal form and the economic, or commercial, substance conflicted. Among these
were so-called ‘non-subsidiary subsidiaries’. These were companies, or other
forms of entity, that were in substance subsidiaries of a parent, in that they were
for all practical purposes controlled by the parent, and brought benefits to the
parent. However, they did not meet the legal definition of subsidiary company;
if structured as a company, this was usually done through establishing some
unusual or artificial feature such as weighted voting rights for certain classes of
shares. Alternatively, a number were not legally companies and so outside the
then definition of a subsidiary. Accountants faced some difficulty here, as they
were unsure whether it was appropriate to consolidate entities that were not,
in a legal sense, part of the group. Hence, the off-balance-sheet industry was
born. Various other structures were developed with a common aim of keeping
entities, or assets (and, more importantly, the liabilities that financed them) off
balance sheet. The Institute responded with guidance, but it had no force, and
the practice of off-balance-sheet finance flourished throughout the 1980s and
was a major contributor to the worsening reputation of financial statements
and accountants in that period.

FRS 5 ‘Reporting the substance of transactions’

The situation was largely rescued by two events. One was the Companies Act
1989, which introduced new rules relating to consolidated financial statements
and, in particular, new, wider definitions of the parent/subsidiary relationship.
Thus, certain entities that had previously escaped consolidation were now

2 See ch. 15.
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defined as subsidiary undertakings and had to be consolidated. These definitions
(asenhanced in 2004 — see below) have been carried forward into the Companies
Act 2006.

The second was the establishing in 1990 of the new Accounting Standards
Board (ASB) to replace the old Accounting Standards Committee. The ASB
acknowledged that it needed to develop an effective standard dealing with
the off-balance-sheet problem. The result of the ASB’s work on off-balance-
sheet finance was FRS 5 ‘Reporting the substance of transactions’. This was
first issued in April 1994. It is hard to underestimate the importance of this
standard. FRS 5 is a complex standard in some respects, but at its heart it is
very simple. The main principles can be summarised as follows:

« financial statements should report the substance of transactions;

¢ to determine substance, consider the effect of a transaction on assets and
liabilities; and

* allaspectsand implications should be identified and greater weight should
be given to those more likely to have a commercial effect in practice.

There is, of course, much more to it than that, but accountants frequently come
back to these basic principles when considering the appropriate accounting
treatment of complex transactions.

Quasi-subsidiaries

A key part of FRS 5 has been its provisions relating to ‘quasi-subsidiaries’.
These are defined in FRS 5 as: ‘a company, trust, partnership or other vehicle
that, though not fulfilling the definition of a subsidiary, is directly or indirectly
controlled by the reporting entity and gives rise to benefits for that entity that
are in substance no different from those that would arise were the vehicle a
subsidiary’.

This definition of quasi-subsidiary has often been used to pick up, for
inclusion in the consolidation, trusts and companies owned by trusts, some of
which carry the label “special purpose vehicles’ (or ‘special purpose companies’
or ‘special purpose entities’), a term which, since the collapse of Enron, attracts
less admiration than previously.

The importance of the FRS 5 rules on quasi-subsidiaries is now reduced,
following a change in 2004 widening even further the Act’s definition of sub-
sidiary undertaking. Hence some of what were identified for consolidation only
by virtue of being quasi-subsidiaries are now being included as Companies Act
subsidiary undertakings.

Specific applications

FRS 5 includes guidance on a number of specific applications, in the form of
‘Application notes’. The current notes are:
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Consignment stock;

Sale and repurchase agreements;

Factoring of debts;

Securitised assets;

Loan transfers;

Private finance initiative and similar contracts; and
Revenue recognition.

OmMmoOoOw>»

Application notes A to F are merely specific examples of the general principles
outlined above. For example, if amounts receivable by a manufacturer from
customers are sold to a financial institution (a factoring company), and cash
is received by the manufacturer equal to 85 per cent of the face value of
the receivables, what is the appropriate accounting treatment? The factoring
company may administer the manufacturer’s sales ledger and handle all aspects
of the collection of the money from customers for a fee of, say, 2 per cent of the
face value of the receivables. If the factoring company charged interest on the
monies it paid to the manufacturer on transfer of the receivables (the 85 per cent
of the face value of the receivables), stopped charging interest when cash was
received from the manufacturer’s customer in settlement of the invoice, and at
the end of three months transferred back to the manufacturer any debts that
the customers had not settled, the risks and rewards of the receivables would
remain with the manufacturer. Although legally structured as an assignment
(sale) of receivables, the commercial substance would be that of a loan. Thus,
the receivables would continue to be recognised on the manufacturer’s balance
sheet, with the amount received from the factoring company being shown as a
liability.

Application Note G is different in nature to the others. The ASB wanted in
2003 to put in place some interim rules on revenue recognition, pending the
outcome of a longer-term IASB/FASB project. Consequently, the ASB did not
want to present it as a full accounting standard in its own right. Because the
recognition of revenue is driven, to some degree, from changes in assets and
liabilities, an Application Note to FRS 5 was a convenient, alternative method
of promulgating the rules.

Examples of FRS 5 in practice in the UK

Presented here are examples in which accountants use the FRS 5 principle of
substance over form to determine the appropriate accounting treatment.

Failed sale of an asset

In the example in figure 5.1, we are concerned with the financial statements of
the B group, which includes its subsidiary C. C has a property that it wishes to
sell. A represents an investor, or a group of investors, who own B. A third-party
purchaser (TP) for the property is in prospect, but no sale has been agreed, and
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A

B P Third Party

Figure 5.1 Example: failed sale of an asset

any sale to TP is unlikely to be completed until year 2. B wants to reflect the
sale of the property in year 1.

There already exists, or A sets up for this purpose, P, a property company.
P has no significant assets. It is arranged, just before the end of year 1, that
C sells its property to P. The terms are that the sale price is expressed as
£6 million, but this amount is provisional, in that if the sale to TP realises less
than this, say £5 million, the price in the sale contract between C and P will be
adjusted accordingly; similarly, if the price paid in due course by TP exceeds
£6 million, the excess is passed on to C again by means of a price adjustment
in the contract between C and P. Further, the consideration of £6 million is not
paid in cash, but is left outstanding on inter-company account.

The accounting analysis of this transaction is that the B group has not
effected a sale of the property (neither has C in its entity accounts). The primary
reason is that the B group has not passed on to P the risks and rewards relating
to the asset. B group still has the upside potential, that is, it will gain if on a
sale to TP the property is found to be more valuable. Similarly, B group will
lose if the property is sold to TP for less than £6 million. The conclusion is
strengthened by the fact that P does not settle the price, but leaves the amount
outstanding on inter-company account. However, this feature is not necessary:
the same view would most likely be taken even if the consideration were paid
in cash, because the key feature — that the risks and rewards have not been
transferred to another party — remains present. In effect, what is happening here
is a parking or warehousing of an asset, ostensibly outside the reporting entity
(the B group), but no transaction of substance has taken place. The B group
would report a sale when P sells the property to a third party in a way that
transfers the risks and rewards of ownership to that third party.

It is important to stress that the fact that P is owned by the same investor, or
group of investors, as B is not an obstacle to recognising a sale by B. It is the
structuring of the sale terms and the lack of transfer of risks and rewards that is
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Bank

Figure 5.2 Example: warehousing of stock

the key feature. Hence if the B group were to make a clean sale of the property
to P for a fixed price of £6 million, and the price were to be settled in cash, or
left outstanding, but to be settled in the short term, the B group would validly
report a sale of the property in its financial statements. It is true that, if A was
a company, there would be no sale in any consolidated accounts prepared for
the A group as a whole: in that context there has just been a sale from one
subsidiary to another. However, if our context is the consolidated accounts of
the B group, the B group has made a sale.

Warehousing of stock

A similar example is that a company may operate in an industry where the
inventory holding period is long, and hence have a significant holding of inven-
tory. It may wish to get the inventory and related finance off its balance sheet.
A variety of techniques were developed to achieve this, mostly pre-FRS 5,
although sometimes they recur. See, for example, figure 5.2.

Q is the operating subsidiary of the P group. The P group wishes to raise
finance. Rather than borrow secured on the inventory, P group arranges that:

Q will sell the inventory to the bank;

« the inventory will remain in Q’s warehouse, or at a third-party location
controlled and paid for by Q;

« the bank will sell the inventory back to Q whenever Q so requests;

* if Q has not called for the inventory within one year, the bank will be
entitled to sell the inventory back to Q;

* the bank is not entitled to sell the inventory to a third party, except under
Q’s specific instruction; and

« the price at which the inventory is sold back to Q is the price of the

original sale plus an interest rate applied for the period in which the bank
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has held the inventory. For example, if the annually agreed interest rate
is 8 per cent, and the inventory remained with the bank for six months,
the repurchase price would be 104 per cent of the original sale price.

The substance of the transaction is that, despite the transfer of legal title in the
inventory to the bank, the inventory remains under the control of Q, Q retains
the risks and rewards relating to the inventory, and is in substance borrowing
from the bank. The bank’s role is that it is lending money to Q, earning a
lender’s rate of return and not taking possession of, or risk in relation to, the
inventory. Hence Q’s accounting, and therefore the accounting in the P group,
is that the inventory remains an asset, the amount received from the bank is
shown as a liability, and an interest cost is included in arriving at profit or loss.

Trusts and SPVs

A variety of structures is found in which either trusts alone, or trusts that own
companies, are set up, often in tax havens. These structures are sometimes
used in connection with securitisations or other transactions in the financial
services industries, but can also be found, for example, in the area of film
finance. It is often argued that the trustees of the trust perform a significant
role and act independently of other parties. However, often the trustees in
these circumstances are acting in a predetermined manner and do not have
any significant decision-making power or, if they do have such power, they do
not exercise it in practice. Accountants therefore often seek to identify another
party that controls any assets that are held in such trusts, or in companies held
by such trusts. Often, in accounting analysis, such trusts are regarded as quasi-
subsidiaries, and probably now as subsidiary undertakings (see above), of one
of the major players in a transaction and hence do not escape inclusion in group
accounts.

The future of FRS 5 in UK GAAP

Despite the importance of FRS 5 to UK accounting, we are likely eventually
to lose the specific standard as UK standards are aligned with those in IFRS.
The sentiments of FRS 5 will, hopefully, remain though. See the next section
in this chapter (‘Does substance over form have a place in IFRS?’).

Does substance over form have a place in IFRS?

Substance over form is a notion that underlies the concept of reliability, one
of the qualitative characteristics that are detailed in the IASB’s Framework.
There is, however, no standard in IFRS, equivalent to the UK standard FRS 5,
dealing specifically with reporting the substance of transactions. SIC 12
‘Consolidation — special purpose entities’ is broadly equivalent to the UK
rules within FRS 5 on quasi-subsidiaries; IAS 32 requires capital instruments
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to be classified as debt or equity, whichever represents the substance (although
application of the detailed rules sometimes undermines that objective); IAS 17
on leases takes the same approach as the UK’s SSAP 21 (which is generally seen
as adopting a substance approach); and 1AS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors’ refers, in its discussion of selection of appro-
priate accounting policies, to the financial statements reflecting ‘the economic
substance of transactions, other events and conditions, and not merely the legal
form’. Given this and the fact that substance is a concept underlying the IASB’s
conceptual framework, it is not unreasonable that certain aspects of FRS 5 con-
tinue to be a reference point for identifying the appropriate accounting for
transactions that are not dealt with by international standards and interpreta-
tions. It is difficult, for example, to contemplate the accounting in the examples
outlined above being different under IFRS than under FRS 5. Having said that,
the concept of substance over form is, in practice, somewhat weaker in IFRS
and there are other examples in which the accounting would be based more on
legal form than in UK GAAP.
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Communicating accounting information

Background

The Companies Act 2006 requires that UK companies should prepare a report
and annual accounts and send them to shareholders. Most companies are then
required to file the report and accounts on the public record at Companies
House; certain small and medium-sized companies may instead file abbreviated
information at Companies House. Quoted companies are required to make a
copy of their report and accounts available on awebsite. Of particular interest
to many listed companies is the provision permitting companies (previously
limited to listed companies, but now available to al companies) to send a
summary financial statement to shareholders in place of the full report and
annual accounts (see below).

In addition to the Companies Act, listed companies have to comply with the
Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules, both of which are
issued by the Financial Services Authority. With respect to periodic financial
reporting, the requirements include:

* Selected additional disclosures in the annual report and accounts — for
example, relating to corporate governance matters.

¢ Release of half-yearly financial report for the first six months of the
year. In the past these have frequently been referred to asthe ‘interims’,
athough now! that there is also a requirement for interim management
statements (see below) it is preferableto usetheterm ‘ half-yearly report’.
IAS 34 must be followed? in the preparation of the half-yearly reports
(unless the listed entity isnot agroup and is still applying UK GAAR, in
which case an ASB statement becomes mandatory).

* Where an entity does not publish quarterly results, it must publish an
‘interim management statement’ during the first and second six months
of afinancial year. The period to be dealt with by theinterim management
statement isthat starting onthefirst day of theaccounting year (or first day
of the second half of the year) and ending with the date of publication
of the statement, which can be within a window of approximately ten
weeks. The content is considerably less than for the half-yearly report,

1 For accounting periods beginning on or after 20 January 2007.
2 For accounting periods beginning on or after 20 January 2007.
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and indeed can al be in narrative form, without even a summarised
income statement or balance sheet.

¢ Preliminary announcements are no longer mandatory, although entities
must comply with specific Listing Rules requirementsif they do prepare
one.

AlM-traded companies do not have to comply with the above rules on periodic
financial reporting set out in the Listing Rules and in the Disclosure and Trans-
parency Rules. Instead, the AIM Rules for Companies, issued by the London
Stock Exchange, require half-yearly reports (with a minimum content speci-
fied) for the first six months of ayear and require annual financial statements,
specifying the GAAP to be used (which must be |FRS as adopted by the EU for
a parent company incorporated in an EEA country) and calling for disclosure
of certain related-party transactions.

Summary financial statements

As mentioned above, the Companies Act permits companies to send to share-
holders a summary financial statement in place of the full annua report and
accounts. The original provisions applied only to listed companies and were
introduced in the light of the privatisations of the 1980s when companies were
formed with asharehol der base of far greater numbersthan had previously been
seen; the original benefit wasto reduce printing and postage costs. Now that the
Act allows e ectronic communication with shareholders, some of this benefit
falls away. Nevertheless, the summary financial statement provisions continue
to be popular with listed companies (and by awider group of companies than
simply those that were subject to privatisation). With the increasing complexity
of annual accounts, they provide directors with an opportunity to communicate
with shareholdersin a simpler way.

Safeguards have been introduced into the legislation, for example, a com-
pany cannot send summary financia statements to a member in place of its
full report and accounts unless it has ascertained that the member does not
wish to receive the full report and accounts. When summary financia state-
mentswerefirst allowed, acompany could only send them to a shareholder that
had positively elected to receive them. Now companies are permitted to notify
shareholders that they will receive a summary financial statement unless they
elect to receive the full report and accounts. The full report and accounts must
still be produced, filed at Companies House, made available (quoted compa
nies only) on awebsite, and sent to any shareholder requesting it. A minimum
content that must be included in the summary financial statement is specified
in the Act and related statutory instrument (SI 2008/374); all that is required
for a quoted company preparing |FRS consolidated financial statementsis an
income statement and bal ance sheet (asinthefull financial statements, although
headings and sub-totals can be combined where they are of a similar nature),
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Company Boards of ndependent Information Third Party Investors &
Executives Directors Auditors Distributors Analysts Other
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Standard-setters

Market Regulators

Enabling Technologies

Figure 6.1 The corporate reporting supply chain

summarised directors’ remuneration report, dividend information, a statement
by the company’s auditors and certain disclosures from the directors report
(although the disclosures from the directors' report can be circulated with the
summary financial statement rather than being apart of it), along with anumber
of legal statements (such as a statement that the summary financial statement
isonly asummary of information in the company’s annual financial statements
and directors' remuneration report).

The corporate reporting supply chain

In practice, many groups of people are involved in the reporting process
for listed companies — or the ‘corporate reporting supply chain’, as it has
been called by Di Piazza and Eccles® This may be shown as indicated in
figure 6.1.

Figure 6.1 illustrates the roles and relationships among the various groups
and individuals involved in the production, preparation, communication and
use of corporate reporting information. Company executives and boards of
directors prepare or approve the information that companies report. In a UK
context, a company’s audit committee, which is a committee of the board,
has an important part to play. Thisis described in the Combined Code. Audit
committees of listed companies comprise independent non-executive directors
who should work with the external auditors and challenge management with
regard to the draft annual report as a whole, including the statutory accounts
and the accounting policies adopted therein. An audit committee also typically
reviews half-yearly results, quarterly reports or interim management statements
and, where produced, preliminary announcements. Recent yearshave seen audit
committees perform astronger and more independent rolein thisarea, although
practice in this respect is still mixed.

3 Building public trust: the future of corporate reporting (New York: John Wiley & Sons Inc.,
2002).
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Other terms used to describe participants in the corporate reporting supply
chain deserve clarification:

* Independent auditors are firms of auditors in their capacity as auditors.
Companies may also use their audit firm, or indeed other accounting
firms, for other work, for example, tax.

* Information distributors are data vendorsthat consolidate reported infor-
mation and provide it for others to use. This group also includes news
media, websites and other communications media that provide commen-
tary on company information.

* Third-party analysts are those who use the information reported by com-
panies, usually in combination with other information and research, to
evaluate a company’s prospects and performance.

* Investors and other stakeholders are the ultimate consumers of corporate
reporting information. Investors include company shareholders, but may
also refer to potential shareholders. Other stakehol ders include employ-
ees, business partners, customers and suppliers, community members,
social and environmental groups and non-governmental organisations.

 Standard-setters most obviously include bodies such as the ASB and
IASB. Professional accounting bodies also have arole here.

* Market regulators include national government agencies and regional
equivalents (e.g. the EU). It includes both those that regul ate companies
and those that regulate stock markets.

* Enabling technologies are primarily internet technol ogies and Extensible
Business Reporting Language (XBRL), alanguagethat enablesel ectronic
standardisation of information from all companies so as to ease search
and analysis.

The reality of the ‘earnings game’

While figure 6.1 shows the mgjor players in the corporate reporting supply
chain, there is a different, more pragmatic, description that can be given.

Much of recent accounting reform has been directed at making it difficult
for management to present smoothed results. Definitions of assetsand liabilities
have shifted the emphasis away from smoothed income numbers to the balance
sheet, as explained in chapter 7 at p. 65.

A related reform hasbeento try to reduce thefocuson ‘ the bottomling' —an
undefined term, generally taken to mean the bottom linein theincome statement
(or in the income statement part of the statement of comprehensive income),
that is, profit attributable to shareholders, namely, the profit after tax, and, in a
UK GAAP context, after minorities, but in an IFRS context, before minorities.
Earnings, another figure of considerable focus by the market, is similar to the
bottom line as defined above after minorities, but also after deducting dividends
on preference shares classified as equity. Earnings per share (EPS) is earnings
expressed on a per share basis.
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Inthe UK asfar back as 1992, the ASB tried, in FRS 3, to introduce theidea
that the whole of the performance of a company in a year cannot realistically
be condensed into a single number. Rather, the ASB argued, there should
be presented a series of measures, such as operating profit, profit before and
after tax, and total recognised gains and losses (which includes, for example,
revaluations of assets, and in IFRS terminology is called ‘ other comprehensive
income’). Despite the ASB’s argument, there till continuesto be considerable
focus on a single bottom-line earnings number. In 2007, the IASB issued a
revised version of IAS 1, reiterating the ASB’s stance, for example, stating that
‘the financial performance of an entity can be assessed only after all aspects of
thefinancial statements are taken into account and understood in their entirety’
and that ‘the Board acknowledged that the items included in profit or loss do
not possess any unique characteristicsthat allow them to be distinguished from
items that are included in other comprehensive income'.

Prior to these changes, and to some extent still, it has been the desire of
some managements to present a smooth time series of numbers, characterised
at the extreme by ‘the chairman is pleased to report the 27th year of unin-
terrupted earnings growth’. Whilst this type of reporting did lack a certain
credibility, analysts and other commentators find it both comforting to receive
results announcements of that type and easy to deal with them. In contrast,
earnings numbers that jump around from year to year in a seemingly random
pattern make it very difficult to understand, and, therefore, value, the company
concerned.

Against this background, there has developed in recent years the so-called
‘earnings game’, in which management:

¢ seek to deliver atrack record of consistent earnings growth;
¢ manage earnings expectations carefully;

e aimto dightly beat market expectations; and

* make business decisions to meet or beat expectations.

Analysts, for their part:

¢ hammer stocks that fail to meet expectations;

e listen carefully for the ‘whisper number’ (that is, an unofficial manage-
ment forecast of earnings); and

¢ hammer stocks that fail to meet the whisper number.

Whilst thisdescriptionisperhapsan oversimplification, thereissometruthinit;
many aresultsannouncement reportingincreased profitshasbeen met with afall
in the company’s share price because, as good asthe results are, they fall below
analysts' expectations. There are also a number of disadvantages arising from
it. The desire to meet earnings expectations can lead to suboptimal business
decisions. For example, a potential acquisition or new product development
may be clearly worthwhile in the medium or longer term, but reduce EPS in
the short term. If it is not done because of short-term earnings considerations,



Communicating accounting information

that is a poor business decision. The desire to meet earnings expectations can
aso lead to pressure on the financia reporting process. Many conversations
between company management and auditors are based around the desire to (for
example) carry forward an item of cost, or recognise some revenue early, in
order to meet atarget profit number and thereby not to disappoint the market.

Nonetheless, the combined effect of accounting standards that focus on
assets and liabilities in the balance sheet, better governance within compa-
nies (e.g. better audit committees) and better auditing have resulted in more
volatile—that is, morerealistic—profit numbersbeing reported. Thishas opened
up another development: that of reporting aternative performance measures,
or, as they are also called, adjusted, or non-GAAP, or pro-forma, earnings
numbers.

Alternative performance measures

Partly in response to the pressures outlined above, some companies have devel -
oped the practice in recent years of publishing alternative performance mea-
sures (APMs), sometimes called adjusted earnings numbers, ‘non-GAAFP or
‘pro-forma numbers. Whether or not this practice is valid depends on how it
isdone.

Companies’ objectives in this area are more often based on a desire to
stabilise reported earnings, rather than merely to increase them. Sometimesthe
objective isto focus on earnings numbers that are close to operating cash flow.
Hence one tends to see, as well as the required GAAP numbers, APMs such
as.

* earnings before exceptional items (exceptional itemsare, or are supposed
to be, material one-off itemsthat potentialy distort the underlying trend);

* EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) —
this is regarded by some companies as being a stabilised version of
operating cash flow; and

e earnings at constant exchange rates (that is, showing what the earnings
would have been if last year's exchange rates had been applied to this
year's earnings of overseas subsidiaries).

Prior to 2005, companies also often disclosed earnings before goodwill amor-
tisation (adding goodwill back because it is a non-cash item and also because
it was rather nebulous in nature) or earnings before goodwill amortisation and
exceptional items. Goodwill is not amortised under IFRS,* so these figures
have dropped in their frequency, although adjustment is sometimes made to
eliminate a charge for the impairment of goodwill.

These adjusted numbers are sometimes presented in additional columns
(for example, columns showing pre-exceptional, exceptional, total), additional

4 Seech. 11.
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rows that show subtotals such as operating profit before a particular expense,
or shaded boxes that have similar objectives. Two example presentations are
illustrated in chapter 9.

While each of these has its own logic, the danger with them is that dif-
ferent companies adjust their earnings numbers in different ways; as a result
thereislittle comparability among the adjusted results. Moreover, especialy in
preliminary announcements, half-yearly results and the ‘front half’ of annual
reports (that is, in highlights statements, chairman’s statements, and operating
and financia reviews) sometimes more prominence is given to these adjusted
earnings numbers than to the required GAAP numbers. Thisis a practice that
concerns auditors. Reflecting this, the APB issued guidance to auditors, which
was updated in 2008, pointing out, among other things. that inappropriate
prominence should not be given to APMs relative to the GAAP numbers; and
that any APMs should be accurately described and reconciled to the GAAP
numbers. Equivalent guidance for companiesisin the form of asummary, pub-
lished by the Financial Services Authority, of CESR recommendations. The
guidance includes the following:

* APMs should not be presented with greater prominence than defined
GAAP measures;

¢ where APM sresembl e defined performance measuresin audited financial
statements, but do not have the characteristics of the defined measures,
the defined measures should have greater prominence than the APMs,
and

e comparatives should be provided for any APM presented.

Some improvement in practice is likely to emerge as the jurisdiction of the
FRRP has been extended for periods beginning on or after 1 April 2006 to
include directors reports, encompassing the business review, as well as the
statutory accounts. In its report setting out its preliminary findings in respect
of IFRS implementation by UK listed companiesin their annual accounts, the
FRRP addressed this issue, stating that:

‘Within the narrative review sections of their reports, some companies
referred to measures of profit which were not consistent with the presenta-
tion adopted for the Income Statement. Non-GAAP performance measures
should be defined and reconciled to GAAP measures. Similarly, alternative
measuresfor Earnings per Share (EPS) should beidentified and reconciled
to EPS figures derived from |AS 33, “Earnings per share”. Undue promi-
nence should not be given to any non-GAAP measures.’

Users and analysis of accounting information

Users of financial statementslook to them for avariety of purposes. Neverthe-
less, it isgenerally accepted that the prime users are investors, or shareholders,
including potential shareholders. The requirements of accounting standards are
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based on this assumption. A key underpinning of accounting standards is that
investors want information that will allow them to forecast cash flows. This
is key to valuation of companies and therefore of shares. However, suppliers,
bankers and employees are a so very interested in information from which they
can forecast cash flows, as they wish to predict whether the company will be
able to pay them, repay loans and pay salaries respectively.

Having said that, there are specific uses of financial statements and specific
pieces of analysis that need to be carried out. For example, a loan agreement
may include clauses (covenants) under which the company has to keep certain
ratios within defined bounds. For instance, gearing (see below) should be not
more than X per cent, or interest cover (see glossary) should not drop below
Y times. In the event that these ratios are not satisfied, the loan becomes
immediately repayable. While the terms ‘gearing’ and ‘interest cover’ are
generally understood, thereisno standardised definition. Gearing, for example,
means broadly the relationship of debt to equity (shareholders funds) on the
balance sheet, but it can be defined in a number of ways, including:

1. long-term debt compared to equity;

2. long-term debt compared to equity plus long-term debt;

3. long-term and short-term debt compared to equity; and

4. long-term and short-term debt net of cash balances compared to equity.

Hence there has to be clarity asto exactly how the numbers that contribute to
those ratios are defined.

In an agreement for the sale or purchase of asubsidiary, the price to be paid
may include aninitial amount plusafurther amount of contingent consideration
that may be payable depending on the level of profits in the period (typically
oneto three years) after the sale. Thisis sometimes called an ‘earn-out’ clause.
This often arises because there is genuine uncertainty about thefair value of the
operation being sold, and the level of profits achieved after the sale provides
further evidence of the fair value.

In these circumstances, the sale and purchase agreement will include aterm
specifying the additional amounts that will be payable and the basis of their
calculation. Again, it is important to be clear exactly how various terms are
defined, for example, whose accounting policies will be used to calculate the
profits, the acquirer’s or acquiree’s; and whether the policies will remain on a
frozen GAAP basis or will they change as GAAP changes.

Protracted discussions between the parties, often with each party employing
an expert, and even costly court cases, have arisen numerous times in the past
due to imprecise wording of agreements. Companies carrying out transactions
should be as precise as possible in using accounting terminology to avoid such
expense.

59



60

I

Current trends in accounting

Why all the change?

The financial reporting environment and the financial reporting rules that have
to be applied are in a constant state of flux. The annual report of a UK listed
company now looks very different from its equivalent of twenty years ago. The
same is true to a lesser extent for an unlisted company. The main factors that
underlie the changes are:

¢ developments in business;

¢ activities of standard-setters;

e legislation and EU regulation; and
* responses to scandals.

Developments in business

Business transactions continue to be innovative and become more complex. The
leasing industry, for example, has changed from being clearly in two halves —
lessors who rent out equipment for the short term, and subsidiaries of banks
who provide finance through finance leases — to an industry where a variety
of players offer leases with varying degrees of risk for different parties, thus
blurring the traditional clear divide. This has led to pressure to update the lease
accounting rules to reflect contemporary business. A more obvious example
is the whole area of financial instruments, including derivatives, which has
witnessed an explosion in volume and sophistication in the last twenty years
or so.

New industries also emerge and bring new accounting challenges. Revenue
recognition — primarily the question of when (i.e. in which accounting period)
revenue should be recognised — was not a problem when factories made goods,
put them on a lorry and delivered them the same day. The day the goods left
the factory gate coincided with the date of invoicing and that was the date
the revenue was recognised. However, in the software industry, a supplier may
develop software at its own expense, and then secure a customer who buys:
(1) a piece of software; (2) an agreement to upgrade it for up to two years;
(3) a helpline and maintenance support service running for five years. If this
compound sale is made for a single price (say £1 million), the software house
has to consider whether and how to disaggregate the revenue into parts and
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when to recognise them. If there are market values for the separate supply of
each of the three components, that task is made somewhat easier, but this is not
always the case.

Companies and analysts sometimes complain that accounting rules and
financial statements are becoming too complex and seek to lay the blame at the
door of the standard-setters or the profession. However, to a large extent the
increasing complexity of accounting merely reflects business developments.

Activities of standard-setters

In the UK, the first accounting standards were developed in the early 1970s.
By 1980, the annual compendium of UK accounting standards was 320 pages
long. The equivalent 2007/08 edition is 3,508 pages long, of which 113 pages
comprise a discussion paper on the reform of lease accounting to reflect the
developments described above. A further 445 of its pages consist of rules on
accounting for financial instruments. The equivalent edition of IFRS standards
for 2008 is 2,719 pages long.

Accounting standard-setters are now an established part of the institutional
framework. There is no sense in which they are soon likely to have finished
their work, having written all the accounting rules that are necessary to deal
with varied and uncertain practices that need to be standardised. New issues
continually emerge and, such is the depth of the subject, there is no shortage of
issues to which an active standard-setter can usefully turn its attention.

The strong focus on global convergence of accounting rules strengthens
this: even where an IFRS and the equivalent US standard on a particular topic
take a similar overall approach, there can be differences of application. On other
topics the accounting can simply be very different. Hence the standard-setters
see this as a harmonisation challenge.

Legislation and EU Regulation

A number of changes have been brought about following the introduction of
legislation and EU Regulation. Some changes to the British legislation have
been following domestic issues, such as the requirement for quoted companies
to publish a directors’ remuneration report disclosing the remuneration of indi-
vidual directors by name — see chapter 20. Other changes to British legislation
have been to ensure that we implement an EU Directive. Detailed rules on
the presentation of balance sheets and profit and loss accounts (‘formats’) for
UK GAARP financial statements were introduced by the Companies Act 1981
following the 4th EU Directive.

EU Regulations apply directly in each Member State without the need for
national legislation. Article 4 of EU Regulation 1606/2002 had a profound effect
on British companies’ consolidated financial statements from 2005, requiring
them to be prepared using IFRSs as adopted by the EU if the company has
securities traded on a regulated market in the EU.
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Response to scandals

Many pieces of legislation or other rules stem from scandals. Indeed, in the UK,
the accounting standards programme was originally started partly in response
to differences in accounting treatment that emerged in the GEC/AEI take-over
in the late 1960s. More recently, calls for strengthened accounting standards on
financial instruments followed reports of certain banks and corporates incurring
large-scale losses from derivative operations, at a time when the transactions
were not (by current standards) being accounted for properly, and were not even
being disclosed. The international standard (IFRS 2) on share-based payment
was developed partly because it was an area where accounting was simply
not giving realistic answers. However, it was given a considerable fillip by
the scandals about the size of executive remuneration packages in which share
options played a large part and yet were not reflected in arriving at profit or
loss.

The new millennium has of course been characterised by numerous corpo-
rate scandals, starting perhaps with Enron and WorldCom in the US. Parmalat
in Italy in early 2004 showed that the capacity for things to go seriously awry
in the corporate world was not restricted to the Americas. The reaction to these
scandals has followed the traditional pattern in which governments and other
regulators demand action and new, tougher rules in order that ‘the same should
not be allowed to happen again’. This is naive: many years ago, laws were
established forbidding activities such as robbery and murder, yet we may note
that they continue. This is not to say that it is pointless to react to such scandals.
Indeed, it is good to take the opportunity to improve specific rules that were
found to be weak. The risk is that people will mistakenly expect that there will
be no further difficulties. The risk also is that new rules place a further burden
of cost and process that hits the 99 per cent of companies that are good citizens.
This is the case with much of the US reaction to Enron: the rules coming into
force under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (‘Sarbox’) and from the Public Companies
Accounting Oversight Board, which Sarbox established, in the area of internal
control procedures and reporting are a good example. On the other hand, one
of the very good effects of Enron was that it crystallised an improvement in the
US accounting requirements for disclosures about and consolidation of special
purpose entities (SPES). Prior to this, the FASB had had a project on reforming
the rules for consolidations that had set something of a record by being active,
if that is the right word, for eighteen years without resolution.

Current trends in thinking
Greater disclosure

Throughout society, and in particular throughout the business environment,
there is a trend towards greater disclosure and transparency. Many of the current
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and recent changes in corporate reporting can be seen as examples of that.
From an accounting point of view, this is often described as allowing share-
holders and other users of accounts to see the business through the eyes of
management. A good example is segment reporting. Under IFRS 8 compa-
nies are required to give analyses of revenue, profit, assets and various other
measures according to a line of business or geographical segmentation. The
specific segments about which information is disclosed are those segments for
which information is reported internally to management (to ‘the chief operating
decision-maker’). The information to be disclosed in the financial statements is
that disclosed to the chief operating decision-maker. Thus, whichever profit fig-
ure is reported internally as part of managing the business is the figure reported
in the segmental analysis note in the financial statements.

As well as accounting changes in a narrow sense, there are many other
examples: greater disclosure of corporate governance arrangements; greater
disclosure of directors’ remuneration packages; earlier disclosure of price-
sensitive information and so on.

Principles v. rules

One of the recent and continuing issues in standard-setting has been the so-
called ‘principles v. rules’ debate. Those on the principles side say that: as
professionals they understand accounting principles, and are taught to analyse
and apply judgement; to have rules imposed upon them is unnecessary both
because principles work well enough and because not all circumstances are
the same and hence the application of judgement gives better results than a
straitjacket of rules; and, inevitably, transactions will arise that are outside the
detailed rules but would be within the principles. Those on the rules side say
that: principles are too vague to result in consistent application; judgement too
often means flexibility and acceding to management’s wishes; comparability
of reporting is very important and that can only be achieved by standardisation.

This debate is likely to continue. The IASB and the UK ASB argue, with
some justification, that their standards set out principles in contrast to the US
approach, which is more detailed and prescriptive. This is certainly true in
relative terms; but, meanwhile, more and more detailed rules continue to be
written by all standard-setters.

Use of fair value

An important current trend is towards the increased use of fair values in account-
ing. Historical cost accounting was the original basis of accounting; the balance
sheet reflected the price paid for assets and the cost was expensed in arriving
at profit/loss as the asset was used up. This was subsequently adapted in the
UK to allow companies, if they wished, to state certain assets at current cost,
market value or fair value (these terms are broadly synonymous); this allowed
companies to reflect the higher worth of assets in their balance sheets, although
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this is not the same as reflecting the market value of the business itself on
balance sheet as many items making up the value of a business as a whole do
not appear on the balance sheet at all. Current thinking is that, for an increasing
number of assets and liabilities, fair value provides more relevant information
than historical cost to users of the financial statements. This is even though it
may be less reliable than the equivalent historical cost information. The rel-
evance/reliability trade-off depends on the asset or liability in question. For
example, shares in companies listed and actively traded on the London Stock
Exchange have an easily determinable fair value. An investment in an unlisted
start-up company is altogether more difficult to value.

As the following examples illustrate, international accounting and UK
GAARP both currently use a ‘mixed model’, that is, some assets and liabili-
ties are stated at cost, but others are stated (or may be stated) at fair value.

¢ Property, plant and equipment (called ‘tangible fixed assets’ in UK
GAAP) may be stated at valuation. In practice, it is properties that are
sometimes revalued; other categories, such as plant, are valued only
occasionally.

¢ Investment properties, under IFRS (IAS 40), can either be carried at
valuation or cost (but fair value must be disclosed in the notes if cost
is used in the balance sheet), whereas they are required to be stated at
current valuation in UK GAAP (SSAP 19). It is widely accepted that,
for properties held for rental income and capital growth, value is much
more relevant than cost and a well-developed valuation profession in
the UK helps this to work. Not having mandatory valuation under IFRS
reflects a number of factors. First, the valuation profession was not so
well developed in some other countries. Second, it was to give preparers
and users time to gain experience with using a fair value model.

¢ Financial instruments, as explained in chapter 17 at pp. 161-166, is a
complex area where part of the debate is the question of how far fair value
should be applied. The international standard, 1AS 39, which has become
part of UK GAAP through FRS 26, is a pragmatic, and somewhat unsatis-
factory, example of the mixed model, with some assets fair valued and oth-
ers carried at cost. There isalso an option to fair value certain instruments.

¢ Perhaps a less obvious example is agriculture, but the international stan-
dard applies fair value accounting to this area too, based on the greater
relevance of the information. It requires fair value accounting for biolog-
ical assets and agricultural produce harvested from an entity’s biological
assets.

As may be noted, some of these examples require the use of fair value account-
ing, while others permit it. Moreover, in some cases, the gains and losses
arising from fair valuing are recognised in arriving at profit/loss, while others
are reported as other comprehensive income in IFRS (or as ‘other recognised
gains and losses’ in the STRGL under UK GAAP). It is a very mixed picture,
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but the direction of change — towards increased use of fair value information —
is clear.

Smoothing v. volatility

An important trend in accounting over the last few years is that it is becoming
increasingly difficult for companies to report a smooth time series of results.
The trend is towards greater volatility.

As noted in chapter 6, it has long been an objective of some managements to
report a smooth profits trend. In the 1970s and 1980s, this was generally not too
difficult to achieve. However, in the 1990s, the UK ASB brought in a number of
accounting standards — many of which have international counterparts and thus
continue to affect UK companies following the move to IFRS — that challenged
this approach to reporting. The standard-setters made the point that businesses
go through economic cycles, rates of interest vary, foreign exchange rates
fluctuate and it is artificial to somehow report results as if the company were
in a very stable situation. The change of approach was achieved by altering
the focus of accounting from the calculation of profit/loss to the balance sheet.
It put the main focus on properly identifying the assets and liabilities at the
start and end of the year, and measuring them appropriately. For example, IAS
37 and FRS 12 (which were developed in conjunction with one another) on
provisions made it no longer possible for a company to provide for a cost that
is likely to be incurred in the following year, unless it can be shown that it
is an actual liability at the year end. Previously, especially where a company
had unusually good results for the year, it would sometimes provide for certain
future costs, even though it was not committed to incur them at the year end.
The effect would be to reduce profits of the earlier year and thereby protect the
profits of the later year.

A second example is IAS 36 and FRS 11 on impairment of assets (generally
non-current assets and goodwill). The objective of these standards is to ensure
that such assets are not carried at above their recoverable amount, and that
any impairments are identified and reported in the correct period. Impairments,
of tangible and intangible assets, can be large expenses that can dominate
results announcements; one recent announcement was of a goodwill impairment
charge of £23.5 billion.

These two standards to some extent remove managements’ discretion as
to when expenses should be recognised, and hence the results become more
volatile.

A similar effect arises from the trend, described above, towards more use of
fair values. This is especially the case where the changes in the fair values are
recognised in arriving at profit/loss. The leading example of this is accounting
for financial instruments, where financial assets and liabilities that are deriva-
tives or that are held for trading — and some others according to choice — are
treated in this way. Reported profits can thus be affected by swings in interest
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rates and foreign exchange rates as well as by changes in the underlying
value of investments, e.g. arising from an equity investment becoming more
valuable.

There is a very practical effect arising from the inclusion of fair value
changes in profit measurement, namely that it will not be possible until the
year end to know what the profit is likely to be. It has been a source of some
comfort for boards, and for analysts, to have, say, a month before the year end,
a good idea of the likely results for the year. This is now much more difficult
to achieve.
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Individual entity and consolidated
financial statements

The distinction between individual entity financial statements and
consolidated financial statements

General distinction

There is an important distinction between the financial statements of an indi-
vidual entity, such as a company, and the consolidated financial statements of
a group. An entity for this purpose could take a number of forms; the most
common example is a single company, but an entity for accounting purposes
could be a partnership or an unincorporated association — that is, it does not
need to have separate legal personality. A group typically comprises a parent
company and a number of subsidiary undertakings, but again the parent and
the subsidiary undertakings need not be companies.

Individual entity financial statements, sometimes called ‘single entity’, or
‘solus, financial statements, are the financial statements of the entity itself.
Thus, where a company transacts its business through subsidiaries rather than
directly itself, its individual entity financial statements will record an invest-
ment in one or more subsidiaries in its balance sheet and will record dividend
income in arriving at profit/loss. The trading transactions will be included in
theindividua entity financial statements of the subsidiariesthemselves and are
not reflected in the parent’sindividua entity financial statements.

It is generally accepted, therefore, that the individual financial statements
of a parent entity, while they have some uses, do not properly reflect the
parent’s results, assets and liabilities. Hence, for many years, it has been the
practiceto prepare ‘ group financial statements’ for groups of companies, abeit
with exceptions as discussed below. Group financial statements now almost
exclusively take the form of consolidated financial statements. In practice, the
terms *group financial statements’ and ‘ consolidated financial statements' are
used interchangeably.

Consolidated financial statements aim to present a picture of the group as
awhole as if the group were a single entity. Hence the revenue, expenses,
profit, assets and liabilities of the group are shown in aggregate, irrespective
of whether they sit in the parent entity or in a subsidiary, and reflect the
transactions of the group with parties outside the group. Transactions between
entities within the group, e.g. a sale from one subsidiary to another, would be
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Box 8.1 Balance sheets

Parent entity Consolidation
Share capital 100 100
Retained earnings 50 (20
Shareholders’ equity 150 80
Net assets 150 80

eliminated. Subsidiaries are consolidated based on a control criterion, whether
they are wholly owned, partly owned or, occasionally, not legally owned, and
whether they are domestic or foreign. There are anumber of qualifications and
exceptions to these general statements, as discussed bel ow.

Distributable profits

One of the most important applications of the distinction between individual
entity financial statementsand consolidated financial statementsliesinthefield
of company distributions. Simply put: it is individual companies (not groups)
to which the legal rules on distributions apply and that make distributions.
The details about realised and distributable profits are discussed in chapter 19,
but for simplicity let us assume in the following illustration that a company’s
accumulated distributabl e profits equate to the balance on its retained earnings.
Suppose that the balance sheet of a parent entity and the consolidated balance
sheet of the group that it heads are as shown in Box 8.1.

One might expect that the consolidated balance sheet would be stronger
than that of the parent alone, and indeed this is often the case. However,
a situation such as the above is by no means rare. One common underlying
reason isthat the parent may have made an acquisition, of which alarge element
was goodwill, and, in the consolidated financial statements, the goodwill was
written off to reserves, as was permissible in the UK prior to 1998 and which
can remain written off to reserves under the rulesfor conversionto IFRS (IFRS
1), thus superficially weakening the consolidated balance sheet. Alternatively,
the subsidiaries might have made losses. The key point is that when the parent
considerswhether it can makeadistribution, it referstoitssingleentity financial
statements. These show that it has profits available for distribution of 50. The
fact that there is a deficit in the group generally does not affect the parent’s
ability to make a distribution.

Conversely, the parent’s entity financial statements might show a much
smaller balance of retained earnings (say 10) than is shown in its consolidated
financial statements (say 150) — for example, because the subsidiaries have not
passed their profits up to the parent by way of dividend. If the parent wishesto



Individual entity and consolidated financial statements

pay alarge dividend to its shareholders, it must first receive adividend from its
subsidiaries.

Entity focus for tax purposes

Another key application of entity financial statementsis for tax purposes. HM
Revenue & Customs assesses tax on the taxable income of entities, not on a
group basis (though this is subject to various exceptions). So, for example, if
a parent sells goods to a subsidiary during the year for 100, including a profit
of 40, and those goods remain unsold by the subsidiary at the year end, the 40
is taxed in the parent entity, even though the goods are unsold by the wider
group and the profit of 40 is thus not included in the consolidated financial
statements — as discussed below, adjustments are made in the consolidated
financial statements to eliminate the intra-group profit.

When to consolidate
General approach

TheCompaniesAct, IFRSs, UK accounting standardsand, for AIM companies,
the AIM Rulesareal relevant in thisarea. The way in which they interact isas
follows. Whether a British company (other than a small company) has to pre-
pare consolidated financial statementsisdetermined by s. 399 of the Companies
Act 2006; at its balance sheet date is the company a parent? If so, consolidated
financial statements are required. Parent companies that are themselves sub-
sidiary undertakings are exempt from this requirement if they satisfy various
conditions, one of which precludes listed companies from taking advantage of
the exemption. However, the exemption is widely used lower down a listed
group, allowing many sub-groups not to have to prepare consolidated financial
statements. Parent companies that are small companies can choose whether
to prepare consolidated financial statements, although listed and AlM-traded
companies, amongst others, do not meet the definition of a small company.

When the parent is required to prepare consolidated financial statements by
reference to the Act, there are three possibilities:

e AIM companies and companies that, on their balance sheet date, are
listed are required to apply EU-adopted IFRSs for their consolidated
financial statements. Where this is the case, Schedules 1 and 6 (and 2
and 3 for banking and insurance companies) to Sl 2008/410, which set
out detailed accounting rules, do not apply, although other provisions of
the Act and Sl, such asthe requirementsfor adirectors' report, directors
remuneration report and for the financial statementsto be audited, do still
apply.

« |f theparent is not listed nor an AIM company, but it optsto apply IFRS,
the above bullet again applies.
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e |f the parent is not listed nor an AIM company, and it opts to stay on
UK GAAP, Schedules 1 and 6 (and 2 and 3) to SI 2008/410 continue to
apply, together with the other provisions of the Act and SI.

What to consolidate
The spectrum of interests in other companies

An entity may have interests in a number of other entities. The labels given to
the varying degrees of interest are as follows;

¢ investment;

* associate;

e joint venture; and
e subsidiary.

How each of them isincluded in group financial statements depends upon the
category into which they fall.

A group is made up of the parent entity and each of its subsidiaries. It is
these entities that are ‘consolidated’. Associates and joint ventures are dealt
with later in this chapter and investments are dealt with in chapter 17.

Definitions of parent and subsidiary undertaking

Within the Act there are references to ‘subsidiary undertakings and to ‘sub-
sidiaries’. ‘Subsidiary undertaking’ is more widely defined and is used to
determine whether consolidated accounts are required. IAS 27 uses the term
‘subsidiary’, but it is equivalent to that in the Act of subsidiary undertaking. In
the vast majority of cases an entity will meet both the definition of asubsidiary
undertaking in the Act and subsidiary in IAS 27, but on the periphery one but
not the other definition may be met, which in extreme cases can cause problems.

Generally speaking, if one entity controls another entity, the latter islikely
to be a subsidiary undertaking of the former. Even if it does not meet the
definition of subsidiary undertaking, it is still likely to be consolidated under
SIC 12 (IFRS) or FRS5 (UK GAAP) — see below.

IAS 27 takes a principled approach, defining a subsidiary as ‘an entity,
including an unincorporated entity such as a partnership, that is controlled
by another entity (known as the parent)’ and defining control as ‘the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities'. Elaboration of the definition of control is then to
be found within the body of IAS 27 —for example, para. 13 explains that there
is arebuttable presumption of control where more than one-half of the voting
power of an entity is owned, directly or indirectly, through subsidiaries.

Control isdefined asthe power to govern thefinancial and operating policies
of an entity so asto obtain benefitsfrom its activities. Accordingly, the standard
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explains that owning options that are convertible into ordinary shares should
be taken into account if they are exercisable at the time.

Most frequently in practice it is owning all or a majority of the ordi-
nary shares in a company that gives rise to the parent/subsidiary relationship.
However, it is not necessary to own a mgjority of an entity in order to control
it and thus for it to be a subsidiary.

Control and ownership may not converge, but a parent-subsidiary relation-
ship may still exist. For example, where A owns 49 per cent, 25 per cent or even
none of B, but in practice controlsit, B will be A’s subsidiary undertaking. In
such circumstances there are often other arrangements, such as management
fees, or special dividend rights, that give A agreater economic interest than the
holding (or lack of holding) would suggest.

The IASB issued a statement acknowledging that I1AS 27 captures the
concept of de facto control. Assume that A owns 48 per cent of B, a listed
company in which no other shareholder owns morethan 5 per cent of its equity
shares. If the other shareholders have not formed any group or groups to vote
collectively and the other shareholder representation at general meetings, in
person or in proxy, has not been more than 30 per cent of the total voting rights
for many years, then A will have defacto control over B because A can control
the magjority of effective votes at general meetings.

In UK GAAPR, FRS 2 is based on the Act, supplementing the rules and
definitions in the Act. Thus the effect of applying the definition of subsidiary
in IFRS and UK GAAP isvery similar.

Exclusions from consolidation

In IFRS, there are no grounds on which a subsidiary should be excluded from
consolidation, although where a subsidiary is held for resale IFRS 5 ‘Non-
current assets held for sale and discontinued operations’ applies and requires a
different form of consolidation.

The position under UK GAAP isshown in Box 8.2.

Special purpose entities and quasi-subsidiaries

Thediscussion so far in this chapter has been about consolidation of subsidiary
undertakings. SIC 12 ‘Consolidation — specia purpose entities' requires that
if aspecial purpose entity (SPE), which can be a company, trust, partnership,
unincorporated entity or multi-user structure such as a protected cell company,
does not meet the definition of a subsidiary, it should nevertheless be consol-
idated by an entity where the substance of the arrangement is that the entity
controls the SPE. The SPE might be set up, for example, to operate automat-
ically with no decisions needing to be taken (an ‘autopilot’ mechanism); this
might fall outside the definition of subsidiary in IAS 27, but is, to al intents
and purposes, no different from a subsidiary. In such asituation, SIC 12 would
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Box 8.2 Possible ground for exclusion of a subsidiary under UK GAAP

Act FRS 2
Disproportionate expense  Permits exclusion Does not permit exclusion
or delay in obtaining (s. 405(3)(b)) (para. 24)
necessary information
Severe long-term Permits exclusion Reguires exclusion
restrictions over the (s. 405(3)(a) (para. 25(a))

rightsthat make it a
subsidiary undertaking
Held exclusively for resale  Permits exclusion Requires exclusion
(s. 405(3)(c)) (para. 25(b))

Inclusion of subsidiary Permits exclusion Permits exclusion
undertaking is not (s. 405(2)) (accounting standards
material need not be applied to

immaterial items)

require the accounting treatment in the consolidated accounts to be the same
as if it were a subsidiary. Prior to the introduction of SIC 12, groups were
designing entities that were in practice controlled by and for the benefit of the
group, but which, in order to keep certain items off balance sheet, did not meet
the definition of subsidiary; SIC 12 was therefore written specifically as an
anti-abuse measure.

In terms of UK GAAP, FRS 5 introduced a class of entities called quasi-
subsidiaries to fulfil the same purpose, although the Act’s definition of sub-
sidiary undertaking has subsequently been widened, thus resulting in fewer
guasi-subsidiaries now.

Exemption re holding company income statement

In addition to the consolidated financial statements, the directors of a parent
company are required to produce the individual company financia statements
for the parent. Thus, the published report and accounts includes both informa-
tion about the group and the parent company itself. For example, there hasto be
published the balance sheet of the parent company aswell as the balance sheet
of the group, and many note disclosures have to be given for both the parent
company and the group. However, under s. 408, a parent company is permitted
not to publish its single entity ‘ profit and loss account’, so long as the profit or
loss for the financia year is disclosed as a single figure.

The exemption applies regardiess of whether the consolidated financial
statements are prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU or UK
GAAP.
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In al cases, the entity statement should still be prepared, and approved by
the board; the exemption is merely from publication.

Techniques of consolidation

The techniques of preparing consolidated financial statements involve, espe-
cialy for alarge and complex group, details that are beyond the scope of this
book. This section restricts itself to an overview of the techniques.

Changes in composition of a group

From timetotime, agroup may acquire new subsidiaries or dispose of them. On
the purchase of a new subsidiary, the question arises as to whether acquisition
accounting or merger accounting should be used. This used to be a major and
controversial question. However, in 2004, merger accounting was banned in
international standards (although not for group reconstructions), following on
fromsimilar changesto US standards. Itisstill availablein UK GAAP, although
its days are numbered if UK GAAP isto be converged with IFRS. Acquisition
and merger accounting are discussed more fully in chapter 11.

In the context of both acquisitions and disposals, the results, assets and lia-
bilities areincluded in the consolidated financial statementswhile the company
in question is a subsidiary of the parent. The date on which an entity becomes
or ceases to be a subsidiary hinges on when control is gained or lost.

Full v. proportional consolidation

Subsidiary undertakings are consolidated in full, even if they are not wholly
owned. This is because the concept underlying consolidation is control, not
ownership. Hence if a subsidiary undertaking is held 60 per cent by its parent
and 40 per cent by another party, the parent will consolidate 100 per cent of
its assets and liabilities and 100 per cent of its revenues and expenses, and
therefore its profit. It will then record the 40 per cent that it does not own as
‘minority interest’ or ‘non-controlling interest’.

There is another approach, called ‘proportional consolidation’, whereby
the parent consolidates the percentage that it owns — in the above example,
60 per cent —of the assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses. In thisway, no
minority interest adjustment arises. Thismethod isnot permitted for accounting
for subsidiaries under IFRS or UK GAAP. However, it does have a place
in international accounting standards (IAS 31) in accounting for some joint
ventures. For example, if the above company, held 60/40 per cent by two
parties, was structured as ajoint venture, and assuming it was not a subsidiary
of the 60 per cent investor, then each party, if using proportional consolidation
under 1AS 31, would include their respective percentages of each lineitemin
their consolidations.
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Minority interests or non-controlling interests

Asnoted above, minority interests (also called ‘ non-controlling interests') arise
when asubsidiary isnot wholly owned. A minority interest arisesboth in respect
of the balance sheet and theincome statement. With respect to the balance sheet,
it represents the proportion of the net assets of fully consolidated subsidiaries
that are owned by third parties (i.e. not owned by the parent shareholders). The
minority interest is thus distinct from the equity interest of the holders of the
parent’s equity, but can be regarded as a different type of ownership interest —a
partial interest of some shareholders in the net assets of certain subsidiaries.
Traditionally inthe UK, minority interests have generally been presented in the
balance sheet after liabilities in arriving at net assets, although an aternative
presentation, adjacent to shareholders’ funds, has been, and till is, permitted.
Since 2003, IFRS has mandated that the minority interest must be presented
‘within equity’, albeit separate from ‘issued capital and reserves attributable to
owners of the parent’. That is, under IFRS, net assets represents the total net
assets of the group and does not include a deduction for the share of those net
assets owned by the minority interests.

Intheincome statement and statement of comprehensiveincome, the minor-
ity interest represents the part of the group results that is not attributable to
the parent shareholders. One hundred per cent of the results of subsidiary
undertakings are consolidated (both in arriving at profit/loss and for the other
comprehensive income), but, using the figures above, only 60 per cent of the
results are attributable to the parent shareholders. Mirroring the balance sheet
treatment, the profit figure and the figure for total comprehensive income are
before any adjustment to reflect minority interestsin thoseitems. The profit and
the total comprehensive income are then analysed, on the face of the income
statement and statement of comprehensive income, but technically separate
from the statements, into the amount attributable to minority interest (being
40 per cent of the results of that subsidiary undertaking) and the amount
attributable to the owners of the parent.

Elimination of intra-group transactions

The overall objective of consolidated financial statements, as noted above, isto
present financial statements asif the group were a single entity. Hence thereis
no place for numbers representing intra-group transactions. Put another way,
a sale from one subsidiary to another is a non-event for the group as a whole.
Such transactions, therefore, need to be eliminated in preparing consolidated
financial statements. Thisinvolves removing the relevant sales figure from the
selling company and the equivalent expense figure in the buying company.
Where there is a profit to the selling company, that has to be eliminated if the
purchasing company retains the asset at the year end; thisis because no profit
has been earned on an external transaction. It isalso necessary, in preparing the
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consolidated financial statements, to eliminate items on the balance sheet such
as balances owing from one group company to another, as they are not assets
and liabilities from a group point of view.

Associates and joint ventures
Definitions of associate and joint venture

A business relationship with another company or group may be referred to
colloquially as a ‘joint venture' (JV). This of itself does not automatically
trigger accounting for that other company or group as a joint venture. The
appropriate accounting will be determined by which definition in IFRSsis met.

Associates and JVs are defined by IAS 28 and IAS 31 respectively. IAS
28 defines an associate as ‘an entity, including an unincorporated entity such
as a partnership, over which the investor has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture’. Significant influence is
defined in 1AS 28 as ‘the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies'.

IAS 31 definesajoint venture as‘ acontractual arrangement whereby two or
more parties undertake an economic activity that issubject tojoint control’. IAS
31 sub-dividesjoint venturesinto three categories: jointly controlled operations;
jointly controlled assets; and jointly controlled entities.

Associates and JVs are therefore quite different from each other. For exam-
ple, atypical JV might involve three parties with 33.3 per cent of the JV each.
An associate, on the other hand, may involve aninvestment in therange 20 to 50
per cent, but the other shareholdings would typically be diverse or, at |east, not
held by other JV parties. These contrast with a subsidiary undertaking where
the investor controls alone the investee.

Where acompany holds astakein therange 20 to 50 per cent in another that
is neither ajoint venture nor a subsidiary, that is normally accounted for as an
associate. It isassumed at thislevel that theinvestor has ‘ significant influence’
over the investee. For example, an associate holding would normally be
accompanied by a seat on the board of the investee. However, the 20 per cent
threshold is an indication rather than a rule. For example, a holding of
18 per cent could give rise to significant influence if accompanied by a seat on
the board. A holding of 22 per cent might not giveriseto significant influenceif
there was adominant majority shareholder holding between 51 and 78 per cent.

The definitions of associate and joint venture applying for UK GAAP
purposes are to be found in FRS 9 and the Act. They are similar to those in
IFRS, but not identical. For example, FRS 9's definition is more restrictive
as it requires that the investor must actually exercise significant influence
for an associate relationship to exist, whereas under IAS 28 an investor only
has to have the power to participate in the financia and operating policy
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decisions of theinvestee, regardless of whether that power isactually exercised.
Conseguently, some associates under 1AS 28 would not be classified as such
under FRS 9.

Accounting treatment of associates in consolidated financial statements

Equity accounting isthe form of accounting for associates within consolidated
financial statements under both IFRS and UK GAAP. Nevertheless, there are
differencesin how thisis presented in arriving at profit/loss.

Under IFRS, theinvesting group’s share of itsassociate’s profit, being profit
after tax, isincluded as one line in arriving at the investing group’s profit or
loss; IAS 1 suggests that this should be after finance costs but before tax,
but in practice the share of profits could be presented higher up the income
statement if justified, although it must still be the group’s share of after-tax
profits wherever included.

Under UK GAAP (FRS 9), the group’s share of the associate's operating
profit isadded after the operating profit of the group (that is, the operating profit
of the parent and its subsidiary undertakings). Because the associates' profit
added in is operating profit, it follows that any subseguent line items in the
income statement, such as interest and tax, need to include the relevant share
of the associates’ interest and tax. The overall effect israther like proportional
consolidation (that is, including the relevant proportion in each line item), but
only from the operating profit line downwards.

In the consolidated balance sheet, the group’s interest in associates under
IFRS is shown as a single line item among non-current assets. At the point of
acquisition, thecarrying valueiscost. Thisgrowsto reflect theinvesting group’s
share of profits retained in the associate itself and the investing group’s share
of any other changes in the associate's equity, for example, revaluation gains
on property. The balance sheet treatment under UK GAAP is the same, albeit
the group’sinterest in the associates isincluded within fixed asset investments.

Accounting treatment of JVs in consolidated accounts

In IFRS, accounting for JVsis set out in IAS 31 and depends on the nature
of the JV. For the mainstream case of ajointly controlled entity, the choice is
between equity accounting (as outlined above) and proportional consolidation,
although an exposure draft proposes dropping the option to use proportional
consolidation (and renaming jointly controlled entities as joint ventures). For
the other two categories — jointly controlled operations and jointly controlled
assets — the investing group accounts for its assets, liabilities, income and
expenses and its share of any jointly owned assets, liabilities, income and
expenses.

In UK GAARP, the accounting treatment of JVsis set out in FRS 9 and is
basic equity accounting, as described above for associates under UK GAAPR,
augmented by additional disclosurein the primary statements, and theresult is
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called the‘ gross equity method’. FRS 9 requiresthat ‘in the consolidated profit
and loss account the investor’s share of itsjoint ventures' turnover should also
be shown—but not aspart of group turnover . . . [and] in the consolidated balance
sheet the investor’s share of the gross assets and liabilities underlying the net
equity amount included for joint ventures should be shown in amplification of
that net amount’ (para. 21).

The additional disclosures are required because the view is that joint ven-
tures are more important than associates, and hence the figures for turnover,
gross assets and gross liabilities need emphasis. Nevertheless, this does not
amount to full consolidation; neither, technically, does it amount to propor-
tional consolidation, although it edges closetoit.
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Presentation of financial statements

Introduction

The Companies Act requires the directors to prepare financial statements and
various reports each year and to send them to shareholders. The total package,
including the full financial statements, rather than summary financial state-
ments, tends to be known as either the ‘Report and Accounts’ (taking this name
from the days when the Act required only the directors’ report and the annual
accounts) or the ‘Annual Report’ (reflecting the fact that the various reports,
financial statements and other information together form one report to share-
holders). In this chapter we look at the components of the financial statements,
or accounts. Other parts of the Report and Accounts, such as the Operating and
Financial Review and the Directors’ Remuneration Report, are discussed in
chapter 20. Some argue that “accounts’ refers to the primary statements, while
“financial statements’ refers to the primary statements together with the notes
thereto, but often the two terms are used interchangeably. We use the two terms
interchangeably within this book.

IFRSs are intended to be applied worldwide and thus are not developed
around any legislation, as each country has its own national legislation, whereas,
for example, UK accounting standards were originally developed against the
background of British legislation. Accordingly, much of what is outlined in this
chapter is laid down by accounting standards, mainly IAS 1, for IFRS accounts,
whereas it comes from a mix of accounting standards and legislation for UK
GAAP accounts.

Under IAS 1(2007), a complete set of financial statements comprises:

* abalance sheet as at the end of the period;

* astatement of comprehensive income for the period (which is an income
statement followed by the other comprehensive income and can be pre-
sented as one statement or two);

* astatement of changes in equity for the period,;

* acash flow statement for the period;

* notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information; and

» comparative information in respect of the previous year.



Presentation of financial statements

Rather than ‘balance sheet’ and ‘cash flow statement’, IAS 1 uses “statement
of financial position” and ‘statement of cash flows’ respectively. However, it
goes on to say that ‘An entity may use titles for the statements other than
those used in this Standard’, which applies to all the statements, including the
statement of comprehensive income.

The content is very similar in UK GAAP, with an income statement (referred
to in UK legislation as a profit and loss account) and balance sheet, being
required by the Act, and a cash flow statement and statement of total recognised
gains and losses (detailing the other comprehensive income to use the IFRS
terminology), being required by accounting standards, and notes being required
by a combination of the Act and accounting standards.

Statement of comprehensive income
Overview

The statement of comprehensive income was introduced into 1AS 1 in its 2007
revision. The statement combines two earlier statements: the income statement;
and the statement of recognised income and expense (SORIE). The statement
of comprehensive income can be presented as one statement (in which case
IAS 1 (2007) refers to it as the statement of comprehensive income) or as two.
If two statements are presented, they will be the income statement and what
was previously called the statement of recognised income and expense, but is
now called the statement of comprehensive income by the IASB.

Under the previous version of IAS 1, a SORIE was not mandatory unless a
particular option with regard to accounting for the cost of pensions was adopted.
In practice, most UK companies adopted this method of pension cost accounting
and so did present a SORIE. Accordingly, if, as we expect most UK companies
to do, the two-statement approach is adopted, the resulting statements will be
an income statement and a SORIE/statement of comprehensive income.

Disclosure on the face of the income statement

Traditionally, the income statement, which reports profit for the year and its
key components, has been the element of a set of financial statements on which
the most attention has been focused and in the main this will continue to be so.

IAS 1 (2007) stipulates the minimum content that must be included on the
face of the income statement. The items are as follows:

* revenue (previously referred to as turnover in the UK);

* finance costs (this means the gross interest payable and other finance
costs; if a company wishes to disclose net finance costs on the face
of the income statement, this has to be in addition to, rather than as a
replacement for, gross finance costs);
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* share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method (this is discussed in chapter 8);

* tax expense;

¢ asingle amount comprising the total of (1) the post-tax profit or loss of
discontinued operations and (2) the post-tax gain or loss recognised on
the measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on the disposal of the
assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued operation; and

e profit or loss.

Additionally, the profit or loss attributable to minority interest (or non-
controlling interest) and the profit or loss attributable to the owners of the
parent have to be shown on the face of the income statement as allocations of
the profit or loss for the period. This disclosure is required whether the one- or
two-statement approach is adopted.

Where relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial performance,
IAS 1 (2007) requires additional line items, headings and subtotals to be pre-
sented on the face of the income statement. This is relevant regarding disclo-
sure of what, in the UK, we are used to calling ‘exceptional items’ (see section
headed ‘Exceptional items’ below).

Companies in the UK have become accustomed (under FRS 3) to disclosing
operating profit on the face of the income statement. Many companies have
continued this practice under IFRS, justifying it under the above provision,
namely that it is relevant to an understanding of the company’s results. The
IASB, in its “‘Basis of conclusions’ in respect of IAS 1, recognises that many
entities wish to disclose operating profit and calls for such entities to ensure
that they do not omit any items from its calculation that are operating in nature,
for example, expenses that are unusually large one year compared to other
years, such as restructuring expenses. Thus, companies are not in breach of any
standards if they disclose operating profit on the face of the income statement,
providing they include all operating items when calculating it.

Disclosure on the face of the income statement or in the notes

Further details are required to be disclosed, but these can either be on the face
of the income statement or in the notes to the accounts.

Expenses have to be analysed by function (cost of sales, distribution costs
and administrative costs, with, as a minimum, cost of sales having to be dis-
closed separately from other expenses) or by nature (depreciation and amor-
tisation, employee benefits, etc.). The choice of income statement formats in
Schedule 1 to SI 2008/410 available to companies continuing to apply UK
GAAP (and that applied prior to IFRS) offer the same choice of expense anal-
ysis, thus, in the main, companies continue their presentation under IFRS that
they used under UK GAAP prior to 2005. The analysis by function is the more
popular in the UK.
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Exceptional items

Although this term is widely used in the UK, it is not used in IFRSs. FRS
3 defines exceptional items as ‘material items which derive from events or
transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the reporting entity and
which individually or, if of a similar type, in aggregate, need to be disclosed by
virtue of their size or incidence if the financial statements are to give a true and
fair view’. IAS 1 does, however, state that when items of income or expense
are material, their nature and amount shall be disclosed separately, either on
the face of the income statement or in the notes. Examples of circumstances
where such disclosure may need to be given are listed in IAS 1 and include
restructuring expenses and impairment write-downs. This IAS 1 disclosure is
similar, if not quite equivalent, to FRS 3’s disclosure of exceptional items and
a number of UK companies have continued to use the term ‘exceptional items’
in their IFRS financial statements. Where the term ‘exceptional item’ is used
in IFRS financial statements, it should be defined in those financial statements,
preferably in the accounting policies.

Discontinued operations

To be of most use to the readers of a set of financial statements, those financial
statements need to explain not only the profit or loss for the year but also
individual components making up that number. This year, but not last year,
was there a large profit on the sale of a building? This is likely to be separately
disclosed as discussed above (under ‘exceptional items’). Were all aspects of the
business profitable or were some in a loss situation? This information is likely
to be provided by segmental analysis in a note.! These and other disclosures
are helpful to readers trying to forecast future results. The presentation and
disclosure of discontinued operations similarly enables users to focus on the
results of the business lines that are expected to continue.

Discontinued operations are separate major lines of business or geographical
areas of operations that an entity has disposed of or is disposing of.

Each line item on the face of the income statement, from revenue down to,
and including, the tax charge, includes only the relevant amount for continuing
operations in IFRS reporting. The profit or loss after tax for discontinued
operations, aggregated with the profit/loss on disposal, impairment write-down,
etc. in respect of the discontinued operations is included on the face of the
income statement, below the results from continuing operations, either as one
line and analysed in the notes, or with full analysis on the face of the income
statement.

By contrast, under UK GAAP each line item on the face of the income
statement includes the relevant amount for total operations, whether continuing
or discontinued, although the total has to be analysed into the two components.

1 See ch. 20.
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Box 9.1 Extract from Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2008
Before
exceptional Exceptional
items items (note 2) Total
2008 2008 2008
£°000 £°000 £°000
Revenue 49,464 - 49,464
Cost of sales (33,755) (2,791) (36,546)
Gross profit 15,709 (2,791) 12,918
Distribution expenses (5,060) - (5,060)
Administration expenses (3,221) (2,964) (6,185)
Operating profit 7,428 (5,755) 1,673

As a minimum, the analysis of turnover and operating profit (into continuing
and discontinued operations) has to be on the face of the income statement. The
analysis of the other operating items, for example, cost of sales, can either be
in the notes or on the face of the income statement. In addition, there are some
differences in the definition of discontinued operations between UK GAAP
and IFRS, mainly with respect to the timing of when an operation may fall to
be classified as discontinued.

Columns and boxes

When FRS 3 was introduced into UK GAAP in 1992 it outlawed extraordinary
items, which had been until then presented after profit after tax. Examples
of items that might have been treated as extraordinary prior to FRS 3 include
restructuring costs, profits or losses on sale or closure of businesses, bid-defence
costs and the costs of the impact of natural disasters. These are items that
we now readily accept as being part of profit before tax and even, particularly
under IFRS, part of operating profit, but on the introduction of FRS 3 this
was quite a sea change. Companies therefore tried to present their financial
statements in a manner that made the impact of these items transparent. The
use of additional columns and boxes on the face of the income statement
became a common way of showing additional information (alternative perfor-
mance measures). Providing this is done carefully, such presentation is also
acceptable under IFRS. Two examples illustrating this, showing the income
statement down to operating profit only, are shown in Boxes 9.1 and 9.2.
Clearly, the comparatives would have to be presented in a manner consistent
with the current year. It is inappropriate to use columns, as in Box 9.1, for the
current year and not also for the comparative year if there were exceptional
items in that comparative year.
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Box 9.2 Extract from Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2008
2008
£°000
Revenue 49,464
Cost of sales (36,546)
Gross profit 12,918
Distribution expenses (5,060)
Administration expenses (6,185)
Operating profit before exceptional items 7,428
Operating exceptional items (5,755)
Operating profit 1,673

The additional items, for example, the ‘before exceptional items’ column,
should not receive greater prominence than the items required to be disclosed,
for example, the “total’ column. See chapter 6 for a summary of the guidance
regarding presenting alternative performance measures.

Earnings per share and dividends per share

Basic and diluted EPS, together with basic and diluted EPS from continuing
operations, are required by IAS 33 to be presented on the face of the income
statement or, if the one-statement approach is adopted, of the statement of
comprehensive income of a listed company. EPS is a key statistic with much
attention focused on it by analysts and users of accounts and thus by boards
themselves in explaining their results. As aresult of all the attention and because
extraordinary items are no longer allowed (in IFRS or UK GAAP), a number
of variants to basic and diluted EPS have been developed. EPS is discussed in
chapter 10.

IAS 1 calls for the amount of dividends recognised as distributions to owners
during the period, and the related amount per share, to be disclosed either in
the statement of changes in equity or in the notes.

Prior to 2005, in the UK, the presentation for the income statement showed
the profit for the year and how much of that the directors were paying out
as a dividend to shareholders (the amount of dividends paid and proposed in
respect of the year) even though the final decision in respect of the amount
of the proposed final dividend was not made during the year itself. In reality,
however, a dividend is paid out of distributable profits available at the time, no
matter whether they arose in that or an earlier year. Thus, in a year of loss or
significantly reduced profits due, say, to a one-off event, directors are still able
to pay a dividend even though the profits for the year may be lower, or even
non-existent, providing sufficient profits have been retained in earlier years. In
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addition, under pre-2005 accounting, the proposed dividend was included in
the balance sheet as a liability. Standard-setters, however, struggled with the
concept of including a liability in the balance sheet that did not exist at the
balance sheet date. UK GAAP changed in 2005, to align with IFRS.

Under both UK GAAP and IFRS, only dividends paid or declared by the
balance sheet date are recognised in the financial statements. Declared for these
purposes means that the dividend has been appropriately authorised and is no
longer at the discretion of the entity. For interim dividends this means that unless
they are paid by the balance sheet date they are not reflected in the financial
statements and unless final dividends have been authorised by shareholders in
a general meeting on or before the balance sheet date (which, generally, they
are not), they also are not reflected in the financial statements. For a company
with a December year end paying dividends as follows:

2007 £m

Interim dividend paid September 2007 2.6

Final dividend authorised in general meeting in 3.4
April 2008 and paid in May 2008

2008

Interim dividend paid September 2008 2.8

Final dividend authorised in general meeting in 3.8

April 2009 and paid in May 2009

the 2008 financial statements will include £6.2 million as dividends paid in the
year in its statement of changes in equity, being the £3.4 million final dividend
for 2007 and the £2.8 million interim dividend for 2008, and will merely
disclose the £3.8 million proposed final dividend for 2008. Accordingly, the
IAS 1 disclosure would require the £6.2 million in aggregate and as a per share
amount to be disclosed either in the statement of changes in equity or in the
notes.

Many UK companies also disclose the total paid and proposed “in respect
of 2008’, that is, the £6.6 million (being £2.8 million + £3.8 million) as an
aggregate and as a per share amount. Care is needed in doing this to ensure that
the IAS 1 disclosure is also given and that there is no confusion between the
different amounts.

Statement of comprehensive income or statement of recognised
income and expense

In the two-statement approach, the second statement is the same as the statement
of recognised income and expense (SORIE, pronounced ‘sorry’) under 1AS 1
before its 2007 revision. However, the statement is now called a statement of
comprehensive income, which is the same name given to the statement in the
one-statement approach.
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What is in this second statement? It begins with profit or loss (i.e. the number
from the foot of the income statement) and then displays the components
of other comprehensive income. Consequently, the total at the foot of the
statement, total comprehensive income, is the same whether it is the foot of
the second statement in the two-statement approach or it is the foot of the
one-statement in the one-statement approach.

Total comprehensive income is all changes in equity (or net assets) other
than changes resulting from transactions with owners in their capacity as own-
ers. In essence, the idea is to bring together all the changes in net assets
recognised in the financial statements during the year that result from the per-
formance of the entity — that is, profits and losses that are shown in the income
statement (or in the income statement part of the statement of comprehensive
income), but also items such as revaluation gains that, whilst not shown in the
income statement, are nonetheless part of a wider notion of economic perfor-
mance. In contrast are transactions between the entity and its owners in their
capacity as owners. Capital injections, such as a rights issue, and dividends to
shareholders would therefore be excluded, but a sale of goods to an owner at
normal market price would not be excluded as this, albeit a transaction with an
owner, is not in its capacity as owner.

The statement of comprehensive income will show:

* profit or loss for the period;

» each component of other comprehensive income classified by nature;

* share of the other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method; and

e total comprehensive income.

Examples of other comprehensive income that will be displayed in the statement
of comprehensive income include:

* revaluation gains or losses on property, plant and equipment;

« revaluation gains or losses on available-for-sale investments;

e actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pensions;

« foreign currency gains and losses on translating the net assets of foreign
subsidiaries; and

e gains and losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge, e.g. on a
floating to fixed rate interest rate swap.

Total comprehensive income attributable to (1) minority interest (or non-
controlling interest) and (2) owners of the parent must be disclosed in the
statement.

The tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income has
to be disclosed either in the statement of comprehensive income or in the
notes.

87



Accounting Principles for Non-Executive Directors

88

As with the income statement, 1AS 1 requires:

 additional line items, headings and subtotals to be presented on the face of
the statement where relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial
performance; and

* that when items of income or expense are material, an entity shall disclose
their nature and amount separately.

The above two points are more relevant in the context of the income statement
(or income statement part of the statement of comprehensive income), but have
been drafted to apply equally to the presentation of the other comprehensive
income.

An example of a statement of comprehensive income is as follows:

2009 2009
£°000 £°000
Profit for the year 849
Gain on revaluation of properties 22
Exchange differences on retranslation of overseas 67
subsidiaries
Cash flow hedges 9
Loss on available-for-sale investments (25)
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans (86)
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 9
Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax (22)
Total comprehensive income for the year 827
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent 793
Minority interest 34
827

The statement of comprehensive income in the two-statement approach and,
thus, the SORIE are very similar to the UK GAAP statement of total recognised
gains and losses (STRGL, pronounced ‘struggle’) which has been common in
the UK since its introduction by FRS 3 in 1992.

Balance sheet

The 2007 version of IAS 1 refers to the balance sheet as the statement of
financial position. However, this term does not have to be used by entities in
their financial statements.

Currentand non-current assets and liabilities have to be presented separately
on the face of the balance sheet under IFRS unless a presentation based on
liquidity provides information which is reliable and more relevant, as might be
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the case for a financial institution, in which case all assets and liabilities have
to be presented in order of liquidity. For these purposes, IAS 1 (2007) requires
an entity to classify an asset as current when;

it expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal
operating cycle;

it holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading;

it expects to realise the asset within twelve months after the reporting
period; or

the asset is cash or a cash equivalent (as defined in IAS 7), unless the
asset is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting period.

It similarly requires an entity to classify a liability as current when:

it expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle;

it holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading;

the liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period; or

the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

The minimum that must appear on the face of the balance sheet, in addition to
the above, is:

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)
(€)
®
(9)
(h
(i)
)

k)

0}
(m)
(n)
(0)
(p)

(@
Q)

property, plant and equipment;

investment property;

intangible assets;

financial assets (excluding amounts shown under (e), (h) and (i));
investments accounted for using the equity method;

biological assets;

inventories;

trade and other receivables;

cash and cash equivalents;

the total of assets classified as held for sale and assets included in disposal
groups classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5;

trade and other payables;

provisions;

financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under (k) and (1));
liabilities and assets for current tax, as defined in 1AS 12;

deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets, as defined in IAS 12;
liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale in accor-
dance with IFRS 5;

minority interest (or non-controlling interest), presented within equity;
and

issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent.
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As with the income statement and statement of comprehensive income, addi-
tional line items, headings and subtotals can be presented on the face of the
balance sheet where relevant.

Amplification of the information above is required either on the face of
the balance sheet or in the notes, for example, analysing property, plant and
equipment into the different classes, such as land and buildings, machinery,
motor vehicles, etc. Where a line item in the balance sheet includes amounts
expected to be recovered or settled more than twelve months after the report-
ing period as well as within this period, the amount expected to be recov-
ered or settled more than twelve months after the reporting period has to be
disclosed.

Balance sheet format 1 in Schedule 1 to SI 2008/410 sets out, for a UK
GAARP balance sheet, a list of items that must be included on the face of the
balance sheet. The items listed are very similar to those set out in IAS 1, but the
main difference is that while the order is prescribed for UK GAAP, it is not for
an IFRS reporter. There is a second format permitted for UK GAAP reporters,
but most British companies adopted format 1.

The Act requires the directors to approve the accounts and for a director to
sign those accounts, on the company’s balance sheet, on behalf of the board; this
is so for IFRS as well as UK GAAP accounts. Every copy of the balance sheet
that is published must state the name of the director who signed the accounts
on behalf of the board. This requirement relates to the company balance sheet.
In the past, the company and group balance sheets were often presented on
the same page, but this happens less frequently now for listed companies (see
below). Where the two are presented on separate pages, it has become common
practice for a director to sign the consolidated balance sheet in addition to the
company balance sheet.

Cash flow statement

As illustrated in chapter 1, net cash flow during a year does not equate to the
profit or loss for that year; they are different concepts and they give the reader
two different views of the same underlying events. Considerable importance is
placed on cash flow statements as well as on income statements. In particular,
the cash flow statement is often seen as a ‘sense check’ on the income state-
ment. It is quite normal for a company to sell goods and services on credit,
and that means, in accounting terms, that revenue is often recognised in the
income statement before the cash flow is recognised in the cash flow statement.
However, where revenue is recognised in the income statement but the trans-
action does not generate cash flows for a significant period, it might suggest
that revenue is being booked too early. For example, the Review Panel, in its
press release on the case of Wiggins Group Plc, stated with respect to revenue
recognition that:
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‘In reviewing the company’s 1999 accounts the Panel noted that the
turnover and profits recognised under this policy were not reflected in
similar inflows of cash; indeed, operating cash flow was negative and the
amount receivable within debtors of £46 m represented more than the pre-
vious two years’ turnover of £44 m. As a result, the Panel enquired into
the detailed application of the policy . . .’

In this particular case, the directors were persuaded to change their accounting
and revised accounts were issued. Of course, revenue that does not result in cash
flows for a significant period will not always mean that the revenue recognition
is inappropriate and it is here where narrative reporting is also essential.?

IAS 7 ‘Statement of cash flows’ requires an entity to present its cash flows
under three headings: operating; investing; and financing. Probably in an anti-
avoidance move, operating is the default category. Along with cash flows arising
from the entity’s “principal revenue-producing activities’, any cash flows not
meeting the definition of investing activities or financing activities must also
be classified as operating.

Cash flows are defined as inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents.
Cash is cash in hand together with demand deposits and cash equivalents are
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Normally, for an investment to qualify as a cash equivalent, it will have
a short maturity, say, three months or less from the date of acquisition.

In UK GAAP, the cash flow statement has nine headings under which the
cash flows are classified: operating activities; dividends from joint ventures
and associates; returns on investments and servicing of finance; taxation; cap-
ital expenditure and financial investment; acquisitions and disposals; equity
dividends paid; management of liquid resources; and financing. Although the
original cash flow statement introduced into UK GAAP showed the inflow and
outflow of cash and cash equivalents, since 1996 the statement has shown only
the movement of cash. For these purposes cash is defined as cash in hand and
deposits repayable on demand (24 hours or less) with any qualifying financial
institution, less overdrafts from any qualifying financial institution repayable on
demand. In the UK GAAP statement, cash flows of what are ‘cash equivalents’
for IFRS purposes are reported within the ‘management of liquid resources’
section.

Accounting policies

There will sometimes be more than one acceptable method of treating a trans-
action or event in a set of financial statements. Sometimes, there are choices
set out within an accounting standard. For example, IAS 16 on property, plant
and equipment allows companies to measure assets at cost or on a valuation

2 See ch. 20.
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basis (in each case, subject to depreciation). FRS 15 allows the same choice in
UK GAAP. In other cases, different treatments arise in practice in areas that
are unregulated by formal GAAP. Some companies are more aggressive than
others in terms of recognising revenue from transactions, or in terms of carry-
ing forward costs. However, in practice the scope to take different judgements
now lies in a fairly narrow band: the basic requirement laid down in IAS 1 that
financial statements shall ‘present fairly the financial position, financial perfor-
mance and cash flows’, i.e. that they show a true and fair view, together with the
guidance in 1AS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and
errors’, guide directors to select policies that achieve this outcome. Similarly,
the requirement that UK GAAP financial statements show a true and fair view
narrows down the policies from which companies can choose.

Partly because there are choices of policies, and partly for clarity for the
reader even where there is no choice, companies are required by IAS 1 to
disclose ‘the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial
statements’ and ‘the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an
understanding of the financial statements’. FRS 18 similarly calls for material
accounting policies to be disclosed.

In its report setting out its preliminary findings in respect of IFRS imple-
mentation by UK listed companies in their annual accounts, the Review Panel
noted that:

‘there was also evidence of “boiler-plating” in the accounting policies
selected for disclosure. For example, accounting policy descriptions were
given which, on enquiry, were found to be irrelevant since there were no
underlying accounting transactions falling within their scope. This issue
arose, in particular, in relation to the descriptions of accounting policies
for hedging instruments which appeared to have been copied from I1AS 39,
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, whether or not
such hedges were used in practice’.

It is important, therefore, not to provide a list of accounting policies that covers
every possible eventuality even though there is no intention of some of them
ever needing to be applied. Instead, it is important to select for disclosure only
those that are relevant in interpreting the accounts and to explain company-
specific aspects; the Review Panel also noted, in the same report, that:

‘Standardised disclosures have limited use especially where the policy is
prescribed by IFRS. Descriptions of accounting policies are more use-
ful when they identify issues relevant to a company’s individual circum-
stances. For example, revenue recognition policies may need to describe
the methods applied to determine the stage of completion of transactions
involving the rendering of services (IAS 18, “Revenue”). As the methods
used will vary according to the nature of the circumstances it is helpful if
the policy includes specific relevant details’.

These points were reiterated by the Review Panel in its annual report for 2007.



Presentation of financial statements

Notes

Numerous notes are required expanding upon the information in the primary
financial statements. For example, an analysis of the figure for property, plant
and equipment is required showing the movements during the year for each
class of property, plant and equipment. If a particularly large charge is made in
arriving at profit/loss one year that is not expected to remain at such a scale in
future years, an explanation is required to be disclosed. Particularly extensive
note disclosures are required in respect of financial instruments, employee
benefits (especially defined benefit pension plans) and share-based payment
arrangements.

A couple of important disclosures required by IAS 1 that are not explicitly
required in UK GAAP are:

 assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncer-
tainty at the balance sheet date that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to carrying amounts of items in the balance sheet
within the following year, together with the nature and carrying amount
of the balance sheet items; and

 other judgements taken in preparing the financial statements that have
the most significant impact on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

Initsannual report for 2007, the Review Panel noted that these two requirements
‘attracted more Panel questions and comment than any other aspect of IFRS or,
indeed, any other standard’. The Panel particularly pointed out that satisfying
the disclosure requirements of an IFRS or IAS on a particular topic does not
negate the need to consider whether these two requirements of IAS 1 may
require further disclosures.

Individual entity and consolidated financial statements:
combined or separate

As stated above, directors have to present consolidated financial statements for
the group headed by the company (unless there is an exemption from doing this,
such as the company is an intermediate parent company meeting the various
other specified exemption conditions) and single entity financial statements for
the company. Although most emphasis is placed on the consolidated finan-
cial statements, both have to be prepared and presented. An exemption from
presenting the parent company income statement is available as explained in
chapter 8 above. Prior to 2005, both sets of financial statements (consolidated
and single entity) were prepared under UK GAAP and were presented as an
integrated set of financial statements. For example, only one set of accounting
policies would typically be included. Another example is that the balance sheets
were often presented side by side on the same page.
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From 2005, some companies have continued with this presentation as they
have moved the parent company, as well as the consolidated, financial state-
ments to IFRS. Many UK companies, for the time being at least, have chosen to
retain UK GAAP for their parent company, single-entity financial statements,
thus necessitating presentation of two quite different sets of financial statements
within the same “package’. Integrated presentation is thus not possible in these
instances; the two sets of financial statements must be presented separately
from one another. In such instances the consolidated financial statements are
usually presented first and would include the group-only accounting policies.
The single-entity financial statements of the parent company will be presented
on separate pages and will require, inter alia, its accounting policies to be
presented in full.



10
Earnings per share

Introduction

Listed companies that are budgeting future results or considering strategies,
such as acquisitions, often consider the implications for earnings per share
(EPS) as part of their analysis. Of course, it is unredlistic to think that
the performance of a company or group for a whole year can be summed
up in a single figure, and informed readers of financial statements look to
a wider range of indicators. Nevertheless, the figure for EPS is generally
regarded as an important measurein the published financial statements of listed
companies.

Earnings per shareis, in simpleterms, acompany’searnings (profit after tax,
cost of preference sharesand minority interests) divided by the number of shares
inissue. In most cases, additional complexities arise and these are dealt with
by the accounting standard IAS 33, which laysdown rules primarily stipulating
how the denominator, that is the ‘number of shares’ part of the calculation, is
determined. Two companies both reporting under IFRS may choose different
accounting policies for a particular issue, for example, in accounting for their
defined benefit pension schemes. one may choose to amortise the actuarial
variation in excess of the corridor in arriving at profit/loss, whereas the other
may choose to recognise the full actuarial variation as other comprehensive
income (see chapter 16 on pensions). If everything else were identical, the two
companieswould nevertheless produce very different profit figuresfor the year.
Accordingly, even though identical guidance is followed in the calculation of
EPS, the two companies would produce very different EPS numbers.

Summary

IAS 33 requires both basic and diluted EPS to be calculated for total profit,
profit from continuing operations and profit from discontinued operations.
Each of these figures must be presented on the face of the income statement
(or statement of comprehensive income in the one-statement approach), with
the exception of basic and diluted EPS in respect of discontinued operations,
which may alternatively be presented in the notes to the financial statements.
A number of other disclosures are required in the notes which, in the main,
elaborate on the calculations.
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The bulk of the standard contains guidance on how to calculate EPS. In a
nutshell, the profit for the year (total, continuing or discontinued) is divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year
to give basic EPS. Basic EPS is therefore a measure of how much profit is
attributable to each ordinary shareholder. The calculation uses the weighted
average number of shares, rather than the number of sharesin issue at the year
end, in order to reflect the average amount of equity finance available during
the year.

Diluted EPS takes the profit figure used for basic EPS and adjusts it as
though certain contracts to issue shares had actually been fulfilled and the
shares issued. For example, if a company has issued convertible debt, the
finance charge deducted in arriving at profit for the year (and which would
be used to calculate basic EPS) is added back because, had that debt been
converted into shares, there would not have been a finance charge. Similarly,
the weighted average number of sharesis also increased as though the shares
had been issued.

The standard ismandatory for companieswhose ordinary sharesor potential
ordinary shares, e.g. convertible debt, are publicly traded or are in the process
of becoming so. In addition, any entity not otherwise within the scope of
the standard but voluntarily choosing to disclose EPS in its IFRS financial
statements must calculate and present EPS in accordance with IAS 33.

Basic EPS

Basic EPS is a measure of how much of the profit, or loss, for the year is
attributable to each ordinary shareholder. It is calculated as follows:

Profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holdersin the parent company
Weighted average humber of ordinary shares in issue during the year

The starting point for the profit figure is the profit, or loss, at the foot of the
income statement (or income statement part of the statement of comprehensive
income). Dividends and other appropriations, e.g. amortisation of issue dis-
count, in respect of preference shares classified as equity, net of any tax effect,
are deducted from it. Any minority interests are also deducted.

For preference shares that are classified as liabilities, their finance cost
will have been expensed (through the interest line of the income statement) in
arriving at profit/loss and thus no adjustment is needed when calculating basic
EPS.

For acompany with only one class of ordinary shares and either no prefer-
ence shares or only preference sharesthat are classified as liabilities, the profit
figure to use will be found on the face of the income statement (or statement
of comprehensive income in the one statement approach) in the analysis of the
profit into that attributable to the owners of the parent and that attributable to
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the minority interest. It isthe amount described as attributabl e to the owners of
the parent company that is used in calculating basic EPS.

For any calculation of basic EPS, whether there is one class of shares (or
more than one), the number of shares used in the calculation is the weighted
average number of shares (in that class if there is more than one class) in
issue during the year. Generally, shares are included from the date that their
consideration is receivable. For example, ordinary shares being issued for cash
areincluded from the date that the cash isreceivable and ordinary sharesissued
upon conversion of debt are included from the date that interest on the debt
ceasesto accrue. The principle behind thisisthat if acompany has more capital,
it has more earning potential. Consider a simple example. E Plc issues 1,000
£1 ordinary shares on thefirst day of the year for £10,000. These sharesremain
in issue throughout the year. In addition, half way through the year a further
1,000 shares are issued, again, for £10,000. Assuming no other capital, that the
company earns £2,800 in thefirst half of the year, £5,600 in the second half of
theyear and that al of the profit for thefirst half year was paid out asadividend
at the end of the half year. EPSis calculated as follows:

£8400
15000

The 15,000 denominator is calculated as (8/1, x 10,000) + (6/1» x 20,000),
reflecting the fact that 10,000 shares were in issue for the first six months and
20,000 shares were in issue throughout the second half of the year.

If instead of using a time-weighted denominator, the number of sharesin
issue at the end of the year was used, the EPS would be 42 pence per share
(being £8,400 / 20,000). This would not, however, be afair basis from which
to predict the likely EPS of the following year. Assume that all of the second
half’s profitswere paid out by dividend at theend of year 1 and that in year 2 the
company’s profitswere £5,600 for each half year (and that, again thefirst half’'s
profits were paid out at the end of that half year), the profit for year 2 would
be £11,200. This would give an EPS of 56 pence per share (being £11,200 /
20,000 shares). In other words, by using aweighted average number of shares,
the EPS is the same in both years, whereas the absolute profits in both years
are different, reflecting the fact that the company’s ability to generate profits
increases as its capital increases.

Basic EPS for continuing and discontinued operations is calculated in
exactly the same way, but (instead of using total profit) using the profit
attributabl e to the continuing and discontinued operations respectively.

= 56 pence per share

Diluted EPS

Diluted EPS is required to be disclosed, in addition to basic EPS, where the
company hasissued afinancial instrument or entered into a contract: (1) which
may entitle the holder to ordinary shares in the company; and (2) where those
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shares would have reduced EPS from continuing operations had they been
issued during the year.

Detailed guidance on how to calculate diluted EPSisgivenin IAS 33. First,
acompany hasto identify its‘ potential ordinary shares': these are the financial
instruments that it has issued and contracts that it has entered into which may
result in the company giving ordinary shares in the company to the holder of
the instrument/contract, for example, convertible debt. Second, the company
has to identify which, if any, of these are dilutive; they will be dilutiveif ‘their
conversion to ordinary shares would decrease earnings per share or increase
loss per share from continuing operations'. Finally, the company calculates
diluted EPS (for total profit, profit from continuing operations and profit from
discontinued operations) using those potential ordinary shares that have been
found to be dilutive.

How is diluted EPS calculated once a company has worked out which
potential ordinary sharesare dilutive? Theideabehind diluted EPSisto disclose
what EPS would have been had the dilutive potential shares been converted
to shares either on the first day of the year or, if later, the date of issue of the
potential ordinary shares. Thus, the starting point is the calculation of basic
EPS; both the earnings number and the weighted average number of shares are
then adjusted asif the dilutive potential ordinary shares had been converted to
shares. The earnings number is adjusted to eliminate the post-tax effects of the
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the number of sharesisincreased by the
weighted average number of shares that would have been issued. Consider a
company that had issued convertible loan stock two years ago, none of which
had yet been converted to shares. Its profit for the year will have been reduced
by the finance charge in respect of the liability element of this stock, but had
the stock been converted to shares on the first day of the year there would
have been no finance charge during the year. Hence, if the stock is dilutive the
finance charge is added back to the profit used to calculate basic EPS. Any
other consequential adjustments to profit that would have arisen had the stock
been converted are also made. Thus, if the tax charge would have been higher
(because the finance charge would not have been made and so taxable profits
higher), an adjustment is also made for this impact. The weighted average
number of shares is aso increased by the number of shares that would have
been issued had the stock been converted to shares on the first day of the year.

The standard sets out rules on how various different potential ordinary
shares, such as share options and contingently issuable shares (shares that will
beissued if certain conditions are met) are to be treated.

Adjusted EPS

In the UK, the demise of extraordinary itemsin the early 1990s |ed to an array
of income statement presentation. In particular, many companiesincluded their
exceptional items in a separate column or in a box on the face of the income
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statement (see chapter 9). A logical extension of this was to disclose EPS,
basic and diluted, not just for total profit (as was the requirement at the time
under UK GAAP), but also for the profit excluding exceptional items. Other
companiesused columnsto highlight theresultsof their discontinued operations
(a presentation which is no longer appropriate under IFRS). Again, it was a
logical extension to disclose EPS for continuing operations as well as for total
profit (which is now arequirement under IFRS).

IFRS similarly permits adjusted EPS to be disclosed, although mandates
that the disclosure be ‘in the notes to the financial statements', and requires
a reconciliation from the profit figure used in the calculation of adjusted EPS
to aline item disclosed in the income statement/statement of comprehensive
income. Adjusted EPS must be calculated using the weighted average number
of shares determined in accordance with IAS 33 and basic and diluted adjusted
EPS must be presented with equal prominence. Similarly, the adjusted EPS
figures should not be more prominent than the GAAP figures.
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Mergers and acquisitions

Introduction

Accounting for acquisitions and mergers has long been a controversial area of
accounting. In particular, there have been disputes about whether the technique
of merger accounting should be permitted, and about the nature and accounting
treatment of goodwill.

Changes in US accounting rules in this area shortly before the IASB was
formed led to changes in IFRS; IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’ was published
in March 2004 and is the extant standard on this topic (with a revised version
shortly to supersede it — see below). In a nutshell, merger accounting is no
longer permitted in IFRS, although the scope of IFRS 3 does not extend to group
reconstructions where the use of merger accounting has been, and continues
to be, prevalent in the UK. Goodwill is no longer amortised; IFRS 3 requires
goodwill to be carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

IFRS 3 was the output of Phase | of the IASB project on business combi-
nations. Phase Il, which was a joint project with the FASB (the US standard
setter), sought to improve and align further the accounting for business combi-
nations. Phase Il was recently completed and a revised version of IFRS 3 was
published in January 2008. It is effective for business combinations for which
the acquisition date is on or after the start of the accounting period beginning
on or after 1 July 2009. For a company with a calendar reporting period, it is
effective for business combinations made on or after 1 January 2010. Some of
the changes to IFRS 3 are controversial and reflect a desire for the standard to
move away from the parent entity perspective to the economic entity concept.
Much of the standard nevertheless remains the same and in this chapter we
highlight separately the key changes introduced in Phase 1.

UK law sets out some details about acquisition and merger accounting,
although, with the exception of the provisions about share premium, merger
relief and group reconstruction relief, these do not apply to entities applying
IFRS.

Current UK GAAP rules are found in FRS 6 ‘Accounting for acquisi-
tions and mergers’, FRS 7 “Fair values in acquisition accounting’ and FRS 10
‘Accounting for goodwill and intangibles’. Under these, merger accounting is
still permissible in limited circumstances as well as in group reconstructions
and, when acquisition (rather than merger) accounting is applied, goodwill is
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carried at cost and amortised unless it is regarded as having an indefinite useful
economic life, in which case it is not amortised, but is reviewed annually for
impairment.

Overview of acquisition and merger accounting
Introduction

The generic term applied where one company, or group of companies, acquires
or merges with another company or group of companies is a ‘business combi-
nation’. Once a business combination has taken place, say, Fast Growing Group
Plc acquires Newcomer Plc, this must be reflected in the financial statements.
Assuming that Fast Growing Group Plc bought all the issued shares of New-
comer Plc, the business combination will be accounted for in the group finan-
cial statements of Fast Growing Group Plc using either acquisition or merger
accounting, except that in IFRS merger accounting is no longer allowed.

In the international arena, the terms ‘purchase method’ and ‘acquisition
accounting’ are both used, with the original version of IFRS 3 using the former,
while the 2008 revised version of IFRS 3 uses the latter. Since “‘acquisition
accounting’ is the term used in the revised version, we will use this term
throughout this chapter.

Summary of acquisition accounting

Key features of acquisition accounting (under IFRS and UK GAAP) are as
follows:

* One of the companies is treated as the acquirer for accounting purposes.

* The assets and liabilities of the acquired company are restated to reflect
fair values at the date of acquisition.

e The numbers of one or both of the combining companies (but typically
those of the acquired company) are restated, where necessary, to har-
monise accounting policies for the enlarged group.

* The income statement/statement of comprehensive income for the year
of acquisition comprises the results for the whole of the current year
for the acquiring group together with the results for the post-acquisition
period only of the acquired company. The comparative figures are those
of the acquiring group only. The same principle is used for the cash flow
statement.

* The balance sheet at the start of the year of acquisition is that of the
acquiring group only. The balance sheet for any date after the acquisition
includes also the net assets of the acquired company.

e Goodwill arises and is recognised in the group balance sheet; it is gener-
ally positive, but can be negative.
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* The fair value of the net assets acquired is brought into the consolidated
balance sheet in place of the capital and reserves of the acquired company
at the date of the acquisition. It follows from this that the group reserves at
any year end after acquisition comprise the reserves of the acquiring group
and its share of the post-acquisition retained reserves of the acquired
company. The pre-acquisition reserves of the acquired company remain
in that entity, but do not form part of the consolidated reserves of the
enlarged group.

It will be noted that the acquisition accounting presentation shows growth as a
result of the combination. Thus an acquisitive group can, in its headline figures,
give the appearance of growth even though the underlying businesses may be
stagnant. However, various required disclosures (under IFRS and UK GAAP)
show whether growth is organic or bought-in.

In an acquisition, the acquirer (Fast Growing Group Plc) pays to buy the
shares of the acquired company, the acquiree (Newcomer Plc). Having bought
all of the shares in another company, the acquirer now controls the business(es)
of that other company and needs to account for it/them. It accounts for them
in its consolidated financial statements as it does all the other businesses that
it controls, that is, it brings in each asset and liability of the business on a
line-by-line basis. As its name suggests, the thinking underlying acquisition
accounting is that the acquirer has purchased these businesses (and thus the
underlying assets and liabilities) and must account for this as it would the
acquisition of any asset. Since, in its group financial statements, it brings in
each asset and liability of the acquired entity (rather than simply bringing in the
shares that it has bought), it needs to work out how much of the total payment
was for each asset and liability. The fair values of the assets and liabilities of
the acquiree on the date of acquisition are calculated and it is assumed that
these are what the acquirer would have paid for them individually and so it is at
these amounts that they are brought into the consolidated financial statements
on acquisition.

In addition, the acquirer is required to calculate what it paid for the shares.
Where cash was paid, it is a case of simply adding up how much cash was
paid out. If the acquirer paid partly in cash and partly in something else, or
wholly by some other means, it is necessary to work out how much that was
worth so that the accounting entries can be made. For example, if shares were
given, their value has to be determined. Where the cash is paid out at a later
date, rather than immediately, the cash to be paid out is discounted back to its
value at the date of acquisition. In this way, the fair value of what was paid is
calculated.

Where all of the acquiree’s shares were purchased, the difference between
the total paid out (the fair value of what was given to the vendor) and the sum
of the fair value of the individual assets and liabilities acquired is goodwill,
positive or negative.
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So, for example, assume that:

e FGG acquires 100 per cent of N;
¢ N’s net assets at book value are 70, but when stated at fair value are 90;
e FGG pays shares worth 115 plus 10 in cash; total consideration 125.

The (positive) goodwill is 125 — (90 x 100%) = 35.
As we saw in chapter 8, it is not necessary to own 100 per cent to acquire a
subsidiary. Now, for example, assume that:

e FGG acquires 80 per cent of N;
¢ N’s net assets at book value are 70, but when stated at fair value are 90;
* FGG pays 93 in shares plus 10 in cash; total consideration 103.

Under the current version of IFRS 3 (and UK GAAP), the (positive) goodwill
is 103 - (90 x 80%) = 31.

On acquisition, FGG would still record the fair value of N’s assets and
liabilities in full, namely, 100 per cent of each asset and liability. A minority (or
non-controlling) interest is then presented, which in IFRS financial statements
must be presented in equity, equal to 20 per cent of N’s net assets just recognised
in FGG’s group financial statements, i.e. the minority interest recognised on
the date of acquisition is 18. In UK GAAP financial statements, the minority
interest is presented either in equity or as a deduction from net assets.

A choice is allowed in the revised version of IFRS 3: either the goodwill and
minority interest are calculated as above; or the goodwill can be ‘grossed-up’
to include the minority’s share. For example, assume that, as before:

e FGG acquires 80 per cent of N;
¢ N’s net assets at book value are 70, but when stated at fair value are 90;
* FGG pays 93 in shares plus 10 in cash; total consideration 103.

In addition, assume that:

* the remaining shares representing 20 per cent of N are valued at 22 (less
per share than the 80 per cent stake acquired as the 80 per cent stake
included a premium for obtaining control).

Under the alternative option, the (positive) goodwill is (103 + 22) — (90 x
100%) = 35.

The minority (or non-controlling) interest is then presented, in equity, on the
date of acquisition as 22 (not the 18 under the earlier option). This alternative,
‘grossing up’, option is derived from US GAAP and we believe that it is unlikely
to be widely adopted among UK companies that follow IFRS.

From a practical point of view, the step up in asset values to fair value, which
is a fundamental part of acquisition accounting, leads to increased charges for
depreciation and greater risk of impairments. Additionally, goodwill arises; in
service and technology company acquisitions this can be a very large com-
ponent of the overall value. Any impairment (or, in UK GAAP, amortisation)
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of goodwill hits reported profits. Furthermore, goodwill on the balance sheet
increases the reported capital employed, which worsens the return on capital
employed ratio; on the other hand, it improves gearing.

Summary of merger accounting
The key features of merger accounting (UK GAAP only) are as follows:

* Neither company is treated as the acquirer for accounting purposes.

* There is no restatement of the carrying values of the assets of either
merging company to reflect fair values.

¢ No goodwill arises (although any goodwill already in the balance sheet
of either party to the merger as a result of previous acquisitions remains
there).

* The income statement is presented on an aggregated basis, as if the two
companies had always been merged. The same principle is used for the
cash flow statement.

¢ The balance sheets, both pre and post the combination, are aggregated in
a similar way, as if the two companies had always been combined.

¢ The numbers of one or both of the combining companies are restated,
where necessary, to harmonise accounting policies for the enlarged group.

e The reserves of the two companies are combined to form the group
reserves; there is no elimination of pre-acquisition reserves.

¢ Despite the notions of equality, as a practical matter one company —
either one of the two merging companies, or a new holding company
superimposed — becomes the top company in the group’s legal structure,
and is the one that issues shares to the former shareholders of the other
company(ies).

It will be noted that, in the financial statements of the year of a merger, the
merger accounting presentation shows no growth as a result of the combination.
This is because comparative figures are restated as if the two companies had
always been merged. Any growth in the numbers would reflect growth in the
underlying businesses.

For third-party transactions, merger accounting is not commonly used in
UK GAAP as the criteria are restrictive and is not used at all in IFRS. However,
it is used in accounting for group reorganisations, such as when a ‘newco’ is
inserted or a group of subsidiaries is moved from one part of a group to another.

Application of IFRS 3

The current international standard on business combinations is IFRS 3. For
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the first
day of the first accounting period starting on or after 1 July 2009, a revised
version of IFRS 3 (referred to here as IFRS 3 (2008)) will apply. Key changes
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to be introduced by IFRS 3 (2008) are highlighted. For companies with a 31
December year end, IFRS 3 (2008) will apply to acquisitions made on or after
1 January 2010.

Merger accounting banned

Unlike the predecessor standard (IAS 22), IFRS 3 bans the use of merger
accounting: all business combinations (excluding group reconstructions, which
are outside the scope of IFRS 3) should be accounted for as acquisitions. That
is, an acquirer should be identified for accounting purposes even if the two
parties are of similar size and describe the combination as a merger.

Merger accounting has, except in the context of group reconstructions, been
quite rare in recent years, and it has gradually become discredited. This is largely
because it is almost impossible to develop criteria that effectively distinguish
genuine mergers. The view, particularly of the standard-setters, is that, even
when restrictive criteria are used, some combinations that meet the criteria
are in fact acquisitions in substance and an acquirer is identifiable. Perhaps
there are genuine mergers, but they are so rare in the business environment,
and so difficult to identify, that it is not worth having a different method of
accounting just to get the accounting right for those few, if the result is getting
the accounting wrong for some of the combinations that should properly be
presented as acquisitions. Thus, IFRS 3 bans merger accounting. However,
IFRS 3 does not include group reconstructions in its scope and thus merger
accounting principles continue to be used in intra-group transactions, in the
short term at least.

Acquisition accounting under IFRS 3

In an acquisition, one party gains control over the other. Control is a question
of fact — does one party have the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of the other? There is a presumption that acquisition of more than
one-half of the voting rights of another entity confers control.

The key features of acquisition accounting generally are set out above under
‘Summary of acquisition accounting’ and apply equally to IFRS 3 (both the
current version and IFRS 3 (2008)) and UK GAAP. There are, however, two
key differences between IFRS 3 and UK GAAP and these are in the areas of
goodwill and intangibles.

The first difference is that IFRS 3 requires that more separate intangibles be
identified than previous standards, and than UK GAAP, and this has the effect
of reducing the residual amount attributed to goodwill. Recognising intangibles
is discussed later — see goodwill and other intangibles.

Second, there is a different approach to amortisation of goodwill. Goodwill
is not amortised at all under IFRS 3. It is tested for impairment annually.
This means that if the goodwill is shown to have at least retained its value,
there is no charge in arriving at profit/loss. However, if there is shown to
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have been an impairment, there is an immediate charge to write down the
goodwill to its recoverable amount. Under UK GAAP, although goodwill is in
some circumstances subject to an annual impairment review in place of annual
amortisation, in practice this route is less common than annual amortisation
over a twenty-year life.

IFRS 3 (2008) introduces an alternative way of calculating goodwill from
that in the current version of IFRS 3and UK GAAP —see above under ‘Summary
of acquisition accounting’.

Fair value of the consideration given

The cost of acquisition of the shares in the new subsidiary has to be measured
at fair value for group accounts purposes.

Most commonly, the consideration given for the acquisition of a new sub-
sidiary will include cash paid or securities issued by the acquiring company,
such as its equity or loan stock. When securities are issued, their fair value
needs to be established. If they are quoted securities, this is given by their mar-
ket value. If they are not quoted, a range of valuation techniques is available.
The question arises as to what date should be used. Where control is achieved
in a single transaction, rather than a holding being gradually built up over
a period, the price used is that on the date of acquisition. Using one date or
another can make a big difference. This was the subject of a Review Panel press
release in 2006, albeit under UK GAAP, in which it was announced that the
directors of the particular company had agreed to change the accounting and
value the shares on a different date (when the value was 7.25 pence per share) to
the one they had originally used (when the value was 12.475 pence per share).
The exception to using acquisition date price is where the share price on that
date has been affected by the thinness of the market.

Where the payment involves a contingent element, the treatment differs
between IFRS 3 and IFRS 3 (2008).

Contingent consideration often forms part of consideration paid — for exam-
ple, additional cash consideration will be paid if profits post-acquisition exceed
a specified amount. Where such payment is probable and can be measured reli-
ably, the fair value of such amount (e.g. discounted to reflect the time value of
money) is included as part of the cost of consideration under IFRS 3, whereas
under IFRS 3 (2008) the fair value of the amount is included irrespective of
whether its payment is probable. In the post-acquisition period, adjustments are
made to the estimate of contingent consideration payable and, under IFRS 3,
these are adjusted against goodwill. IFRS 3 (2008), on the other hand, requires
such adjustments (that are beyond one year from the acquisition date) to be
charged or credited in arriving at profit/loss.

Under the current version of IFRS 3, acquisition expenses, such as legal fees
and necessary due diligence, are added to the fair value of the consideration
paid to give the total cost of acquisition. IFRS 3 (2008), however, precludes
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the acquisition expenses from being treated as part of the cost of acquisition;
instead they have to be expensed in the group financial statements in arriving
at profit/loss.

Fair value of the net assets acquired

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the cost of investment, which
is itself given by the fair value of the consideration given, is disaggregated into
the fair value of the separable net assets acquired, with the residue forming
part, or all, of goodwill. This is often referred to as the “fair value exercise’ or
‘purchase price allocation’. Detailed rules relating to the fair value of the net
assets acquired are set out in IFRS 3.

Fair value is defined by IFRS 3 (and IFRS 3 (2008)) as ‘The amount for
which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledge-
able, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction’. It follows that market
values, such as quoted prices, should be used if available. Although fair value
is the general principle, IFRS 3 and IFRS 3 (2008) set out some specific rules
that must be applied to particular assets and liabilities.

Two important practical questions are which assets and liabilities should
be recognised, and from what perspective should they be fair valued. It is
only the assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities, of the acquired
entity that existed at the date of acquisition that are to be recognised in the
fair value exercise. They are to be reflected based on their condition at the date
of acquisition; thus, how the acquiror is to alter them in the future does not
affect the amount at which they are to be recognised. In fact, the definition
of “fair value used” means that the value is not affected by how profitably
or unprofitably the acquired entity was using the asset nor how profitably or
unprofitably the acquiror will use the asset; it is the amount that a third party
would pay for the asset that is included in the accounts. If an asset has been
badly damaged in the past and not repaired, this will be reflected in its fair value.

The major example of how this impacts the accounts is that often an acquirer
will wish to reorganise the target after acquisition, frequently involving redun-
dancies and integration of the target into the acquirer’s group. Under earlier
accounting practice, it used to be possible to provide for the costs of such
reorganisations as part of the fair value exercise. This had a beneficial effect
on the post-acquisition results, as the reorganisation cost, when incurred, could
be charged against the provision that had been established, and hence did not
appear as a charge in arriving at profit/loss for the period. However, this is no
longer possible. Planned expenditure on reorganisation cannot be provided for,
as it is not a liability of the target. It has to be charged in arriving at profit/loss
of the enlarged group when incurred. However, where the target company was
itself committed to a restructuring before the acquirer intervened, the acquired
entity has a liability at the date of acquisition for that restructuring and so this
would be included in the fair value exercise.
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The exception to ignoring the acquiror’s intentions and to including the net
assets at fair value is if the acquirer intends to dispose of unwanted portions of
the acquired business; IFRS 3 requires non-current assets and disposal groups
(including subsidiaries) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with
IFRS 5 to be carried at fair value less costs to sell.

Any contingent liabilities of the acquired entity are included in the fair
value exercise, and thus in the post-acquisition consolidated balance sheet
of the group. As with the other net assets, they are included at fair value.
Intuitively, this can seem an odd approach; contingent liabilities are generally
only included in balance sheets if it is probable that there will be an outflow of
resources (see chapter 14). However, as explained above, the objective of the
fair value exercise is to record what the acquirer has purchased and record it
at the price paid. Hence, if an acquired entity had a contingent liability under
which it was possible, but not probable, that it would need to pay out cash,
this must be included in the fair value exercise and hence the group financial
statements, even though it does not appear in the balance sheet of the financial
statements of the acquired entity. If an entity were to take on a potential liability
from another entity, it would do so only if it received a sufficient amount of
compensation in return; this is the amount at which the contingent liability
would be recorded in the fair value exercise.

Future developments in IFRS

The IASB is now embarking upon a project to consider the accounting for
business combinations under common control, mainly group reconstructions,
which are currently outside the scope of IFRS 3 and IFRS 3 (2008). In addition,
the project will consider the accounting for demergers, such as the spin-off of
a subsidiary or business.

Goodwill and other intangibles

Goodwill and other intangibles are quite similar to each other in many respects.
At the margin, it is hard to distinguish one from the other. Nevertheless, in one
sense, they are treated very differently, namely that in acquisition accounting,
separate intangibles, to which a fair value is ascribed, are accounted for much
like any other separable asset such as inventory or plant. In contrast, goodwill
is the residue that remains. Additionally, under IFRS 3, the income statement
treatment can be very different.

A difficult question in many fair value exercises is to what extent to identify
amounts as relating to separate intangibles, and to what extent they should
be subsumed within goodwill. Under IFRS 3 and IFRS 3 (2008), generally
speaking, more intangible assets will be separately accounted for than under
FRSs 7 and 10 in UK GAAP. IFRS 3 requires intangible assets of the acquired
entity that meet the definition of intangible asset in 1AS 38 to be recognised in
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the fair value exercise, providing their fair value can be measured reliably. The
effect of applying IFRS 3 (2008) is similar. The definition of intangible asset
in IAS 38 is “an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance’.
Key to this definition is the meaning of ‘identifiable’; under IAS 38 an asset is
identifiable if it is either separable or arises from legal rights (whereas under
UK GAARP an intangible asset has to be separable from the business in order
for it to be recognised).

Examples of intangible assets that may be recognised in a business com-
bination under IFRS include: marketing-related intangibles (including trade-
marks, newspaper mastheads and non-competition agreements); customer-
related intangibles (including customer lists and non-contractual customer
relationships); artistic-related intangible assets (including plays, operas and
ballets and musical works such as compositions); contract-based intangibles
(including franchise agreements and servicing contracts); and technology-
based intangibles (such as databases and trade secrets). A list of identifiable
intangibles may be found in the illustrative examples at the back of IFRS 3.
The 1ASB’s principle is sound, namely that the more a company can identify
exactly what it has bought, the more informative the financial statements will
be. However, practical implementation issues arise, as the valuation of such
intangibles is problematical.

Part of the recognition criteria under the current version of IFRS 3 is that the
fair value of the intangible asset can be measured reliably, and although IFRS 3
(2008) does not explicitly refer to “measured reliably’, this is brought in via the
Framework’s guidance on recognition. The reference to reliable measurement
does not mean that there needs to be a market value. Indeed, there are not many
examples of intangibles with a market value. However, there are techniques by
which, for example, licences can be valued. In practice, a degree of professional
judgement is applied in deciding whether in a particular instance an intangible
should be recognised separately from goodwill or subsumed within goodwill.

There has been considerable controversy among accountants over the
decades as to what goodwill is and how it should be accounted for. For many
years, in the UK and elsewhere, it was common practice to write off goodwill
to reserves immediately upon acquisition of the business. As a result, it did not
feature on the balance sheet, neither did the calculation of profit/loss reflect
any charges in respect of its amortisation or impairment. However, since the
introduction of FRS 10 in the UK in 1998, it has been necessary to treat good-
will as an asset and, with exceptions, to amortise it against earnings. Under
IFRS 3, goodwill is carried on the balance sheet as an asset, but it is not amor-
tised; instead, it is tested annually for impairment. An impairment review is an
onerous exercise, and it carries the risk that it will identify that a significant
impairment write-down is necessary. Any necessary impairment charges are
expensed in arriving at profit/loss.

As explained above, under summary of acquisition accounting, in the cur-
rent version of IFRS 3 and in UK GAAP, goodwill is the difference between
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the fair value of what was paid for the shares and the group’s share of the fair
value of the net assets recognised in the fair value exercise. Thus, if 80 per cent
of a company was purchased, the goodwill recognised is the goodwill on this
80 per cent stake. A choice has been introduced into IFRS 3 (2008); goodwill
is either calculated this way, i.e. on the 80 per cent, or goodwill is calculated
and recognised on the entire 100 per cent.

Where an intangible asset is assessed to have an indefinite useful life, like
goodwill, it is subject to annual impairment reviews rather than amortisation.
On the other hand, if an intangible asset is assessed to have a finite life, it is
amortised over that life.

Goodwill is usually positive (i.e. an asset), but it can be negative. This is
where the aggregate of the fair values of the net assets exceeds the cost of
acquisition. This is sometimes described as a bargain purchase — although it
is not necessarily a bargain, as the low acquisition price might reflect losses
in the acquired company. Where negative goodwill arises upon an acquisition,
IFRS 3 requires that the fair value exercise is revisited; if negative goodwill
still remains this is recognised immediately, as an income item, in arriving at
profit/loss.

UK accounting in overview

Under FRS 6, nearly all business combinations fall to be accounted for as
acquisitions. Only a few meet the tests for merger accounting, although if the
tests are met, merger accounting is mandatory. Prior to the adoption of IFRS,
acquisition accounting was used for more than 95 per cent of UK combinations.
The main differences between acquisition accounting under UK GAAP and
IFRS, as stated earlier, are that: more intangibles are separately recognised
under IFRS than UK GAAP; and there is no amortisation of goodwill under
IFRS.

Merger accounting

FRS 6 was issued in the UK at a time when it was generally agreed that too
many business combinations were being accounted for using merger accounting
rather than acquisition accounting. It was generally accepted that not all of
the combinations that had been accounted for using merger accounting were
genuine mergers. FRS 6 predates IFRS 3 by ten years and so did not take the
same drastic step of banning merger accounting. Instead, it sets out criteria that
have to be met if merger accounting is to be used and drafted them in such a
way as to try to restrict the use of merger accounting to what was thought to be
genuine mergers in an economic sense.

Thus, they include conditions such as no party to the combination is por-
trayed as either acquirer or acquired, and the relative sizes of the combining
entities are not so disparate that one party dominates the combined entity by
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virtue of its relative size. If FRS 6’s criteria are met, merger accounting is
mandatory.

Legislative requirements — acquisition and merger accounting

The detailed legal rules relating to accounting for acquisitions and mergers are
set out in Schedule 6 to SI 2008/410 (and are taken from Schedule 4A to the
Companies Act 1985). These apply to groups preparing accounts under UK
GAAP, but not to those preparing accounts under IFRS.

The Schedule describes the acquisition method of accounting and stipulates
the key elements of accounting, such as bringing in the acquired entity’s results
from the date of acquisition and including its net assets at their fair value at the
date of acquisition. The Schedule’s requirements are consistent with those in
FRS 6, although they contain less detail.

Set out in Schedule 6 to SI 2008/410 (previously introduced into Schedule
4A to the Companies Act 1985 by the Companies Act 1989) are four conditions
that must be met if merger accounting is to be applied. The first three conditions
reflect what was thought to represent a merger at the time they were written,
that is, that very little cash leaves the group, and the conditions are, not surpris-
ingly, legalistic. The third condition is particularly onerous, requiring that the
fair value of any consideration that is not equity shares does not exceed 10 per
cent of the nominal value of the equity shares issued. Recently, a number of
companies have used the true and fair override in group reconstruction scenar-
i0s to use merger accounting where this condition has not been met. The fourth
condition is that adoption of the merger method of accounting accords with
generally accepted accounting principles or practice. Hence if merger account-
ing is banned by a future accounting standard, the fourth condition will be
failed, and hence merger accounting will not be permitted by legislation either.

If the four conditions are met and merger accounting is being applied, as
with acquisition accounting, the Schedule sets out the key elements of merger
accounting. Again, these are consistent with FRS 6’s requirements.

Group reconstructions

FRS 6 explicitly provides that:

‘A group reconstruction may be accounted for by using merger accounting,
even though there is no business combination meeting the definition of a
merger, provided:

(a) the use of merger accounting is not prohibited by companies legislation
(4A Sch 10);

(b) the ultimate shareholders remain the same, and the rights of each such
shareholder, relative to the others, are unchanged; and

(c) no minority’s interest in the net assets of the group is altered by the
transfer’.
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Future developments in UK GAAP

At the point that the revised version of IFRS 3 was issued, the ASB had
not incorporated the original version into UK GAAP. It was waiting for the
completion of Phase Il of the IASB’s project, namely IFRS 3 (2008), before
taking any steps to alter UK GAAP, so that there could be one, not two, changes
on this topic. Now, however, the ASB plans to retain FRSs 6, 7 and 10 until it
has decided its strategy for convergence with IFRSs generally.

Share premium, merger relief and group reconstruction relief

The requirements relating to share premium, merger relief and group recon-
struction relief are set out in ss. 610 to 616 of the Act. These are discussed
briefly below. It is important to stress that the rules operate independently
of the accounting method adopted in the consolidated financial statements.
Similarly, they will apply irrespective of whether the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with UK GAAP or IFRS. Their operation in individual
circumstances depends upon the precise wording of the legislation.

The rules that follow apply to the issuing company’s single entity financial
statements.

The basic rule relating to setting up a share premium account is that if a
company issues shares for an amount, cash and/or non-cash, that is greater
than the nominal value of the shares, the amount in excess of the nominal
value is credited to a share premium account. For example, if a company issues
100 shares, each with a nominal (or par) value of £1, for cash of £1,000,
the company credits £100 to the share capital account and £900 to the share
premium account. A share premium account is not distributable and there are
restrictions on what it may be used for.

‘Merger relief’, as set out in s. 612 of the Act, is something of a misnomer. It
might better be called relief from the need to set up a share premium account —
which is exactly what it is. Merger relief arises in an entity’s financial state-
ments; it is not a consolidation issue. Moreover, it does not arise only when
merger accounting is used in the related consolidated financial statements. In
other words, it can be used in conjunction with using acquisition accounting
on consolidation. Equally, it applies regardless of whether IFRS or UK GAAP
is applied in the individual entity financial statements.

In summary, if company A, by issuing its equity shares, acquires 90 per cent
or more of the equity share capital of company B, and A’s shares are issued
at a premium, the general requirement of s. 610 of the Act to set up a share
premium account does not apply.

Note that there is nothing that says that the whole of the 90 per cent should
be acquired in one tranche. For example, A might already hold 70 per cent
of B as a result of an earlier (cash or shares) transaction. However, if A then
issues equity to acquire the next 20 per cent of B’s equity, relief under s. 612



Mergers and acquisitions

arises and applies to the shares issued by A to acquire that 20 per cent, i.e. no
share premium is recorded in respect of A’s shares that are issued to acquire
that last 20 per cent of B. Section 612 is mandatory, that is, there is no choice;
no share premium is recorded. It does not specify what should be done instead.
There are two possibilities. One is that the shares issued are still accounted for
at fair value (or, under 1AS 27, at some other balance); but the amount that
would have been credited to the share premium account is instead credited to
another reserve, generally called a ‘merger reserve’. The other possibility is
that under s. 615 the premium is disregarded completely, and the shares issued
are simply recorded at their nominal value.

In addition to merger relief, the Act also provides, in's. 611, ‘group recon-
struction relief’, which applies in certain intra-group transfers. This is similar
to merger relief in that it is a relief from the need to set up a share premium
account, but the details are different and more complex; in particular a share
premium account can still be required under this section in some circumstances
(although not necessarily for the full amount). The overall effect of group
reconstruction relief is that where an asset is transferred within a (qualifying)
group its carrying value in the acquiring company is generally not lower than it
had been in its previous place in the group structure. However, the wording of
s. 611 differs from that of s. 612. In particular, the generally accepted view is
that relief under s. 611 is optional, although where s. 611 relief applies s. 612
relief is not available.

The final piece of the jigsaw is s. 615 of the Act. Under this section, if
share premium relief or group reconstruction relief applies, and as a result an
amount is not credited to the share premium account, it may be disregarded for
the purposes of determining, in the acquiring company’s single entity balance
sheet, the carrying value of the investment in the acquired company.

For example, assume that shares are issued to acquire another company
and merger relief under s. 612 is available. The nominal value of the shares
issued is £100,000 and the fair value is £800,000. The £700,000 is not credited
to the share premium account. Neither does it need to be taken into account
for determining the carrying value of the investment. Since the s. 615 relief is
optional, a company has the choice of recording the transaction either as shown
in Box 11.1, or, using s. 615 relief, as shown in Box 11.2.

Whilst this is a matter of choice, most practitioners would take the approach
in Box 11.2. A lower carrying value for the investment is helpful in that it gives

Box 11.1 Recording investment at fair value

Dr Investment in new subsidiary £800,000
Cr Shares issued £100,000
Cr Merger reserve £700,000

113



Accounting Principles for Non-Executive Directors

114

Box 11.2 Recording investment using s. 615 relief

Dr Investment in new subsidiary £100,000
Cr Shares issued £100,000

the company less exposure to impairments. That is, without s. 615 relief the
investment would be recorded initially at its full cost of £800,000. If it lost,
say, £150,000 in value, it would need to be written down to a revised carrying
value of £650,000. However, with the benefit of s. 615 relief, the investment
could lose up to £700,000 of its value before it became necessary to make an
impairment write-down.

The accounting treatment in the consolidated financial statements follows
the acquisition accounting rules in IFRS 3 or the acquisition or merger account-
ing rules of the Act and FRS 6, irrespective of whether s. 615 relief is taken in
the parent’s entity financial statements.



12
Interaction of accounting with tax

Introduction

Company financial statements and corporate tax are closely related in a number
of ways. First, although assessment of corporation tax is based on complex
rules of tax law and practice, the starting point is the pre-tax profit shown in
the company’s annual statutory financial statements. Tax is levied at the entity,
not consolidated, level so it is the individual company financial statements
that are of relevance when preparing the tax computation. Second, financial
statements need to reflect a company’s obligations to pay tax. The most obvious
example of this is the tax payable in respect of each year. However, in addition,
accountants have developed accounting for “‘deferred tax’, the effect of which
is that, generally, the tax effects of transactions are recognised in arriving at
profit/loss in the same period that the transaction itself is recognised in arriving
at profit/loss. Similarly so for other comprehensive income. Additionally, there
is the question of how the move to IFRS at individual entity level affects tax
assessment; although the group accounts of listed companies have how moved
to IFRS, many individual entity accounts within those groups are still prepared
using UK GAAP. These issues are discussed in turn. This chapter seeks to give
an introductory guide to accounting aspects of the issues; it is not a guide to
tax law or practice.

Accounting profit and its adjustment

Accounting profit — specifically, the profit before tax figure in the income state-
ment/statement of comprehensive income — is the starting point for assessment
of corporation tax. However, a number of adjustments are made. Examples of
adjustments are:

» Depreciation of non-current (or fixed) assets that is charged in arriving
at profit is added back, as it is not allowable for tax purposes. In its place
there is a system of capital allowances, designed to give tax relief for
certain types of capital expenditure. The amount and timing of capital
allowances is based on tax law, which reflects the government’s desire
to give companies incentives to invest. Except by coincidence, capital
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Box 12.1 Example tax computation

£
Profit before tax per the statutory accounts 1,000
Add: depreciation 200
Add: entertaining expenses 30
Less: tax-free grants (60)
Less: capital allowances (250)
Profit for tax purposes (i.e., taxable income) 920

allowances do not equate to accounting depreciation in any particular
year, although in aggregate over the life of the asset the two will generally
coincide. An example of the relationship between capital allowances and
accounting depreciation is shown below, under the heading ‘Deferred
tax’.

¢ Certain types of expenditure are disallowable for tax purposes, for exam-
ple, fines and some types of entertaining expenses. Where such costs
are charged in arriving at accounting profit, they are added back for tax
purposes.

¢ Some items of income, such as certain government grants, may not be
taxable.

e Some items of expenditure that are charged in arriving at accounting
profit are allowable for tax, but in different periods. For example, defined
contribution pension costs are charged in arriving at accounting profit on
an accruals basis, but are allowed for tax purposes when paid. This gives
rise to a temporary (or in UK GAAP terminology, timing) difference,
which again is reflected in deferred tax.

Hence an adjustment of accounting profit for tax purposes might look like
that shown in Box 12.1.

If the accounting profit were the exact basis for tax purposes, one would
expect tax payable of 30% x £1,000 = £300. However, tax payable in fact
would be 30% x £920 = £276. The reduction of £24 is a mixture of items that
are permanently different for accounting and tax purposes, such as entertaining
and grants, and items that feature for both accounting and tax purposes, but
whose timing is different, such as depreciation and capital allowances. Note
that 28 per cent is currently the full rate of corporation tax; for many years
prior to 1 April 2008 it was 30 per cent. A small companies rate, currently
21 per cent and expected to be 22 per cent from 1 April 2009, is payable
on low profits. For simplicity, the worked examples that follow generally use
30 per cent.
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Accounting for current and deferred tax
Current tax

In IFRS, there is one accounting standard, IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’, which deals
with both current and deferred taxes, although the main focus of that standard
is on deferred tax.

Current tax is the tax charged on the profits for the year. There are very few
rules about accounting for current tax and in general these are uncontroversial.
Current tax is charged as an expense, or income in some loss-making situations,
in arriving at profit/loss; it is charged in the income statement unless the tax in
question relates to a gain or loss that is recognised outside profit or loss. If a
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income, the related tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income! and if a gain or loss is recognised
directly in equity the related tax is also recognised directly in equity. UK GAAP
contains similar rules, albeit these are set out in a separate accounting standard,
FRS 16 “Current tax’.

Deferred tax

Accounting for deferred tax is a much more complex issue than accounting for
current tax. The basic premise is that accounting only for current tax understates
a company’s liabilities (or assets), as there may be additional liabilities (or
assets) that crystallise in future years yet that originate from the transactions
and events of the earlier year. An example may clarify.

A company might operate a bonus scheme for senior employees; under the
scheme it has accrued for bonuses of £100,000 in its financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2008. However, it will not pay those bonuses
to employees until October 2009. Because the bonus is paid more than nine
months after the end of the year in which it is accrued, the £100,000 expense
reduces the taxable profits for 2009, not 2008. Thus, the bonus is charged as
an expense when calculating the accounting profits for 2008, but only reduces
the current tax charge for 2009, so a temporary, or timing, mismatch arises.
In 2009, the company’s tax charge will be lower by £30,000 (30 per cent of
£100,000) as a result of the bonus payment.

Accounting rules require companies to recognise deferred tax liabilities and
assets, such as the £30,000 in the above example. The impact on the income
statement/statement of comprehensive income of the bonus and its tax effects
can be shown in tabular form in Box 12.2.

The end result is that the accounting profit is reduced by the bonus accrual,
net of tax, in 2008 even though the company does not receive the tax benefit
(by means of paying less tax to HM Revenue & Customs) until 2009.

1 Seech. 9.
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Box 12.2 Impact on the income statement/statement of comprehensive income
of the bonus (paid more than 9 months after the year to which it relates) and its
tax effects

2008 2009

£ £

Bonus accrual (100,000) -
Current tax charge - 30,000
Deferred tax 30,000 (30,000)
Net impact on profit (70,000) -

The IFRS rules are found in IAS 12 “Income Taxes’; it is a complex standard
to read and digest, containing many rules. However, the end result of applying
the standard is that, generally, the tax consequences of a transaction or event are
recognised in the same period and place (part of profit/loss, other comprehensive
income or directly in equity) as the transaction or event itself.

IAS 12 takes a balance sheet approach; its fundamental principle is that if
the recovery of an asset (for example, the cash flows that it will generate from
use or sale) or the settlement of the carrying amount of a liability would make
future tax payments larger or smaller than they would be if such recovery or
settlement were to have no tax consequences, then deferred tax is recognised.

To put this principle into action, IAS 12 requires an entity to calculate
‘temporary differences’ by comparing the book value of its assets and liabilities
with their ‘tax base’. The tax base of an asset or liability is defined as ‘the
amount attributed to that asset or liability for tax purposes’. In the main, the tax
base of an asset is the amount that will be deductible for tax purposes against
any taxable economic benefits that will flow to an enterprise when it recovers
the carrying amount of the asset; and the tax base of a liability is the carrying
value of the liability less any amount that will be deductible for tax purposes in
respect of that liability in future periods. In the above accrued bonus example,
therefore, at the balance sheet date for the 2008 accounts (31 December 2008),
the book value of the liability is £100,000 and the tax base of this liability is nil
(being the carrying value of the liability of £100,000 less the amount that will
be tax deductible in 2009, also £100,000), thus there is a ‘temporary difference’
of £100,000 and deferred tax is calculated by multiplying this amount by the tax
rate. Using a tax rate of 30 per cent, a deferred tax asset of £30,000 is recognised.
Reverting back to IAS 12’s principle, the settlement of that accrued liability
will lead to a lower tax charge for 2009, thus, at 31 December 2008, there is a
deferred tax asset of £30,000.

Consider another example: a company buys a new machine for £1,200 in
year 1. For accounting purposes, the machine is assessed as having a useful
life of six years, with no scrap value at the end of that six years. Hence it is
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Box 12.3 Accounting depreciation and tax capital allowances in respect of a new

machine

Year Accounting Tax

1 Cost 1,200 Cost 1,200
Depreciation (200) Capital allowances (240)
NBV 1,000 WDV 960

2 Depreciation (200) Capital allowances (192)
NBV 800 WDV 768

3 Depreciation (200) Capital allowances 154
NBV 600 WDV 614

4 Depreciation (200) Capital allowances 123
NBV 400 WDV 491

5 Depreciation (200) Capital allowances (98)
NBV 200 WDV 393

6 Depreciation (200) Capital allowances (393)*
NBV NIL WDV NIL

* Whether capital allowances in year 6 are the remaining £393 in the form of a balancing

allowance on sale for zero or are 20 per cent of £393, with the remainder to be allowed over

future years, depends on a number of factors. We assume £393 for ease of illustration.

depreciated on a straight-line basis over six years. For tax purposes, we assume
it will attract capital allowances at 20 per cent on a reducing-balance basis.
Therefore, the pattern of book depreciation and capital allowances over the six
years’ life is as shown in Box 12.3.

At the first balance sheet date, there is an asset with a carrying value of
£1,000 and under 1AS 12 the asset’s tax base is £960, thus there is a ‘temporary
difference’ of £40 and deferred tax is calculated by multiplying this amount by
the tax rate. A deferred tax liability of £12 is recognised if the appropriate tax
rate is 30 per cent. Explaining this against the standard’s principle is slightly
different: first, we have to assume that the asset will generate income (directly,
or indirectly in conjunction with other assets) of at least £1,000 — if this is not
true then the asset should be written down as impaired. Thus the asset will
generate taxable income of at least £1,000. However, the asset will only lead
to taxable income being reduced in future years by £960, as this is the balance
of capital allowances that is left. Consequently, taxable income will be a net
£40 higher and so (using a 30 per cent tax rate) tax of £12 will be payable as
a result of recovering the asset’s balance sheet carrying value. Accordingly, a
deferred tax liability of £12 must be recognised in the balance sheet.

Box 12.4 sets out the calculation of temporary differences and thus the
deferred tax.

The impact on profit/loss of the asset only is set out below (Box 12.5).
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Box 12.4 Calculation of temporary differences and deferred tax

Tax Temporary Tax (30%) Change

Net written difference on the in tax on

Depre- book Capital down (NBV less temporary TD over
Year ciation value allowances value tax WDV) difference the year

1 200 1,000 240 960 40 12 (12)
2 200 800 192 768 32 10 2
3 200 600 154 614  (14) (4) 14
4 200 400 123 491 (91) @7) 23
5 200 200 98 393 (193) (58) 31
6 200 ~ 393 - - - (58)

Box 12.5 Impact on profit/loss of the asset

Years 1 2 3 4 5 6

£ £ £ £ £ £
Depreciation (200) (200) (200) (200) (200) (200)
Current tax 72 58 46 37 29 118
Deferred tax (12) 2 14 23 31 (58)

Net effect on profit ~ (140)  (140) (140) (140) (140) (140)

Box 12.6 Example adjustments

Add: entertaining expenses 30
Less: tax-free grants (60)

Other sources of temporary differences are the different tax and accounting
treatment of pension costs and share-based payment. In each case, they are
accounted for in one period, but the tax consequences arise, to some degree
at least, in other periods. However, certain differences — such as entertaining
expenses (which do not attract tax relief) — are permanent in their impact.

The table in Box 12.1, in which the accounting profit was adjusted for tax
purposes, included the adjustments shown in Box 12.6.

The first item in Box 12.6 is non-deductible for tax purposes and the second
is non-taxable. Under UK GAAP, they are called ‘permanent differences’ and
this phrase is likely to continue to be used colloquially within the UK under
IFRS; there is no formal term in IAS 12 for such items. IAS 12 refers to
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temporary differences, both positive and negative, but in this case there is no
difference. The items will never be taxable or deductible, and they cause the
company’s effective tax rate (the tax charge expressed as a percentage of profit
before tax) to be different from the standard rate of, say, 30 per cent. Deferred
tax accounting has no role here: there is no liability or asset; the effective tax
rate will correctly be less than the standard tax rate. That is, in this example
it will be less, as the tax-free income exceeds the disallowable expenses. In a
different example, the effect could be the other way round.

The UK GAAP rules are found in FRS 19 ‘Deferred tax’. This refers to
‘timing differences’ and permanent differences and, although it takes a different
approach to 1AS 12, it gives the same answer in the two examples above.
Indeed, the end outcome of applying FRS 19 is similar to IAS 12, with certain
exceptions, including:

(i) Revaluation gains. Under IAS 12, if an entity revalues an asset upwards
from, say, 100 to 150, deferred tax is recognised on the increase in value
of 50 (assuming that the increase of 50 is expected to lead to an equivalent
amount of taxable income and, as is generally the case in the UK, the
asset’s tax base is unaffected). On the other hand, FRS 19 argues that
there is no liability to pay additional tax on the gain in excess of cost until
the asset is sold at such higher amount; the revaluation of itself does not
cause any future tax liabilities to arise, and thus no deferred tax should
be recognised, unless, by the balance sheet date, there is a binding sale
agreement.

(ii) Fair value adjustments in acquisition accounting. When accounting, in
group financial statements, for the acquisition of a new subsidiary the net
assets of the acquired subsidiary are stated at their fair values. Where the
fair values differ from the tax base of the items, as will often be the case,
IAS 12 requires deferred tax to be recognised on the difference, whereas
FRS 19 generally does not.

(iii) Discounting. UK GAAP allows discounting of deferred tax liabilities.
This is not commonly applied, but can make a big difference where, as
for example in some utility companies, the liabilities stretch out over a
long period.

The UK GAAP view is that deferred tax should only be recognised in respect
of inevitable consequences of transactions or events that have already occurred.

HM Revenue & Customs and the move to IFRS

As noted above, the starting point for tax assessment is the profit shown in the
company’s annual statutory financial statements. Until 2005, for UK companies,
this was always the profit as calculated under UK GAAP. In 2005, listed
companies changed the accounting in their consolidated financial statements
to IFRS; and they, together with other companies, had the choice of remaining
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with UK GAAP or moving to IFRS at the entity financial statements level. The
choice of moving to IFRS can be taken at any point, although, in the main, once
taken, cannot be reversed. One of the big factors for a company in deciding
whether to move to IFRS at the entity level is the effect that such a move might
have on tax assessments.

When IFRS was introduced, HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC) issued
a policy statement which said that the measures it was introducing were ‘to
ensure that companies choosing to adopt IAS to draw up their accounts receive
broadly equivalent tax treatment to companies that continue to use UK Gen-
erally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP)’ (emphasis added). This
statement is, at best, an oversimplification. What it seems to mean in practice is
that: (1) where there is a specific tax rule affecting an item, that rule continues
to apply; but (2) where tax follows GAAP, and profits under IFRS are higher
(or lower) than under UK GAAP, tax assessments will also be higher (or lower)
in an equivalent manner.

As an example of (1), revaluation gains on investment property are recog-
nised in arriving at profit/loss under IFRS, whereas they are recognised outside
of profit/loss under UK GAAP. IFRS profits are higher than under UK GAAP
for such companies at times of a rising property market. However, there is a
specific tax rule and such gains are not taxable until sale, so the move to IFRS
does not affect the timing of when the tax is payable.

Simply put, (2) means that if profits under IFRS are higher (or lower) than
under UK GAAP, the tax payable is likely to be higher (or lower), although there
are some specific exclusions, such as the investment property example above.
This could arise either: (a) in terms of timing — where revenue or expenses are
recognised earlier (or later) than under UK GAAP; or (b) in terms of permanent
differences — where an item is recognised as income (or expense) under IFRS,
whereas it is not so recognised, or not recognised at the same amount, under
UK GAAP.

For example, if a receipt of £300 is recognised in arriving at profit/loss over
a three-year period under UK GAAP, but under IFRS is recognised as revenue
immediately, then on a move to IFRS the tax treatment would, in a simple case,
follow the accounting, and the tax payable of £90 (£300 x 30%) would be
accelerated into year 1, rather than spread over the three years.

There are in place rules that seek to stop companies from taking advantage
of using a mixture of IFRS and UK GAAP within a group. If one company in a
group uses IFRS and has a transaction with another company in the group that
uses UK GAAP, and if the transaction has, as a main benefit, the conferring of a
tax advantage as a result of different accounting treatments, the IFRS company
will have to use UK GAAP for the transaction for tax purposes. Indeed, BERR?
has legislated to make it rare for some companies in a group to use UK GAAP
and others to use IFRS; all UK subsidiaries within a group should use the same

2 Formerly the DTI.
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accounting standards — either IFRS or UK GAAP - unless there is a ‘good
reason’ for a group company to use a different basis (s. 407 CA 2006). BERR
has given some examples of genuine cases where mixed GAAP within a group
would be acceptable. An example of an acceptable use is where a group using
IFRS acquired a subsidiary that had not been using IFRS; in the first year of
acquisition, it might not be practical for the newly acquired company to switch
to IFRS straight away. However, tax is not among the examples given.
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Assets

Introduction

The key questions that arise in relation to assets are: what is the definition
of an asset; which assets are recognised on balance sheet; when are they first
recognised; how are the assets that are recognised on balance sheet measured;
and whether the assets should be written down for impairment. There are also
questions of how assets should be classified and presented on balance sheets,
and questions of depreciation. These issues are considered in turn.

Definition of an asset

In a formal sense, the IASB’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements! defines an asset as ‘a resource controlled by the entity
as a result of past events and from which future economic benefits are expected
to flow to the entity’. The Framework explains? that:

‘The future economic benefit embodied in an asset is the potential to
contribute, directly or indirectly, to the flow of cash and cash equivalents
to the entity. The potential may be a productive one that is part of the
operating activities of the entity. It may also take the form of convertibility
into cash or cash equivalents or a capability to reduce cash outflows, such as
when an alternative manufacturing process lowers the costs of production’.

Less formally, an asset is something of value that a company controls.

Recognition of assets

From the definition, it might appear that all a company’s assets are recognised on
the balance sheet. In fact, they are recognised only if they meet the recognition
criteria: it is probable that the entity will get the economic benefits of the asset
and that the asset can be measured reliably. For this reason, and in some cases
because the asset in question is not controlled by the company, assets such
as a company’s reputation, its skilled workforce, training, advertising and its
self-developed brands — valuable though they may be — are not recognised on
balance sheet.

1 See para. 49(a). 2 See para. 53.
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Expenditure on research is not recognised on balance sheet as an asset; it is
not possible at the research stage of a project to demonstrate that it is probable
that economic benefits will flow to the entity. This may be so also in the early
stages of the development phase of the project. However, once it is probable
that the development project will generate economic benefits for the entity and
various other specified criteria are met, an asset is recognised.

Measurement of assets

Traditionally, accounting has been strongly based on historical cost. As noted in
chapter 7 at p. 63, one of the recent developments in accounting is the increased
use of fair value or a similar valuation basis, resulting in a mixed measurement
model. The use of fair value rather than cost varies depending on the type of
asset, and also varies to some degree as between IFRS and UK GAAP. For
example, property, plant and equipment may be measured in both IFRS and
UK GAAP at either cost or valuation.®> For investment properties, however,
while there is the same choice in IFRS,* valuation is compulsory under UK
GAAP. For investments and other financial assets, the picture is more complex,
as it depends into which of the four categories of financial asset® the item is
classified under IAS 39 and FRS 26. Goodwill is accounted for at cost under
both IFRS and UK GAAP. In slight contrast, whilst other intangibles are nearly
always carried on a cost basis, they can in principle be carried on a valuation
basis, but the criteria are strict and as a result that treatment is rare. Under 1AS
41, biological assets are carried at an amount based on fair value. In general,
current assets are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value, for
example, inventories, although some current assets, such as financial assets
held for trading and derivatives, are carried at fair value.

Impairment of assets

Whether an asset’s carrying value is based on cost or fair value, there is an
underlying principle that it should not be carried on a balance sheet at more
than its ‘recoverable amount’. That is, in stating an asset on a balance sheet at a
particular amount, there is an implication that it is worth that amount or more.
In this context, ‘worth’ could mean that the asset could be sold for at least that
amount, or it could refer to the fact that it (or it together with other assets) will
generate cash flows over a period of at least that amount in present value terms
(see below).
More formally expressed, recoverable amount is the higher of:

* fairvalue less costs to sell (UK GAAP term —net realisable value (NRV));
and
* value in use.

3 IAS16; FRS15. 4 IAS40. 5 SSAP19. 6 Seech.17.
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The fair value less costs to sell, or NRV, is ‘the amount obtainable from the sale
of an asset . . . in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing
parties, less the costs of disposal’.’”

Value in use is ‘the present value of the future cash flows expected to be
derived from an asset’.® ‘Present value’ refers to the time value of money. For
example, if an asset will generate £105 in one year’s time and interest rates
are 5 per cent, the present value of that cash flow is £100. This process is also
called “discounting’.

The notion of recoverable amount being the higher of two measures as set
out above reflects commercial reality. That is, if an asset has a ‘fair value less
costs to sell” of £80, but a value in use of £100, a rational management would
keep the asset rather than sell it. Hence the recoverable amount is £100. Thus,
if the asset’s carrying value (for example, for property, plant and equipment,
cost or value less accumulated depreciation — see below) is less than £100, no
impairment write down is required; but if the carrying value is above £100,
the asset has to be written down to £100. If the asset’s carrying amount were
between £80 and £100, say, £95, the asset would not be written up to £100
(assuming that it had not previously been written down for impairment); it
simply would not be impaired — its carrying amount is expected to be recovered
in full.

The rules on impairment of assets — when impairment testing should be
carried out; the methodology; and when, and to which asset, an impairment
write down is required — are complex. It should be recognised, however, that
impairment testing is an imprecise art. An asset’s “fair value less costs to sell’
might be easily established, although that will depend on the type of asset.
However, an asset’s value in use is at best an estimate and is only as good as
the forecast of future cash flows that the asset will generate — such a forecast is
necessarily uncertain, especially when the time horizon extends to a long period.
Having said that, it is important for companies to test assets for impairment
at appropriate times, as otherwise they risk being carried on balance sheets at
unjustifiable amounts. This is one of those occasions when accountants speak
of the numbers being ‘roughly right rather than exactly wrong’.

Impairment, as discussed above, primarily applies to non-current (or fixed)
assets, although the same underlying principle — that an asset should not be
carried at above its recoverable amount — applies to all assets. In the case of
some current assets, for example, inventories, the principle is achieved by using
as the measurement basis the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Classification and presentation of assets

Under IFRS, unless a presentation based on liquidity is more relevant, current
and non-current assets have to be presented separately on the face of the

7 IAS 36, para. 6. 8 IAS 36, para 6.
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balance sheet. In UK GAAP, the terms ‘current’ and ‘fixed’ are used. With
minor differences, the effect is similar.

As a minimum the following different types of asset have to be presented
on an IFRS balance sheet:

(a) property, plant and equipment;

(b) investment property;

(c) intangible assets;

(d) financial assets (excluding amounts shown under (e), (h) and (i));

(e) investments accounted for using the equity method;

(f) biological assets;

(9) inventories;

(h) trade and other receivables;

(i) cash and cash equivalents; and

(j) the total of assets classified as held for sale and assets included in disposal
groups classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 “‘Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’.

Classification as between current and non-current is determined by IAS 1
(2007), para. 66, which states that:

‘An entity shall classify an asset as current when:

(a) it expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its
normal operating cycle;

(b) it holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading;

(c) it expects to realise the asset within twelve months after the reporting
period; or

(d) the asset is cash or a cash equivalent (as defined in 1AS 7) unless the
asset is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for
at least twelve months after the reporting period.

An entity shall classify all other assets as non-current.’

Although item (c) in the definition refers to twelve months, the reference in (a)
to an entity’s normal operating cycle is not limited to twelve months and thus
assets could be presented as current even though they are not expected to be
converted to cash form within one year of the balance sheet date.

For UK GAAP, the Companies Act defines fixed assets as those ‘which are
intended for use on a continuing basis in the company’s activities’ and current
assets as ‘assets not intended for such use’. Again, the definition of current
assets is not limited to one year.

Depreciation

Some non-current (or fixed) assets last for a long period of time and maintain
their value, whereas others lose value as time passes. For example, a non-current
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investment may, if well selected, hold or increase its value over a long period.
The same applies, generally, to land. In contrast, a building, a piece of plant
or IT equipment may lose its value over a period. For this latter category of
assets, depreciation is relevant. The term ‘depreciation’ is used in connection
with property, plant and equipment (tangible fixed assets). Depreciation is a
common phenomenon in everyday life: many non-accountants are expert at
the depreciation of cars, for example. Depreciation, for accounting purposes,
is defined as: ‘the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset
over its useful life’, where depreciable amount is ‘the cost of an asset, or other
amount substituted for cost, less its residual value’.® The UK definition is
similar.

The key point that the definitions make clear is that depreciation is an
exercise in allocation of cost (less residual value) over accounting periods. It
does not seek to reflect interim valuations of assets. For example, a company
might own a car costing £10,000 and expect to keep it for four years, at the end of
which period its expected residual value will be £4,000. If so, the depreciable
amount would be £6,000 and the depreciation charge against profits, on a
straight-line basis, would be £1,500 each year for the four years. Thus, at the
end of the first year, the car would be carried in the balance sheet at a net book
value (NBV) of £8,500. This is so, even though the second-hand value of the
car is very likely to be less than £8,500. The car is not impaired (see above) as
the company expects to carry on using it profitably over the next three years,
at the end of which it will be sold for an estimated £4,000.

Like many aspects of accounting, depreciation involves estimates. The use-
ful life of the asset and its residual value at the end of that life can only be
estimates. For that reason, I1AS 16 and FRS 15 require companies to keep under
review their estimates: for example, if an asset looks likely to last longer than
originally expected, the depreciation profile should be slowed down. Despite
such adjustments, it is quite common for an asset, when sold, to realise an
amount more or less than its residual value. Any such difference is reported in
the income statement (or income statement part of the statement of compre-
hensive income) as a profit or loss on sale.

Amortisation

Goodwill and other intangibles are covered by their own accounting standards:
IAS 38 and IFRS 3 in IFRS; and FRS 10 in UK GAAP. Accountants use
the term “amortisation’ for intangibles, rather than depreciation, although the
meaning is the same.

Under IFRS, goodwill is not amortised, but is tested annually for impair-
ment. Other intangibles are amortised in the main, but non-amortisation
(replaced with annual impairment testing) is required if an indefinite life can

9 IAS 16, para 6.
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be demonstrated. For example, patents and copyrights are generally amortised,
whereas some brands are not.

While in principle intangibles are subject to amortisation under UK GAAP,
there are exceptions. FRS 10 envisages a minority practice under which good-
will and intangibles need not be amortised if the facts of the case demonstrate
an indefinite life. This requires a true and fair override of the CA 2006 (UK
GAARP financial statements only) in the case of goodwill; and for both goodwill
and intangibles the amortisation is replaced by annual impairment testing.

Disclosure

Various details of assets have to be given in the notes to the financial statements,
but for the most part these merely provide additional details about items that are
recognised on balance sheet. Examples include movements on property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, and details about investments. There
is also a requirement® to disclose certain contingent assets; these are not
recognised on balance sheet.

10 IAS 37, para. 89; FRS 12, para. 94.
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Liabilities

Introduction

As noted in chapter 1, a balance sheet can be considered, in summary form, as
follows:

Assets less liabilities = shareholders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity is called ‘capital and reserves’ in the Companies Act
format, and was generally called ‘shareholders’ funds’ under UK GAAP.

Hence liabilities are one of the major components of a balance sheet. The
key questions that arise in relation to liabilities are: what is the definition of a
liability; how are they distinguished from shareholders’ equity; which liabilities
are recognised on the balance sheet; when are they recognised; and how are
the liabilities that are recognised on the balance sheet measured. There are
also questions of how liabilities should be presented on balance sheets, and
questions of disclosure, including disclosure of contingent liabilities. These
issues are considered in turn.

Definition of a liability

During the 1980s and, to a lesser extent, earlier, some companies had sought
to distort their accounting by setting up liabilities — in particular provisions for
items such as restructuring costs — on a large-scale but discretionary basis. For
example, a company might have had a more profitable year than expected, but
would know that it was likely to incur costs in future years in restructuring its
business. It would, therefore, set up, at the end of the profitable year, a provision
for these future costs, thereby reducing the profits of that year. When the costs
were subsequently incurred, they would be set against the provision rather than
reducing the profits of that later (perhaps less profitable) year. However, this
technique fell into disrepute as it amounted to little more than profit smoothing,
and failed to represent the results of the year in question.

Standard-setters sought to remedy this and, in the 1990s, IAS 37 (IFRS)
and FRS 12 (UK GAAP), both entitled ‘Provisions, Contingent liabilities and
Contingent assets’, were developed as part of a joint project. Consequently, not
only are the two standards consistent, but in many places contain exactly the
same wording.
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A liability is defined in the 1ASB’s Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Lia-
bilities and Contingent Assets’ as ‘a present obligation of the entity arising from
past events, the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from
the entity of resources embodying economic benefits’. A similar definition is
found in UK GAAP (the ASB’s Statement of Principles and FRSs 5 and 12).

The IASB’s and ASB’s definitions take a much more precise and restrictive
approach than previously to what can be regarded as a liability.

The definitions start by saying that, in order for there to be a liability, there
must already be an obligation. This means that the entity is not free to avoid the
outflow of resources. If a company merely had an idea that it might undertake a
restructuring in a year’s time, that would not count as a liability, as the company
could abort or change its plans — it is not committed to that course of action
and can avoid the costs involved if it so chooses. Embodied in the definitions
also is that, for a liability to exist at the balance sheet date, the obligation to
transfer economic benefits must have resulted from a past transaction or event.
So, for example, an obligation under a warranty would be recognised only to
the extent of goods actually sold at the end of the accounting year.

The definition of a liability applies in a number of contexts. In this chapter,
we consider the general case of creditors and provisions. In chapter 17, we
consider capital instruments issued by a company such as various types of
debt instrument, preference shares and ordinary shares. Careful analysis is
sometimes needed to establish which of those should be accounted for as
liabilities and which as shareholders’ equity.

Recognition of liabilities

A liability might exist in terms of the definition (see above), but that does not
automatically mean that it should be recognised on balance sheet. This point is
well explained in the accounting standard on provisions (IAS 37 ‘Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ and the similarly titled FRS 12).
This clarifies that by ‘provisions’ it means ‘liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount’. However, much of its thinking applies to all liabilities. IAS 37 states
that:

‘A provision shall be recognised when:

(a) an entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event;

(b) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic ben-
efits will be required to settle the obligation; and

(c) areliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If these conditions are not met, no provision shall be recognised.?

1 IAS 37, para. 14.

131



Accounting Principles for Non-Executive Directors

132

From this quotation, it is clear that where an obligation exists, it is recognised
only if there is a probable transfer to another party of economic benefits. For
example, a company might guarantee the borrowings of a second company. A
guarantee is a legal obligation. However, if the second company is financially
sound, it is unlikely that the first company will have to pay up under its
guarantee. Hence no liability is recognised by the first company.

Furthermore, obligations are recognised only if a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the liability. For example, a company might have
potential obligations in relation to claims from customers or employees in
respect of damage of some kind. It may be that a payment is considered
‘probable’, but, in the early stages of the case, it may be very difficult to estimate
the liability with sufficient reliability for inclusion in the balance sheet. These
circumstances are expected to be extremely rare, although if an obligation is
not recognised, it is still appropriate to give note disclosure (see below).

Liabilities are recognised not only in respect of legal obligations, but also
in respect of constructive obligations. These are obligations that derive:

“from an entity’s actions where:

(a) by an established pattern of past practice, published policies or a
sufficiently specific current statement, the entity has indicated to other
parties that it will accept certain responsibilities; and

(b) as a result, the entity has created a valid expectation on the part of
those other parties that it will discharge those responsibilities.’?

Examples of constructive obligations include those arising as a result of environ-
mental damage and reorganisations. In the former case, while the law requires
some environmental damage to be rectified, there may be other examples where
there is no legal requirement to rectify, but the company has an announced pol-
icy and an established practice of rectifying damage of that kind. This creates
an expectation among third parties that the company will continue to follow
its policy and practice, and this gives rise to the need to record a constructive
obligation on the balance sheet. In the case of restructuring or reorganisation
of a business, similar principles apply. However, here, because restructuring is
a common example, and perhaps because of earlier abuses in this area, IAS 37
and FRS 12 are more specific:

‘A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity:

(a) has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring identifying at least:
(i) the business or part of a business concerned,;
(ii) the principal locations affected:;
(iii) the location, function, and approximate number of employees
who will be compensated for terminating their services;
(iv) the expenditures that will be undertaken; and
(v) when the plan will be implemented; and

2 IAS 37, para. 10.
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(b) has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out
the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or announcing its
main features to those affected by it.”®

The aim, in connection with constructive obligations, is that a company should
record a liability where it is for all practical purposes obliged to incur the
expenditure in question. Perhaps it is not legally committed to incur the expen-
diture; but if it did not incur it, it would be damaged from a reputational point
of view. For example, if a company announced a restructuring in sufficiently
specific terms to meet para. 72 (quoted above), it could in theory revoke its
decision and say to employees that it had changed its mind, and their jobs are
to be maintained after all. However, this is not the situation in which most
companies would wish to find themselves.

Measurement of liabilities

Accounting has largely moved away from prudence towards neutrality of mea-
surement. Hence liabilities should be measured at the best estimate of the
amount that will be required to settle them at the balance sheet date. This
amount is generally determined by estimating the expected outflows, without
adding a further amount (sometimes called a ‘cushion”), and discounting them
to establish a “present value’, reflecting the time value of money. The equiv-
alent applies in the context of normal creditors — that is, those where, unlike
provisions, the amount and timing are known. If an amount owed to a creditor
does not bear interest and is not payable for, say, two years, it similarly should
be recorded at its present value to reflect the time value of money. For example,
if interest rates were 10 per cent, £110 payable in one year or £121 payable
in two years would be equivalent to £100 payable today. Discounting should
be done where the effect is material. In general, discounting starts to become
material if the period involved is more than one year, although this also depends
on the absolute amount.

Presentation of liabilities on balance sheets

As explained above in chapter 9, unless a presentation based on liquidity is
more relevant and is reliable, current and non-current liabilities have to be
presented separately on the face of the balance sheet under IFRS. An entity has
to classify a liability as current when:

* it expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle;

* it holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading;

* the liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period; or

3 IAS 37, para. 72 (FRS 12, para. 77).
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* the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

Whichever method of presentation is adopted, current/non-current or liquidity,
where a category includes amounts payable both within and beyond twelve
months after the balance sheet date, the amount that is payable more than
twelve months after the balance sheet date must be disclosed. This disclosure
does not have to be on the face of the balance sheet.

Current liabilities are defined more narrowly in UK GAAP. The determining
factor is whether the liability is to be settled within twelve months of the balance
sheet date; if it is, the liability is current.

Under IAS 1, the minimum that must appear on the face of the balance
sheet in respect of liabilities is:

* trade and other payables;

* provisions;

e financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under trade and other
payables and under provisions);

« liabilities for current tax, as defined in IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’;

¢ deferred tax liabilities, as defined in IAS 12; and

« liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale in accor-
dance with IFRS 5.

As may be noted from this balance sheet presentation, provisions are shown
separately from trade and other payables, short and long. This is because
provisions are, relative to these payables, uncertain as to timing or amount.

Current liabilities, as seen from the above definition, are generally regarded
as being involved in the operating cycle of the business. Non-current liabilities,
on the other hand, are viewed as part of a business’s longer-term financing. A
business needs a certain amount of long-term finance; part of this is provided
in the form of shareholders’ equity, and often part in the form of long-term
liabilities. The relationship between these is known as ‘gearing’. Consider the
summarised balance sheet in Box 14.1 and assume that non-current liabilities
comprise solely debt.

Gearing for this company can be expressed in a number of ways: there is no
single agreed definition. A popular measure is long-term debt (40) expressed
as a percentage of shareholders’ equity (80), i.e. 50 per cent. An alternative is
to express the extent to which total long-term capital is provided by debt, i.e.
40/120 = 33.3 per cent.

Disclosure, including contingent liabilities

Various details of liabilities have to be given in the notes to the accounts,
but, for the most part, these merely provide additional details about items that
are recognised on balance sheet, such as bank loans. In this respect, no further
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Box 14.1 Summarised balance sheet

Non-current assets 100
Current assets 70
Total assets 170
Shareholders’ equity 80
Non-current liabilities 40

Current liabilities 50

Total liabilities 90
Total equity and liabilities 170

comment is needed. However, there is a further class of disclosures that warrant
comment, namely those in relation to contingent liabilities.
A contingent liability is defined as:

‘(a) apossible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
entity; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised
because:

(i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying eco-
nomic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or

(if) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient
reliability.”*

Part (a) of the definition deals with those liabilities that are genuinely contingent,
that is, whether the liability arises depends on whether an uncertain future
event occurs. Part (b) deals with matters that are not contingent in the same
way. Rather they are actual liabilities (such as an existing guarantee) where an
outflow of resources is not likely; or they are those very rare cases where there
is an actual liability, but it is not recognised on the balance sheet because it is
not possible to measure it with sufficient reliability. Despite these differences,
the accounting implications are the same, namely that contingent liabilities
should not be recognised on balance sheet. However, certain details should be
given about contingent liabilities in the notes to the accounts:

‘Unless the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote, an entity shall
disclose for each class of contingent liability at the end of the reporting

4 1AS 37, para. 10; FRS 12, para. 2 is similar.
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period a brief description of the nature of the contingent liability and,
where practicable:

(a) an estimate of its financial effect, measured under paragraphs 36-52;

(b) an indication of the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of
any outflow; and

(c) the possibility of any reimbursement.’®

5 IAS 37, para. 86; FRS 12, para. 91 is similar.
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Leases

Introduction

The accounting standard dealing with this topic is IAS 17 ‘Leases’. Its UK
GAAP counterpart, SSAP 21 ‘Accounting for leases and hire purchase con-
tracts’, is very similar, taking the same overall approach, although there are
some differences between the two standards — see ‘Leases under UK GAAP’
below.

IAS 17 was issued in 1982 and SSAP 21 two years later. These were the first
international and UK accounting standards explicitly to require the substance,
rather than the legal form, of a transaction to be reflected in the accounting
treatment. A decade later in the UK, FRS 5 set out a much more comprehensive
role for substance over form. This has no IFRS equivalent; hence substance
over form, while referred to in the frameworks of both bodies, is a stronger
notion in UK GAAP than in IFRS. Nevertheless, this does not detract from the
stance taken in 1AS 17.

In a nutshell, IAS 17 and SSAP 21 both divide leases into two categories,
finance leases and operating leases, with different accounting treatments for
each. With a finance lease, a lessee is in substance buying the asset and paying
on deferred terms in the same way as it would if it took out a loan to buy the asset
and was then repaying the loan. Accordingly, the standards require the asset
to be capitalised by the lessee (and depreciated over its useful economic life
or, if shorter, the lease term) and the related obligation to be recognised on the
lessee’s balance sheet as equivalent to a loan. For other leases (operating leases),
the argument is that the asset has not in substance been purchased by the lessee
and thus the asset and related financing obligation are not recognised on its
balance sheet. Instead, the lease payments are charged in arriving at profit/loss,
generally on a straight-line basis, over the lease term. Lessor accounting mirrors
that of the lessee. That is, a lessor removes the asset from its balance sheet when
it leases the asset out under a finance lease and leaves the asset on its balance
sheet when it leases the asset out under an operating lease.

SIC 15 “‘Operating leases — incentives’ contains rules on accounting for
operating leases when incentives, such as upfront cash payments, reimburse-
ment of expenses or rent-free periods, are provided to induce a lessee to enter
into a lease. In essence, the incentives are amortised over the lease term. SIC 27
‘Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the legal form of a lease’
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sets out guidance on when IAS 17 should determine the appropriate accounting
treatment of a lease and when, instead, a series of transactions, involving one
or more leases, should be viewed as a whole.

IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease’ sets out
guidance for determining when IAS 17 should be applied to a transaction
involving the right to use an asset in return for a series of payments even
though there is no lease in legal terms.

Both the IFRS and UK GAAP accounting treatments are set to change,
as there is a project under way to alter radically the accounting treatment for
operating leases.

This chapter will run through the accounting treatment (including disclo-
sure) under current IFRS, then current UK GAAP and will finish by looking at
future developments.

Leases under IFRS
Definitions

The definitions in 1AS 17 of a finance lease and an operating lease are short.
They are as follows:

‘A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset. Title may or may not eventually
be transferred.’

‘An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease.”*

IAS 17 explicitly states that hire purchase contracts are within the definition
of a lease, thus they will be accounted for as finance leases or operating leases
depending upon which definition is met. Generally, hire purchase contracts
meet the definition of a finance lease.

Treatment of operating leases

Underlying the accounting for an operating lease is the premise that the lessor
not only retains legal ownership of the asset, but also beneficial ownership.
Accordingly, the lessor continues to recognise (or, in the case of an asset
specially purchased for the transaction, starts to recognise) the asset on its
balance sheet and recognises rental income. Alternatively, the lessor might lease
the asset in from another party on an operating lease, thus having an operating
lease both in and out. If so, the lessor will follow the lessee accounting for
its lease in from the other party and will recognise rental income (in the same
way that it would if it owned the asset) for its lease out. For an operating
lease, the lessee does not recognise the asset on its balance sheet, but simply

1 IAS 17, para. 4.
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Box 15.1 Eplc
Amount charged in arriving at profit/loss

Year 1 £16,000
Year 2 £48,000
Year 3 £32,000

Total £96,000

records a rental expense over the lease period. For both the lessee and lessor,
the accounting treatment is to recognise the rentals in arriving at profit/loss on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, even if the payments are not made on
such a basis, unless another systematic and rational basis is, for a lessee, more
representative of the time pattern of the lessee’s benefit from the use of the
asset and, for a lessor, more representative of the time pattern over which the
benefit derived from the leased asset is diminished. The accounting treatment
is illustrated in the following example.

E Plc leases a piece of equipment from O Limited for two years starting
1 September in year 1. Rentals of £12,000 are payable quarterly in advance.
E has a calendar accounting period. At the end of the first accounting period,
E will have paid £24,000 (£12,000 on 1 September and £12,000 on 1 December).
However, the amount charged in the first and subsequent accounting periods is
as shown in Box 15.1.

These figures reflect the normal principles of accruals accounting. For
example, in year 1 the lessee, E, has had the benefit of the equipment for four
months, and so charges four months’ rentals (£12,000 x 4/3 = £16,000) in
arriving at profit/loss for the year.

SIC 15 ‘Operating leases — incentives’ clarifies that the above rule about
straight-line charging (subject to another systematic and rational basis not being
more appropriate) applies even where the lessor pays a large up-front incentive
to the lessee or where there is an initial rent-free period. The incentive, whatever
form it takes, is simply regarded as a negative rental when calculating the total
rentals to be spread over the lease term.

Treatment of finance leases

A lease meets the definition of a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to the lessee. This sets the tone
for the accounting. Although the lessor retains legal title to the asset (except
possibly at the end of the lease when a purchase option may be exercised by
the lessee), beneficial ownership has transferred to the lessee on inception of
the lease, and both lessee and lessor account as though the lessor has sold the
asset to the lessee and the lessee has a loan from the lessor for the capital
sum. Thus, at the start of the contract, the lessee recognises in its balance sheet
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Box 15.2 X plc

Finance lease accounting

On day 1 Dr Property, £100,000
plant and

equipment
Cr Liabilities £100,000

Inyears 1to 5

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Total
Dr income £5,606 £4,521  £3,369 £2,146  £848 £16,490
statement* —
interest expense
Dr finance lease £17,692 £18,777 £19,929 £21,152 £22,450 £100,000
obligation —
reduction of
liability
Cr cash — payment ~ £23,298 £23,298 £23,298 £23,298 £23,298 £116,490
of cash
Dr income £20,000 £20,000 £20,000 £20,000 £20,000 £100,000
statement* —
depreciation
expense
Cr property, plant ~ £20,000 £20,000 £20,000 £20,000 £20,000 £100,000

and equipment —
provision for
depreciation

* or income statement part of the statement of comprehensive income

both the asset and a liability for the same amount. The excess of the rental
payments over the capital sum recognised on day 1 is recorded as an interest
expense in arriving at profit/loss over the life of the lease. The total amount
recognised as interest is allocated to each accounting period at a constant rate
on the outstanding balance. The asset is accounted for as any other asset, thus
it is depreciated over its useful economic life (or, if shorter, the lease term) and
is reviewed for impairment if there is an indicator of impairment.

Consider the following example. On 1 January, X Plc entered into a lease
with Y Limited under which X leases a machine from Y for five years at
an annual rental of £23,298, payable in quarterly instalments. The machine’s
expected residual value at the end of the five years is nil and its fair value on
day 1 is £100,000. The lease is a finance lease and the lessee will account for
it as shown in Box 15.2.

Box 15.2 shows that the lessee records as expenses in arriving at profit/loss
both: (1) interest on the liability; the interest is higher in the early years (‘front
loaded’) as it is a constant percentage on the amount of principal outstanding;
and (2) depreciation on the asset, as if it were owned; we assume straight-line
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Box 15.3 Y Limited
Finance lease accounting

Onday 1 Dr receivable £100,000
Cr asset £100,000

Box 15.4 Y Limited
Finance lease accounting

Inyears1to5

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Total

Dr cash — £23,298 £23,298 £23,298 £23,298 £23,298 £116,490
received from

lessee

Cr income £5,606 £4,521 £3,369 £2,146 £848 £16,490
statement* —

interest

income

Crreceivable— £17,692 £18,777 £19,929 £21,152 £22,450 £100,000
collection of

principal

* or income statement part of the statement of comprehensive income

depreciation for this purpose. Hence the total charge is front loaded (£25,606
in year one reducing to £20,848 in year 5). Over the five years, the aggregate
of the two charges equates to the total cash paid in rentals.

The lessor’s accounting mirrors the above in aggregate, although there can
be differences in the allocation of interest to the accounting periods. Boxes 15.3
and 15.4 illustrate the accounting.

The day 1 accounting entries in Box 15.3 reflect the lessor no longer having
the original asset, but disposing of that in favour of an amount receivable from
the lessee. Then, during years 1 to 5, the lessor receives cash which he or she
allocates to interest income and collection of principal, as illustrated here.

Lessors are required under IAS 17 to allocate the interest income to the
different accounting periods so as to give a constant periodic rate of return on
their ‘net investment’ in the lease. The net investment in the lease represents
the present value of both the payments due under the lease and the estimated
residual value, guaranteed and unguaranteed. Given that in this example we
assumed the residual value was nil, the interest is allocated in the same way by
both lessee and lessor.

Consider now a lessor that manufactures assets at a cost of £800 each and
either sells them for £1,000 (immediate payment) or leases them out. Where the
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lease is a finance lease, the accounting logic is that the lessor has sold the asset
to the lessee. Accordingly, under IAS 17 the lessor can book the gross selling
profit of £200 at the start of the lease period and allocate the lease interest
income over the remainder of the lease period as above. If, on the other hand,
the lease is an operating lease, no gross selling profit can be recognised, as the
accounting reflects the view that the lessor still owns the asset.

(lassification of leases into finance or operating

One of the most critical questions in lease accounting presently is whether the
lease is an operating lease or a finance lease. For lessees, classification as an
operating lease is normally favoured as the accounting for this does not give
rise to a liability on the balance sheet and thus does not adversely affect the
gearing ratio.

Supplementing IAS 17’s definition of finance and operating leases is guid-
ance, set out in paras. 10 to 12 inclusive of the standard, which is of such
importance to this topic that it is reproduced in full:

*10. Whether a lease is a finance lease or an operating lease depends on
the substance of the transaction rather than the form of the contract.
Examples of situations that individually or in combination would
normally lead to a lease being classified as a finance lease are:

(a) the lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee by the end
of the lease term;

(b) the lessee has the option to purchase the asset at a price that is
expected to be sufficiently lower than the fair value at the date
the option becomes exercisable for it to be reasonably certain, at
the inception of the lease, that the option will be exercised,;

(c) the lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the
asset even if title is not transferred,;

(d) at the inception of the lease the present value of the minimum
lease payments amounts to at least substantially all of the fair
value of the leased asset; and

(e) the leased assets are of such a specialised nature that only the
lessee can use them without major modifications.

11. Indicators of situations that individually or in combination could also
lead to a lease being classified as a finance lease are:

(a) if the lessee can cancel the lease, the lessor’s losses associated
with the cancellation are borne by the lessee;

(b) gainsor losses from the fluctuation in the fair value of the residual
accrue to the lessee (for example, in the form of a rent rebate
equalling most of the sales proceeds at the end of the lease);
and

(c) the lessee has the ability to continue the lease for a secondary

period at a rent that is substantially lower than market rent.
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12. The examples and indicators in paras. 10 and 11 are not always
conclusive. If it is clear from other features that the lease does not
transfer substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership,
the lease is classified as an operating lease. For example, this may be
the case if ownership of the asset transfers at the end of the lease for a
variable payment equal to its then fair value, or if there are contingent
rents, as a result of which the lessee does not have substantially all
such risks and rewards.’

One of the examples of a situation that would normally lead to a lease being
classified as a finance lease is a lease where ‘at the inception of the lease the
present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to at least substantially
all of the fair value of the leased asset’. In practice, this is one of the main
determinants of a finance lease. Fundamental to this analysis are the ‘minimum
lease payments’. These are defined as shown in Box 15.5.

Box 15.5 ftems included in minimum lease payments

Lessee Lessor

Rentals over the ‘lease term’
Residual amounts guaranteed by lessee*
Residual amounts guaranteed by a party related to
lessee, e.g. by parent or fellow subsidiary of lessee*
Residual amounts guaranteed by party NOT related x
to lessee*

* Alternatively, if there is an option to purchase the asset for a price that is expected to be
below the fair value at the time such that it is reasonably certain, at the start of the lease, that
the lessee will exercise the option, the option exercise proceeds are used in place of residual
value guarantees (as these would not be expected to come into play).

It can be seen that the definition for the lessor is similar to that for the
lessee, but with an additional component; this difference in definition can lead
to different classification. Consider an asset with a useful economic life of six
years. A lessor enters into a lease under which a lessee will lease it for three
years, the present value of the lease payments being, say, 65 per cent of the
asset’s fair value on day 1. The lease will probably be classified as an operating
lease by the lessee (because 65 per cent is not ‘substantially all” and for the
purpose of this example it is assumed that the other indicators also point to
classification as an operating lease). If, however, the lessor also enters into an
agreement with a third party (unrelated to both lessee and lessor) under which
the third party agrees to purchase the asset from the lessor at the end of the
three years for a fixed sum if the lessor chooses to offer it to the third party,
the present value of the fixed sum being 35 per cent of the asset’s fair value on
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day 1, the lessor would classify the lease as a finance lease (assuming that the
third-party guarantor was financially capable of fulfilling his or her obligations
under the guarantee).

‘Lease term’ can also be critical to the classification of a lease. The ‘lease
term is the non-cancellable period for which the lessee has contracted to lease
the asset together with any further terms for which the lessee has the option
to continue to lease the asset, with or without further payment, when at the
inception of the lease it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the
option’?

Paramount in the earlier guidance is that the substance of the lease is
the deciding factor in classification as finance or operating lease. Where, for
example, the minimum lease period is equal to the asset’s useful economic life,
the substance is that the lessee has the use of the asset for its entire useful
economic life and thus should treat the lease as a finance lease and account as
though it had purchased the asset. The present value of the lease payments may
be less than the fair value of the asset; in effect this means that it is simply a
bargain purchase for the lessee, rather than that it is not a finance lease.

Other than for some investment properties, a lease of land and buildings
has to be divided into two components — a lease of the land and a lease of the
buildings — and each categorised separately. Land generally has an indefinite
life and, unless title to the land passes to the lessee at the end of the lease, most
leases of land are categorised as operating leases. However, the lease of the
building may be classified as a finance lease notwithstanding that the lease of
the land is an operating lease.

The lease agreement may cover more than simply the lease of an asset. For
example, it may also provide for maintenance of the asset over the lease period.
In analysing a lease to determine its classification, it is only the payments
relating to the use of the asset that are taken into account. Other payments,
such as for maintenance, are excluded from any numerical analysis and are
accounted for separately.

Sale and leaseback transactions

IAS 17 specifically addresses sale and leaseback transactions.

If an asset is sold by an entity, but leased back on a finance lease, the entity
(the seller/lessee) has not in substance disposed of the asset; it has disposed
of legal title, but the substance is that it has obtained financing secured on the
asset. Hence, under a sale and finance leaseback, the cash received is treated
as financing, rather than as disposal proceeds; and any apparent profit or loss
is deferred and amortised over the shorter of the lease term and the useful
economic life of the asset (assuming, in the case of a loss arising, that the asset
is not impaired).

2 IAS 17, para. 4.
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Where an asset is sold and leased back under an operating lease, the appro-
priate accounting treatment under IAS 17 is to record the sale of the asset and
then separately to account for the operating lease. Hence the asset no longer
appears on the selling company’s balance sheet — beneficial, as well as legal,
title having now passed to the lessor. IAS 17 specifies that the profit/loss arising
on sale is recognised immediately, providing the sale price was fair value.

Disclosures

IAS 17 requires various disclosures to be made in the financial statements. In
the main, for lessees, the requirements call for disclosure of the impact that
the leases entered into by the lessee have on the financial statements. Two
disclosures that relate to future expenditure are as follows:

e For operating leases, the total of the future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable leases that are payable: (1) in the following year;
(2) in years two to five, inclusive, after the reporting period; and (3) more
than five years after the reporting period.®

» For operating and finance leases, the basis on which contingent rent
payable is determined.*

Similarly, for lessors the disclosures generally amplify how the leases have
affected the amounts in the financial statements. Two disclosures that give an
indication of future income are as follows:

» For operating leases, the total of the future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable leases that are receivable: (1) in the following
year; (2) in years two to five, inclusive, after the reporting period; and
(3) more than five years after the reporting period.®

* For finance leases, the unearned finance income.®

Leases under UK GAAP

The relevant standard is SSAP 21 ‘Accounting for leases and hire purchase
contracts’. It is much like 1AS 17, classifying leases into finance leases and
operating leases, using similar criteria for classification and with the resulting
accounting treatment also being very similar. There are, nevertheless, a number
of key differences, as follows:

e Under IAS 17 a lessor recognises interest income in respect of a finance
lease so as to give a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net
investment in the lease, whereas under SSAP 21 the requirement is to
allocate the interest income so as to give a constant periodic rate of

3 IAS 17, para. 35(a). 4 IAS 17, paras. 31(e)(i) and 35(d)(i).
5 IAS 17, para. 56(a). 6 IAS 17, para. 47(b).
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return on the lessor’s net cash investment in the lease. Although the total
income recognised over the lease term is unaffected, this can lead to large
differences in individual years where the tax allowances and incentives
relating to leases (which affect the net cash investment, but not the net
investment) are substantial.

* Leases of land and buildings have to be separated under IAS 17 into
two components: a lease of the land and a lease of the buildings, with
each component being accounted for separately. Because land in the
main lasts forever, any lease term (say ninety-nine years) for such land
is usually regarded as not being a significant part of the life of the land.
Hence, the land element will generally be classified as an operating lease.
The buildings element will be classified as either a finance lease or an
operating lease in the normal way. The two components need not be
separated out under SSAP 21 and are generally considered jointly. It
is therefore more likely that finance leases will arise in respect of the
buildings under 1AS 17 than under SSAP 21.

* |f, at the inception of the lease, the present value of the minimum lease
payments amounts to at least substantially all of the fair value of the
leased asset, this would be indicative that the lease is a finance lease
under both IAS 17 and SSAP 21. ‘Substantially all’ is, however, not
expounded in IAS 17, whereas in SSAP 21 it is explained, within the
formal definition of a finance lease, as normally being 90 per cent or
more. Although expressed only as a guide, the reference to 90 per cent
is often referred to by UK GAAP preparers as ‘the 90 per cent test’ or
‘the 90 per cent rule’. Under SSAP 21 and FRS 5, entities are supposed
to consider wider issues when classifying leases — typically looking at
exactly the sorts of things listed in IAS 17, which includes a numerical
analysis — but the practice has developed of putting emphasis on looking
at whether the present value of the minimum lease payments is above or
below 90 per cent, particularly where other indicators do not give a clear
guide as to the appropriate classification.

SIC 27 ‘Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the legal form of
a lease’ sets out guidance on when IAS 17 should determine the accounting
treatment of a lease and when, instead, a series of transactions, involving one
or more leases, should be viewed as a whole. Although FRS 5 ‘Reporting the
substance of transactions’ does not directly address when SSAP 21 applies and
when a series of transactions should be considered as a whole, its principles
are consistent with SIC 27.

IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease’ sets out
guidance for determining when IAS 17 should be applied to a transaction
involving the right to use an asset in return for a series of payments even
though there is no lease in legal terms. There is no direct equivalent in UK
GAARP, although FRS 5 may lead to similar results.
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Accompanying SSAP 21 are lengthy Guidance Notes dealing with some
of the practical issues and problem areas arising. For lessors, the Finance and
Leasing Association (FLA) SORP ‘Accounting issues in the asset finance and
leasing industry’ provides additional guidance and recommendations. There
are no equivalents in IFRS.

The way forward

The 1ASB has a fundamental project underway to develop new guidance on
lease accounting. At the heart of the project is the premise that all lease obli-
gations should be recognised on a lessee’s balance sheet. In essence, if it goes
ahead all leases will be accounted for in a way similar to the way in which
finance leases are currently accounted for. It is the ‘right-of-use’ model: the
‘asset’ recognised on balance sheet will be the right to use the physical asset for
the duration of the lease. The devil is, however, in the detail and a number of
practical issues are giving rise to considerable problems as the standard-setters
try to take this project forward.
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Pensions

Introduction

Pensions have become a considerable economic and political problem. Deficits
have risen due to increased longevity, lower interest rates and poor investment
performance, relative to a decade ago. Pensions accounting questions arise
in two contexts: in relation to the financial statements of pension schemes
themselves and in relation to the treatment of the cost of pensions in the
financial statements of the sponsoring companies. It is with the latter question
that this chapter is concerned. The current accounting rules are set out in IAS
19 ‘Employee benefits’ and FRS 17 ‘Retirement benefits’.

In addition, various disclosures have to be made about the pension accru-
ing to the individual directors of quoted companies; these are dealt with in
chapter 20 under ‘Directors’ Remuneration Reports’.

Defined contribution and defined benefit schemes

Fundamentally, pension schemes take one of two forms.

Defined contribution schemes

A defined contribution (DC) scheme, or plan, is defined as one ‘under which
an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have
no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods’.! So, for example, the employee might
pay 5 per cent of pensionable pay into the fund each year and the employer
might pay 8 per cent of pensionable pay. A fund is a separate legal entity that
looks after the money on behalf of the employees. The money in the fund is
invested by the fund’s managers. The pension paid to the employee once he
or she has reached retirement age is based solely on the size of the fund into
which those contributions have grown. If, say, the investment performance has
been poor, and as a result the pension is lower than expected, that is that: there
is no obligation on the company to pay additional amounts.

1 IAS 19, para. 7.
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The accounting treatment of a defined contribution scheme is straightfor-
ward and is the same under IFRS and UK GAAP. The employer’s contributions
payable to the fund in respect of a year should be charged as an expense in
arriving at profit/loss for that year. Note the word ‘payable’, not paid. This is
an accruals basis, not simply a cash basis. For example, taking a December
year-end company, if the contributions in respect of December salaries are not
paid over to the fund until January, that amount should nonetheless be charged
as an expense in the year to 31 December.

Defined benefit schemes

Defined benefit (DB) schemes, or plans, are ‘post-employment benefit plans
other than defined contribution plans’. That is, if the obligation of the company
is anything other than limited to the contributions that are defined (for example,
8 per cent of salary, as above), the scheme is DB. The most common example
of a DB scheme is a “final salary’ scheme. Typically, an employee is promised
a pension based on his or her final salary. For example, based on forty years’
employment, the pension might be 40/60ths of final salary, or of the average
salary in the three years’ service immediately prior to retiring.

The obligations of an employer in respect of a DB scheme are complex
and open-ended. The scheme ideally needs to be fully funded by the date of
the employee’s retirement, meaning that it contains a fund sufficient to pay,
say, 40/60ths of salary. However, whether it will have a fund of sufficient
size depends on investment performance, interest rates, mortality, employee
behaviour (the extent to which people leave or stay until retirement, for exam-
ple) and other variables. Actuaries are employed to make estimates periodically
of the progress of a plan and to recommend what level of future contributions
is necessary.

As is well known, many DB schemes have in recent years swung from
surplus into significant deficit, even to the extent that these deficits have in
some cases overshadowed the fortunes of the company itself. This is especially
so in some traditional industries (e.g. engineering, steel) where the scheme
reflects the former size of the company’s workforce. Scheme deficits have also
become significant barriers to company takeovers.

It will not be surprising that accounting for DB schemes is complex and
controversial.

Accounting for defined benefit schemes

To reflect, in the financial statements of the sponsoring company, only the
contributions payable to the fund in respect of the year in the case of a DB

2 1AS 19, para. 7.
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scheme would not properly reflect the uncertainties and obligations to which
the employer is subject. For example, in earlier years some schemes found
that they were in significant surplus and the actuary was able to recommend
a ‘contribution holiday’, that is, that the company did not need to pay any
contributions to the fund for, say, three years. However, to charge nil as pensions
expense in arriving at profit/loss would not reflect the underlying expense and
obligation to which the company was subject because the employees continue
to work for the business and over the year they earn the right to a larger pension
than at the start of the year.

The original approach to this, in both international and UK GAAP, was, as
with many accounting topics at the time, to take an income statement approach.
This resulted in a reasonably smooth pensions charge against profits in each
year. Gradually, this approach became discredited and, indeed, the focus on
the income statement at the expense of the balance sheet generally fell out
of favour. Both IFRS and UK GAAP changed and IAS 19 and FRS 17, the
relevant standards, take a balance sheet approach to accounting for defined
benefit pension schemes.

When DB pensions are looked at from the perspective of the balance sheet,
the question is: what assets and liabilities does the sponsoring company have
at the end of its year? To answer this, we have to look at the fund itself. If the
fund has a deficit, it is argued that the company has an obligation to fund that
deficit. If the fund has a surplus, the company can, to an extent, benefit from
that surplus. Hence, in simple terms, a deficit on the fund is shown as a liability
of the company; and a surplus in the fund is shown as an asset of the company
(although this is restricted to the extent that the company is able to recover the
surplus either through reduced contributions in the future or through refunds
from the scheme).

IAS 19

IAS 19 is the international standard on pension costs. In fact it is called
‘Employee benefits’ and deals with a wider range of benefits than just pen-
sions. For example, it also deals with short-term benefits such as holiday pay
and bonuses, and with long-term benefits payable during employment. How-
ever, its principal focus is pensions and other retirement (or, as it calls them,
post-employment) benefits.

Under IAS 19 the scheme assets in the fund are stated at fair value (i.e.
market value where there is a market, e.g. listed investments and government
bonds) and the scheme liabilities are stated at an estimate of the present value
of the obligation to pay pensions in the future for current and past employees.
The obligation is discounted using current interest rates and uses an estimate of
future salaries. The actuarial method adopted for this purpose is the projected
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Box 16.1 Example: assumptions

Scheme assets, 1 January 2009 3,000
Scheme obligations, 1 January 2009 (4,000)
Deficit, 1 January 2009 (1,000)
Deficit, 31 December 2009 (1,500)
Movement (deterioration) in year (500)
Contributions to scheme during year 100

unit credit method. The net of the assets and liabilities measured in this way is
IAS 19’s measure of the surplus or deficit in the scheme.

The swing from opening surplus/deficit to closing surplus/deficit can be
quite dramatic. Under 1AS 19, the difference between the opening and closing
surplus/deficit is analysed into a number of components, which are reported
in different places in the performance statements. This can best be explained
by use of a simplified example, the assumptions for which are set out in
Box 16.1.

We see from Box 16.1 that the deficit has increased during the year. This
may be due to a fall in the value of investments and/or an increase in the value
of the scheme’s liabilities to pay pensions. The true deterioration or loss is 600,
as the deficit increased by 500 despite 100 of cash being put into the scheme.
Box 16.2 shows how the loss of 600 might be analysed; the figures are purely
illustrative, but are typical.

In this example, 60 of the loss is recognised in arriving at profit/loss, i.e. is
recognised in the income statement (or income statement part of the statement
of comprehensive income).

IAS 19 offers a choice with respect to the accounting of the remaining
540:

(i) recognise all 540 as ‘other comprehensive income’ (this is the option
taken by most UK companies);

(ii) recognise in arriving at profit/loss only a part of the actuarial gain/loss,
say, 30, calculated in accordance with a predetermined formula (this is
known as the “‘corridor method’); or

(iii) recognise in arriving at profit/loss any amount between the 30 and 540
in (ii) and (i) above.

Prior to 2004, only options (ii) and (iii) were permitted. Thus, companies had to
charge (or credit) actuarial losses (or gains) in arriving at profit/loss. Option (ii),
the “corridor method’, was the more popular choice on the part of companies.
Basically, with the corridor method, the first chunk of actuarial gains and losses
can be ignored for accounting purposes and the remainder (that is, the amount
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Box 16.2 Example: analysis of deterioration in deficit of 600 (before taking account
of contributions paid)

Current service cost (1) (50)
Interest cost (2) (160)
Expected return on assets (3) 150
(60)
Actuarial gains and losses (4) (540)
(600)

Notes

(1) This represents what, at the start of the year, is the present value of the expected cost
of the additional pension benefit to be earned by the employees (which is the additional
obligation incurred by the scheme) in the year, without reference to whether the scheme
is in surplus or deficit or indeed whether it is funded at all. It is calculated using what, at
the start of the year, is the expected final salary. This is charged in arriving at profit/loss
for the year, usually as an expense within operating profit.

(2) Say, 4 per cent interest on liabilities of 4,000. The interest cost is calculated by using the
discount rate applicable at the start of the period and applying this to the present value of
the pension obligation at the start of the year and to material movements during the year,
e.g. current service cost, past service cost, transfers in and out of the scheme and pensions
paid during the year. For simplicity we have assumed that the movements during the year
all occur on the last day of the year.

(3) Say, 5 per cent return on assets of 3,000. This is, again, calculated at the start of the year
and reflects the expected return (dividends, interest, other revenue and capital gains) during
the year.

Items (2) and (3) are included in arriving at profit/loss for the year. Some companies
include these in the interest area of the income statement, while others include them in
arriving at operating profit.

(4) This actuarial loss is the remainder of the cost, which typically comprises a loss in value
of the investments and/or a loss due to an increase in the value of the scheme liabilities,
including factors such as changes in mortality and other assumptions.

(5) This example assumes that the pension entitlements were not changed during the year, e.g.
there was no increase in the rate of pension accruing to current and former employees.

not recognised in earlier periods that is in excess of 10 per cent of the higher
of scheme assets and scheme liabilities) may be spread over a period, being
the expected average remaining working lives of the employees. It is widely
accepted that this method has no conceptual basis.

In late 2004, the IASB, being uncomfortable with the corridor method,
added a third option (option (i) above), namely to allow companies to recognise
the actuarial gain or loss outside the calculation of profit/loss; but, where this
was done, the actuarial gain or loss had to be recognised in full. This had the
effect of introducing into 1AS 19 a treatment broadly equivalent to the UK-
style FRS 17 accounting and, not surprisingly, many UK companies adopted
this treatment when they applied IFRS. Following the 2007 changes to IAS 1,
the actuarial gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.
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IAS 19 also requires extensive note disclosures, primarily about DB
schemes.

Differences between IFRS and UK GAAP

The main difference between IFRS and UK GAAP in accounting for defined
benefit schemes relates to the recognition of actuarial gains and losses. Under
UK GAAP (FRS 17), the full gain or loss must be recognised immediately
via the STRGL, whereas under IFRS, as outlined above, while recognising it
immediately in other comprehensive income is one permitted treatment, it is
also possible to recognise it in arriving at profit/loss over an extended period
and only to the extent that the amount not recognised in earlier periods exceeds
10 per cent of the higher of scheme assets and scheme liabilities. It is also
possible under IFRS to recognise it in full in arriving at profit/loss.

The expected return on scheme assets and the interest cost in respect of
scheme liabilities are presented adjacent to interestina UK GAAP income state-
ment, whereas the positioning within the IFRS income statement (or income
statement part of the statement of comprehensive income) is not specified by
IAS 19. In their IFRS accounts, some UK companies have continued to include
these items below operating profit, with interest, while others have included
these in arriving at operating profit.

In a UK GAAP balance sheet the surplus or deficit is recognised on balance
sheet net of the related deferred tax, whereas with IFRS accounting the related
deferred tax is presented as part of the deferred tax balance.

Distributable profits are determined by reference to individual company
financial statements and the accounting for a defined benefit pension scheme is
one area where there can be a huge impact on distributable profits (see below).
Accordingly, the accounting for defined benefit pension schemes within individ-
ual company financial statements is critical and, for some groups, is another key
area of difference between IFRS and UK GAAP. Consider a group of companies
operating a defined benefit scheme where each company within the group pays
contributions into the scheme and those contributions are affected by the overall
surplus or deficit, but each company is unable to identify its share of the under-
lying scheme assets and liabilities. Under UK GAAP, each company within the
group simply accounts, in its individual company financial statements, for the
contributions it has to pay each year; in other words, the accounting is as if
the scheme were a defined contribution scheme supplemented with additional
disclosures. It is possible, therefore, depending upon the particular arrange-
ments within a group, for all companies within the group to use defined contri-
bution accounting and thus for no individual company to recognise the surplus
or deficit in its balance sheet (it is recognised only in the consolidated balance
sheet). By contrast, under IFRS, whilst all but one company within the group
may be able to use defined contribution accounting in this scenario, IAS 19
explicitly requires one company, the company that is legally the sponsoring
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employer for the scheme, to recognise the full scheme surplus or deficit in its
balance sheet and the full charge, calculated using defined benefit accounting,
in its income statement and other comprehensive income. Thus, under IFRS,
there can be a big impact on distributable profits. Following changes in tax rules,
having effect for periods ended on or after 6 April 20086, it is possible that fewer
group schemes will be structured so as to allow for defined contribution account-
ing within individual subsidiaries, thus reducing the impact of this GAAP
difference.

The effect of pensions on realised and distributable profits

The calculation of realised and distributable profits is discussed more generally
in chapter 19. Questions about realised profits arise only in the accounts of
individual entities; they do not apply to group accounts as it is companies, not
groups, that make distributions.

Here we consider the effect of accounting for pension costs on realised
profits. The ICAEW, together with the ICAS, published in December 2004
‘TECH 50/04 — Guidance on the effect of FRS 17 “Retirement benefits” and
IAS 19 “Employee benefits” on realised profits and losses’. This guidance has
subsequently been consolidated into TECH 01/08 ‘Guidance on the determi-
nation of realised profits and losses in the context of distributions under the
Companies Act 1985’.

The key points with respect to defined benefit pension schemes may be
summarised as follows. In order to establish the impact that a surplus or deficit
under IAS 19/FRS 17 has on a company’s realised profits, it is necessary to:

« identify the cumulative net gain or loss taken to reserves in respect of the
pension surplus or deficit; and
* establish the extent to which that gain or loss is realised.

In this context, it does not matter whether the amounts that have ended up in
reserves went through profit/loss or other comprehensive income (STRGL for
UK GAAP).

The basic guidance? is that a cumulative loss in respect of a pension scheme
taken to reserves is a realised loss. This is because it results from the creation
of, or an increase in, a provision for a liability or loss resulting in an overall
reduction in net assets. Similarly, a cumulative net credit in respect of a pension
scheme in reserves constitutes a realised profit; but this is only to the extent that
it is represented by an asset to be recovered by agreed refunds and the refunds
will take the form of qualifying consideration.* See chapter 19 at p. 187 for the
meaning of ‘Qualifying consideration’.

3 See para. 8.11 of TECH 01/08. 4 See para. 8.12.
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The impact on reserves is the amount of the pension surplus or deficit
recognised in the balance sheet adjusted for: (1) the net contributions paid to
the scheme; and (2) any asset or liability introduced as a result of a business
combination.> Although the impact on reserves will not usually be the same as
the asset or liability recognised on balance sheet, it will often be obvious that
all of the amounts included in reserves are realised.®

5 See para. 8.10 and 8.14. 6 See para. 8.18.
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Financial instruments

Introduction

‘Financial instruments’ is a broad term, encompassing a wide range of financial
assets and liabilities as well as a company’s own equity. These terms are defined
below. Financial assets include shares and debt instruments held by an investor.
By contrast, debt instruments, in the financial statements of the issuer of the
debt, are financial liabilities. Although a company’s own equity (that is, where
it issues its own shares) is excluded from the definition of financial liabilities,
it is nevertheless a financial instrument and is discussed below. Financial assets
and liabilities also include derivatives and more straightforward instruments
such as cash, receivables (debtors) and payables (creditors). Accounting for
financial instruments has been one of the most complex and controversial
aspects of accounting. The requirement that some financial instruments are
stated at fair value is a major source of complexity. The fair value requirement
is also controversial, especially where changes in fair values are reported in the
income statement, giving rise to earnings volatility. However, there are other
problematic aspects, including when and how to use ‘hedge accounting’ and
how debt and equity should be distinguished.

The term ‘capital instruments’ has been used historically in the UK. This
represents all instruments issued by an entity as a means of raising finance,
comprising the entity’s equity instruments, together with debt instruments such
as loans and debentures. However, the term ‘capital instruments’ is not used
in IFRS.

Background

The IFRS requirements relating to accounting for financial instruments are
set out in IAS 32 ‘Financial instruments: presentation” and 1AS 39 ‘Financial
instruments: recognition and measurement’.

IAS 32 deals with classification of issued instruments into debt and equity;
the classification is, in principle, based on the substance of the instrument, not
its legal form. However, in practice, the substance has to be determined by the
exact contractual terms. As a result, sometimes the classification can appear to
be at odds with a common-sense view of the instrument’s substance. IAS 32
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also contains rules on when financial assets and financial liabilities can be
offset.

IAS 39 deals with the recognition and measurement of financial assets
and liabilities generally. It sets out four categories for financial assets and
two categories for financial liabilities. These are described below. IAS 39 also
contains specific rules for the use of hedge accounting; when financial assets
and liabilities should be recognised and de-recognised; and accounting for
derivatives and ‘embedded derivatives’.

The requirements relating to disclosure of financial instruments are set out
in IFRS 7 ‘Financial instruments: disclosures’. The disclosures themselves are
very extensive, running into many pages for large or complex groups.

Definitions
The following definitions apply in 1ASs 32 and 39 and IFRS 7.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of
one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.*

A financial asset is, broadly, any asset that is:
() cash;
(b) an equity instrument of another entity;
(c) a contractual right:
(i) to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
(i) toexchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity
under conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity; or
(d) acontractthat will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments
and is:
(i) anon-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive
a variable number of the entity’s own equity instruments; or
(i) a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose, the
entity’s own equity instruments do not include instruments that are
contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity
instruments.?

A financial liability is, broadly, any liability that is:
(@) a contractual obligation:
(i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
(if) toexchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity
under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity; or

1 IAS 32, para. 11. 2 See IAS 32, para. 11 for full definition.
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(b) acontract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments

and is:

(i) anon-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver
a variable number of the entity’s own equity instruments; or

(ii) a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose, the
entity’s own equity instruments do not include instruments that are
contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity
instruments.®

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.*

Debt and equity
The distinction

The basic classification rule, applying to all issuers of financial instruments,
is that an instrument, or its component parts, shall be classified as a financial
asset, financial liability or equity instrument in accordance with its substance.®

The critical issue in determining whether there is a financial liability is
whether there is an obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets, or to
exchange financial assets or liabilities on terms that are potentially unfavourable
to the issuer. This basic test — is there an obligation? — means that instruments
are classified according to their substance. Hence certain redeemable shares
are classified as debt; and in certain circumstances something that is legally a
debt instrument is classified as equity, that is, if there is no obligation to pay
interest and principal.

Where an entity issues a compound instrument, such as convertible debt, it
is separated into its component parts; in the case of convertible debt, this would
be a debt component and an equity component, being an option over shares,
with each being presented separately on the balance sheet.

Types of shares and balance sheet classification

There are many different forms of shares; the most common examples are
ordinary and preference shares, including redeemable preference shares and
participating preference shares. Prior to 2005, an issuing company following
UK GAAP would have accounted for all of these within shareholders’ funds, but
now under IFRS or UK GAAP they are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity instruments in accordance with their substance, as explained above.

3 See IAS 32, para. 11 for full definition. 4 IAS 32, para. 11. 5 IAS 32, para. 15.
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Box 17.1

Type of share Balance sheet classification

Preference shares mandatorily redeemable  Financial liability
for a fixed amount and paying a fixed
annual dividend
Preference shares mandatorily redeemable  The capital element (present
for a fixed amount, but with a value of redemption
discretionary dividend amount) would be
classified as a financial
liability and the dividend
element (the balance)
would be classified as an
equity instrument

A preference share paying fixed annual Financial liability
dividends, but with no redemption
option

Participating preference shares where the The fixed dividend element
annual dividend comprises a fixed would be classified as a
amount plus an additional amount equal financial liability and the
to a proportion of the dividend payable participating dividend
on the ordinary shares, with no component would be
redemption option classified as equity

Ordinary shares Equity instruments

IAS 32 explains that preference shares that are redeemable on a fixed date
or at the option of the holder contain a financial liability as the issuer has an
obligation to transfer a financial asset. The guidance explains that the issuer’s
potential inability to satisfy the obligation, say, because of insufficient dis-
tributable profits or funds, does not negate the obligation and it is the obligation
that determines the classification.

Box 17.1 sets out the balance sheet classification of the common types of
shares.

A preference share paying fixed annual dividends (i.e. not at the discretion
of the directors) but with no redemption option will still be classified as a
financial liability because the present value of the dividend payments, which
will go into perpetuity and which form the issuer’s obligation, will equal the
capital value of the shares.

Equity shares in the Companies Act

As stated above, IAS 32 distinguishes debt from equity, and equity is defined
as a residual category. It should be noted that the Companies Act 2006 uses the
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Box 17.2 Issue of shares - entries in legal accounting records

Dr cash £250,000
Cr share capital account £100,000
Cr share premium account £150,000

Box 17.3 Issue of shares - entries in legal accounting records

Dr cash £2,100,000

Cr ordinary share capital £1,000,000
Cr preference share capital £400,000
Cr share premium account £700,000

term “equity shares’, but its definition is different from, generally being wider
than, that in IFRS. Applying to all companies irrespective of whether IFRS or
UK GAAP is used for financial reporting, the Companies Act definition (found
in s. 548) remains in force. The conditions determining whether merger relief
from setting up share premium is available (see chapter 11), for example, refer
to equity shares and non-equity shares, as defined by the Act.

Issue of shares

Where shares are issued for more than their nominal value, the amount equal to
their nominal value is recorded in share capital and the balance of consideration
is recorded in share premium under s. 610 of CA 2006. There are exceptions
to the recording of share premium in the form of merger relief and group
reconstruction relief — see chapter 11, p. 112. If a company issued 100,000 £1
ordinary shares each for £2.50 cash, the entries in the accounting records would
be as shown in Box 17.2.

Itis important to stress that these would be the entries in the legal accounting
records irrespective of the balance sheet classification of the shares as financial
liabilities or equity instruments.

Consider a company which, upon its formation, issues 1,000,000 £1 ordi-
nary shares for £1.50 per share, and 400,000 £1 preference shares for £1.50
per share, paying an annual dividend of 6 per cent and redeemable at £1.50
per share in five years’ time. The initial entries in its accounting records are as
shown in Box 17.3.

However, assuming the substance of the preference shares is that they
are classified as liabilities, the company’s balance sheet immediately after its
formation will be as shown in Box 17.4.

The Companies Act permits expenses incurred in issuing shares to be
deducted from the amount transferred to the share premium account on the
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Box 17.4 Balance sheet

Assets — cash £2,100,000
Liabilities — loan (600,000)
Net assets £1,500,000
Share capital £1,000,000
Share premium 500,000
Total equity £1,500,000

issue of those shares. These are often referred to as issue costs or transaction
costs.

IAS 39 uses the term ‘transaction costs’, which it defines as those ‘incre-
mental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal
of a financial asset or financial liability. An incremental cost is one that would
not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of the
financial instrument’.

Deducting issue costs is one of very few permitted uses of the balance on
the share premium account. Moreover, if the costs are deducted from share
premium rather than from retained earnings, they do not reduce distributable
profits. These factors sometimes cause considerable attention to be paid to what
can and cannot be regarded as an issue cost. It is only the costs that are directly
incurred in the issue of the particular instrument that meet the definition, for
example, stamp duty payable on the issue, lawyers’ fees incurred for drawing
up the necessary documentation and underwriting fees.

Categories of financial instrument
Introduction

IAS 39 lays down rules on the recognition and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities.

Financial assets include: cash, receivables, a holding of shares of another
company (although an interest in a subsidiary, associate or joint venture will
often be excluded from IAS 39’s rules) and derivatives with a positive value.
Financial liabilities include debt instruments issued by the entity, bank and
other borrowings, payables, financial guarantees and derivatives with a negative
value.

Initial measurement

On first being recognised, financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value, adjusted (other than for trading and derivative assets and liabilities and
any other assets and liabilities to be classified as at fair value through profit or
loss) by directly incurred transaction/issue costs. Trading and derivative assets
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and liabilities and any other assets and liabilities to be classified as at fair value
through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value without any addition
of costs. So if fair value of a trading asset is 10 and costs are 1, a purchase
would be recorded as: pay cash 11; create asset 10, report loss 1.

Just as non-trading assets, say, available-for-sale assets, are initially mea-
sured at fair value plus costs (gross cost), so non-trading liabilities are initially
measured at fair value minus costs (net proceeds).

The rule of initial recognition at fair value (whether or not adjusted for trans-
action costs) means, for example, that any long-term receivables and payables
that are not subject to a market rate of interest need to be discounted so that the
net present value — the economic value — is recognised initially. For example, if
a company sells goods to a customer for £150,000 receivable in two years’ time,
the seller should record revenue and an initial receivable of £136,054 (assuming
a market rate of interest of 5 per cent). The seller then records interest income
of £6,803 and £7,143 in years 1 and 2 respectively.

A similar example relates to a loan obligation. The initial proceeds received
will often be equal to fair value. However, if the “interest’ payments are not at a
market rate, fair value will be the net present value of the payments to be made
over the life of the instrument. The effect of this is that a market rate of interest
is imputed and charged to the income statement in arriving at profit/loss, rather
than the stated (but off-market) rate.

In practice, if receivables or payables are due within a few months and the
interest rate is low, discounting is ignored because it would not have a material
effect.

Subsequent measurement

Although initial recognition of financial assets and liabilities is at fair value,
the subsequent accounting treatment may or may not be. In order to deter-
mine the subsequent accounting, financial assets and liabilities are divided into
categories. Financial assets are divided into:

(a) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
(b) held-to-maturity investments;

(c) loans and receivables; and

(d) available-for-sale financial assets.

Category (d) is the residual category for all financial assets that do not meet
the definitions of the first three categories.

Categories (b) and (c) are accounted for at amortised cost (with the initial
carrying amount (fair value plus transaction costs) regarded as cost), while
categories (a) and (d) are subsequently accounted for at fair value (with no
deduction for transaction costs that would be incurred on their sale). The
amortised cost method is described below. Changes in fair value of assets
in category (a) are recognised in arriving at profit/loss, whereas changes in
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fair value for available-for-sale (AFS) assets (category (d)), other than where

these are in respect of foreign exchange movements or impairments, are taken to

equity and reported as other comprehensive income. However, putting the gains

or losses to equity is only a temporary treatment for AFS assets: the cumulative

amount of such gains and losses is subsequently recognised in the income

statement in arriving at profit/loss on the sale (“derecognition’) of the asset.
Financial liabilities are divided into:

(@) financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; and
(b) all other financial liabilities.

The first category includes trading liabilities (only likely to be found in financial
institutions) and derivatives with a negative value.

Liabilities in category (a) are measured at fair value and those in category
(b) are measured at amortised cost.

Fair value through profit or loss

Any financial asset or liability held for trading must be classified as at fair value
through profit or loss. A financial asset or financial liability must be classified
as held for trading if it is:

‘(i) acquired orincurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
it in the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed
together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

(iii) a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract
or a designated and effective hedging instrument).’®

In addition, certain financial assets or liabilities can be designated, on initial
recognition, as held at fair value through profit or loss (often called ‘the fair
value option’), but only if recognising it at fair value results in more relevant
information, because either:

« iteliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition incon-
sistency (sometimes referred to as ‘an accounting mismatch’) that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases; or

 a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
a documented risk management or investment strategy, and information
about the group is provided internally on that basis to the entity’s key
management personnel, for example the entity’s board of directors and
chief executive officer.

6 IAS 39, para. 9.
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Box 17.5 X plc

Charged in arriving
Year at profit/loss Balance sheet
2005 £5,538 £95,538
2006 £5,755 £99,293
2007 £5,986 £103,279
2008 £6,230 £107,509
2009 £6,491 £112,000
Total £30,000

Amortised cost

Some financial assets and the majority of financial liabilities are carried at
‘amortised cost’ using the effective interest method. (‘“Amortised cost’ is a
phrase that applies more naturally to assets; it may be easier to think of amor-
tised proceeds in the case of liabilities.) This operates as follows in the case of a
liability. The difference between the initial carrying amount (fair value less issue
costs) and the total amount of payments that the issuer may be required to make
in respect of interest and redemption payments represents the total finance cost.
Because transaction costs are deducted from proceeds when calculating the ini-
tial carrying amount, this has the effect that the transaction costs are included
in the total finance cost. The total finance cost is allocated over the term of the
instrument at a constant rate on the carrying amount and, in accordance with
IAS 39, is recognised as an interest expense in arriving at profit/loss.

Consider the following example. X Plc issued 100,000 10 pence redeemable
preference shares on 1 January 2005 for £1 each. Issue expenses totalled
£10,000. The shares pay an annual dividend of 2 pence per share on 1 January
every year and are to be redeemed for £1.10 each on 1 January 2010.

On issue, the company receives £100,000 in proceeds from issuing shares.
The shares are to be classified as financial liabilities in the financial statements
because their substance is debt. The initial carrying value of the liability will be
£90,000 (£100,000 minus issue expenses of £10,000). Assuming the company
has a 31 December year end, the amount charged as interest in arriving at
profit/loss and the balance sheet carrying amount is as shown in Box 17.5. The
amount charged in arriving at profit/loss each year is greater than the dividend
payable for each year. This excess represents an accrual of the redemption
premium together with the spreading of the issue expenses. The total charge
over the five years of £30,000 comprises the £10,000 issue expenses, £10,000
aggregate dividend payments and £10,000 redemption premium. The amounts
are recognised in the interest line in the income statement (or the income
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statement part of the Statement of Comprehensive Income). In each case, the
balance sheet figures assume that the dividend for the year just ended has not
yet been paid. So, for example, the balance sheet liability at 31 December
20009 represents the redemption amount of £110,000 and dividend payable on
1 January 2010 of £2,000.

The amortised cost method works in a similar way in relation to financial
assets. That is, the interest income earned on the asset is not just the stated
coupon or interest rate, but also takes into account any initial costs and redemp-
tion amount — in other words, all the cash flows that relate to the asset are taken
together and used to determine the effective interest rate.

Fair value

As noted above, many financial assets and some financial liabilities are required
by IAS 39 to be stated at fair value. IAS 39 defines fair value in the same way
that other international standards define it for other contexts: ‘Fair value is the
amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction’.

Fair value is easy to determine for instruments in which there is a deep
and liquid market, such as shares listed on a major stock exchange. How-
ever, for some financial assets and liabilities, determining fair value has been
problematic, especially in the context of the credit crunch from late 2007.

There is extensive Application Guidance in IAS 39 relating to the determi-
nation of fair value. Although the detail is beyond the scope of this book, the
key points are summarised in para. 48A of 1AS 39 as follows:

“The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. If
the market for a financial instrument is not active, an entity establishes
fair value by using a valuation technique. The objective of using a val-
uation technique is to establish what the transaction price would have
been on the measurement date in an arm’s length exchange motivated by
normal business considerations. Valuation techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties,
if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that
is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing
models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used by market partic-
ipants to price the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to
provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions,
the entity uses that technique. The chosen valuation technique makes max-
imum use of market inputs and relies as little as possible on entity-specific
inputs. It incorporates all factors that market participants would consider
in setting a price and is consistent with accepted economic methodologies
for pricing financial instruments. Periodically, an entity calibrates the val-
uation technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable
current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without modifica-
tion or repackaging) or based on any available observable market data.’
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Some companies and financial institutions have experienced difficulty in
determining fair value, and many commentators have criticised them, especially
where, in the absence of a market price, a model is used. This has been dubbed
‘marking to model’ as opposed to marking to market.

Despite this difficulty and controversy, fair value is likely to be retained
as the basis for accounting for many financial instruments. The IASB’s longer
term objective is more extensive use of fair value, although it recognises that
this is not a realistic objective in the short term.

Derivatives and embedded derivatives

Many companies use derivatives and, for many financial institutions, they are
an integral part of their business. A derivative is a contract between (generally)
a company and a financial institution which is to be settled at a future date. Its
net value is usually about zero when signed, but moves up and down with the
market price of some underlying variable, such as interest rates, the price of
oil or the sterling/dollar exchange rate. Two common types of derivative are
interest rate swaps and foreign currency forwards.

An interest rate swap serves to change an exposure to (say) floating or
variable interest rates to an exposure to fixed interest rates. This is a ‘floating
to fixed” swap. A company with a floating rate debt obligation might take out
a floating to fixed swap if it wanted to reduce or avoid its exposure to variable
cash flows, i.e. to “hedge’ them.

In a similar way, a UK company might have $1 million receivable in three
months’ time arising from a sale denominated in dollars. However, it wants
to avoid the exposure to changes in the dollar/sterling exchange rate during
that three-month period. It can take out a forward contract to fix the amount
of sterling that it will receive in respect of the $1 million. Like the floating
to fixed interest rate swap, this forward contract hedges against variable cash
flows. These instruments act as cash flow hedges.

A different example is where a company has exposure to variability in the
fair value of an asset or liability. It does not want this exposure and so takes
out a derivative to reduce or avoid that exposure. A fixed rate loan has stable
cash flows, but a variable fair value. Other financial assets and liabilities also
have variable fair values. A fixed to floating interest rate swap would act as a
fair value hedge of a fixed rate loan. Various other derivatives would act as fair
value hedges.

The third example of hedging is where a company has an overseas invest-
ment, denominated in (say) Euros. The sterling value of this will fluctuate and
the company might want to reduce or avoid that fluctuation. It can do this by
taking out a Euro borrowing, or a sterling/Euro derivative such as a forward
contract to provide a hedge.
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Sometimes derivatives are not freestanding, but are ‘embedded’ in other
instruments or contracts. A host contract such as a borrowing, or a lease, or
a purchase contract, might have within its terms a derivative that introduces
exposure to (say) the sterling/dollar exchange rate, or to a particular stock
exchange index; such a derivative may or may not be closely related to the
host contract, and if it is not it needs to be separated from its host contract for
accounting purposes.

The basic accounting rule relating to derivatives, as explained above, is that
they are initially measured at fair value and subsequently treated as “at fair value
through profit and loss’. That is, they are treated as if they are held for trading
or speculation. However, such treatment gives rise to volatility in income. It
might be that there are offsetting gains and losses that are also reflected in
income, in which case there is a natural hedge. However, if that is not the case,
there is an unwanted volatility in income and it is to cater for such situations
that hedge accounting has been developed.

Hedge accounting

The normal rules relating to derivatives are that they are treated as at fair value
though profit and loss. However, if they are taken out to provide a hedge against
another exposure, the accounting would give a more realistic representation of
the commercial transaction if the gains and losses on the derivative were treated
in asimilar way to the losses and gains that they are hedging. This is what hedge
accounting seeks to do. Hedge accounting is a collection of methods that break
the normal rules of accounting. There are three types of hedge accounting, and
these relate directly to the examples given in the above section on derivatives.
These are:

* cash flow hedge;
* fair value hedge; and
* net investment hedge.

The mechanics are beyond the scope of this book. However, it is important to
note that 1AS 39’s criteria that have to be met before hedge accounting can be
used are restrictive. They include:

» documentation and designation at the time the hedge is taken out; and
« effectiveness testing — prospectively and retrospectively.

Many commercial uses of hedging do not, for various reasons, meet these
criteria and so hedge accounting cannot be used. Such instances are sometimes
called ‘economic hedges’, meaning that they are hedges from a commercial
point of view, but are not treated as hedges in the accounting. The gains and
losses on measuring such derivatives at fair value are therefore reported in
arriving at profit/loss.
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Recognition and de-recognition

IAS 39 sets out rules relating to when financial assets and liabilities should
be recognised — that is, first put on balance sheet; and when they should be
derecognised — that is, taken off balance sheet. The rules on recognition are
reasonably straightforward: an item is recognised when the company becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The rules on derecognition are somewhat more complex. This is partly
because the relevant transactions — such as securitisations — are complex. It is
also because the rules are written in something of an anti-avoidance manner, as
certain companies have sought to get assets and related obligations off balance
sheet. The accounting hurdles, therefore, to achieve validly an off balance sheet
treatment, or de-recognition, are high. A detailed treatment of de-recognition
is beyond the scope of this book. However, the criteria involved are a mixture
of loss of control and loss of the risks and rewards of ownership.

Other matters
Treasury shares

From 1 December 2003, certain British companies have been able to purchase
up to 10 per cent of their issued share capital and hold the shares in treasury
for subsequent sale, transfer in connection with an employee share scheme or
cancellation. Prior to this date, any shares purchased had to be held in a trust
or cancelled. The Companies Act rules governing treasury shares (or ‘own
shares’) are to be found in chapter 6 of Part 18 (being ss. 724 to 732) of the
Companies Act 2006.

The accounting treatment for treasury shares is to deduct them from share-
holders’ equity. They are in effect treated as though they had been cancelled
and are, for example, disregarded when calculating earnings per share. They
are shown as a deduction from shareholders’ equity as a whole, but not netted
against share capital as such, as the balance sheet figure for share capital repre-
sents the nominal value of the shares legally in issue (which, of course, includes
the treasury shares held by the issuing company) that have been classified as
equity. In law, treasury shares must be purchased out of the distributable profits
of the entity that buys them.

There has developed a common practice of listed groups setting up
Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) trusts to purchase and hold shares in
the listed company for use in ESOPs and Long-Term Incentive Plans (LTIPs),
although this practice became prevalent primarily because, as noted above, until
December 2003 a company could not purchase and hold shares in itself or its
parent. The accounting treatment for such shares in the group accounts of the
listed company is the same as for treasury shares, i.e. deduct from shareholders’

equity.



Financial instruments

Disclosures

IFRS 7 ‘Financial instruments: disclosures’ contains the vast majority of dis-
closure requirements in respect of financial assets and financial liabilities, and
it applies to all entities.

IFRS 7’s disclosure requirements are very extensive and are grouped under
the following headings:

* significance of financial instruments for financial position and perfor-
mance;
o balance sheet —
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities;
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss;
reclassification;
derecognition;
collateral;
allowance account for credit losses;
compound financial instruments with multiple, embedded deriva-
tives;
defaults and breaches;
o statement of comprehensive income —
items of income, expense, gains or losses;
o other disclosures —
accounting policies;
hedge accounting;
fair value;
* nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments:
o quantitative disclosures;
o qualitative disclosures —
credit risk;
o financial assets that are either past due or impaired;
o collateral and other credit enhancements obtained
liquidity risk;
market risk — sensitivity analysis;
market risk — other market risk disclosures.

Accounting under UK GAAP

The UK standards, FRSs 25, 26 and 29, are based very closely on IASs 32 and
39 and IFRS 7. Accordingly, for companies that apply these FRSs, there is now
a large degree of conformity between UK GAAP and accounting under IFRS.
FRS 25 is required in UK GAAP. However, the scope of FRS 26 is different
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from the scope of IAS 39: IAS 39 applies to all entities, whereas FRS 26 is only
mandatory for listed entities and other entities, excluding FRSSE entities, that
recognise financial instruments in their accounts at fair value. Hence, relatively
few UK companies use FRS 26 at present. The FRS 29 disclosures apply to
companies that apply FRS 26 except that some subsidiaries are exempt from
the requirements of FRS 29, whereas under IFRS the requirements of IFRS 7
apply to all entities.

For those entities not applying FRS 26, rules on accounting for financial
liabilities are set out in FRS 4. The rules require the use of ‘amortised cost’
using the effective interest method as described above under IFRS.

Traditionally, the Companies Act 1985 required disclosures about a com-
pany’s share capital and debentures. These remain in force and are now required
by SI 2008/410 (large and medium companies). It is important to note, how-
ever, that the disclosures required about the authorised and issued shares must
continue to be given for any instruments that legally are shares whether these
are accounted for as equity instruments or financial liabilities.

New disclosures were introduced into the Companies Act 1985 regarding
fair values, which are now also in SI 2008/410. All companies other than small
companies now have to disclose the fair value of derivatives.
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Share-based payment

Introduction

This chapter considers the accounting treatment required when a company
issues share options or share awards as part of an employee’s remuneration
package or as consideration for any other goods or services received. It also
considers the accounting required when a company issues any other form of
consideration, for goods or services, which is calculated by reference to the
company’s share price, for example, phantom share options issued as part of
an employee’s remuneration package.

Issuing share options and granting other long-term incentive plans as part
of an employee’s remuneration package, in particular for executive directors,
has long been a common practice in the UK. During the ‘dotcom’ boom,
the practice was extended and it became common, for dotcom companies at
least, to issue share options and shares, rather than cash, to non-employees as
consideration for goods or services. In terms of employee remuneration, it is
also now a widely accepted practice to make payments, as part of a long-term
incentive scheme, that are in the form of cash, but which are calculated by
reference to the growth in the company’s share price.

Controversy, however, has surrounded the appropriate accounting treatment.
Many have argued that, for share options and other share awards, there is no
cost to the company itself; the “cost” is to the shareholders who suffer a dilution
in their share of the company. Consequently, the proponents of this view argue
that the appropriate place to reflect these transactions is in the calculation of
earnings per share and that there should be no charge in arriving at profit/loss.
However, the predominant view now is that if goods or services have been
received their cost should be reflected in the calculation of profit; that is, there
should be an expense directly in the income statement. Support for this view
is that it gives the same result as if the other party was paid in cash for the
goods or services and then that party used the cash to subscribe for shares in
the company. This treatment has been required under international accounting
standards since 2005 (with no charge required prior to this date). The relevant
accounting standard is IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’.

This is now also the required treatment in the UK (with the requirements of
FRS 20 being identical to those of IFRS 2), but for the decade earlier a much
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more limited charge was required, often with employee share options resulting
in a nil charge.

In this chapter we outline the requirements under IFRS 2, then look briefly
at trusts, which often form part of the practical arrangements to pay employees
via shares and share options, and finish by looking at UK GAAP in this area.

Accounting under IFRS
Overview

IFRS 2 *Share-based payment’ is the relevant standard and is effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005.

Underlying this standard is the premise that if an entity acquires goods or
services, the income statement should be charged with the value of those goods
or services as the goods are consumed or the services received. The application
of this general principle is, however, limited by the standard to the purchase of
goods or services that are part of a ‘share-based payment transaction’.

The standard requires that, when an entity receives or acquires goods or
services in exchange for issuing shares, share options or as part of some other
share-based payment transaction, the entity should recognise the goods when
they are obtained and the services as they are received. If the share-based
payment has a vesting period, the services will generally be recognised over
that period. The amount, which is either the fair value of the goods or services
received, the fair value of the equity instruments given or the fair value of
the liability incurred (see below), is recognised in arriving at profit/loss unless
the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets, e.g. as property, plant
or equipment. For equity-settled share-based payment transactions (such as
share options), there is a corresponding increase in equity, and for cash-settled
share-based payment transactions (such as a phantom share option) a liability
is recognised.

What is a ‘share-based payment transaction?

A share-based payment transaction is one where an entity purchases goods
or services and pays for them using shares, share options or other equity
instruments of the entity or incurs a liability that is determined by reference to
the entity’s share price or price of other equity instruments of the entity.

The most common examples of share-based payment transactions in a
company are the granting of share options to an employee as part of his or
her remuneration package or promising shares, or cash equal to the increase
in share price, as part of a long-term incentive plan (LTIP). Under a typical
executive share option scheme an employee will be granted options on day 1
permitting him or her to buy shares in the company from the company at any
point in years 4 to 10, at the day-1 market price, providing he or she is still
employed by the company and if predetermined performance criteria — say, the
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company’s EPS outperformed the RPI over years one to three by x per cent —
are met. Under an LTIP, an employee will typically receive shares, for no cash
payment, after three or four years providing he or she is still employed by the
company and if predetermined performance criteria are met, say, the company’s
total shareholder return (TSR) is ranked in the upper quartile when compared
with the TSR of specified comparator companies. Both of these are examples
of what the standard terms ‘equity-settled share-based payment transactions’
as the employee receives equity instruments in the company.

An example of a liability that is determined by reference to the entity’s
share price would be an LTIP under which an employee receives cash equal
to the increase in share price over a specified period, typically three years.
For the employee this is equivalent to receiving share options in the entity,
exercising them on the first possible day and, on the same day, selling the
shares in the market. Consequently, these are sometimes referred to as ‘phantom
share options’ or ‘share appreciation rights’. These are an example of what the
standard terms “cash-settled share-based payment transactions’ as the employee
directly receives cash from the company, which incurs an obligation, on day 1,
to pay cash equal to the movement in the company’s share price.

Basic principle of the standard

As with the purchase of any goods or services, for example, stationery, hire
of plant and machinery and employee services, the standard explicitly requires
the entity to charge the income statement with the cost of goods and services
acquired as part of a share-based payment transaction as they are consumed. If
goods are acquired that qualify for recognition as assets, for example, an item
of plant, the cost is capitalised and recognised in the income statement as the
item is consumed, for example, in the form of depreciation. All other goods are
expensed when acquired. Services are expensed as they are received. Typically,
companies enter into these transactions as part of employee remuneration and
so the expense is charged in the income statement as the employee’s services
are received.

Having established this as the overriding principle, the standard contains
detailed rules on how to apply this in practice, primarily dealing with how
to calculate the amount to charge to the income statement (or capitalise on
the balance sheet). Its rules are divided into those applying to equity-settled
share-based payments and those applying to cash-settled share-based payment
transactions.

Accounting for equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions are transactions in which the
entity uses its own equity instruments as consideration for goods or services,

173



Accounting Principles for Non-Executive Directors

174

Box 18.1 Inputs to option-pricing models

m the exercise price of the option;

m the life of the option;

m the current price of the underlying shares;

m the expected volatility of the share price;

m the dividends expected on the shares (if appropriate); and
m the risk-free interest rate for the life of the option.

for example, granting share options to employees as part of their remuneration
package.

Under the standard, an equity-settled share-based payment transaction is
recorded at the fair value of the goods or services acquired unless that value
cannot be estimated reliably, as is deemed to be the case with employees, in
which case the entity records the goods or services at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted. For employees, the fair value is measured at grant
date and for all other transactions it is measured at the date on which the entity
obtains the goods or receives the services.

In the vast majority of cases, namely share options and other LTIPs for
employees, the transaction is recorded at the fair value of the equity instruments
issued (rather than at the fair value of what is received). The standard contains
rules on how the fair value of the equity instruments should be calculated.
Where a market price is available it should be used, but otherwise, as generally
will be the case for share options, the fair value has to be estimated.

For employee share options, the standard mandates the use of an option-
pricing model if, as is highly likely, traded options with similar terms and
conditions do not exist. Commonly used models are the Black-Scholes-Merton
model, the binomial model and the Monte-Carlo simulation. The calculations
under these models are quite complex, as the fair value of options depends on
a number of factors (see Box 18.1).

For share awards, rather than options, for example, an LTIP under which
employees will receive shares (for no payment) in three years’ time if certain
conditions are met, the standard says that the fair value of the shares, adjusted
to reflect the terms and conditions attached to the award, is to be used. In other
words, for shares it may not be necessary to use an option-pricing model, but
simply to deduct the present value of dividends expected during the vesting
period from the market price of shares on the date of grant. However, the
existence of market conditions (see below) may necessitate the use of a model
in order to incorporate them into the fair value.

The objective in using the estimation techniques is to arrive at the amount
that a third party would be willing to pay for the equity instrument when that
instrument is granted. IFRS 2 adopts what it calls the ‘modified grant date
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method’: under this method, the fair value of the equity instruments (share
options, share awards under an LTIP, etc.) are estimated taking into account
market conditions only; all other conditions are ignored in arriving at the
estimate of fair value. However, the other conditions are reflected in determining
how much of this fair value should be expensed in the income statement over
the vesting period.

Examples of market conditions are a share price or TSR target. Examples
of non-market conditions are EPS targets or a condition requiring an employee
to remain in service for a specified period.

Market conditions are reflected in the fair value and hence no subsequent
adjustment is required; the fair value is charged over the vesting period, irrespec-
tive of whether or when the conditions are satisfied. Non-market conditions, on
the other hand, are not reflected in the fair value and thus if a condition is not
met causing the option or award not to vest, there will ultimately be no charge,
or if the vesting period is variable (dependent on a non-market condition), the
charge is ultimately spread over the actual vesting period.

The precise operation of the modified grant date method, initially, can
appear to be quite complex, but the example in Box 18.2 should help to clarify
the requirements.

Once options have vested, the cumulative charge remains and is not reversed
through the income statement, even if the options subsequently lapse unexer-
cised, say, because they are out of the money.

When share options are exercised by employees, the company records the
receipt of cash and an increase in equity.

Accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions

Cash-settled share-based payment transactions are transactions in which the
entity purchases goods or services, paying the supplier, in cash or other assets,
an amount that is calculated by reference to the price of the entity’s shares or
other equity instruments. A common example is a phantom share option scheme
(sometimes known as share appreciation rights) under which employees, as part
of their remuneration package, are paid a cash bonus after three years, based
on the rise in the company’s share price over the three years.

Under the standard a cash-settled share-based payment transaction has to be
recorded initially at the amount equal to the fair value of the liability incurred
(calculated using an option-pricing model). An expense (or asset) is recorded
equal to the liability. If the services will be received over a period, say, three
years with the phantom share option scheme example above, the expense and
liability are recorded gradually over that period. At each subsequent date, up
to settlement of the liability, the liability is remeasured to its then fair value.
Ultimately, the total expense charged in arriving at profit/loss equals the cash
paid out under the scheme.
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Box 18.2 Example: Grant with market and non-market conditions

At the beginning of year 1, company A grants 500 share options to each of its
100 most senior employees. The share options will vest at the end of year 3,
provided that the employees remain in the company’s employ, and provided
that the company’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) at the end of the three
years is in the upper quartile when compared with the TSR of each of twenty
named competitors. If the TSR is below the upper quartile, the options lapse.

The TSR requirement is a market condition and the requirement to remain
employed in the group is a non-market condition.

On grant date, company A estimates that the share options have a fair value
of £20 each, which takes into account the TSR condition, but not the service
condition. The company also estimates that 20 per cent of employees will
leave before the end of year 3.

By the end of year 1, seven employees have left and the company still expects
that a total of 20 employees will have left by the end of year 3.

By the end of year 2, five more employees have left, bringing the total to 12
to date. The entity now expects only three more employees to leave during
year 3.

By the end of year 3, a further two employees have left.

APPLICATION OF REQUIREMENTS
Remuneration Cumulative

expense for remunera-
the period tion expense
Year Calculation £ £
1 80 employees x 500 options x
£20 x 1/3 266,667 266,667
2 (85 employees x 500 options x
£20 x 2/3) — 266,667 300,000 566,667
3 (86 employees x 500 options x
£20 x 3/3) — 566,667 293,333 860,000
Notes

The above accounting applies irrespective of whether the TSR requirement, which is a market
condition, is met. The requirement to remain in service is a non-market condition and hence
it is not reflected in the initial fair value and no charge is made if options lapse as a result of
this condition not being met. Hence the ultimate charge only relates to the 86 employees still
employed by the company at the end of year 3.

If instead of a TSR condition the options vested only if the company’s EPS growth exceeded
RPI by 6 per cent over the three years, the accounting would be as above (assuming that £20
is the fair value of the option, ignoring both the EPS and the service conditions) if the EPS
condition was expected to be met and ultimately is met. If, on the other hand, the EPS condition
(being a non-market condition) was not met, overall there would be no charge and in year 3 the
earlier charges would be reversed, thus in year 3 there would have been a credit of £566,667.
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Other requirements: IFRIC 8

IFRIC 8 ‘Scope of IFRS 2’ adds an additional layer of complexity into the
requirements. Developed to cater for one particular problem which was arising
in one part of the world, it has far-reaching implications as its scope has not
been limited in any way.

The IFRIC states that if the value of the goods or services initially identified
as having been received is less than the fair value of equity instruments issued
or liability incurred (in a cash-settled share-based payment transaction), the
difference must be recognised as additional goods and services.

Other requirements: IFRIC 11

In the vast majority of cases, a listed company will not restrict participation in
a scheme only to employees of the listed company itself; instead, employees
from a number of subsidiaries as well as from the top company will participate.
IFRS 2, in its scope section, requires the standard to be applied in the financial
statements of those subsidiaries that have employees participating in a scheme
even though the equity instruments issued are those of the top company. The
standard does not specify how this should be applied, but in November 2006
guidance was provided in IFRIC 11 ‘IFRS 2 — Group and treasury share
transactions’.

IFRIC 11 states that where a share-based payment transaction involves
equity instruments of the entity’s parent, it has to be accounted for as an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction if the parent granted the rights (and it is
accounted for as equity-settled in the group financial statements). There would
thus be a charge to the subsidiary’s income statement and the corresponding
credit would be to reserves (being a capital contribution from the parent). If
instead the entity itself (i.e. the subsidiary) granted the rights, the transaction
has to be accounted for as a cash-settled share-based payment transaction.

Disclosure requirements

A large number of disclosures are required by IFRS 2, including, for share
options granted during the period, which option pricing model was used and
the inputs to that model.

Trusts

Trusts often form part of the practical arrangements for employee remuneration
share-based payment transactions. Although companies can now hold some of
their own shares in treasury, this is a relatively recent occurrence and prior
to 1 December 2003 companies were not allowed to do so. Hence employee
share ownership trusts were often set up to hold the shares (although this
is complicated somewhat by the fact that legally trusts cannot hold shares;
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beneficial ownership lies with the trust, but legally it is the trustees that own
the shares). Tax advantages may be other reasons for structuring the practical
arrangements through a trust.

Trusts can be used when new shares are issued by the company as well as
when existing shares are used to satisfy the exercise of options or when shares
are needed under an LTIP.

Although the trust deed will generally require the trustees to act in accor-
dance with the interests of the beneficiaries, most trusts set up as part of a
remuneration scheme are set up in such a way that the interests of the group
and the duties of the trustees do not conflict. Generally, therefore, a group
will control a trust set up to help with the operation of its share option or
LTIP scheme and, thus, SIC-12 “‘Consolidation — Special purpose entities’ will
require the trust to be included in the group’s consolidated financial statements
as though it were a subsidiary. Consequently, the assets and liabilities of the
trust are included in the group financial statements as though the group owned
them. Shares in the company owned by the trust are thus included in the group
accounts as though the group directly held them as treasury shares. Accord-
ingly, the shares are deducted from equity. The share option scheme or LTIP
will be accounted for in the group financial statements in accordance with the
rules of IFRS 2 described above (as clarified by IFRIC 11); this is not affected
by the fact that a trust owns the shares needed to satisfy, for example, share
option exercises.

Accounting for share-based payment under UK GAAP

In UK GAAP the relevant standard since 2005 is FRS 20 ‘Share-based pay-
ment’, which was issued by the ASB following the issue of IFRS 2 by the
IASB. The ASB took IFRS 2 and adopted it with minimal changes. IFRIC 8
and IFRIC 11 have also been incorporated into UK GAAP.

Unlike IFRS, there were accounting requirements in UK GAAP prior to
FRS 20. These requirements (primarily UITF 13 and 17) were in place and
effective for the previous decade. Their scope was not as extensive as FRS 20
and IFRS 2: for example, save-as-you-earn (SAYE) schemes were exempt from
the requirements. Under these requirements, the charge in arriving at profit/loss
was the difference between the market price of the shares on the date of grant
(or cost if the shares to satisfy exercise had been purchased by a trust in the
market) and the amount, if any, that the employee had to pay on exercise. Thus,
for many executive share option schemes there was no charge in arriving at
profit/loss.
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Realised and distributable profits

Introduction

The issues of which profits are realised and which are distributable are impor-
tant. These issues arise for an individual company, not for a group: legally
it is companies that make distributions, not groups. Thus, for example, in a
simple group comprising a parent and its subsidiary, the subsidiary may make
adistribution to its parent out of profits available for that purpose. The parent
may then, if it has profits available for distribution (and this does not automati-
cally follow simply because a subsidiary has dividended up some of its profits),
make a distribution to its shareholders. Therefore, to speak of the group having
distributable profits or having made a distribution is not valid. Problems can
sometimes arise in agroup, for al sorts of reasons, in getting distributions up
from a profitable subsidiary to the top parent company so that it has sufficient
distributable profits to make a distribution to its shareholders.

Accordingly, the matters discussed in this chapter relate to individual com-
panies and the discussion concerns what amounts are realised and distributable
for UK companies only. For companies registered in other countries, the rules
may be different from those in the UK, although the basic rules for companies
registered in other EU Member Statesare likely to be broadly similar (although
the resulting number may be different due to different GAAPs applying), as
the national laws of all Member States are based on the Second EU Company
Law Directive of 1976, and it isthe law that isthe starting point for calculating
realised and distributable profits.

‘Realised’ and ‘distributable’

The two terms ‘realised’ and ‘distributable’ are related but separate and it is
important to distinguish them.

It is appropriate to speak of a specific component of profit or gain as being
realised (or not). Taking asimple example, if acompany buysan asset for 1,000
and sellsit for cash of 1,200, it has made arealised profit of 200. Thisisbecause:
(1) it is clear that the profit has been made (it can be measured reliably); and
(2) it hasbeenreceived in cash. On the other hand, if the company hasabuilding
that cost 1,000 and it is now valued at 1,200, it may recognise that revaluation
gain of 200 in itsfinancial statements, but it has not realised the gain (and this
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appliesirrespective of whether the gain was recognised in arriving at profit/loss
under 1AS 40 on investment properties or was recognised directly in equity).
Hence the gain is regarded as an unrealised profit. Had the asset been shares
rather than abuilding, the answer may not have been the same. A fuller analysis
of what isrealised and unrealised is given below.

Which profits are available for distribution is a matter for a company as
a whole, based on the cumulative position with respect to realised profits
at the relevant date. It will include, therefore, the aggregate of its transac-
tions and events in the year (such as the examples in the previous para.)
and the company’s history, for example, whether it has an accumulation of
realised profits from previous years. Again, a fuller analysis of this is given
below.

General rules on distributions

Before turning to the Companies Act 2006, we should note that, under common
law, a company cannot lawfully make a distribution out of capital. In addition,
directors have fiduciary dutiesin the exercise of the powers conferred on them.
Directors must therefore specifically consider, inter alia, whether the company
would still be solvent following a proposed distribution. Therefore, directors
should consider both the immediate cash flow implications of a distribution
and the continuing ability of the company to pay its debts as they fall due.
Even if a distribution would be in compliance with the Companies Act, the
directors must consider the common law position and their fiduciary duties
before determining whether to make the distribution.

Part 23 of the 2006 Act sets out rules relating to distributions. First,
s. 829 explains the meaning of distribution as ‘ every description of distribution
of a company’s assets to its members, whether in cash or otherwise, subject
to the following exceptions'. The exceptions are: a bonus issue of shares; a
reduction of share capital; a redemption or repurchase of shares out of capital
or unrealised profits (in accordance with specific provisions of the Act); and a
distribution of assets to members on awinding up.

The most common type of distribution is a cash dividend. A dividend is
often paid annually, sometimes supplemented by interim dividends, especially
in the case of listed companies. In addition, companies sometimes pay one-
off so-called ‘specia’ dividends, perhaps to return a lump sum of cash to
shareholders beyond the normal pattern of regular distributions. Moreover, a
distribution need not be in cash: it can be atransfer of any asset. For example,
one way of effecting a demerger is to make a distribution in specie of either:
(1) the assets of the division that is to be demerged; or (2) the shares of the
subsidiary that is to be demerged. Another non-cash dividend that companies
sometimesmakeisa‘scrip’ dividend; thisiswhere shareholdersreceive shares
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in the company equal in value to the cash dividend that they would otherwise
receive.

Section 830 defines what may be distributed, starting with the statement
that: ‘A company may only make a distribution out of profits available for
the purpose’. Perhaps the key provision is subsection (2), which states that:
‘A company’s profits available for distribution are its accumulated, realised
profits, so far as not previously utilised by distribution or capitalisation, lessits
accumulated, realised losses, so far as not previously written off in areduction
or reorganisation of capital duly made’. Simplifying this somewhat, profits
available for distribution can be viewed as accumulated net realised profits.
Realised profitsand realised losses are discussed further on p. 184 below. There
are additional provisions for investment companies and insurance companies,
but these are not discussed here.

Thereis, however, an important complication that further restricts distribu-
tions by public companies (of which listed companies are asubset). That isthat
thebasic rulein s. 830(2) still applies, but s. 831 adds, in subsection (1):

‘A public company may only make a distribution —

(a) if theamount of itsnet assetsisnot lessthan the aggregate of itscalled-up
share capital and undistributable reserves, and

(b) if, and to the extent that, the distribution does not reduce the amount of
those assets to less than that aggregate.’

In this context, ‘net assets' has its normal accounting meaning of aggregate
assets less aggregate liabilities. A company’s undistributable reserves are, in
simplified form: (1) share premium account; (2) capital redemption reserve;
(3) the excess of accumulated unrealised profits over unrealised losses; and (4)
any other reservethat the company is prohibited from distributing by itsarticles
or by legidation.

The practical effect of these rules can best be seen in Box 19.1.

So, for example, in company 2, the net unrealised loss of £50 is not rel-
evant for a private company, but restricts distributions for a public company.
In company 4, the same principle applies, but the effect is more dramatic:
the public company cannot make any distribution despite having net realised
profits.

Relevant accounts
The Act states that, in order to determine whether a company has profits

available to distribute, and (if it is a public company) whether the additional
conditions are satisfied, reference must be made to the ‘relevant accounts’.

1 Sees. 836.
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Box 19.1 Examples of distributable profits in private and public companies
Company 1 Company2  Company3  Company 4
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

A Share capital 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
B Unrealised profits 150 150 150 -

C Unrealised losses - (200) (200) (200)

D Net unrealised profits 150 - - -
E Net unrealised losses - (50) (50) (200)
F Realised profits 300 300 300 300

G Redlised losses - - (120) (120)

H Net realised profits 300 300 180 180
| Sharecapital and reserves 1,450 1,250 1,130 @
Maximum distributable profit:

Private company (H) 300 300 180 180
Public company (H-E) 300 250 130 Nil

Normally the company’s latest audited financial statements that have been cir-
culated to the company’s members are its relevant accounts. However, where a
distribution would exceed the amount that is distributable according to the lat-
est audited financial statements, interim accounts must be prepared in addition
to the latest financial statements to see whether the intended distribution can
bejustified. (The term ‘interim accounts’ as used here has a different meaning
from the interim accounts required to be published regularly under the Listing
Rules.) Moreover, initial accounts must be prepared and used where acompany
proposes to make a distribution during its first accounting reference period or
before the date on which it circulates its first audited financial statementsto its
shareholders.

Therequirementsrelating to interim and initial accounts depend on whether
the company in question is private or public. If it is private, management
accounts together with appropriate adjustments can be used to support a distri-
bution. However, if it is apublic company, the requirements are more onerous,
as set out in ss. 837 to 839. The main points are that all relevant accounts,
including interim and initial accounts, must be properly prepared and give
atrue and fair view, except that any matters that are not materia for deter-
mining whether the proposed distribution is lawful may be omitted. Interim
and initial accounts have to be filed at Companies House. In addition, with
regard to any initial accounts (but not interim accounts), the auditors must have
reported whether the accounts have been properly prepared. Annual accounts
will, for a public company, be audited in any event. In connection with annual
or initial accounts, if the audit opinion is qualified, the auditors must say
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Box 19.2 Analysis of change in shareholders’ equity during the year

Profit for the year (from the income statement)

Other comprehensive income (e.g. property revaluation)
Total comprehensive income

Proceeds of new sharesissued

Dividends paid

Increase in shareholders' equity (net assets) in the year

NS =

whether that qualification ismaterial in determining thelegality of the proposed
distribution.

Relationship with reporting of performance

The Act’s rules about which profits are realised and distributable, although
based on accounting numbers, are primarily legal rules concerned with regu-
lating company distributions. They do not necessarily equate to today’s notion
of either profit or comprehensive income.

As explained more fully in chapter 9, comprehensive income is the sum of
the profit (or loss) for the period and the entity’s other comprehensive income
(or other recognised gains and losses to use UK GAAP terminology). Most of
the company’s transactions are recognised in arriving at profit for the period;
while other comprehensive income comprises all other changes in net assets
other than those arising from distributions to or contributions from ownersin
their capacity as owners. Reval uation gains and losses on PPE such asland and
buildings will, for the majority of companies, be part of other comprehensive
income, but for a company that chooses to revalue its investment properties
under 1AS 40 the revaluation gains and losses are reported as part of profit or
loss.

Total comprehensive income for the year is a measure that seeks to record
performancein itswidest sense. It isimportant to distinguish it from those other
items that affect the company’s shareholders' equity (or net assets) but which
are not economic performance — that is, items such as new capital raised or
redeemed, and dividends and other distributions. The distinction is illustrated
in Box 19.2.

The line ‘total comprehensive income (W)’ is the most comprehensive
measure of economic performance that accounting achieves. Thisis not to say
that it is perfect. For example, a company may well develop the value of its
brands or other intangibles through advertising, but that enhancement in value
is not recorded by present-day accounting, largely because the measurement
difficulties would render any numbers too unreliable.
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Put another way, total comprehensive income is the change in reported
net assets during the year, excluding contributions from or distributions to
shareholders in their capacity as shareholders. It is the change in reported net
assets rather than the change in the value of the net assets, as not all assets and
liahilities will be recorded and of those recorded not all will be at valuation.

As to which transactions give rise to realised profits, guidance is given in
TECH 01/08, which is discussed in the next section. It is important to note
that not everything that is recognised in calculating profit or loss for the period
is realised and not everything that comprises other comprehensive income is
unrealised.

TECH 01/08
Introduction

The ‘minor definitions' in Part 23 (Distributions) of the Act (section 853)
include the following definition of realised profits and realised |osses:

‘References to “realised profits’ and “realised losses’, in relation to a
company’s accounts, are to such profits or losses of the company asfall to
be treated as realised in accordance with principles generally accepted at
the time when the accounts are prepared, with respect to the determination
for accounting purposes of realised profits or losses.’

This somewhat circular definition has been taken by accountants to mean that
realised profits and losses are whatever accountants think they are at the time.
Guidance from the accountancy institutes helps to determine what thisis.

Origina guidance was issued in 1982 (TR 481 and 482) and was only
superseded in 2003 by TECH 7/03, published by the Ingtitute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of Scotland (‘the Institutes’). TECH 7/03 was based on UK GAAP asiit stood
at the time of issue. Since then, of course, some companies have chosen to
apply IFRS in their company accounts (it is only mandatory in respect of
consolidated accounts of listed companies), while for those remaining on UK
GAAP the standards that have to be applied have changed, in a nhumber of
cases adopting equivalent provisions to those in IFRS. Consequently, further
guidance was developed and issued by the Ingtitutes, in theform of TECH 2/07,
which supplemented and, in places, superseded TECH 7/03. Two further pieces
of guidance were published by the Institutesin 2004, dealing with specific and,
at the time, urgent issues.

To make it simpler for users to apply the guidance, the Institutes issued
a consolidated version of the four releases in January 2008, superseding the
individual documents. Although described as ‘guidance’, the technical release
is regarded by accountants as de facto rules as it is the most authoritative
statement in the area. The consolidated guidanceis TECH 01/08 ‘ Guidance on
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the determination of realised profits and losses in the context of distributions
under the Companies Act 1985'. The full text is available on the ICAEW
website.? The guidance in TECH 01/08 applies equally to financial statements
prepared under IFRS and UK GAAP.

In the light of its background, it is perhaps understandable that TECH
01/08 is based on the Companies Act 1985. Part 23 of the 2006 Act, which
deals with distributions, does not make any significant changes to the law on
distributions, although there are some minor changes of drafting. Accordingly,
much of the guidance should remain valid. Part 17 of the Act, which dealswith
a company’s share capital, and Part 18, which deals with the acquisition by a
limited company of its own shares, also have some bearing on the guidance
on realised and distributable profits. The Institutes are developing a revised
version of the guidance incorporating references to the Companies Act 2006
and relevant consequential amendments, but at the time of going to press
nothing had been issued.

Principles of realisation

TECH 01/08 explains that ‘it is generally accepted that profits shall be treated
asrealised for the purpose of applying the definition of realised profitsin com-
panies legislation only when realised in the form of cash or of other assets the
ultimate cash realisation of which can be assessed with reasonable certainty’ .3
It continues by stating that ‘in this context, “realised” may also encompass
profitsrelating to assetsthat are readily realisable’. In seeking to apply this, the
expression ‘readily convertible to cash’ isintroduced into the determination of
realised profits.

Two further principles of realisation are set out in the guidance. First, the
guidance notes* that: ‘In assessing whether a company has a realised profit,
transactions and arrangements should not be looked at in isolation’. Thisisan
important point, as it brings into the analysis the principle of substance over
form. Paragraph 3.5 adds: ‘A realised profit will arise only where the overall
commercial effect on the company satisfies the definition of realised profit set
out in this guidance. Thus a group or series of transactions or arrangements
should be viewed as awhole, particularly if they are artificial, linked (whether
legally or otherwise) or circular’. Section 9 of TECH 01/08 deals with intra-
group transactions, where this principle is likely to be of particular relevance,
and is discussed below.

Second, TECH 01/08 notes® that ‘ aprofit previously regarded as unrealised
becomes realised when the relevant criteria set out in this guidance are met
(for example, a revaluation surplus becomes realised when the related asset is
sold for “qualifying consideration”). Similarly, a profit previously regarded as

2 www.icaew.co.uk. 3 Seepara. 3.3. 4 Seepara. 35. 5 Seepara 3.6.
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realised becomes unrealised when the criteria set out in this guidance cease to
be met'.

Definitions
The definition of profitin TECH 01/08 is:

‘3.8 “Profit” for the purpose of s. 262(3) [of the Companies Act 1985 —
s. 853 of the 2006 Act is the equivalent reference] comprises:

(@) “gains’, as defined in the Accounting Standards Board's “ Statement
of Principles for Financial Reporting” and “income” as defined in
the International Accounting Standards Board's “Framework” which
both convey (with different wording) increases in ownership interest
not resulting from contributions from owners; and

(b) other amountswhich are profits asamatter of law, or which aretreated
as profits, including:

(i) gratuitous contributions of assets from owners in their capacity

as such;

(if) an amount taken to a so-called “merger reserve” reflecting the
extent that relief isobtained under ss. 131 or 132 of the Act [1985
Act —ss. 611 & 612 offer the same relief] from the requirement
to recognise a share premium account; and

(iii) areservearising fromareduction or cancellation of share capital,
share premium account or capital redemption reserve.’

This is not an obvious definition of profit to an accountant, but results from
discussions with counsel in developing TECH 7/03 and TECH 02/07. An
accountant would regard ‘profit’ as being the result reported in the income
statement, and ‘total comprehensive income’ as being a wider measure of
performance. The latter measure equates to ‘gains in the above quotation.
Accountants would generally not see any of the three items within (b) in the
above quotation as being part of profit, but counsel has advised that they should
be so regarded for the purposes of analysing what istreated as arealised profit
under the Companies Act 1985.

TECH 01/08 then defines a realised profit at some length, the first part of
whichis:

‘3.9 A profit isrealised where it arises from:

(a) a transaction where the consideration received by the company is
“qualifying consideration”; or

(b) an event which results in “qualifying consideration” being received
by the company in circumstances where no consideration is given by
the company; or

(c) the recognition in the financial statements of a change in fair value,
in those cases where fair value has been determined in accordance
with the fair value measurement guidance in the relevant accounting
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standards, and to the extent that the change recognised is readily
convertible to cash; or

(d) thetrandlation of:
(i) amonetary asset which comprises qualifying consideration; or
(ii) aliability, denominated in aforeign currency; or

(e) thereversal of aloss previously regarded asrealised; or ...’

Thedefinition of arealised lossisbriefer: * Losses should beregarded asrealised
losses except to the extent that the law, accounting standards or this guidance
provide otherwise. The statutory position is set out in s. 2 of this guidance’ .6
That is, while not all losses are realised, there is a lack of symmetry in that
losses are realised unless there is a specific reason to the contrary, whereas
profits are realised only if they meet a complex definition.

A key definition is that of ‘qualifying consideration’. This phrase is used
extensively in the definition of realised profit.

*3.11 Qualifying consideration comprises:

(&) cash; or

(b) an asset that isreadily convertible to cash; or

(c) therelease, or the settlement or assumption by another party, of all or
part of aliability of the company, unless:

(i) the liability arose from the purchase of an asset that does not
meet the definition of qualifying consideration and has not been
disposed of for qualifying consideration; and

(ii) the purchase and release are part of a group or series of transac-
tions or arrangements that fall within para. 3.5 of this guidance;
or

(d) anamount receivablein any of the aboveformsof considerationwhere:
(i) thedebtor iscapableof settling the receivablewithin areasonable
period of time; and

(i) thereisareasonable certainty that the debtor will be capable of
settling when called upon to do so; and

(iii) thereisan expectation that the receivable will be settled.’

Completing the definitionsis‘ readily convertibleto cash’, which isused in part
(b) of the definition of qualifying consideration.

‘3.12 An asset, or change in the fair value of an asset or liability, is
considered to be “readily convertible to cash” if:

(8) avaluecanbedetermined at which atransactionintheasset or liability
could occur, at thedate of determination, initsstate at that date, without
negotiation and/or marketing, to either convert the asset, liability or
change in fair value into cash, or to close out the asset, liability or
changein fair value; and

6 Seepara 3.10.
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(b) in determining the value, information such as prices, rates or other
factors that market participants would consider in setting a price is
observable; and

(c) the company’s circumstances must not prevent immediate conversion
to cash or close out of the asset, liability or change in fair value; for
example, the company must be able to dispose of, or close out the
asset, liability or the change in fair value, without any intention or
need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of its operations, or to
undertake a transaction on adverse terms.’

Effects of TECH 01/08
Changes in circumstances

Following the principlein para. 3.6 (quoted above), paras. 3.28t0 3.40 of TECH
01/08 elaborate on thefact that treatment asrealised (or unrealised) may change
over time. First, the principles of realisation may change. An example of thisis
the change to guidance in TECH 7/03 made by TECH 02/07 regarding which
fair value gains are realised; as a result more fair value gains are regarded
as realised. Second, and likely to be a more frequent event, a change in law
or accounting regulation may affect realised profits. For example, a company
changing from preparing itsindividual company financial statements from UK
GAAPto IFRS for thefirst time will change a number of accounting policies.
Depending upon particular company circumstances this might lead to higher or
lower accumul ated realised profits. Third, there may be achangein commercial
circumstances. For example, a sale of goods or services may have led to the
establishment of areceivable (or ‘debtor’) in the balance sheet. At the time, it
was thought that the customer would pay, and so this represented * qualifying
consideration’. Subsequently, the customer may get into financial difficulty
such that there is then no expectation that the receivable will be settled in cash
or any other form of qualifying consideration. At that stage, what was initialy
regarded as a realised profit would no longer be so regarded. In accounting
terms, there would be aprovision for bad debts, or awrite-off of that particular
receivable, resulting in an expense in the income statement.

The fact that circumstances may change in one of these ways does not
undermine the validity of treating the profit as realised in the first place, or of
having made a distribution based on it in an earlier period.

A particular application of this that has been important in recent years
isin relation to pensions. In UK GAAP, FRS 17 ‘Retirement benefits' was
introduced in November 2000, but until 2005 it required only note disclosures,
and permitted a continuation of the old accounting rules (SSAP 24) in the
balance sheet and profit and loss account in that period. The result was often
that the footnoted FRS 17 information showed a much larger deficit than the
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SSAP 24 numbers. Hence accumulated realised profits, driven by the SSAP 24
numbers, understated the deficit compared with the amount calculated under
FRS 17. Neverthel ess, this did not mean that the FRS 17 disclosures supplanted
the SSAP 24 numbers, nor did it mean that distributable profits had to be
withheld beyond the amount implied by the SSAP 24 numbers.

Paragraph 3.30 of TECH 01/08 explains the situation in the following way:

‘The effects of the introduction of a new accounting standard or on the
adoption of IFRS become relevant to the application of the common law
capital maintenance rule only in relation to distributions accounted for
in periods in which the change will first be recognised in the accounts.
Where items will fall to be treated as liabilities under a new standard in
aperiod after the period in which the dividend is accounted for, directors
do not have to pay regard to such future liabilities merely because they are
disclosed in the notes to the accounts'.

An additional layer of complexity has been added by the change in timing
of the recognition of a liability for a proposed dividend — the change in tim-
ing is explained in chapter 9 at page 85. Thus, where directors are consider-
ing paying an interim dividend for afinancial year, say, 2009, or are considering
proposing afina dividend for one year, say, 2008, that will be accounted for
in the following year's financial statements, 2009 in the example given, the
directors, before paying/proposing the dividends have to consider any known
changesin accounting policiesthat will take effect in the year that the dividend
will be accounted, 2009 in the example.

General examples of realised profits

Paragraphs 3.14 to 3.17 of TECH 01/08 give a number of examples of realised
profits and losses. Most of these require no amplification. However, it is worth
noting that ‘a gift (such as a “capital contribution”) received in the form of
qualifying consideration’ is a realised profit. A capital contribution would
typically bereceived from aparent company or other sharehol der. In accounting
terms, a capital contribution would be recorded in equity and presented in the
statement of changesin equity. That is, it would not be reported in the statement
of comprehensive income or, if presented, in a separate income statement.
Nevertheless, despite being shown as a transaction with shareholders, it is
regarded by TECH 01/08 as a realised profit if in the form of qualifying
consideration (although as with any transaction, the overall commercia effect
has to be considered if it is part of a group or series of transactions). A gift
from a third party would also be a redlised profit, again if in the form of
qualifying consideration, but the accounting treatment would differ: it would
be recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Some other specific examples are discussed in the sections that follow.
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Pension deficits

For companiesthat are complying with IAS 19 (IFRS) or FRS 17 (UK GAAP),
guestions arise about the impact of pension deficits on realised profits and as
these are often very large numbers the impact can be huge. For a discussion of
this, see ‘ The effect of pensions on realised profits’ in chapter 16.

Fair value accounting: gains and losses

Fair value accounting under IFRS and UK GAAP asit now standsis far more
widespread than when the original version of TECH 7/03 wasissued. Following
consultation on the point, TECH 02/07 amended TECH 7/03 to broaden the
circumstances when a fair value gain may be regarded as realised; the revised
guidance was consolidated into TECH 01/08.

To be regarded as realised, a fair value gain must be ‘readily convertible
to cash’ and have been determined in accordance with relevant accounting
standards. The requirement for the gain to be readily convertible to cash (see
above for the definition) means that, for example, gains on revaluing property,
plant and equipment and unquoted equity instruments will generally not be
realised, whereas gains on revaluing, for example, equity instruments traded
in an active market, will generally be realised; this will be so irrespective of
the type of company that holds the instruments and irrespective of whether the
gain has been credited in arriving at profit/lossfor the year or has been credited
direct to equity asisrequired for available-for-sale investments (providing that
for companies reporting under UK GAAP the credit isto afair value reserve
and not to the revaluation reserve).

Share-based payment

Accounting for share-based payment is dealt with in chapter 18. Various ques-
tions arise in connection with the effect of accounting for such arrangements
on realised profits. Guidance was given in TECH 64/04, published in 2004 by
the Ingtitutes, and has been consolidated into TECH 01/08; this deals with the
effect of accounting for share schemes in accordance with UITF Abstracts 38
and 17 (revised), the earlier UK GAAP accounting rules.

TECH 01/08 extends the guidance to deal with expenses arising under
IFRS 2 (and FRS 20). The expense charged in arriving at profit/loss will be a
realised lossirrespective of whether the schemeis cash-settled or equity-settled.
For every charge against profits under an equity-settled share-based payment
transaction, there is an equal and opposite credit to equity. Generaly, in the
case of share options, the credit can be regarded as realised and thus negate the
impact of the charge against profits being arealised loss. The credit to reserves
will not always be regarded as realised, however, including that arising in a
subsidiary’s financial statements where the subsidiary reimburses its parent an
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amount in excess of the IFRS 2 (FRS 20) charge in respect of a share option
scheme — see TECH 01/08 for further details.

Preference shares presented as liabilities

Under IAS 32 and FRS 25, an entity presentsits capital instruments in accor-
dance with their substance. For example, preference shares redeemable for a
fixed amount on a specified date paying a cumulative fixed annual dividend
would be classified in the balance sheet asliabilities and the dividend (together
with any other finance charge, such as the amortisation of issue costs) would
appear in the income statement as an ‘interest charge’. TECH 01/08 explains
that a preference dividend is a distribution at the time of its making and is not
aloss. Thus, accruing for a preference dividend, albeit in arriving at profit/loss
for theyear, isnot arealised loss. It further addsthat the accrual for apreference
dividend on preference shares presented as a liability does, however, restrict
distributable profits for public companies due to the effect on the ‘net assets
test’.

Dividends out of pre-acquisition profits

Although thisis not solely an intra-group issue, it does arise frequently within
agroup and, as such, is discussed below.

Intra-group transactions

As noted above, TECH 01/08 notes (para. 3.5) that: ‘In assessing whether a
company has a realised profit, transactions and arrangements should not be
looked at in isolation’. This applies in particular in relation to intra-group
transactions, because in the past certain transactions have been carried out,
involving members of the same group, that have sought to generate realised
and distributable profits at the entity level, despite the fact that the transaction
is artificial or circular from a group perspective. Section 9 to TECH 01/08
addresses the question of whether, or in what circumstances, intra-group trans-
actions give rise to realised profits. Some of the issues considered in section 9
are discussed below.

In connection with dividends, four situations are discussed. The starting
point is that, subject to the points made in the following paras, a dividend
received or receivablefromasubsidiary will bearealised profitif thedividendis
in the form of qualifying consideration. Most obviously, therefore, a dividend
received in cash will be arealised profit. If asubsidiary declared adividend to
its parent but left it outstanding on inter-company account and had no ability or
intention of settling it, that would not give riseto arealised profit to the parent.
Paragraph 9.5 of TECH 01/08 aso makes the point that it is necessary to
consider whether adividend from a subsidiary has given rise to an impairment
in the value of the investment in the subsidiary.
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Second, the guidance points out that it may be necessary for a subsidiary
to pay dividends up to its parent before the parent’s year end to ensure that the
parent has sufficient distributable profits in its annual financial statements to
support the expected level of proposed fina dividend without the need to
prepare interim accounts under s. 838 of the Act. The guidance therefore
discusses what might constitute payment of an interim dividend and examines
anumber of scenarios.

Thethird situation outlined relating to dividendsis acircular transactionin
which asubsidiary pays adividend to its parent where the parent has provided
thefundsfor the dividend in thefirst place or the parent uses the proceeds of the
dividend to reinvest in the subsidiary. Here, in genera, the dividend received
would not give rise to arealised profit to the parent, even if received in cash.

The fourth point relates to a dividend being paid by the subsidiary out
of pre-acquisition profits. Prior to 1 January 2009, whether the parent was
preparing accounts under IFRS or UK GAAP made a big difference to its
distributable profits. From 1 January 2009, the accounting treatment, and thus
theimpact on distributable profits, will bethe sameunder both GAAPs. Whether
the dividend from a subsidiary is from pre- or post-acquisition profits, the
accounting treatment going forward isto credit the dividend incomein arriving
at profit/lossfor theyear and thusthe profitisrealisedif intheform of qualifying
consideration. As in the general case, it is important to consider whether an
investment isimpaired following a dividend, especially one of unusual size.

Further examplesof intra-group transactionsrel ate to sales of assetsbetween
group companies. First, if a parent sells an asset to a subsidiary, any profit on
the sale will not represent a realised profit for the parent if it does not receive
an asset which isin the form of qualifying consideration. Second, the overall
commercial effect of the sale and any related transactions and arrangements
must be considered; for example, the profit would be unrealised if:

e there is an agreement or understanding regarding the repurchase of the
asset by the parent; or

e the parent directly or indirectly provided the funds for the purchase, or
reinvested the proceeds in the subsidiary by means of a capital contribu-
tion; or

e the subsidiary is unlikely to be able to meet its obligations under any
borrowings used to fund the purchase without recourse to the parent.

Similar considerations apply where the subsidiary sells an asset to the parent.
For example, if a subsidiary sells an asset to its parent and makes a profit
on the sale, it could, other things being equal, distribute that profit to the
parent. However, the profit would not be realised in the hands of the parent
unless the asset which the parent purchased meets the definition of qualifying
consideration. The reason is that the transaction is very similar in its overall
effect to a distribution of the asset in specie to the parent — which is not a
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transaction on which the parent would record a realised profit, unless the asset
distributed itself took the form of qualifying consideration.

A third example is given in section 9 of TECH 01/08 concerning a sale
of an asset from one subsidiary to afellow subsidiary, followed by a dividend
to the parent of the profit made on the sale. Similar principles arise to those
discussed above.

The underlying theme in section 9 of TECH 01/08 is to apply a substance
over form approach to intra-group transactions, although, of course, looking at
the substance in determining distributable profits is not limited to intra-group
transactions.
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Disclosures in published annual reports

Introduction

Published financial information for an IFRS annual report is centred around
a company’s income statement, statement of comprehensive income, balance
sheet and cash flow statement — the main IFRS primary statements. Extensive
notes in the financial statements provide more detailed disclosure in support
of the numbers in these primary statements. For example, there are notes to
give more detail about the categories of property, plant and equipment (land
and buildings, vehicles and machinery and so on) and to give details of the
movements during the year (the amount at the beginning of the year, the
additions, disposals, depreciation and so on). Similar details are given about
intangible assets, provisions, share capital and reserves and many other items
in the primary statements.

In addition, there are disclosures under a number of headings that do not
directly amplify the items in the primary statements, but are free-standing.
Some apply to al companies; some to listed companies only; and some to
quoted companies (which includes listed companies). Some are within the
financial statements while others are outside, abeit within the overall annual
report. This chapter contains a brief discussion of these disclosures, under the
following headings:

¢ Corporate governance disclosures;

» Statement of directors' responsibilities;

¢ Directors’ report;

e Operating and financial review;

Directors remuneration;

Related party relationships and transactions;
Transactions with directors; and

Segment disclosure.

Corporate governance disclosures

For accounting periods beginning on or after 29 June 2008, the corporate
governance disclosures applicable to UK listed companies come from three
different sources: the FSA Listing Rules; the FSA Disclosure and Transparency
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Rules; and the FRC Combined Code (‘' the Code'). Rules and recommendations
about corporate governance practice (as opposed to disclosures) areto be found
in the last two of these three.

Listing Rules

Listing Rule 9.8.6R requires UK listed companies to include in their annua
report and accounts a two-part disclosure statement in relation to the Code.
The Code comprises both principles and provisions with one part of the Listing
Rules' disclosure requirement about the principles and the other part about the
provisions.

The first part requires companies to explain how they have applied the
main principles set out in Section 1 of the Code. Prior to this (i.e. accounting
periods beginning before 29 June 2008), companies had to explain how they
had applied the main and supporting principles set out in Section 1. However,
theresulting narrative reporting was lengthy and tended to include much boil er-
plate wording and the change to reporting only in respect of the main principles
isdesigned to reduce the amount of boiler-plate reporting. A parallel move may
reduce the reporting further; both the FRC, in the preamble to the 2008 Code,
and the FSA have stated that where a company has applied the Code’'s main
principles by complying with the associated provisions it should be sufficient
simply to report that this is the case. Where a company has taken additional
actions to apply the principles or otherwise improve its governance, the FRC
and FSA say that it would be helpful to shareholders to describe these in the
annual report.

The second part of the disclosure is a statement as to whether or not the
company has complied throughout the accounting period with the provisions
(as distinct from the principles referred to above) set out in Section 1 of the
Code. If there are instances of non-compliance, the company must specify the
Code provisions with which it has not complied, and (where relevant) for what
part of the period such non-compliance continued, and give reasons. The FRC,
in the preamble to the 2008 Code, stated that where a company has chosen
not to comply with one or more provisions of the Code, the company, in its
explanation, should aim to illustrate how its actual practices are consistent with
the associated principle and contribute to good governance.

A listed company is required to have its auditor review the corporate gover-
nance statement disclosuresin rel ation to nine of theforty-eight FRC Combined
Code provisions.

Disclosure and Transparency Rules

The FSA has introduced rules on corporate governance into the DTR. They
similarly apply for accounting periods commencing on or after 29 June 2008.
The rules require a company to have an audit committee (with minimum cri-
teria and responsibilities stipulated) and require various corporate governance
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disclosures to be included in a corporate governance statement: in the direc-
tors report; separately issued to accompany the annual report and accounts; or
made available on the company’s website (but with across-referencetoitin the
directors' report). Some of the disclosures are aready required by Sl 2008/410
to be in the directors' report. With one exception, all of the other corporate
governance requirements of the DTR will be satisfied if specific provisions of
the Code are complied with. The exception isthe requirement to give adescrip-
tion of the main features of the group’s interna control and risk management
systemsin relation to the consolidated financial reporting process.

Combined Code

For accounting periods commencing on or after 29 June 2008, the applicable
Code (and thus the one reported on under the Listing Rules) is the 2008 Code;
for periods prior to these the Code reported on isthe 2006 Code. There arevery
few differences between the two Codes, with the main changes being to remove
the prohibition on an individual chairing more than one FTSE 100 company
and to permit the company chairman of a smaller company (that is, outside
the FTSE 350) to serve on (but not chair) the audit committee where he or
she was considered independent on appointment as chairman (although if he
or she sits on the committee this has to be in addition to the two independent
non-executive directors already recommended in the 2006 Code).

The Code sets out principles and provisions on corporate governance, both
practice that companies should adopt and disclosure of practice, none of which
are mandatory under the Codeitself. The Code hasa‘comply or explain’ culture
ashasbeen the case sincethe Code'soriginal forerunner, the Cadbury Code, was
issued in 1992. The Listing Rules do not change this; they require disclosure of
whether or not the provisions were applied and detail of any departures. Some
commentators believe that companies should comply. However, the FRC, in
the preambleto the 2008 Code, emphasised the  comply or explain’ culture and
sought to promote it. The newly introduced DTR requirements on corporate
governance are, however, requirements. Hence in a few areas companies will
now be obliged to comply.

Schedule C to the Code usefully summarises the disclosure requirements
from all three sources (and runs to five-and-a-half pages). The section setting
out the provisionsfrom the Code that, if applied, lead to disclosure in the report
and accounts is reproduced below.

‘The Combined Code

In addition the Code includes specific requirements for disclosure which
are set out below:

The annual report should record:

* astatement of how the board operates, including a high level statement
of which types of decisions are to be taken by the board and which are
to be delegated to management (A.1.1);
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¢ the names of the chairman, the deputy chairman (where there is one),
the chief executive, the senior independent director and the chairmen
and members of the nomination, audit and remuneration committees
(A.12);

¢ the number of meetings of the board and those committees and individ-
ual attendance by directors (A.1.2);

* the names of the non-executive directors whom the board determinesto
be independent, with reasons where necessary (A.3.1);

¢ the other significant commitments of the chairman and any changes to
them during the year (A .4.3);

* how performance evaluation of the board, its committees and its direc-
tors has been conducted (A.6.1);

¢ the steps the board has taken to ensure that members of the board, and
in particular the non-executive directors, develop an understanding of
the views of major shareholders about their company (D.1.2).

The annual report should also include:

* a separate section describing the work of the nomination committee,
including theprocessit hasused in rel ation to board appointmentsand an
explanation if neither external search consultancy nor open advertising
has been used in the appointment of a chairman or a non-executive
director (A.4.6);

¢ adescription of the work of the remuneration committee as required
under the Directors Remuneration Report Regulations 2002, and
including, where an executive director serves as a non-executive direc-
tor elsewhere, whether or not the director will retain such earnings and,
if so, what the remuneration is (B.1.4);

* an explanation from the directors of their responsibility for prepar-
ing the accounts and a statement by the auditors about their reporting
responsibilities (C.1.1);

¢ astatement from the directorsthat the businessisagoing concern, with
supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary (C.1.2);

* areport that the board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the group’s system of internal controls (C.2.1);

* a separate section describing the work of the audit committee in dis-
charging its responsibilities (C.3.3);

¢ wherethereis no internal audit function, the reasons for the absence of
such afunction (C.3.5);

¢ where the board does not accept the audit committee’'s recommendation
on the appointment, reappointment or removal of an external auditor, a
statement from the audit committee explaining the recommendation and
the reasons why the board has taken a different position (C.3.6); and

¢ anexplanation of how, if theauditor provides non-audit services, auditor
objectivity and independence is safeguarded (C.3.7).

The following information should be made available (which may be met
by placing the information on awebsite that is maintained by or on behalf
of the company):
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¢ theterms of reference of the nomination, remuneration and audit com-
mittees, explaining their role and the authority delegated to them by the
board (A.4.1, B.2.1 and C.3.3);

¢ the terms and conditions of appointment of non-executive directors
(Ad4)...;and

¢ where remuneration consultants are appointed, a statement of whether
they have any other connection with the company (B.2.1).

The board should set out to shareholders in the papers accompanying a
resolution to elect or re-elect directors:

¢ sufficient biographical detailsto enable sharehol dersto take aninformed
decision on their election or re-election (A.7.1);

¢ why they believe an individual should be elected to anon-executiverole
(A.7.2); and

¢ on re-election of a non-executive director, confirmation from the chair-
man that, following forma performance evaluation, the individual’s
performance continues to be effective and to demonstrate commitment
to the role, including commitment of time for board and committee
meetings and any other duties (A.7.2).

The board should set out to shareholders in the papers recommending
appointment or reappointment of an external auditor:

¢ if the board does not accept the audit committee's recommendation,
a statement from the audit committee explaining the recommendation
and from the board setting out reasons why they have taken a different
position (C.3.6).’

An appendix to Schedule C to the 2008 Code highlights the overlap between
the requirements of the FSA’s DTR and the Code’s provisions.

Schedule C a so points out that the Turnbull Guidance and the Smith Guid-
ance contain further suggestions regarding disclosures that could be included
in the internal control statement and the audit committee report respectively.
The disclosures set out in the Turnbull report on internal controls are as
follows:

‘Four — The board’s statement on internal control

33 Theannual report and accounts should include such meaningful, high-
level information as the board considers necessary to assist share-
holders understanding of the main features of the company’s risk
management processes and system of internal control, and should not
give amisleading impression.

34 Inits narrative statement of how the company has applied Code Prin-
ciple C.2, the board should, as a minimum, disclose that there is an
ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the signifi-
cant risks faced by the company, that it has been in place for the year
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under review and up to the date of approval of the annua report and
accounts, that it is regularly reviewed by the board and accords with
the guidance in this document.

35 The disclosures relating to the application of Principle C.2 should
include an acknowledgement by the board that it isresponsible for the
company’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effective-
ness. It should also explain that such a system is designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

36 In relation to Code Provision C.2.1, the board should summarise the
process it (where applicable, through its committees) has applied in
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control and con-
firm that necessary actions have been or are being taken to remedy
any significant failings or weaknesses identified from that review. It
should also disclose the process it has applied to deal with material
internal control aspects of any significant problems disclosed in the
annual report and accounts.

37 Where a board cannot make one or more of the disclosures in para
graphs 34 and 36, it should state this fact and provide an explanation.
The Listing Rules require the board to disclose if it has failed to con-
duct areview of the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal
control.

38 Where materia joint ventures and associates have not been dealt with
as part of the group for the purposes of applying this guidance, this
should be disclosed.’

As suggested by the above list, the disclosures on corporate governance are
lengthy and often run to seven to ten pages (excluding the report on directors
remuneration). Even taking account of any possible reduction in disclosure
regarding how the Code's principles have been applied (discussed under ‘List-
ing Rules above), the disclosures look set to remain lengthy.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

Code provision C.1.1 states that: ‘ The directors should explain in the annual
report their responsibility for preparing the accounts and there should be a
statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities’. One of the
auditing standards governing the work of the auditors requires the audit report
to include a reference to the description of the directors’ responsibilities or,
where one has not been included in the report, a description of those responsi-
bilities. Not al of the directors' responsibilities are listed in the responsibility
statement. Both the Combined Code and the auditing standard deal only with
the directors responsibilities in respect of the preparation of the financial
Statements.
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The Companies Act 2006 (ss. 170-81) sets out a statutory statement of
directors' dutieswhich apply to al directors, including non-executive directors.
The duties are as follows:

¢ duty to act within the powers conferred by the company’s constitution;

¢ duty to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members
asawhole;

¢ duty to exercise independent judgement;

¢ duty to exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence;

¢ duty to avoid conflicts of interest;

¢ duty not to accept benefits from third parties; and

e duty to disclose any interest in a proposed transaction or arrangement
with the company.

This is not an exhaustive list of directors’ duties contained in statute. For
example, directors aso have a duty to deliver accounts and reports to the
Registrar, but this is not contained in the Act’s section on general duties of
directors. Neither does it codify every duty contained in common law; for
example, it does not codify the directors duty to consider the interests of
creditors when the company is on the verge of insolvency.

Although these duties are newly introduced into legislation, they do not
relate to the preparation of accounts and so they do not have to be referred
to in the statement of directors' responsibilities that is needed to satisfy the
Combined Code and the auditing standard. However, regarding the business
review required to be included in the directors’ report, the Act states that its
purpose isto inform members of the company and help them to assess how the
directors have performed their duty, under s. 172, to promote the success of the
company. See below under directors’ report.

The Transparency Directive introduced, for accounting periods beginning
on or after 20 January 2007, a requirement for a responsibility statement. The
requirement has been incorporated by the Financial Services Authority into
its ‘Disclosure and Transparency Rules (‘DTR’). The DTR require that the
persons responsible within a listed company (that is, the directors) make a
responsibility statement setting out that to the best of their knowledge:

(a) thefinancia statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set
of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabili-
ties, financial position and profit or loss of the listed company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as awhole; and

(b) the management report includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

The DTR also require that the name and function of any person who makes a
responsibility statement is clearly indicated in the responsibility statement.
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Both statements (a) and (b) above could be incorporated into the exist-
ing directors’ responsibility statement. Alternatively, statement (b) could be
included in the directors’ report.

Anexampleof astatement of directors' responsibilities, for alisted company
using IFRS in its single entity accounts as well as in its group accounts,
that would satisfy the Combined Code and the auditing standard and that is
combined with the statements required by the DTR is set out in Box 20.1.

Directors’ report

Section 415 of the 2006 Act requires the directors of all companies to prepare
adirectors’ report.

Much of the content of the directors' report as required by the 2006 Act
comes from the reguirements in the 1985 Act, two significant parts of which
had only been added in 2005: the requirement for a Business Review and the
requirement for the directors statement regarding disclosure of information
to the auditors. The content requirements have been further added to by the
2006 Act: in particular, the 2006 Act added to the required content of the
Business Review. Thereis quite alarge overlap between the content required in
aBusiness Review and that recommended by the ASB for an OFR (see below).

Requirements for the directors' report include:

* principal activities of the group;

e names of company directors,

e disclosure of any qualifying indemnity provision for the benefit of one
or more directors;

* the amount (if any) which the directors recommend should be paid as
dividend;*

¢ a statement (unless the company has taken advantage of an exemption
from audit) to confirm, for all directorsin office at the time the report is
approved, the following:

o so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the company’s auditor is unaware (relevant information is
defined as ' information needed by the company’s auditor in connection
with preparing hisreport’); and

o each director has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken
as a director in order to make him- or herself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware
of that information;

e abusiness review* containing —

o afair review of the group’s business, being, a balanced and compre-
hensive analysis of the development and performance of the group’s
business during the financial year and the position at the end of the
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Box 20.1 Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report,
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Direc-
tors' Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for
each financia year. Under that law the directors have prepared the group
and parent company financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors have also elected to
comply with IFRSsissued by the International Accounting StandardsBoard
(IASB).! Thefinancial statements are required by law to give atrue and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and the group and of the profit
or loss of the group? for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

* select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

¢ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

o dtate that the financia statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union and IFRSs issued by IASB.

Thedirectorsare a so required by the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of
the Financia Services Authority and by the Companies Act 2006 to include
a fair review of the business and a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the group and company.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and the group and to enable them to ensure that the financia state-
ments and the Directors' Remuneration Report comply with the Companies
Act 2006 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the company and the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the company’s website. Information published on the company’s website
is accessible in many jurisdictions. Legidlation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.®

Directors’ statement pursuant to the Disclosure and Transparency
Rules

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed in [refer to
section of annual report containing details of directors] confirm that, to the
best of each person’s knowledge and belief:
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 the financia statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabili-
ties, financia position and profit [loss] of the group and company;
and

* thebusinessreview” contained in the directors’ report* includes afair
review of the development and performance of the business and the
position of the company and group, together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

By order of the board
Name

Company Secretary
Date

1 This sentence would not be included if the accounts complied with |FRS as adopted by the
EU but not also full IFRS.

2 Thisassumesthat the parent company takesthe s. 230 exemption in the Companies Act 1985
and does not present the parent company income statement.

3 This paragraph only needs to be included if the financial statements are included on
the company’s website, and need not be included in the printed version of the financial
statements.

4 Insert here whichever name has been used for the review and wherever it is located within
the annua report.

This statement assumes that the directors have given a separate statement about going
concern under provision C.1.2 of the Combined Code and LR 9.8.6R(3).

year, consistent with the size and complexity of the business, including,
to the extent necessary:

e analysis using financial key performance indicators and, unless
medium-sized, other, including environmental and employee, key
performance indicators;

* (quoted companies only) main trends and factors likely to affect
the future development, performance and position of the group’s
business;

* (quoted companies only) information, including policies and effec-
tiveness of those policies, about: environmental matters (including
the impact of the business on the environment); employees; and
socia and community issues (or state which information has not
been included);

* (quoted companies only) information about persons, so long as
it is not seriously prejudicial to such person and contrary to the
public interest, with whom the company has contractual or other
arrangements which are essential to the business (or state which
information has not been included);
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o description of principal risks and uncertainties facing the group;

if any information, required above to be included in the business review,
about impending developments or matters in the course of negotiation
would, in the opinion of the directors, be seriously prejudicial to the
interests of the company, it may be omitted;

¢ likely future devel opments;*

¢ political donations and expenditure;

e charitable donations;

« financial risk management objectives and policies and the group’s expo-
sureto pricerisk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk;*

e company’s acquisition of its own shares;

* employment of disabled people;

¢ employee involvement;*

¢ policy and practice on payment of creditors;*

* (publicly traded companies only) various, including details of the com-
pany’s capital structure, restrictions in transferring shares, restrictions
in voting rights, significant shareholders, significant change of control
clauses, and agreements for compensation for loss of office on atakeover
bid.

* not required by companies subject to the small companies regime.

In addition, the Listing Rules add some further disclosures, for example, the
interests of directors in the company’s shares. The DTR now requires various
disclosures on corporate governance to be included in the directors' report,
although this can be included by means of a cross-reference — see corporate
governance above.

The requirements have tended to produce a report containing a somewhat
eclectic collection of information, much of it introduced as political imperative
or fashion of the day. Especialy in the case of listed companies, where the
disclosure of the ‘business review’ tends to be addressed in much more detail
in the OFR, with the directors’ report containing a cross-reference to the OFR,
the directors' report isleft as arather odd document.

The Act states that ‘the purpose of the business review is to inform mem-
bers of the company and help them assess how the directors have performed
their duty under s. 172 (duty to promote the success of the company)’. See
above for a discussion of the directors' duties (under statement of directors
responsibilities).

The Financial Reporting Review Panel’s (see chapter 4) scope was recently
extended to include directors' reports, including the businessreview. The Panel
has stated, inter alia, that: ‘In its consideration of business reviews, the Panel
will consider whether the review is consistent with the accounts and with
other material included in the Annua Report and whether it is balanced and
comprehensive in the sense that it deals even-handedly with the positive and
negative aspects of the development, performance and position of the business'.
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The 2006 Act (s. 463) gives ‘safe harbour’ to directors in respect of state-
ments made within the directors’ report that subsequently prove to be untrue
or misleading and in respect of information not included that should have been
included, provided that the directors did not know at the time of making any
such statements that they were untrue or misleading (or were reckless as to
whether they were untrue or misleading) or, in the case of an omission, there
was not a dishonest concealment of facts. It is expected that this ‘ safe harbour’
would also apply to business review disclosures contained within an OFR
provided they are cross-referenced from the directors' report.

Operating and financial review

The OFR has been for some years, and remains today, a voluntary statement
published by most listed companies and some other public interest companies.
It is primarily a narrative statement outside the audited financial statements,
but part of the annual report. It is similar to the US * Management’s discussion
and analysis'. The content of OFRs has generally followed the non-mandatory
guidance issued by the ASB (originally in 1993 and subsequently updated, the
last update being in 2006). Whilst a number of companies head their narrative
report with thetitle * Operating and Financial Review’, not all do so; others, for
example, include the relevant content under the heading of ‘ Chief Executive's
review’ or in anumber of separately headed reports.

Recent government action

Whilst this non-mandatory approach has been reasonably successful, the DTI
took the view that narrative reporting across a wider range of issues than
just financial performance was increasingly important. Hence they brought
forward proposals for legislation in May 2004 for listed companies to prepare
a statutory OFR. Final regulations were passed into law in March 2005, being
effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 April 2005, requiring
quoted companies to prepare and publish an OFR. A new style of document, a
‘Reporting Standard’, was devel oped by the ASB on the OFR to complement
the legidation, as the legislation was not itself detailed.

Unexpectedly, in November 2005, Gordon Brown, then the Chancellor of
the Exchequer, announced that the statutory regquirement for an OFR would
be withdrawn. Regulations repealing the requirement came into force in Jan-
uary 2006. The reason given was that other new requirements which were
simultaneoudly introducing a business review into the directors' report (see
above), in order to implement an EU Directive, had a core in common with
the OFR requirements and that government policy is not to impose regulatory
reguirements on business in excess of those needed to implement Directives.

Reporting Standard 1 was withdrawn by the ASB as it no longer had
any statutory underpinning. The document was converted into a best practice
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statement and issued as ‘ Reporting Statement 1', retaining the abbreviated title
of RS 1. Themain difference between the Reporting Standard and the Reporting
Statement is the adoption of language appropriate for a voluntary document
rather than a mandatory one.

ASB Reporting Statement

As stated above, the ‘Reporting Statement’ on the OFR is persuasive rather
than mandatory. It is aimed at quoted companies, but is also applicable to any
other entities preparing an OFR. Quoted companies were the audience of the
legislation before its withdrawal and were defined as those admitted to the
Official List; or officialy listed in the European Economic Area; or admitted
to either the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ.

RS 1 is principles-based, recommending that directors prepare an OFR
addressed to members that:

o reflects the directors' view of the business;

focuses on matters that are relevant to members;

has a forward-looking orientation;

complements as well as supplements the financial statements;
is comprehensive and understandable;

¢ isbalanced and neutral; and

* iscomparable over time.

The OFR should provide a balanced and comprehensive analysis of:

« the development and performance of the business during the year;

¢ the entity’s position at the year end;

¢ the main trends and factors underlying the development, performance
and position of business of the entity during the year; and

¢ the main trends and factors likely to affect future development, perfor-
mance and position,

to help members to assess an entity’s strategies and the potential for those
strategies to succeed.

The statement provides a basic framework for disclosure, but allows direc-
torstheflexibility to tailor the OFR to an entity’s particular circumstances. The
framework covers:

* the nature, objectives and strategies of the business, including a descrip-
tion of the environment in which it operates,

¢ the development and performance of the business (for current and future
periods);

* theresources, principal risksand uncertainties and relationshipsthat may
affect the entity’s long-term value; and
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* the position of the business (including a description of the capital struc-
ture, treasury policiesand objectivesand liquidity of the entity for current
and future periods).

In satisfying the above, information should be given about: persons with whom
the entity has contractual or other arrangements which are essentia to the
entity’s business; employees; receipts from, and returns to, membersin respect
of shares held by them; environmental matters, including the impact of the
business on the environment; and social and community issues. Additionally,
all other matters that the directors consider to be relevant should be disclosed.
For environmental matters, employees and social and community issues, the
disclosure should include detail s of the entity’s policies and the extent to which
they have been implemented.

Directors should, to the extent necessary to meet the framework recom-
mendations, disclose the key performanceindicators (KPIs), financial and non-
financial, judged to be effective in measuring delivery of their strategies and
in managing their businesses. Disclosures that should be made for each KPI
included in the OFR are set out in RS 1.

Disclosure need not be given of impending devel opments or mattersin the
course of negotiation if, in the opinion of the directors, they would be seriously
prejudicia to the entity’s interests.

Publication of an OFR on a voluntary basis is in our view a useful and
important part of corporate reporting and most listed companies present one.
However, as noted above, it isvoluntary. If acompany does not wish to publish
an OFR, it is till subject to the statutory requirement to publish a business
review, asdiscussedintheearlier sectionondirectors' reports. Therequirements
of a business review are similar to the OFR recommendations, but are less
extensive.

Directors’ remuneration

By historical standards and compared with practice in most other countries,
the current UK requirements for the disclosure of directors remuneration are
extremely detailed, onerous and complex, especially in the case of listed com-
panies. It is a tribute to the complexity of the requirements that a comprehen-
sive treatment of the subject (as in PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Manual of
Accounting — Management Reports and Governance 2008 (CCH)) takes over
one hundred pages. The details of directors' remuneration, taking the form of
a separate report which needs to be approved by membersin general meeting
in the case of quoted companies, is aso one of the most widely read parts of a
company’s annual report.

Therequirementsinthisareaare primarily thosein the Companies Act 2006
and its supporting statutory instruments (SI 2008/410 for large and medium-
sized companies and S| 2008/409 for small companies). The Listing Rulesaso

207



Accounting Principles for Non-Executive Directors

208

include requirements, which for the most part duplicate those in the Act, but
aso contain some additional disclosures. Accounting standards do not cover
this area

Historically, in the UK, disclosure used to be required of ‘directors’ emolu-
ments’ and it is emoluments to which anumber of companies continueto refer.
Then, for a period of time, both the legidation and the Listing Rules referred
to both directors' ‘remuneration’ and ‘emoluments'.

Until the 2006 Act, generally, ‘remuneration’ was used to refer to the total
package payableto directors, comprising sal ary, benefits, annual bonuses, long-
term bonuses, whether payablein cash, shares or something el se, share options,
pensions, etc. and ‘emoluments’ usually meant total remuneration excluding
share options, long-term bonuses and pensions. What is within emoluments
(defined in this way) will depend upon a director’s particular package and
could vary from year to year, but in the main, emoluments tends to be the
aggregate of salary, benefits and annual bonuses.

Now the regulations made under the 2006 Act and the Listing Rules refer
mainly to‘ remuneration’ and havevery few referencesto emoluments, although
they sometimes use the term ‘remuneration’ to mean what has conventionally
in the past been referred to as ‘emoluments’. In this section we will use the
terms as conventionally used in the past.

The difference between a share option scheme and a long-term incentive
plan is sometimes non-existent in legal terms. In practice, the term ‘share
option’ isgenerally used to refer to an option with an exercise price (other than
anominal exercise price) and long-term incentive plan tends to be used to refer
to schemes where thereis no (or only anominal) exercise price.

Directors’ remuneration report

Quoted companiesmust prepareadirectors’ remuneration report and thishasto
be approved by the membersin general meeting. The content for the directors
remuneration report islargely dictated by regulations, but the Listing Rules do
require some additional details to be disclosed. Where information is required
to be given for each director, the directors' names must be disclosed so that it
is clear what relatesto each individual director. Part of the report isrequired to
be audited and reference is made to this in the auditor’s report. The required
content of the directors' remuneration report includes:

Not subject to audit:

¢ names of the members of remuneration committee at the time when the
committee considered remuneration for the year;

* namesand details of persons (which might include adirector whoisnot
amember of the committee or might include acompany) that materially
assisted the committee to determine remuneration for the year;

e statement on the company’s policy on directors' remuneration for the
following and subsequent financial years, including specified details
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such as a summary, for each director (who has served as a director
since the balance sheet date), of the performance conditions attaching
to share options and long-term incentive schemes (thisincludes naming
comparator companies or index if used), explaining the relative impor-
tance of performance-rel ated and non-performance-rel ated elementsfor
each director, and explaining the company’s policy on the duration of
contracts, notice periods and termination payments;

* (effective for periods commencing on or after 6 April 2009) statement
of how pay and employment conditions of employees of the group were
taken into account when determining directors' remuneration for the
year;

¢ performance graph showing Total Shareholder Return (TSR) for the
company and for a named index for the last five years; and

* details of directors service contracts. date, unexpired period, notice
period and any provision for compensation payableon early termination.

Subject to audit:

* emoluments, analysed into itscomponents(e.g. salary, annual bonusand
benefits-in-kind), and compensation for loss of office, for each director;

¢ the nature of any benefits-in-kind;

* details about share options held by each director (including exercise
prices and summary of performance conditions);

¢ details about long-term incentive schemes for each director (including
the share price at the date of award and a summary of performance
conditions for interests awarded or vested in the year);

¢ contributions payable to a defined contribution scheme and various
details (including accrued benefitsand transfer val ue of accrued benefits)
in respect of defined benefit pension schemes for each director; and

e compensation for past directors.

Notes to the accounts

Whether or not a company is required to present a directors remuneration
report, all companies have to give specified details of directors’ remuneration
in the notes to the accounts. The information required in the notesis much less
thanisincluded in thedirectors’ remuneration report; the actual detail differing
between quoted companies, small companies and al other companies. For
example, quoted companies have to include the foll owing amountsin the notes
to the accounts:

* aggregate emoluments;

* aggregate gains made by directors on the exercise of share options;

* aggregate amounts receivable in respect of long-term incentive schemes;
and

* aggregate value of company contributionsto defined contribution pension
schemes; and
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¢ the number of directors to whom benefits are accruing in respect of (1)
defined contribution pension schemes and (2) defined benefit pension
schemes.

Some quoted companiesincludein their notesto the accounts across-reference
tothedirectors' remuneration report where the aboveinformation can befound.
Particular careis, however, needed to ensure that the cross-reference isonly to
audited information.

Related-party relationships and transactions

Accounting standardsrequire disclosure by companiesof related-party relation-
ships and transactions. The international standard (IAS 24) is broadly similar
to the UK standard (FRS 8), but see below for key differences.

The underlying reason for the disclosure requirements is that a reader of
accounts will assume, unless told otherwise, that the transactions are with
third parties and are at arm’s length prices. If this is not the case, the reader
needs to be put on notice, so that he or she can bear the fact in mind when
reading the accounts. For example, a transaction between related parties may
be at a non-market price resulting in one party making aloss, or a sub-normal
profit, or on the other hand an above-market margin on the transaction. Without
knowing that some transactions were between related parties, the non-market
profit margins shown in the financia statements would be perplexing.

It is important to note that there is no requirement to substitute an arm’s
length pricefor the actual price charged totherelated party. Itismerely amatter
of factual disclosure of the relationship that subsists and the transactions that
have taken place.

A key part of the standards is the definition of who isregarded as arelated
party. Broadly speaking, both IAS 24 and FRS 8 define related party in terms
of control and influence. Under IAS 24 one party isrelated to an entity if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly:
e contrals, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the entity
(thisincludes parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries);
e hasan interest in the entity that gives it significant influence over the
entity; or
e hasjoint control over the entity;
(b) thepartyisanassociate (asdefinedin|AS28* Investmentsin Associates')
of the entity;
(c) the party isajoint venture in which the entity is a venturer (see IAS 31
‘Interestsin Joint Ventures');
(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the entity or
its parent;
(e) the party isaclose member of the family of any individual referred to in
(a) or (d);



Disclosures in published annual reports

(f) the party isan entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by, or for which significant voting power in such entity resides
with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or (e); or

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees
of the entity, or of any entity that isarelated party of the entity.

The disclosure requirements of IAS 24 may be summarised as follows:

* disclosureof control —that is, disclosure of the parent and, if different, the
ultimate controlling party; where neither produces financial statements
availablefor public use, the name of the next most senior parent that does
so has to be disclosed;

* disclosure of transactions and balances, including, separately for each of
(a) the parent, (b) entities with joint control or significant influence over
the entity, (c) subsidiaries, (d) associates, (€) joint ventures in which the
entity is a venturer, (f) key management personnel of the entity or its
parent and (g) other related parties:

nature of related party relationship;

o the amounts involved;

o amounts due at the balance sheet date, their terms and conditions,
including whether secured, and details of any guarantees given or
received;

o provisions for doubtful debts;

o amounts written off in the period; and

* disclosure of key management personnel compensation:

o intotal;

for short-term employee benefits;

for post-employment benefits;

for other long-term benefits;

for termination benefits; and

for share-based payment.

o}

0O o o o

Where the parent’s single entity financial statements, as well as its group
financia statements, are prepared using IFRS, the disclosures required by IAS
24 have to be given in both the single entity and group financial statements.
In the group financial statements, transactions between group companies that
have been eliminated on consolidation do not have to be disclosed. However,
where any of theseinvolved the parent, they will be disclosed initssingle entity
financial statements because intra-group transactions have to be disclosed in
the single entity financial statements of the transacting group company.
FRS8isasimilar standard to IAS 24. Some of the key differences are that:

* disclosureis not required in a parent’s single entity financial statements
if these are presented with consolidated financial statements;

e transactions with group companies are not required to be disclosed in the
single entity financial statements of many subsidiaries;
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* disclosureis not required of employee remuneration; and
¢ disclosureisrequired of the name of the transacting related party.

Proposals have been published to revise IAS 24 and, separately, to replace
FRS 8 with a new standard based on the revised IAS 24. One of the main
changes being proposed by the lASB isto require that transactions between an
associate of a company and a subsidiary of the same company be disclosed in
both the associate’'s and the subsidiary’s financial statements. At the moment,
the transactions would be disclosed in one but not the other.

In addition to the accounting standards, the Listing Rules, the Compa
nies Act and Sl 2008/410 call for some disclosures. For example, the Listing
Rules require disclosure of contracts, exceeding a size threshold, with a group
company in which a director of the company is or was materialy interested.
Some of the disclosures required by the Act are of advances and creditsto and
guarantees on behalf of directors — see the next section.

Transactions with directors

Transactions with directors is an area that has long been regulated by leg-
isation. The Companies Act 1985 contained various prohibitions and condi-
tional approval sregarding loans, quasi-loansand credit transactions, somewere
banned whilst otherswere allowed if specified conditions were met. For exam-
ple, companieswere precluded from making aloan to adirector of the company
or its holding company unless the loan was for a small amount (not more than
£5,000) or lending money was part of the company’s ordinary activities (and
certain conditions were met).

A number of changes to the regulation of transactions with directors were
made by the Companies Act 2006. Of these the most significant isthat if aloan,
guasi-loan or credit transaction was precluded before, then, generally, under
CA 2006 the prohibition is removed if the members approve the transaction.
Wherethetransactionisfor adirector of the holding company (e.g. asubsidiary
wishes to make a loan to a director of its parent company) then the approval
of the members of both companies (subsidiary and parent) is required if the
loan is to be permitted. As before, there are various de minimis and other
exceptions, for example, aloan or quasi-loan of £10,000 or less is permitted
without needing to obtain the approval of members.

Disclosure of such transactions has long been required by the Companies
Act 1985 regardless of whether or not the transactions were legal. Under s. 413
of the 2006 Act, disclosureisrequired of advancesand creditsto and guarantees
on behalf of directors.

Segment disclosure

A further area of disclosure required by accounting standards is segment dis-
closure. Likerelated-party disclosures, theinformation required by the relevant
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standards has no impact on the numbers in the income statement or balance
sheet, but it does enable a better understanding of the results and assets, and
therefore the financial situation of the whole company or group.

IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’ is the current standard and is applicable
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. IFRS 8 had a
difficult passage within the EU; its approval process was protracted with much
opposition to its adoption.

Underlying IFRS 8 is the premise that an external reader of the finan-
cial statements should see the company ‘through the eyes of management’.
The standard requires the starting point for determining reportable segments
(namely, those segments about which information is reported in the financial
statements) to be those revenue-generating activities whose operating results
are regularly reviewed by the entity’s ‘ chief operating decision maker to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its per-
formance’. These are called ‘operating segments’. Although each operating
segment may be separately reported in the financial statements (i.e. each one
may be a reportable segment), they may be combined if they are of a similar
nature to establish the reportable segments. A company’s CEO may well beits
‘chief operating decision maker’ asdefined by IFRS 8, but thisisnot automatic;
it could, for example, be agroup of people. IFRS 8 explainsthat the term ‘ chief
operating decision maker’ denotes a function and not atitle.

IFRS 8 also takes a management perspective in determining what is dis-
closed; the measure reported to the chief operating decision-maker is disclosed
even if thisis prepared on adifferent basisto the profits, assets, etc. recognised
in the income statement and balance sheet. The main disclosures are, for each
reportable segment, ameasure as reported to the chief operating decision maker
of:

e profit or loss;

* total assets; and

* liahilitiesonly if thisis regularly reported to the chief operating decision
maker.

If the following are included in arriving at segment profit/loss or are otherwise
regularly reported to the chief operating decision-maker, they are disclosed by
segment:

e third-party revenues;

e inter-segment revenues,

interest income;

interest expense;

depreciation and amortisation;

material items of income and expense disclosed in accordance with
para. 97 of IAS 1 (2007) — see ‘exceptiona items on page 83 in
chapter 9;
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 share of results from equity accounting;
¢ income tax expense; and
¢ material non-cash items other than depreciation and amortisation.

If the following are included in arriving at segment assets or are otherwise
regularly reported to the chief operating decision-maker, they are disclosed by
segment:

* investments accounted for by the equity method; and
¢ certain additions to non-current assets (principaly PPE and intangible
assets).

If the measure of profit reported to the chief operating decision-maker is before
interest and tax, this would be what is reported by segment. Neither interest
nor tax would then be reported by segment by that entity, whereas if another
entity reported after-tax profit to its chief operating decision-maker, then as
well as reporting this level by segment each of interest and tax would have to
be reported by segment.

Factors used to identify the segments and types of product and service in
each reportable segment are to be disclosed as well as reconciliations from the
total of all reportable segments to the relevant amount included in the income
statement and balance sheet. In addition, certain entity-wide disclosures are
required: an analysis of revenues for each product and service; a geograph-
ical analysis of revenues and of certain non-current assets (principaly PPE
and intangible assets); and information about the extent of reliance on major
customers.

These disclosures thus give a greater insight into how the profit and net
assets are made up and managed, enabling users to understand the components
of profit and to understand which parts of the overall business are showing
growth. Not all entities, however, are required to give these disclosures; IFRS
8 applies to entities whose securities are publicly traded or that file, or are in
the process of filing, financial statementswith a securities commission or other
regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instrumentsin a
public market.

For UK GAAPreporters, certain disclosures (limited to analysis of turnover)
arerequired by legislation® and thus haveto be given by all companies, although
small and medium-sized companies may omit the disclosure from the version
of the accounts filed with the registrar. SSAP 25 adds further requirements,
but only for public companies, banking or insurance companies or groups, and
other companies whose size exceeds ten times the Act’s criteria for defining
a medium-sized company (note, however, that many of these companies now
preparetheir financial statementsunder IFRS rather than UK GAAP). SSAP 25

1 Seepara. 68 of Schedule 1 to S| 2008/410 and para. 60 of Schedule 1 to SI 2008/409.
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reguireslessdisclosurethan theinternational standard; for companieswithinits
scopeit requires an analysis, by class of business and by geographica segment,
of:

e turnover;
* profit or loss before tax (before or after interest); and
* net assets.
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Appendix 1
50 questions for non-executive directors to ask

We set out here a selection of accounting questions that non-executive directors
might find appropriate to ask at meetings of the board or audit committee. The
questions are necessarily generic and it is for non-executive directors to consider
whether, or how, they apply in the case of a particular company.

10.

11.

Introduction (chapter 1)
Which GAAP do we use (UK GAAP, IFRS, etc.) in the group financial
statements?

Accounting in the UK and international harmonisation (chapter 2)

Which GAAP do we use in the financial statements of the subsidiaries?

If the group uses IFRS, have we considered whether the accounts of the
subsidiaries should also be on IFRS?

Which new IFRSs are we adopting this year and have they been adopted by
the EU?

(Where the company is also listed in the US) Do we adopt full IFRSs as well
as IFRSs as adopted by the EU?

The legal framework for accounting (chapter 3)

. Have we updated all of our references to the Companies Act 2006?

The accountancy profession and the regulatory framework for accounting
and auditing (chapter 4)

Have we had any letters from the Financial Reporting Review Panel or any
similar regulators?

What are the Financial Reporting Review Panel’s priority sectors for this
year?

Have the auditors given qualified or modified opinions on the financial state-
ments of any companies within the group?

Substance over form (chapter 5)

Are we sure that the financial statements reflect the substance of the transac-
tions that we have entered into?

Avre there any special purpose entities in, or related to, the group? Have we
consolidated them?
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12.

13.

14.

15.
16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.
22.

23.
24,

25.

26.

217.

Communicating accounting information (chapter 6)

Do we disclose, or should we disclose, ‘alternative performance measures’,
i.e. adjusted, or non-GAAP numbers? If so, are we careful to make sure that
they do not dominate the GAAP numbers?

Current trends in accounting (chapter 7)

How much do we use fair value for the valuation of assets and liabilities?
Does it help the understanding of our financial position or does it hinder?
How do we explain it?

Do our results present a smooth trend? If so, is that realistic? If they do
not, are we using narrative reporting to explain the meaning of the volatile
trend?

Individual entity accounts and consolidated accounts (chapter 8)

Have we identified all of the subsidiaries and SPEs for consolidation?

Avre there any other entities for which we have moral responsibility? How
are these being treated?

Presentation of financial statements (chapter 9)

Should we adopt the income statement plus separate statement of other
comprehensive income, or a combined statement?

Whichever is chosen, does it enable us to make our economic performance
clear?

Do we present separately from our trading transactions, in some way, our
gains and losses arising from fair valuing certain items?

Have we explained our accounting policies clearly? Do they relate to
transactions that we actually carry out? If we use IFRSs do our policies
adopt IFRS terminology or do they still retain UK GAAP wording in
places?

Earnings per share (chapter 10)

Do we disclose, or should we disclose, any adjusted EPS numbers?

If so, are we careful to make sure that they do not dominate the GAAP
numbers?

Mergers and acquisitions (chapter 11)

Avre our acquisitions accounted for under IFRS 3 or IFRS 3 (revised)?

Avre there any gains and losses reported in the income statement as a result
of acquisitions? Have we explained these properly?

Have we reviewed our goodwill and intangibles for impairment? If so, which
discount rate did we use and what were the other critical assumptions?

Interaction of accounting with tax (chapter 12)
What does the deferred tax liability (or asset) on the balance sheet mean?

Assets (chapter 13)
Do we have any non-current assets that are not being depreciated or amor-
tised? Is that justifiable? Have we tested them for impairment?
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28.

29.

30.
31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44.

45,

46.

47.

48.

Liabilities (chapter 14)

Have we provided for all liabilities such as warranties and other claims
against us?

Have we given proper disclosure of contingent liabilities?

Leases (chapter 15)

Have we properly identified all leases (even if they are not called leases)?
Have we correctly categorised our leases as operating leases or finance leases?
Are our judgements at the margin supportable?

Have we considered leases of land separately from leases of buildings?

Pensions (chapter 16)

What method of accounting are we adopting for defined benefit schemes
(immediate recognition of gains and losses or the ‘corridor’ method)?

Have we given proper disclosure of our pensions obligations?

Financial instruments (chapter 17)

Have we properly analysed our capital instruments as between equity and
debt?

Do our accounting policies make it clear which financial assets and liabilities
are carried at amortised cost and which are carried at fair value?

Have we given a clear presentation and explanation of any gains and losses
arising from measuring financial instruments at fair value?

Are our hedges effective commercially? Do they qualify for hedge account-
ing?

Have we provided all the disclosures required by IFRS 7?

Share-based payment (chapter 18)

Have we properly identified all the arrangements (with employees and others)

that fall within share-based payment?
Have we provided all the disclosures required by IFRS 2?

Realised and distributable profits (chapter 19)

Are we sure that this transaction does indeed generate a realised profit (espe-
cially for circular or structured transactions)?

Are we satisfied that we have sufficient distributable profits to support the
dividend that we are proposing?

Do we need a subsidiary to pay up a dividend to us so that we will have
sufficient distributable profits?

Do we need to prepare and file interim accounts to support the distribution?

Disclosures in published reports (chapter 20)

Have we fully embraced IFRS 8’s approach to segment reporting, that is,
allowing an external reader to see the group through the eyes of management?
Have we given all the required disclosures (statutory business review, direc-
tors’ report, directors’ remuneration report, etc.)?

Do we seek to disclose only the minimum or do we go beyond that, taking
a more enlightened attitude that fuller explanation (e.g. in the Operating
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49.

50.

and Financial Review) of strategy, markets, KPlIs, etc. will lead to a better
understanding of the group and hence be to our advantage?

Which Corporate Governance Combined Code are we reporting on this
year? Have we fully complied or do we need to disclose one or more
departures? What are our institutional shareholders’ views on our corpo-
rate governance?

Have we given the responsibility statements under the FSA’s Disclosure and
Transparency Rules?
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List of international accounting standards
(IFRSs and 1ASs) and IFRIC interpretations
as at 30 June 2008

International Accounting Standards

IFRS 1
IFRS 2
IFRS3
IFRS 4
IFRS 5
IFRS 6
IFRS7
IFRS 8

IAS1
IAS2
IAS7
IAS8
IAS10
IAS11
IAS 12
IAS14
IAS 16
IAS 17
IAS 18
IAS19
IAS20

IAS21
IAS 23
IAS 24
IAS 26
IAS 27

IAS 28
IAS 29
IAS30

First-time adoption of International Accounting Standards
Share-based payment

Business combinations (2004 and 2008 versions)

Insurance contracts

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources

Financial instruments: disclosures

Operating segments

Improvements to |FRSs

Presentation of financial statements (2005 and 2007 versions)
Inventories

Statement of cash flows

Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors
Events after the reporting period

Construction contracts

Income taxes

Segment reporting

Property, plant and equipment

Leases

Revenue

Employee benefits

Accounting for government grants and disclosure of government
assistance

The effects of changesin foreign exchange rates

Borrowing costs (1995 and 2007 versions)

Related party disclosures

Accounting and reporting by retirement benefit plans
Consolidated and separate financial statements (2005 and 2008
versions)

Investments in associates

Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies

Disclosures in the financia statements of banks and similar financial
institutions
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IAS31
IAS 32
IAS 33
IAS 34
IAS 36
IAS 37
IAS 38
IAS 39
IAS 40
IAS41

Interestsin joint ventures

Financia instruments: presentation

Earnings per share

Interim financial reporting

Impairment of assets

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Intangible assets

Financia instruments: recognition and measurement
Investment property

Agriculture

|ASB statements

Preface to international financial reporting standards including IFRIC and SIC
interpretations
Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements

Interpretations — SICs and IFRICs

IFRIC1

IFRIC 2
IFRIC 4
IFRICS5

IFRIC 6

IFRIC 7

IFRIC 8
IFRIC9
IFRIC 10
IFRIC 11
IFRIC 12
IFRIC 13
IFRIC 14

SIC7
SIC 10
SIC 12
SIC 13
SIC 15
SIC21
SIC 25

Changesin existing decommissioning, restoration and similar liabil-
ities

Members' sharesin co-operative entities and similar instruments
Determining whether an arrangement contains alease

Rights to interests arising from decommissioning, restoration and
environmental rehabilitation funds

Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market — waste
electrical and electronic equipment

Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29 *Financial report-
ing in hyperinflationary economies’

Scope of IFRS 2

Re-assessment of embedded derivatives

Interim financia reporting and impairment

IFRS 2 — group and treasury share transactions

Service concession arrangements

Customer loyalty programmes

IAS 19 — the limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their interaction

Introduction of the euro

Government assistance — no specific relation to operating activities
Consolidation — special purpose entities

Jointly controlled entities—non-monetary contributions by venturers
Operating leases — incentives

Income taxes — Recovery of revalued non-depreciable assets
Income taxes — Changes in the tax status of an entity or its share-
holders
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SIC 27

SIC 29
SIC31
SIC 32

Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the legal form of

alease

Service concession arrangements — disclosures

Revenue — Barter transactions involving advertising services
Intangible assets — Web site costs
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List of UK accounting standards (FRSs and
SSAPs), Statements and UITF Abstracts
as at 30 June 2008

Financial Reporting Standards

FRSSE Financial reporting standard for smaller entities

FRS 1 Cash flow statements

FRS 2 Accounting for subsidiary undertakings

FRS 3 Reporting financial performance

FRS 4 Capital instruments

FRS 5 Reporting the substance of transactions

FRS 6 Acquisitions and mergers

FRS 7 Fair values in acquisition accounting

FRS 8 Related party disclosures

FRS 9 Associates and joint ventures

FRS 10 Goodwill and intangible assets

FRS 11 Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill

FRS 12 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
FRS 13 Derivatives and other financial instruments: disclosures
FRS 15 Tangible fixed assets

FRS 16 Current tax

FRS 17 Retirement benefits

FRS 18 Accounting policies

FRS 19 Deferred tax

FRS 20 (IFRS 2) Share-based payment

FRS 21 (IAS 10) Events after the balance sheet date

FRS 22 (IAS 33) Earnings per share

FRS 23 (1AS 21) The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates
FRS 24 (1AS 29) Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies
FRS 25 (I1AS 32) Financial instruments: presentation

FRS 26 (1AS 39) Financial instruments: measurement

FRS 27 Life assurance

FRS 28 Corresponding amounts

FRS 29 (IFRS 7) Financial instruments: disclosure

Statements of Standard Accounting Practice

SSAP 4 Accounting for government grants
SSAP 5 Accounting for value added tax
SSAP 9 Stocks and long-term contracts
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SSAP 13
SSAP 19
SSAP 20
SSAP 21
SSAP 25

ASB statements

Statement of aims

Accounting for research and development
Accounting for investment properties

Foreign currency translation

Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts
Segmental reporting

Foreword to accounting standards

Statement of principles for financial reporting

Foreword to UITF Abstracts

Guidance notes on SSAP 21 ‘Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts’

Half-yearly reports

Preliminary announcements

Operating and financial review (RS 1)

Retirement benefits — disclosures

A review of narrative reporting by UK listed companies in 2006

UITF Abstracts

UITF Abstract 4
UITF Abstract 5
UITF Abstract 9
UITF Abstract 11
UITF Abstract 15
UITF Abstract 19

UITF Abstract 21

UITF Abstract 22
UITF Abstract 23
UITF Abstract 24
UITF Abstract 25
UITF Abstract 26
UITF Abstract 27

UITF Abstract 28
UITF Abstract 29
UITF Abstract 31

UITF Abstract 32
UITF Abstract 34

UITF Abstract 35
UITF Abstract 36

Presentation of long-term debtors in current assets
Transfers from current assets to fixed assets

Accounting for operations in hyper-inflationary economies
Capital instruments: issuer call options

Disclosure of substantial acquisitions

Tax on gains and losses on foreign currency borrowings that
hedge an investment in a foreign enterprise

Accounting issues arising from the proposed introduction of
the euro

The acquisition of a Lloyd’s business

Application of the transitional rules in FRS 15

Accounting for start-up costs

National insurance contributions on share option gains
Barter transactions for advertising

Revision to estimates of the useful economic life of goodwill
and intangible assets

Operating lease incentives

Website development costs

Exchanges of businesses or other non-monetary assets for
an interest in a subsidiary, joint venture or associate
Employee benefit trusts and other intermediate payment
arrangements

Pre-contract costs

Death-in-service and incapacity benefits

Contracts for sales of capacity
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UITF Abstract 38
UITF Abstract 39

UITF Abstract 40
UITF Abstract 41
UITF Abstract 42
UITF Abstract 43
UITF Abstract 44

UITF Abstract 45

Accounting for ESOP trusts

(IFRIC Interpretation 2) — Members’ shares in co-operative
entities and similar instruments

Revenue recognition and service contracts

(IFRIC Interpretation 8) — Scope of FRS 20 (IFRS 2)
(IFRIC Interpretation 9) — Reassessment of embedded
derivatives

The interpretation of equivalence for the purposes of s. 228A
of the Companies Act 1985

(IFRIC Interpretation 11) — FRS 20 (IFRS 2) — Group and
treasury share transactions

(IFRIC Interpretation 6) — Liabilities arising from partici-
pating in a specific market — waste electrical and electronic
equipment
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Table of origins for CA 2006 references

Chapter
1
3

Topic
What is GAAP
The Companies Act 2006

Accounting provisions of
the Act applying to IFRS
and UK GAAP companies

The requirement for group
accounts

Annual accounts and the
true and fair view

Approval, distribution
and filing of accounts

Exemptions and special
provisions

Accounting provisions of
Sl 2008/410 applying to
UK GAAP companies only

Audit reporting

CA 2006
ss. 393-474

Part 15
Sch. 1to SI
2008/410
Sch. 6 to SI
2008/410

ss. 394-7 & 407

ss. 398-406 & 408

s. 396
S. 404
s. 393

s. 414

ss. 434, 475-84,
495-7 and 503-6
ss. 419 & 422

s. 423

s. 430

s. 437

s. 441

ss. 454-7

Sch. 2 & Part 2
of Sch. 6 of Sl
2008/410

Sch. 3 & Part 3 of
Sch. 6 of Sl
2008/410

Sch. 1to SI
2008/410

ss. 495-7
ss. 503-6

CA 1985
SS. 226—62A

Part VII
Sch. 4to CA 85

Sch. 4A to CA
85

SS. 226, 226A,
226B & 227C

ss. 227-30

S. 226A
S. 227A
N/A

s. 233

ss. 235-6 and
249A-B

ss. 234A & 234C
s. 238

N/A

s. 241

S. 242

ss. 245-5C

Sch. 9 to CA 85

Sch. 9A to CA
85

Sch. 4 to CA 85

s. 235
s. 236
(cont.)
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Chapter

11

12

13

17

Topic
Audit reporting:
limitation of liability

Form v. substance
(financial statements to
give a true and fair view)

FRS 5 ‘Reporting the
substance of transactions’
(definition of subsidiary
undertaking)

Examples of FRS 5 in
practice in the UK
(definition of subsidiary
undertaking)

Background

Summary financial
statements

When to consolidate —
General approach

Exemption re. holding
company income statement

What to consolidate —
Exclusions from
consolidation

Statement of
comprehensive income —
income statement formats

Balance sheet

Share premium, merger
relief and group
reconstruction relief

HM Revenue & Customs
and the move to IFRS
Depreciation —
amortisation of goodwill

Equity shares in the
Companies Act

CA 2006

ss. 532-8
para. 8 of SI
2008/489

s. 393

s. 1162

s. 1162

ss. 393-474

ss. 426-9 and Sl
2008/374

ss. 398-402

s. 408

ss. 405(2) & (3)

Sch. 1to Sl
2008/410 and Sch.
1 to SI 2008/409

ss. 414 & 433
ss. 610-16

s. 407

ss. 393 & 396
together with para.
22 of Sch. 1to SI
2008/410

S. 548

CA 1985

s. 310
N/A

ss. 226-7B

s. 258

s. 258

Ss. 226—62A

s. 251 and Sl
1995/2092 (as
amended by SI
2002/1780 and
Sl 2005/2281)
ss. 227, 228,
228A & 229 and,
for small and
medium-sized
companies, 248
& 248A

s. 230

ss. 229(2) & (3)

Sch. 4 to CA 85
& Sch. 8to CA
85

s. 233
ss. 130-3

s. 2271C

SS. 226A &
227A together
with para. 21 of
Sch. 4

S. 744
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Chapter

19

20

Topic
Issue of shares
Treasury shares

Accounting under UK
GAAP

General rules on
distributions

Relevant accounts
TECH 01/08

Statement of directors’
responsibilities

Directors’ reports

Directors’ remuneration

Transactions with directors

Segment disclosure

CA 2006
s. 610
ss. 724-32

S1 2008/410 — Sch.

1 paras. 47-9 and

S1 2008/409 — Sch.

1 paras. 46 & 47

Part 23
s. 829
s. 830
s. 831

s. 836
ss. 837-9

s. 853
s. 838

ss. 170-81,
excl.s. 172(1)
s. 172(1)

ss. 415-9

Sch. 7 to SI
2008/410
s. 236

S. 463

ss. 420-2
Sch. 8 to SI
2008/410
s. 412

Sch. 5to SI
2008/410

ss. 197-214 & 223
s. 413

para. 68 of SI

2008/410 and para.

60 of SI 2008/409

CA 1985
s. 130
ss. 162-2G

Sch. 4, paras.
38-40

Part VIII
s. 263
s. 263
S. 264

s. 270
ss. 272-4

s. 262(3)
S. 272

N/A

5. 309(1)

ss. 234,
2347Z7A,
234778, 234ZA
& 234A

Sch. 7to CA 85

N/A
N/A

ss. 234B & 234C
Sch. 7A to CA
85

s. 232

Part | of Sch. 6
to CA 85

ss. 330-44
Part 1l of Sch. 6
to CA 85

para. 55 of
Sch. 4to CA 85
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Index

4th EU Directive 61
‘90 per cent test’ for finance leases 146

ACCA 35
Accountancy and Actuarial Discipline
Board 36, 38
accountancy bodies 35-40
accountancy firms’ manuals and
guidance 14
Accountancy Foundation 38
accountants’ role in capital markets
transactions 42-43
accounting
current trends 60-66
as decision-making tool 4
definition 3-5
as source of management
information 4
‘accounting mismatch’ in measuring
financial assets/liabilities 163
accounting policies 91-92
accounting principles in SI 2008/410 33
accounting profit, adjustment
of 115-116
example 120
accounting standards see also financial
reporting standards (FRSSs);
international accounting
standards (IFRSs, IASs);

statements of standard accounting

practices (SSAPs); see also
entries for individual standards
ASB Forward to 30

contrasting approaches of IASB, ASB

and FASB 63
development in other countries 17
EU structure for

standard-setting 20-21

expectations of effectiveness of
stronger standards 62

growth in volume of 61

history 15

in IFRS GAAP 13

international structure for
standard-setting 18-19

lists of 223-228

as part of GAAP 13-14

in UK GAAP 13

UK structure for
standard-setting 15-16

Accounting Standards Board (ASB) see

also ASB reporting statements

achievements 16

approach to bottom line 56

approach to standards contrasted to
FASB 63

approval and issue of UITF
Abstracts 37

development of FRSSE 31

development of SORPs 17

differences from ASC 16

formation 35

Forward to accounting standards 30

harmonising standards, role in 15-17

issue of standards 36

issues and withdraws Reporting
Standard 1 205-207

issues FRS 5 46

list of statements 227

as part of FRC 36

plans to retain FRSs 6, 7 and 10 112

role 17, 37

Statement of Principles 131

structure 37

Accounting Standards Committee (ASC)

decline 36
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differences from ASB 16
formation 15
as part of CCAB 35
accounting terminology, need for
precision 59
accounting terms used in agreements 12
accounts see also consolidated accounts;
individual entity accounts
components 5-7
composition of 80-81
preparation, filing and distribution
CA 2006 requirement for 80
‘corporate reporting supply
chain” 54-55
requirements for 52-54
presentation of 80-94
APMs 57-58
reasons for changes in 60
use and analysis of 58-59
accruals accounting 7, 33, 139, 148
acquisitions 100-114 see also merger
acquisition accounting 101-102,
105-106, 111
acquisition defined as transaction 43
choice of acquisition accounting 75
dividends out of pre-acquisition
profits, realised gains 191
fair value of acquisition
expenses 106-107
actuarial gains/losses
as comprehensive income 87, 152
UK GAAP/IFRS approaches
contrasted 153-154
actuarial profession, Morris Review
of 38
actuarial variation, choice of accounting
policies for 95
actuaries, role of 149
adjusted earnings numbers see alternative
performance measures (APMSs)
adjusted EPS 98-99
advertising, recognition on balance
sheet 124
agriculture, fair value accounting 64
AIM companies
AIM Rules 53
consolidated accounts 71
use of IFRS 21

alternative accounting rules in SI
2008/410 33
Alternative Investment Market (AlM) see
AIM companies
alternative performance measures
(APMs) 57-58
amortisation 128-129 see also
depreciation; impairment
amortised cost method 163-164, 170
financial assets/liabilities 163-164
financial instruments 162
goodwill 100, 101, 109-110
different approaches by UK GAAP
and IFRS 3 105-106
under IFRS 57
impairment instead of 129
intellectual property 129
analysts 55, 56, 58-59
‘annual report’, use of term 80
annual reports see accounts
APB bulletins 41
Application notes to FRS 5 46-47
approval of accounts, CA 2006 rules 31
ASB reporting statements 14
in IFRS GAAP 13
in UK GAAP 13
assets 124-129 see also amortisation;
depreciation; fixed assets;
intangibles; liabilities; tangible
fixed assets
carried at valuation 33
classification and
presentation 126-127
current assets, definition 127
current assets, 1AS 1
classification 127
for current tax, on balance sheet 89
for deferred tax, on balance sheet 89
definition asset 124
depreciation 127-129
disclosure 129
fair value of net assets
acquired 107-108
impairment 125-126
intra-group transactions, realised
profits 192-193
measurement of 125
in merger accounting 101
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assets (cont.)

mixed model for stating at cost and fair

value 64
non-current assets, 1AS 1
classification 127
not recognised 124-125
pension scheme assets,
valuing 150-151
presentation on balance sheet 88-90
recognition of 124-125
SI 2008/410 formats, shown in 32

assets held for sale, on balance sheet 89

associated companies, SI 2008/410
rules 34
associates
consolidated accounts 77-78
equity accounting 78
relative importance to joint
ventures 79
share of profit or loss entered on
income statement 82
‘audit certificates’ 41
audit committee 54
Smith Report guidance on committee
report 198
audit firm’s name on reports 42
Audit Inspection Unit 38
audit partner’s name on reports 42
audit reporting
Companies Act 2006 40
IAS Regulation 40
Auditing Practices Board (APB)
bulletins 41
formation 35
guidance on presentation of APMs in
accounts 58
as part of CCAB 38
as part of FRC 36
replaced by FRC 16
role 38

transfer from Accountancy Foundation

to FRC 38

Auditing Practices Committee (APC) 35

auditors
directors’ report, role in 40-41
limited liability 42
as part of ‘corporate reporting supply
chain” 55

auditors’ opinion 40-42
auditors’ report
definition 5
standardised wording 41

balance sheet 88-90
accordance with substance 33
approach to defined benefit
schemes 150
assets recognised/not recognised
on 124-125
IFRS balance sheet 127
CA 2006 rules 29
classification of shares 158-159
consolidated accounts, example 70
example of 8
in historical cost accounting 63
IAS 1 rules 29
increased emphasis on 65
integrated presentation of individual
entity and consolidated 93-94
liabilities shown on 135
in merger accounting 101, 104
purpose 6
S12008/410 formats 32, 90
summary format 130
banks
consolidated accounts 71
FRRP’s focus on 39-40
S12008/410 rules 32
bargain purchase where negative
goodwill 110
basic EPS 85, 95-97
basic rule of consolidation 34
BERR 122-123
bid-defence costs 84
binomial model of option pricing 174
biological assets
on balance sheet 89
measurement of value 125
Black-Scholes-Merton model of option
pricing 174
Board for Actuarial Standards (BAS) 36,
38
‘boiler plating’ in accounting policies 92
bonus scheme, deferred tax
(example) 117-118
book-keeping, definition 3-4
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bottom line 55-56
brands

amortisation 129

recognition on balance sheet 124
Brown, Gordon 205
business combinations

definition 101

IASB/FASB projects on 100, 108
business developments, effects on

accounting 60-61

business review 5-6

Cadbury Code 196
capital allowances 115-116
example 118-119
capital injections as total comprehensive
income 87
capital markets transactions, accountants’
role in 42-43
cash dividends 180
cash equivalents, definition 91
cash flow
difference to profit 7-9
division into operating, investing and
financing 91
cash flow hedge 166, 167
gains/losses 87
cash flow statement 6-7, 90-91
example of 8
in merger accounting 101
merger accounting 104
cash flow statement, CA 2006 rules 29
cash on balance sheet 89
cash-settled share-based payment
transactions 175-176
chairman’s report 5
charities’ choice of IFRS or UK
GAAP 28
Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants (CIMA) 35
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy (CIPFA) 35
choice of accounting policies, actuarial
variation 95
choice of dates for fair value
purposes 106
choice of IFRS or UK GAAP 17, 24,
28

by charities 28
listed groups 28
by non-listed/non-AIM groups 25
“‘clean opinion’ see unqualified audit
report
closure of business, profit or loss as
extraordinary item 84
Combined Code on Corporate
Governance 36
disclosures 196-199
on role of audit committee 54
commercial property sector, FRRP’s
focus on 39-40
Committee of European Securities
Regulators (CESR) 40
recommendations on presentation of
APMs 58
Committee on Accounting for Smaller
Entities (CASE) 37
Committee on Corporate Governance
36
Companies Act 1981 rules on formats for
accounts 61
Companies Act 1985 26, 27, 111
definition: profit 186
disclosure of fair value of
derivatives 170
disclosure of share capital and
debentures 170
TECH 01/08 based on 185
transactions with directors,
disclosures 212
Companies Act 1989
acquisition and merger
accounting 111
consolidated accounts 45-46
Companies Act 2006 12, 13, 26-32
application to IFRS and UK
GAAP 28-32
approval, distribution and filing of
accounts 31
audit reporting, general rules 40
choice of IFRS or UK GAAP 123
consolidated accounts 46, 72
content and scope of accounts and
reports requirements 27
definition associates and joint
ventures 77
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Companies Act 2006 (cont.)
definition fixed assets and current
assets 127
directors’ report 201-205
directors’ responsibilities 90
directors’ ‘safe harbour’ as to
untrue/misleading statements
205
disclosure of directors’
remuneration 207-208
distributions 180-181, 185
equity shares 159-160
exemptions 31-32
group accounts 29-30
group reconstruction relief
112-114
individual accounts rules 28-29
interim and initial accounts 183
merger relief 112-114
requirement to prepare, file
and distribute accounts 52,
80
s. 615 relief 113-114
segment disclosure 214
share premium 112-114
statement of directors’
responsibilities 200
summary financial statements 53-54
table of origins 229-231
timing of consolidated
accounts 71-72
transactions with directors,
disclosures 212
treasury shares 168
true and fair view 30-31
Companies Act group accounts 29
Companies Act individual accounts see
individual entity accounts
companies’ decisions, effect of earnings
expectations on 56-57
Companies House 52, 53
‘comply or explain’ culture of the
Combined Code 196
comprehensive income 87
actuarial gains/losses recognised
in 152
definition 183

consolidated accounts
associates 77-78
basic rule of consolidation 34
CA 2006 29-30
after changes in composition of
group 75
Companies Acts rules 45-46
definition 29
EU Regulation 17, 20-22
exclusion of subsidiaries 74
exclusions 73
exemption for holding company
income statement 74-75
FASB project to reform rules on
62
full or proportional consolidation,
choice of 75
harmonisation of accounting policies
in merger accounting 104
intra-group transactions, elimination
of 76-77
joint ventures 77-78, 78-79
proportional consolidation 75
minimum requirements for
IFRS 53-54
minority interests 75, 76
non-listed/non-AIM 25
presentation with or separate to
individual entity accounts 93-94
purpose 69-70, 76
techniques 75-77
what to consolidate 72-74
when to consolidate 71-72
‘consolidation packs’ 24
constructive obligations 132-133
Consultative Committee of Accountancy
Bodies (CCAB) 35
contingent consideration in acquisition
accounting 106
contingent liabilities
definition contingent liability 135
disclosure 134-136
fair value 108
continuing operations
basic and diluted EPS 85
basic EPS 97
diluted EPS 98
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contracts
accounting terms in 12
as financial liabilities 157-158
‘contribution holiday” 150
control
control v. ownership 73, 75
definition 72-73
IASB statement on de facto control 73
convertible debt 98
convertible loan stock, diluted EPS 98
copyrights, amortisation 129
corporate governance
disclosures 194-199
trends towards increasing 63
corporate governance report 5
‘corporate reporting supply chain” 54-55
corporation tax rates 116
‘corridor’ method of pensions
accounting 151-152
cost basis for tangible fixed assets 91-92
credit crunch 39-40, 165
current assets
classification 127
definition 127
IAS1 89
measurement of value 125
current liabilities
classification of 133-134
definition 134
IAS 189
role in business finance 134
current tax 117
assets and liabilities for, on balance
sheet 89
‘cushion’, adding further amount to
estimate as 133

Dearing Committee report 15, 36
debt and equity see also gearing
convertible debt 98
debt issue defined as transaction 43
distinction between 158
decisions by companies, effect of
earnings expectations on 56-57
declared, definition 86
declared dividends on income
statement 86

defective accounts, CA 2006 rules for
revision of 31
deferred tax 117-121
assets and liabilities for, on balance
sheet 89
defined benefit schemes 153
permanent differences 120
defined benefit schemes
accounting for 149-150
actuarial gains/losses as
comprehensive income 87
deferred tax 116, 153
definition and description 149
differences between IFRS and UK
GAAP 153-154
distributable profits 153-154
in notes 93
defined contribution schemes 148-149
definitions
90 per cent test” 146
accounting 3-5
accounting profit 115
accounts 80
accruals accounting 7
asset 124
associates 77
auditors’ report 5
basic EPS 96
book-keeping 3-4
bottom line 55
business combination 101
cash equivalents 91
cash flows 91
cash-settled share-based payment
transactions 175
comprehensive income 183
consolidated accounts 29
constructive obligations 132
contingent liability 135
control 72-73
current liabilities 134
‘declared’ 86
defined contribution scheme 148
depreciation 128
derivative 166
discontinued operations 83
earnings 55
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definitions (cont.)

earnings per share 55, 95

equity instrument 158

equity-settled share-based payment
transactions 173-175

exceptional items 83

fair value 107, 165

fair value defined 107

fair value less costs to sell 126

finance costs 81

finance lease 138

financial accounting/reporting 4

financial asset 157

financial instrument 157

financial liability 157-158

financial statements 80

GAAP 12-14

gains 186

gearing 59, 134

goodwill 109-110

group accounts 29

identifiable 109

IFRS 14,20

IFRS GAAP 13

individual accounts 28

intangible asset 109

joint venture 77

lease term 144

liability 130, 131

long-term incentive plan (LTIP) 208

management accounting 4

merger relief 112

minimum lease payments 143

‘net assets” 180

net realisable value (NRV) 126

‘non-subsidiary subsidiaries’ 45

operating lease 138

potential ordinary shares 98

present fairly 30

‘present value’ 126

profit 186

provisions 131

qualifying consideration 187

quasi-subsidiaries 46

‘readily convertible to cash” 188

realised profits and losses 184, 187

‘recoverable amount’ 125

‘recycling’ of gains 11
related party 210
remuneration 208
share-based payment transaction 172
share option 208
SOCIE 11
SORIE 11
statement of comprehensive
income 11-12
subsidiary 72
subsidiary undertaking 72
‘substantially all’ 146
tax base 118
total comprehensive income 87, 184
transaction 42-43
transaction costs 161
true and fair view 44
UK GAAP 12-13
value in use 126
‘whisper number’ 56
‘worth’ 125
demergers, IASB project on 108
Department for Business Enterprise and
Regulatory Reform (BERR)
122-123
depreciation 127-129 see also
amortisation
in adjusting accounting
profit 115-116
cost basis and valuation basis 91-92
definition 128
example 118-119
examples 120, 128
derivatives 6566, 166-167
definition derivative 166
disclosure under CA 1985 and
S12008/410 170
“fair value through profit and loss’
167
response to large-scale losses 62
developing countries, use of IAS by 18
diluted EPS 85, 95-96, 97-98
directors see also non-executive
directors; statement of directors’
responsibilities
responsibilities to present accounts 93
responsibilities under CA 2006 90
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transactions with, disclosures 212
untrue/misleading statements by, ‘safe
harbour’ as to 205

directors’ remuneration

disclosures 207-210

trends towards greater disclosure
63

directors’ remuneration report 5,
208-209

requirement for 40

directors’ report 5-6

auditors’ role 40-41

disclosures 201-205

extension of FRRP’s remit to
204-205

extension of FRRP’s role to cover
58

Listing Rules disclosures 204

SI12008/410 disclosures 196

Disclosure and Transparency Rules
(DTR) 14,52

directors’ statement
(example) 202-203

disclosures 195-196

disclosures under 7

in IFRS GAAP 13

requirement for statement of directors’
responsibilities 200-201

in UK GAAP 13

disclosures 7, 93

assets 129
audit committee report, Smith Report
guidance 198-199
Combined Code on Corporate
Governance 196-199
corporate governance
disclosures 194-199
directors’ remuneration 207-210
directors’ report 201-205
Disclosure and Transparency
Rules 195-196
expenses 82
fair value of derivatives 170
financial instruments 169
internal control statement 198-199
KPIs 207
liabilities 134-136

Listing Rules 195
directors’ report 204
note disclosures 194-215
OFR 205-207
related party relationships and
transactions 210-212
Reporting Statement 1 206-207
segment disclosure 212-215
share-based payments 177
share capital and debentures 170
S12008/410 33
statement of directors’
responsibilities 199-201
taxation, other comprehensive
income 87
transactions with directors 212
trend towards greater 62-63
discontinuance of IFRS accounts,
exceptions allowing 28
discontinued operations
basic EPS 97
diluted EPS 98
on income statement 82, 83-84
discounting, deferred tax 121
distributable profits 179-193
consolidated and individual entity
accounts distinguished 70-71
defined benefit schemes 153-154
effect of pension costs 154-155
examples 182
taxation 24-25
distribution of accounts, CA 2006
rules 31
distributions, rules on 180-181
dividends
IAS 1 disclosure 85
intra-group transactions, realised
profits 192
out of pre-acquisition profits, realised
gains 191
as total comprehensive income 87
types of 180
dividends per share 85-86
due-diligence, accountants’ role in 43

earn-out clause in sale and purchase
agreement 59
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earnings 55
at constant exchange rates 57
effect of expectations on company
decisions 56-57
before exceptional items 57
before goodwill amortisation 57
before goodwill amortisation and
exceptional items 57
before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA) 57
‘earnings game’ 55-57
earnings per share (EPS) 55, 85-86,
95-99
‘economic hedges’ 167
effective interest (amortised cost)
method 163-164, 170
embedded derivatives 167
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF)
(US) 14,22
emoluments 208
‘emphasis of matter’ paragraph 42
employee benefits, note disclosures 93
employee share ownership trusts 168,
177-178
Enron scandal 62
entities, types of 69
entity accounts see individual entity
accounts
environmental damage, constructive
obligations arising from 132
equity accounting
associates 78
investments shown on balance
sheet 89
equity instrument, definition 158
equity-settled share-based payment
transactions 173-175
equity shares, CA 2006
regulations 159-160
estimations in note disclosures 93
EU Regulation 1606/2002/EC 28
requirement to use IFRS for
consolidated accounts 61
European Union
accounting regulation 20-22
effect of 61
capital markets policy 20

structure for accounting standards

setting 20-21
examples

adjustment of accounting profit 116,
120

amortisation of financial
assets/liabilities 163-164

analysis of changes in shareholders’
equity 184

analysis of pension fund
deficit 151-152

annual charges for operating lease
139

balance sheet 8

calculation of basic EPS 97

calculation of temporary
differences 120

capital allowances 118-119

cash flow statement 8

consolidated balance sheet 70

constructive obligations 132

deferred tax 117-118

deferred tax on revaluation gains 122

depreciation 118-119, 120, 128

difference between pension scheme
opening/closing
surplus/deficit 151

directors’ statement, DTR 202-203

distributable profits 182

finance leases, accounting
for 140-142

form v. substance 47-50

gearing 134

goodwill in merger accounting 102

group reconstruction relief 113

hedging 166

income statement 8, 10

declared dividends 86
exceptional items 84, 85

initial measurement of financial
assets/liabilities 162

intangibles 109

issue of shares 160-161

liabilities shown on balance sheet
135

measurement of liabilities 133

merger relief 112-113
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modified grant date method of option
pricing 176
option-pricing models inputs 174
realised profits 189-193
realised/unrealised profits 179-180
recording investment at fair value 113
revaluation gains and deferred tax 122
s. 615 relief 114
share premium account 112
shareholders’ equity statement 9
statement of comprehensive
income 88
statement of directors’
responsibilities 202
tax computation 116
exceptional items 83
entered on income statement 82,
98-99
executive remuneration packages
response to scandals over size of 62
share options as part of 171
expenses, disclosure of 82
exposure draft of IFRS for SMEs 32
Extensible Business Reporting Language
(XBRL) as part of ‘corporate
reporting supply chain’ 55
external reporting
compliance aspect 4
decision-making aspect 4-5
extraordinary items, banned by FRS
3 84,98

failed sale of asset, form v. substance
applied to 47-49
fair value
acquisition accounting 103, 106-110
contingent liabilities 108
deferred tax 121
definition 107, 165
definition: fair value defined 107
derivatives, Companies Act 1985
disclosure 170
equity-settled share-based payment
transactions 174
fair value hedge 166, 167
“fair value option’ for financial
instruments 163

“fair value through profit and loss’,
method for derivatives 167
financial assets/liabilities 165-166
financial instruments 161-163
goodwill and intangibles in acquisition
accounting 108-110
greater use of 6
IASB’s objectives 166
less costs to sell 125-126
marking to model v. marking to
market 166
measurement of assets 125
in merger accounting 102, 103
merger accounting 104
modified grant date method of option
pricing 175
of net assets acquired 107-108
realised gains/losses in fair value
accounting 190
recording investment at (example)
113
reliable measurement of
intangibles 109
reorganisation costs 107-108
S12008/410 33
trends towards greater use of 63-65
filing of accounts, CA 2006 rules 31
final salary schemes see defined benefit
schemes
Finance and Leasing Association (FLA)
SORP 147
finance costs, inclusion on income
statement 81
finance leases 137
accounting for (example) 140-142
definition finance lease 138
disclosures 145
under IFRS 139-142
leases classified as 142-144
minimum lease payments 143, 146
substantially all, definition 146
financial accounting/reporting,
definition 4
Financial Accounting Standards Board
FASB (US) 14
approach to standards contrasted to
IASB and ASB 63
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FASB (US) (cont.)
joint project with IASB on business
combinations 100
project to reform rules on
consolidations 62
relationship with IASB 22-23
role and structure 22
financial assets/liabilities
‘accounting mismatch’ in
measuring 163
amortisation 163-164
on balance sheet 89
categories of financial assets 161,
162
categories of financial liability 163
definition financial asset 157
definition financial liability 157-158
fair value 165-166
“fair value option” 163
held for trading 163
initial measurement 161-162
recognition/derecognition 168
subsequent measurement 162
financial instruments 156-170
accounting standards 156
amortisation 162
definition financial instrument
157
disclosures 169
fair value accounting 64, 161-163
fair values, greater volatility through
greater use of 65-66
growth of 60
in notes 93
scope of 156
strengthening of standards on 62
under UK GAAP 169-170
Financial Reporting Council (FRC)
Board 36-37
formation and structure 36-38
opinion of Martin Moore QC to
30-31
preamble to Combined Code 196
replaces APB 16
role 15
Financial Reporting Review Panel
(FRRP)
annual report 2007 92, 93

extension of remit to directors’
reports 204-205
extension of role to cover directors’
reports 58
on further note disclosures for
estimates 93
as part of FRC 36
press release on choice of dates for fair
value purposes 106
report on implementation of IFRS 58,
92
role 15-16
role and activities 39-40
statement on Wiggins Group Plc case,
on revenue recognition 90-91
financial reporting standards (FRSs) 16,
226 see also entries for individual
standards
issue of 16
in UK GAAP 13
Financial Services Authority (FSA) 52
see also Disclosure and
Transparency Rules (DTR);
Listing Rules
summary of CESR recommendations
on presentation of APMs 58
financial statements see accounts
financial statements, definition 80
financing cash flow 91
fixed assets see also tangible fixed assets
definition 127
IAS 1 classification 127
impairment 65
fixed rate interest rate swap
gains/losses 87
fixed to floating interest rate swaps 166
floating to fixed swap 166
foreign currency forwards 166
foreign currency gains/losses as
comprehensive income 87
foreign subsidiaries, translation of net
assets of 87
form v. substance 44-51
leases 137
formats for accounts
CA 1981 61
S12008/410 32
forward contracts 166
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Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial
Statements (IASB) 30, 124, 131

FRS2 73

FRS 3 56, 82, 83, 84

FRS 4 169-170

FRS5 45-51, 74, 131, 137, 146

Application notes 46-47

FRS 6 100, 110-111, 112

FRS 7 100, 108, 112

FRS 8 210, 211-212

FRS 9 77-78, 78, 78-79

FRS 10 100, 108, 109, 112, 128, 129

FRS 11 65

FRS 12 65, 130, 131, 132-133

FRS 15 92, 128

FRS 16 117

FRS 17 148, 150, 152, 153, 189, 190

TECH 50/04 guidance 154

FRS 18 92

FRS19 121

FRS 20 171,178,191

FRS 25 33,169

FRS 26 64, 125, 169-170

FRS 29 169-170

FRSSE 24, 25, 31-32

GAAP, definition 12-14
gains
definitions 186
reporting in STRGL 10-11
gearing
definition 134
as ratio in loan agreement 59
GEC/AEI takeover 62
going concern status, doubts about,
‘modified’ audit reports 41-42
goodwill
acquisition accounting 103-104,
108-110
amortisation 100
exception to 129
under IFRS 57
bargain purchase where negative
goodwill 110
definition 109-110
different accounting approaches
109

different approaches by UK GAAP
and IFRS 3 105-106
impairment 65, 105-106, 128
measurement of value 125
in mergers and acquisitions 100, 101,
104
positive and negative goodwill 110
under UK GAAP 100-101
written off to reserves 70
‘gross equity method” 79
‘grossing-up’ in acquisition
accounting 103
group accounts see consolidated accounts
group reconstruction relief 112-114
group reconstructions
FRS6 111
IASB project on 108
merger accounting 104, 105
group reserves in merger accounting 104
‘group returns’ 24
groups
composition of 69, 72
consolidated accounts following
changes in 75
listed groups 28
measures to restrict mixed use of UK
GAAP and IFRS 122-123
use of merger accounting in
reconstructions 100
guarantee as obligation 132

half-yearly financial report
AIM Rules for Companies 53
FSA Rules 52

harmonisation of standards
ASB’s role in 15-17
as continuing process 61
current situation in UK 25
dividends out of pre-acquisition

profits, realised gains 192

in EU 20-22
form v. substance 50
IASB/FASB agreements 22-23
implications for UK 23-25
income statement 86
international harmonisation 17-18
merger accounting 112
UK GAAP with IFRS 24

243



Index

hedge accounting 167
hedging, examples 166
hedging instruments’ gains/losses as
comprehensive income 87
held for trading, financial
assets/liabilities 163
hire purchase
contract as lease 138
form v. substance 44
historical cost accounting 63
HM Revenue & Customs
acceptance of IFRS 24-25, 121-123
tax assessment by 71
holding company income statement,
exemption from
consolidation 74-75
housebuilders, FRRP’s focus on 39-40

IAS 1 90
actuarial gains/losses as
comprehensive income 152
balance sheet 88-89
requirement for 29
cash flow statement 92
classification of current/non-current
assets 127
composition of accounts 80-81
current assets and liabilities 89
disclosure of dividends 85
disclosure of material items of income
and expense 213
equity accounting 78
exceptional items 83
IASB ‘Basis of conclusions’ 82
liabilities 134
note disclosures 93
override for true and fair view 31
performance statements pre- and
post-amendment 11-12
revised version 56, 86
statement of comprehensive
income 81-82, 88
statement of comprehensive income,
requirement for 29
IAS 7 89,91
IAS 8 51,92
IAS 12 89, 117, 118, 119, 120-121, 134

IAS 16 91-92, 128
IAS 17
allocation of interest income 141
compared with SSAP 21 51, 137,
145-146
definitions of finance/operating
lease 138
disclosures 145
guidance on classifying leases into
finance or operating 142-143
IFRIC 4 guidance on 138
sale and leaseback
transactions 144-145
IAS 18 92
IAS 19 148, 150, 150-153, 153-154,
190
TECH 50/04 guidance 154
IAS 22 105
IAS 24 210, 210-211
IAS 27 72,72-73, 73
IAS 28 77, 77-178, 210
IAS 31 75,77, 78, 210
IAS 32 19, 33, 50-51, 156-158, 159,
169
IAS 33 85-86, 95, 95-96, 98, 98-99
IAS 34 52
IAS 36 65
IAS 37 65, 130, 131, 132-133
IAS 38 108, 128
IAS 39 19, 125, 157-158
Application Guidance 165
categories of financial
assets/liabilities 161
definition fair value 165
equivalents in UK GAAP 169-170
hedge accounting use criteria 167
mixed model approach 64
recognition/derecognition of financial
assets/liabilities 168
used in boiler plating 92
IAS 40 64, 180, 183
IAS 41 125
IAS group accounts 29
IAS individual accounts see individual
entity accounts
IAS Regulation, audit reporting under 40
ICAEW 35
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guidance on accounting for goods sold
subject to reservation of title 45
guidance on off-balance sheet
finance 45
release of TECH 7/03 184
TECH 50/04 154
website 185
ICAEW Recommendations 15
ICAI 35
ICAS 35
release of TECH 7/03 184
TECH 50/04 154
identifiable, definition 109
IFRIC 4 138, 146
IFRIC 8 177
IFRIC 11 177,178
IFRIC interpretations
equivalence to UITF Abstracts 37
list of 224
IFRS
acceptance by HMRC 24-25,
121-123
adoption 20, 22
amortisation of goodwill 57
application of 80
assets on balance sheet 127
authority 20
CA 2006 applied to 28-32
defined benefit schemes, contrast with
UK GAAP 153-154
definition 14, 20
fair value measurement of assets,
contrast with UK GAAP 125
finance leases 139-142
form v. substance in 50-51
FRRP report on implementation by
listed companies 58, 92
leases 138-145
minimum requirements for
consolidated accounts 53-54
mixture of UK GAAP and 122-123
obligation to continue using 29
operating leases 138-139
preparation of ‘group returns’ and
‘consolidation packs’ 24
SEC reform permitting use of 23
share-based payments 172-178

for SMEs 24, 25, 32
use by AIM companies 21
IFRS 1 “First time adoption of
International Financial Reporting
Standards’ 22
rules for converting to 70
IFRS 2 62,171, 172,191
disclosures 177
employee share ownership trusts
178
IFRIC 8 on scope of 177
modified grant date method of option
pricing 174-175
IFRS 3 100, 101, 103
application of 104-108
revised version 100, 101
IFRS5 73, 89, 134
IFRS 7 157, 169
IFRS 8 63, 213
IFRS accounts, exceptions allowing
discontinuance 28
IFRS GAAP
components 13
definition 13
reporting of performance under 6, 11
UK GAAP aligned with
gains, reporting of 11
immaterial information, omission of, SI
2008/410 rules 33
impairment see also amortisation
assets 125-126
goodwill 103-104, 109-110, 128
instead of amortisation 129
review 101
impairment of assets 65
impairment write-downs 83
income statement 6, 12 see also profit
and loss (P&L) account;
statement of comprehensive
income
combining into statement of
comprehensive income 81
content 81-82
example of 8, 10
exemption from consolidation for
holding companies 74-75
focus of 7
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income statement (cont.)
under IFRS 11
in merger accounting 101
merger accounting 104
presentation of items 84-85
UK GAAP/IFRS alignment 86
individual accounts requirements of CA
2006 28-29
individual entity accounts 25
distinguished from consolidated
accounts 69-71
presentation with or separate to
consolidated accounts 93-94
retention of UK GAAP for 94
tax assessed on 71
industry practice 14
information distributors as part of
‘corporate reporting supply
chain’ 55
information technologies as part of
‘corporate reporting supply
chain’ 55
initial accounts 181-182
initial public offering defined as
transaction 42
insurance companies
consolidated accounts 71
S12008/410 rules 32
intangibles
acquisition accounting 108-110
amortisation 129
on balance sheet 89
definition: intangible asset 109
different approaches by UK GAAP
and IFRS 3 105
examples 109
impairment 65
measurement of value 125
reliable measurement of fair value
109
intellectual property, amortisation 129
interest rate swap 166
interest rate swap, gains/losses for fixed
rate 87
interim accounts 181-183
interim management statement 52-53
interim report see half-yearly financial
report

internal control disclosures in Turnbull
Report 198-199
internal control statement
disclosures 198-199
International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) 13
approach to standards contrasted to
FASB 63
‘Basis of conclusions’ re IAS 1 82
development of IFRS for SMEs 31
formation 37
formation, role and structure 18
Framework 14, 30
Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial
Statements 124, 131
level of work compared to IASC 19
list of statements 224
objective of greater use of fair
value 166
project for new guidance on lease
accounting 147
project on business combinations 100,
108, 112
relationship with FASB 18, 19, 22-23
statement on de facto control 73
International Accounting Standards
Committee Foundation
(IASCF) 18
International Accounting Standards
Committee (IASC) 13, 18
international accounting standards
(IFRSs, 1ASS) see also entries for
individual standards
continued use and revision 19
in IFRS GAAP 13
lists of 223-225
use by developing countries 18
use by international capital markets 18
international capital markets, use of IAS
by 18
International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee
(IFRIC)
interpretations 14 see also entries for
individual IFRICs
in IFRS GAAP 13
role 19
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international financial reporting standards

(IFRSs) see entries for individual
standards
international GAAP see IFRS
intra-group transactions
elimination in consolidated
accounts 76-77
merger accounting 105
realised profits 191-193
inventories
on balance sheet 89
measurement of value 125
investing cash flow 91
investment companies, SI 2008/410
rules 33
investment properties
on balance sheet 89
carrying at valuation or cost 64
measurement of value 125
investments
accounted for using equity method 89
measurement of value 125

investors
as part of ‘corporate reporting supply
chain’ 55
use of accounts by 58-59
ISA 700 41
issued capital shown on balance sheet
89

Joint Monitoring Unit 38

joint ventures
consolidated accounts 77-78, 78-79
proportional consolidation 75
relative importance to associates 79
share of profit or loss entered on

income statement 82

S12008/410 34

key performance indicators (KPIs)
in business review 5
disclosures 207

land and buildings leases 144, 146
leases 137-147 see also finance leases;
operating leases
classification into finance or
operating 142-144

disclosures 145
finance leases 137
FLA SORP 147
form v. substance 45
future accounting developments 147
IASB project for new guidance on
147
under IFRS 138-145
land and buildings 144, 146
lease term, definition 144
operating leases 137
sale and leaseback
transactions 144-145
under UK GAAP 145-147
leasing industry, changes in, effects on
accounting 60
legal agreements, accounting terms in
12
legislation, changes in, effect on
accounting 61
leisure and travel sectors, FRRP’s focus
on 39
liabilities 130-136 see also assets;
contingent liabilities; obligation
classification as current
liabilities 133-134
for current tax, on balance sheet 89
for deferred tax, on balance sheet
89
definition: liability 130, 131
disclosure 134-136
measurement 133
in merger accounting 101
need for an obligation 131
preference shares presented as,
realised loss 191
presentation on balance sheet 88-90,
133-134
recognition 131-133
role of current, non-current and
long-term liabilities in business
finance 134
S1 2008/410 formats, shown in 32
limited liability for auditors 42
listed companies, consolidated
accounts 71
listed groups, choice of IFRS or UK
GAAP 28
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Listing Rules 14, 52
disclosure of directors’
remuneration 207-208
disclosures 195
disclosures under 7
in IFRS GAAP 13
related party relationships and
transactions, disclosures 212
in UK GAAP 13
lists of accounting standards 223-228
loan obligations, initial measurement
of 162
loan stock (convertible) and diluted
EPS 98
London Stock Exchange 53
long-term finance, ‘gearing’ relationship
with long-term liabilities 134
long-term incentive plans (LTIPs) 168,
172-173
definition 208
long-term liabilities, role in business
finance 134
losses
entered on income statement 82
equivalence to net cash flow 90

management accounting, definition 4
management’s role in ‘earnings
game’ 56
Manual of Accounting — Management
Reports and Governance 2008
(PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP) 207
marking to model v. marking to
market 166
‘Memorandum of Understanding’
(IASB/FASB) 23
merger accounting 104
banning of 75, 100
choice of 75
not permitted under IFRS 101, 105
under UK GAAP 100, 110-114
use in group reconstructions 100
merger relief 112-114
merger reserve 113, 186
mergers, defined as transaction 43
minimum lease payments 146
definition 143

minority interest 75, 76
acquisition accounting 103
on balance sheet 89
profit attributable to 96-97
share of profit or loss entered on
income statement 82
total comprehensive income 87
mixed model (assets at cost and fair
value) 64
‘modified’ audit reports 41-42
modified grant date method of option
pricing 174-175
example 176
Monte-Carlo simulation model of option
pricing 174
Moore QC, Martin 30-31
Morris Review of the actuarial
profession 38

names of audit firm and audit partner on
reports 42
natural disasters, costs as extraordinary
item 84
negative goodwill 110
net assets
acquired, fair value 107-108
definition 180
net cash flow, equivalence profit or
loss 90
net investment hedge 167
net realisable value (NRV) 125-126
non-controlling interest see minority
interest
non-current assets see fixed assets
non-current liabilities, role in business
finance 134
non-executive directors
on audit committees 54
questions to ask 219-222
non-GAAP numbers see alternative
performance measures (APMs)
non-listed/non-AIM companies,
consolidated accounts 71-72
‘non-subsidiary subsidiaries’ 45
Northern Ireland, CA 2006 extending
to 26
‘Norwalk agreement’” 22-23
note disclosures see disclosures
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obligation
constructive obligations 132-133
as prerequisite for liability 131
recognition of 132
off-balance sheet finance 45
operating and financial review (OFR) 5
disclosures 205-207
Reporting Statement 1 206-207
withdrawal of statutory
requirement 205
operating cash flow 91
operating leases 137
annual charges for, example 139
definition operating lease 138
disclosures 145
under IFRS 138-139
leases classified as 142-144
operating profit 56, 84
entered on income statement 82
operating segments 213
opinion see auditors’ opinion
option-pricing models 174
ordinary shares
balance sheet classification 159
in calculating basic EPS 96-97
potential ordinary shares 98
other comprehensive income 56 see also
total recognised gains and losses
gains and losses reported as 64
other recognised gains and losses 64
override, true and fair
acquisition and merger
accounting 111
CA 2006 30
inlAS1 31
‘own shares’ see treasury shares
owners of parent company 87
issued capital and reserves on balance
sheet 89
profit attributable to 96-97
ownership, convergence with control
73

parent companies
retention of UK GAAP for individual
entity accounts 94
as subsidiaries, exemption from
consolidating accounts 71

Parmalat Scandal 62
patents, amortisation 129
Penrose Report on Equitable Life 16
pension defects, realised profits 190
pensions 148-155 see also defined
benefit schemes; defined
contribution schemes
analysis of pension fund deficit
(example) 151-152
changes in accounting treatment 189
‘corridor’ method of
accounting 151-152
difference between pension scheme
opening/closing surplus/deficit
(example) 151
effect of pension costs on reserves
155
effect on realised and distributable
profits 154-155
option to recognise actuarial gain/loss
in other income 152
projected unit credit method for
valuing scheme assets 150-151
performance statements 6, 9-12
two-statement approach 12
permanent differences 120
phantom share option schemes 175
‘phantom share options’ 173
positive goodwill 110
potential ordinary shares 98
pre-acquisition reserves, merger
accounting 104
precision in accounting terminology,
need for 59
preference shares
balance sheet classification
158-159
in calculating basic EPS 96-97
presented as liabilities, realised
loss 191
preliminary announcements 52
present fairly, IFRS requirement to 30
present value, definition 126
presentation of items
APMs 57-58
in balance sheet 90
cash flow statement 91
in income statement 84-85
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price-sensitive information, trends
towards earlier disclosure 63
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Manual of
Accounting — Management
Reports and Governance 2008
207
‘principle v. rules’ debate 63
privately held companies, application of
IFRS for SMEs to 32
pro-forma numbers see alternative
performance measures (APMs)
professional bodies’ statements and
recommendations 14
Professional Oversight Board (POB)
as part of FRC 36
roles 38
profit
from continuing operations, diluted
EPS 98
definition 186
difference to cash flow 7-9
from discontinued operations, diluted
EPS 98
dividends out of pre-acquisition
profits, realised gains 191
entered on income statement 82
equivalence to net cash flow 90
realised and distributable
profits 179-193
references in agreements to 12
before and after tax 56
before tax 84
total profit and diluted EPS 98
profit and loss, decreasing emphasis on
calculation of 65
profit and loss (P&L) account 6 see also
income statement
accordance with substance 33
CA 2006 rules 29
S12008/410 formats 32-33
projected unit credit method for
valuing pensions scheme
assets 150-151
property, plant and equipment see
tangible fixed assets
proportional consolidation 75
similarity to equity accounting 78

provisions
on balance sheet 89
definition 131
Public Companies Accounting Oversight
Board 62

qualified opinion 41
qualifying consideration 187
quasi-subsidiaries 46, 74
questions for non-executive
directors 219-222
quoted companies
accounts on website, requirement to
post 52, 53
minimum requirements for IFRS
consolidated accounts 53-54
requirement to prepare directors’
remuneration report 40
withdrawal of proposal for statutory
OFR for 5

‘readily convertible to cash’
definition 188
fair value gains 190
realised profits 179-193
changes in accounting
treatment 188-190
definition 184
definition: realised profit 187
effect of pension costs 154-155
examples 189-193
TECH 01/08 185-186
reconstructions, use of merger
accounting 100
recoverable amount, definition 125
‘recycling’ of gains 11
regulators as part of ‘corporate reporting
supply chain’ 55
related party relationships and
transactions
AIM Rules for Companies 53
definition related party 210
disclosures 210-212
Listing Rules disclosures 212
relevant accounts 181-183
reliable measurement of fair value of
intangibles 109



Index

remuneration, definition 208
reorganisations
constructive obligations arising
from 132
fair value in accounting for
costs 107-108
‘report and accounts’, use of term 80
Reporting Standard 1 205-206
Reporting Statement 1 206-207
reputation of company, recognition on
balance sheet 124
research and development expenditure,
recognition on balance sheet
125
reservation of title, goods sold subject to,
form v. substance 45
reserves
on balance sheet 89
effect of pension costs 155
merger accounting 104
undistributable reserves 180
restructuring expenses 83
as extraordinary item 84
retail sector, FRRP’s focus on 39
revaluation gains
deferred tax 121
example 122
revaluation gains/losses, as
comprehensive income 87
revenue, inclusion on income
statement 81
revenue recognition
FRRP statement on Wiggins Group Plc
case as to 90-91
increasing complexity of 60-61
revision of accounts, CA 2006 rules
31
rights issues as total comprehensive
income 87
Romalpa case 45
‘roughly right rather than exactly
wrong’ 126

s. 615 relief 113-114

‘safe harbour’, directors’ 205

sale and leaseback transactions
144-145

sale and purchase agreement, earn-out
clause in 59
sale of business, profit or loss as
extraordinary item 84
Sarbanes-Oxley Act (‘Sarbox’) 62
scandals, effect on accounting 62
‘scrip dividends’ 180
secondary listing of shares, defined as
transaction 42
Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC), reforms to accounts
preparation and filing rules 23
segment disclosure 212-215
operating segments 213
segment reporting 63
share awards 174
share-based payments 171-178
cash-settled share-based payment
transactions 175-176
definition share-based payment
transaction 172
IFRIC 11 177
IFRIC 8 177
under IFRS 172-178
in notes 93
realised gains/losses 190-191
through trusts 177
under UK GAAP 178
share capital and debentures,
disclosure 170
share capital, raising of, defined as
transaction 42
share options
cost of 171
definition share option 208
as part of executive remuneration
171
‘phantom share options’ 173, 175
pricing models 174
role in executive remuneration
scandals 62
share premium 112-114
shareholders’ equity 130
analysis of changes (example) 184
role in gearing 134
shareholders’ equity statement, example
of 9
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shares see also ordinary shares;
preference shares; share options
equity shares and CA 2006 159-160
issue by group following merger 104
issue of 160-161
potential ordinary shares 98
types and balance sheet
classification 158-159
S12008/374, consolidated accounts
rules 53
S12008/409 27
S12008/410 27
acquisition and merger
accounting 111
application on change to IFRS 28
associates and joint ventures 34
banks and insurance’s companies,
requirements for 32
basic rule of consolidation 34
carrying of assets, alternative rules
for 33
consolidated accounts 71-72
derivatives, disclosure of fair
value 170
directors’ report disclosures 196
disclosure of share capital and
debentures 170
fair value 33
formats for accounts 82, 90
formats for balance sheet and P&L
account 32-33
group accounts 30
in IFRS GAAP 13
immaterial information, omission
of 33
investment companies 33
notes to financial statements 33
in UK GAAP 12
UK GAAP-only requirements 32-34
SIC 12 50, 73-74, 177-178
SIC 15 137,139
SIC 27 137-138, 146
SIC interpretations, list of 224-225
‘single entity’ see individual entity
accounts
small companies rate of corporation
tax 116

SMEs see also FRSSE
filing of abbreviated accounts 52
FRSSE 24, 25
IFRS for 24, 25
Smith Report guidance on audit
committee report disclosures 198
smoothed results 55
smoothing v. volatility 65-66
software industry, revenue
recognition 60-61
‘solus’ see individual entity accounts
solus accounts see individual entity
accounts
SORIE 86-88
combining into statement of
comprehensive income 81
‘special’ dividends 180
special purpose entities (SPES)
consolidated accounts 73-74
stronger US rules for disclosure and
consolidation 62
SPVs, form v. substance applied to 50
SSAP 16
development 15
in UK GAAP 13
withdrawal 15
SSAP 19 64
SSAP 21 51, 137
differences to IAS 17 145-146
Guidance Notes 147
SSAP 24 189
SSAP 25 214-215
standardised wording, usefulness of
92
Standards Advisory Council (SAC) 19
standards-setting bodies
continuing work of 61
as part of ‘corporate reporting supply
chain’ 55
statement of accounting policies 7
statement of changes in equity (SOCIE),
definition 11
statement of comprehensive income 6,
81-88 see also income statement
definition 11-12
IAS 1 rules 29
in merger accounting 101
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statement of directors’ responsibilities
disclosures 199-201
example 202
statement of financial position 6
Statement of Principles (ASB) 131
statement of total recognised gains and
losses (STRGL) 6, 10-11, 29,
64
actuarial gains/losses in 153
similarity to statement of
comprehensive income 88
statement of total recognised income and
expenses (SORIE) 6
definition 11
statements of recommended practice
(SORPs) 17
FLA 147
statements of standard accounting
practice (SSAPs) see also entries
for individual standards
list of 226-227
statutory requirement for OFR,
withdrawal of proposal for 5
stock (convertible) and diluted EPS 98
stronger standards, expectations of
effectiveness against future
scandals 62
subsidiaries
definition subsidiary 72
definition subsidiary undertaking 72
exclusion from consolidated
accounts 74
IASB project on spin-offs 108
substance, accordance with 33
substance over form see form v.
substance
substantially all, definition 146
summary financial statements 53-54
regulation permitting 52

table of origins for CA 2006 229-231
tangible assets, impairment 65
tangible fixed assets

on balance sheet 89

choice of measurements for 91-92

measurement of value 125

in notes 93

revaluation gains/losses as
comprehensive income 87
stating at value 64
tax base of assets and liabilities 118
taxation 115-123 see also current tax
assessment on individual entity
financial statements 71
corporation tax rates 116
current tax 117
deferred tax 117-121
distributable profits 24-25
example of computation 116
expense entered on income
statement 82
liabilities shown on balance sheet 134
on other comprehensive income 87
TECH 01/08 35-36, 154, 184-193
TECH 02/07 186, 188, 190
TECH 2/07 185
TECH 50/04 154
TECH 64/04 190
TECH 7/03 184, 185, 186, 188, 190
temporary/timing difference 116, 118,
119, 120-121
calculation of (example) 120
third-party transactions, merger
accounting 104
‘through the eyes of management’
approach 213
total comprehensive income 87,
183-184
total profit, diluted EPS 98
total recognised gains and losses 56, 64
see also other comprehensive
income
TR 481 184
TR 482 184
trade and other payables, on balance
sheet 89
trade and other receivables, on balance
sheet 89
transactions
costs 161
definition transaction 42-43
Transparency Directive, requirement for
statement of directors’
responsibilities 200
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travel and leisure sectors, FRRP’s focus
on 39
treasury shares, CA 2006 rules 168
true and fair view see also override
CA 2006 rules 30-31
definition 44
form v. substance 44
Trustee Appointments Advisory
Group 19
trusts
form v. substance applied to
50
share-based payments
through 177-178
Turnbull Report, internal control
disclosures 198-199
turnover see revenue
Tweedie, Sir David 18
two-statement approach to reporting
performance 12

UITF 13 178
UITF 17 178, 190
UITF 38 190
UITF abstracts 14, 15
approval, issue and status 37
equivalence to IFRIC
interpretations 37
list of 227-228
in UK GAAP 13
UK GAAP
alignment with IFRS as to reporting of
gains 11
CA 2006 applied to 28-32
components 12-13
composition of accounts 81
continuing use of 17
deferred tax 121
defined benefit schemes, contrast with
IFRS 153-154
definition 12-13
fair value measurement of assets,
contrast with IFRS 125
financial instruments 169-170
future of 25
leases 145-147
merger accounting 110-114

differences to IFRS 3 105
future developments 112
mixture of IFRS and 122-123

reporting of performance under 6
retention for parent company
accounts 94
share-based payments 178
S12008/410 rules solely to 32-34
undistributable reserves 180
unqualified audit report 41
Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF) see also
UITF abstracts
as part of ASB 37
as part of FRC 36
role 37
US GAAP
pros and cons 22
reconciliation, SEC reform 23
use of accounts for analysis and
investment 58-59

valuation basis for tangible fixed
assets 91-92

value in use, definition 126

volatility in results, trend towards
65-66

warehousing of stock, form v. substance
applied to 49-50
website
ICAEW 185
posting of accounts on, requirement
for 52,53
‘whisper number’ 56
wholly owned subsidiaries of privately
held companies, application to
IFRS for SMEs to 32
Wiggins Group Plc, FRRP statement on
case as to revenue
recognition 90-91
workforce, recognition on balance
sheet 124
WorldCom scandal 62
worth, definition 125

XBRL as part of “corporate reporting
supply chain’ 55
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